TAVI AND THE CHALLENGES AHEAD

EDITED BY: Crochan John O'Sullivan, Darren Mylotte, Ernest Spitzer and Alexander Lauten PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-089-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-089-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

1

TAVI AND THE CHALLENGES AHEAD

Topic Editors:

Crochan John O'Sullivan, Triemli Hospital, Switzerland **Darren Mylotte**, National University of Ireland Galway, Ireland **Ernest Spitzer**, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Netherlands **Alexander Lauten**, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

Citation: O'Sullivan, C. J., Mylotte, D., Spitzer, E., Lauten, A., eds. (2020). TAVI and The Challenges Ahead. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-089-6

Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: TAVI and the Challenges Ahead Ernest Spitzer, Darren Mylotte, Alexander Lauten and Crochan J. O'Sullivan
- 08 Challenges When Expanding Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation to Younger Patients

Ole De Backer and Lars Søndergaard

12 Screening For Pulmonary Hypertension With Multidetector Computed Tomography Among Patients With Severe Aortic Stenosis Undergoing Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation

Crochan J. O'Sullivan, Matteo Montalbetti, Rainer Zbinden, David J. Kurz, Alain M. Bernheim, Aaron Liew, Matthias R. Meyer, David Tüller and Franz R. Eberli

21 Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement and Concomitant Mitral Regurgitation

Barbara E. Stähli, Markus Reinthaler, David M. Leistner, Ulf Landmesser and Alexander Lauten

- **30 TAVI and Post Procedural Cardiac Conduction Abnormalities** Antonio Mangieri, Claudio Montalto, Matteo Pagnesi, Giuseppe Lanzillo, Ozan Demir, Luca Testa, Antonio Colombo and Azeem Latib
- **42 Expanding TAVI to Low and Intermediate Risk Patients** Lisa Voigtländer and Moritz Seiffert
- 51 Access Sites for TAVI: Patient Selection Criteria, Technical Aspects, and Outcomes

Luigi Biasco, Enrico Ferrari, Giovanni Pedrazzini, Francesco Faletra, Tiziano Moccetti, Francesco Petracca and Marco Moccetti

- 62 **TAVI: Simplification is the Ultimate Sophistication** Mariama Akodad and Thierry Lefèvre
- 68 Transcatheter Treatment of Bicuspid Aortic Valve Disease: Imaging and Interventional Considerations Rajiv Das and Rishi Puri
- 80 Cerebrovascular Events After Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation German Armijo, Luis Nombela-Franco and Gabriela Tirado-Conte
- 94 Moderate Aortic Stenosis and Reduced Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction: Current Evidence and Challenges Ahead

Ernest Spitzer, Ben Ren, Herbert Kroon, Lennart van Gils, Olivier Manintveld, Joost Daemen, Felix Zijlstra, Peter P. de Jaegere, Marcel L. Geleijnse and Nicolas M. Van Mieghem

101 The Role of Cerebral Embolic Protection Devices During Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement

Ozan M. Demir, Gianmarco Iannopollo, Antonio Mangieri, Marco B. Ancona, Damiano Regazzoli, Satoru Mitomo, Antonio Colombo, Giora Weisz and Azeem Latib

110 Patient Disposition and Clinical Outcome After Referral to a Dedicated TAVI Clinic

Miroslawa Gorecka, Catriona Reddin, Gillian Madders, Laura Monaghan, Antoinette Neylon, Faisal Sharif, Brian Hynes, Evelyn Fennelly, Fiachra McHugh, Niamh Martin, Khalid Mohammed, Venu Reddy Bijjam, David Veerasingam, Alan Soo, Mark DaCosta, William Wijns and Darren Mylotte





Editorial: TAVI and the Challenges Ahead

Ernest Spitzer^{1,2*}, Darren Mylotte³, Alexander Lauten⁴ and Crochan J. O'Sullivan^{5,6}

¹ Cardiology Department, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ² Cardialysis, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ³ Cardiology Department, Galway University Hospital and National University of Ireland Galway, Galway, Ireland, ⁴ Cardiology Department, Charité Medical University of Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ⁵ Cardiology Department, Bon Secours Hospital, Cork, Ireland, ⁶ Cardiology Department, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland

Keywords: transcatheter aortic valve replacement, aortic stenosis, interventional cardiolgy, prosthetic heart valve, structural heart disease, cardiac imaging

Editorial on the Research Topic

TAVI and the Challenges Ahead

Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) was introduced in 2002 and significant efforts in research and innovation have subsequently positioned this procedure as an important breakthrough in cardiovascular medicine (1). TAVI has become the preferred treatment strategy for symptomatic severe aortic stenosis (AS) among patients deemed to be at excessive- or high-risk for conventional surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) and is an alternative to surgery among intermediate- and low surgical-risk patients (2, 3).

Two decades of device iteration, refinement of procedural technique, growing operator experience, and enhanced patient selection, have significantly reduced peri-procedural complications and improved short and mid-term clinical outcomes. Central to these advances has been the concept of the Heart Team, a group of interdisciplinary healthcare professionals that each bring their experience to bear on the management of the individual patient with complex structural heart disease (1). Together the institutional Heart Team weight the anatomic, physiologic, and psychosocial aspects of each patient to develop an individualized treatment plan.

Despite the aforementioned success of TAVI, there remain important challenges to further streamline the procedure, reduce costs, and improve patient outcomes. In particular, extending TAVI to younger and lower risk patients in the aftermath of two key industry-sponsored low risk trials requires particular attention. Relevant topics for discussion include the relative merits/drawbacks of TAVI compared to SAVR, the impact and potential mitigation strategies for periprocedural stroke and permanent pacemaker implantation, the use of oral anticoagulation after TAVI, and the question of long-term transcatheter heart valve durability.

The present collection explores current and future challenges of TAVI, includes articles from a diagnostic and technical perspectives, and provides guidance on patient and vascular access selection, the importance and application of multimodal imaging, and outlines a pathway toward procedure simplification. The risk of cerebrovascular events and how to prevent them, the impact of concomitant mitral regurgitation and post-TAVI conduction abnormalities are explored and future directions in the TAVI space are discussed, including extension of the technology to younger patients, low-risk cohorts, and potentially, the role of the technology in patients with moderate aortic stenosis and heart failure.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Fabien Praz,

Bern University Hospital, Switzerland *Correspondence: Ernest Spitzer ernest.spitzer@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 03 July 2020 Accepted: 16 July 2020 Published: 25 August 2020

Citation:

Spitzer E, Mylotte D, Lauten A and O'Sullivan CJ (2020) Editorial: TAVI and the Challenges Ahead. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 7:149. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2020.00149

PRE-PROCEDURAL PLANNING AND TECHNIQUE

Advances in pre-procedural planning and refinement in procedural techniques have greatly improved clinical outcome. These developments are elegantly presented by Akodad and Lefèvre through a step-by-step approach starting with the indisputable need for a pre-TAVI multi-slice computed tomography (CT) for planning vascular access, valve type and size selection, and procedural execution. The authors describe their local experience of the benefits of fully percutaneous access, secondary radial access, conscious sedation rather than general anesthesia, rapid pacing over the left ventricular guide wire, implantation without pre-dilatation, and early discharge with limited use of the intensive care unit—restricted to patients with low-risk of post-procedural complications.

Biasco et al. dedicate a comprehensive review of vascular access sites for TAVI. The transfemoral approach is considered to be the first choice by guideline and consensus documents but alternative vascular access remains an important option in selected cases. Traditional alternate access routes include the transapical and transaortic approaches with novel and often fully percutaneous options including transaxillary, transcarotid, and transcaval accesses. The authors compare procedural success and clinical outcomes among alternate vascular access routes, underscoring that no prospective head-to-head comparisons exist.

Careful pre-procedural planning is crucial for successful TAVI. The role of MSCT imaging is particularly important in the setting of TAVI for the treatment of bicuspid aortic valve (BAV) disease. Das and Puri comprehensively summarize current data on imaging and interventional considerations in BAV. The authors highlight that asymmetric valve leaflets, the presence of a raphe, and heavy calcification among patients with BAV tend to yield more complex procedures. BAV patients undergoing TAVI may have a higher risk of valve malposition and frame underexpansion and hence increased rates of moderate to severe paravalvular regurgitation. Pre and post-dilatation can lead to aortic annular rupture if balloon sizing is excessive and the risk of ostial coronary artery occlusion and aortic dissection may be higher in patients with BAV undergoing TAVI. Recent device iteration and clinical evidence have documented improving procedural success and clinical outcomes among BAV patients, and prospective randomized controlled trials compared to surgery are called-for in this field.

O'Sullivan et al., in an original publication discuss pulmonary hypertension (PH) in patients undergoing TAVI. PH is a common finding in patients with severe symptomatic AS and has been associated with worse clinical outcomes. Among TAVI candidates, most PH is post-capillary in nature and thus associated with an increased left ventricular end-diastolic pressure. The gold standard assessment is with right heart catheterization however echocardiography provides indirect measurements of the pulmonary pressures. Pre-TAVI CT can also contain important clues that can be used to screen for PH. O'Sullivan et al. describe several potential markers, including a cut-off for the ratio between the pulmonary artery and the aortic artery diameters, which may help screening of patients undergoing TAVI.

CURRENT CHALLENGES

Armijo et al. have meticulously addressed the incidence, timing, relevance, and prevention of cerebrovascular events (CVE) after TAVI. In the original PARTNER tirals, CVE were thought to be higher after TAVI compared to SAVR (ascertainment bias), current suggests stroke may be more common after SAVR. In a meta-analysis including >72,000 patients, the 30-day post-TAVI stroke rate was 3.3% (4). Importantly, the majority of these events are disabling and profoundly impacting patient quality of life. Up to 95% of procedural CVEs are ischaemic and generally are related to an embolic source, including the aortic wall, calcified aortic valves, and thrombotic material. Sub-acute CVEs are usually local thrombotic events (valve-related) or caused by atrial arrhythmia. Antithrombotic strategies as well as cerebral embolic protection devices (CEPD) have the potential to reduce the frequency and impact of these events and several ongoing randomized trials in this space are discussed by the authors.

Along these lines, Demir et al. present a rigorous review of CEPD, which were introduced to mitigate the risk of CVE during the TAVI procedure. These devices capture or deflect embolic particles away from the supra-aortic vessels and have the potential to reduce CVEs. The authors summarize the available evidence for the Claret CEPD (Boston Scientific) and for the TriGuard (Keystone Heart, Venus MedTech) and describe a range of other devices in development. The Claret device is a dual filter deployed in the brachiocephalic and left common carotid arteries, but leaving the left vertebral artery unprotected. The largest trial with CEPD (n = 363) to date, failed to demonstrate a significant reduction in the total new lesion volume on diffusion weighted cerebral MRI in the protected territories compared to placebo (5). However, further randomized trials of this device with clinical stroke as a powered endpoint are ongoing. The TriGuard 3 CEP is a mesh filter that is positioned across the three cerebral vessels and has been recently awarded CE-mark approval. Initial data have shown reduction of new cerebral lesions as well as lower rates of clinical CVE.

Mitral regurgitation (MR) is a common echocardiographic finding in the elderly, and moderate or severe MR affects \sim 20% of high-risk patients undergoing TAVI. Stähli et al. detail that moderate or severe MR is associated with worse clinical outcomes post-TAVI; however, it remains unsettled whether a direct causeeffect relationship exists. Importantly, in up to 60% of patients with MR undergoing TAVI, the severity of MR is improves at 30 days post TAVI, a finding that is hampered in patients with atrial fibrillation or severe PH. The authors describe transcatheter treatment options for residual post TAVI moderate to severe MR as well as important considerations for the timing of post-TAVI management of MR. The MitraClip (Abbott Vascular) has recently gained attention after the results of the COAPT trial which showed a significant reduction of mortality and hospitalizations in heart failure patients with moderate to severe MR, when compared with medical therapy (6).

Conduction abnormalities remain a common complication after TAVI due to the anatomical vicinity of the conduction system and the landing zone of the bioprosthetic valve. Mangieri et al. discuss in-depth the frequency and impact of new-onset left bundle branch block (LBBB) and other conduction disturbance and the need for permanent pacemaker (PPM) implantation post-TAVI. The type of device utilized, the depth of implantation, and the need of pre- and post-dilation to reduce paravalvular regurgitation are major determinants. Acute TAVI-related injury to the conduction system may cause LBBB in $\sim 10-30\%$ of patients and complete atrioventricular block (AVB) in $\sim 10-30\%$. Importantly, LBBB may resolve in up to 85% of patients while complete AVB may resolve in up to 50%. The decision to implant a PPM therefore, should be couple with sufficient in-hospital telemetry monitoring.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

At the 2019 American College of Cardiology Annual Scientific Meeting, data from two large randomized controlled trials in low-risk cohorts were presented (2, 3). Balloon-expandable and self-expandable THV devices were non-inferior to SAVR for the pre-specified endpoints, and hence these trials will have farreaching implications on current and future TAVI practice. The cohorts treated in these trials were almost 10 years younger than those included in high-risk cohorts. As De Backer and Søndergaard predicted in this section, the expansion to younger populations highlights the need for understanding the use of TAVI in patients with BAV: this morphology accounts for up to 50% of severe AS cases in patients <75 years of age. Long-term valve durability data is being collected, however, given that BAV has been largely excluded from RCTs, high quality registries or dedicated RCTs are required to further characterize the durability of TAVI prosthesis in BAV morphology. Furthermore, rates of complications may be distinctive in younger in BAV cohorts and merits careful investigation.

REFERENCES

- Baumgartner H, Falk V, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, et al. 2017 ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2739–91. doi: 10.5603/KP.2018.0013
- Mack MJ, Leon MB, Thourani VH, Makkar R, Kodali SK, Russo M, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement with a balloon-expandable valve in low-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2019) 380:1695–705. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1814052
- Popma JJ, Deeb GM, Yakubov SJ, Mumtaz M, Gada H, O'Hair D, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement with a self-expanding valve in low-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2019) 380:1706–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1816885
- Auffret V, Regueiro A, Del Trigo M, Abdul-Jawad Altisent O, Campelo-Parada F, Chiche O, et al. Predictors of early cerebrovascular events in patients with aortic stenosis undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2016) 68:673–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.05.065
- 5. Kapadia SR, Kodali S, Makkar R, Mehran R, Lazar RM, Zivadinov R, et al. Protection against cerebral embolism during transcatheter

Voigtländer and Seiffert diligently explain this shift in focus from the early narrow high-risk TAVI cohort to the current broad all levels of surgical risk TAVI population. Patient has to date been classified according to the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Predicted Risk of Mortality (STS-PROM) at 30 days; being <4% low, 4 to 8% intermediate, and >8% high risk patients. However, this score does not include other important factors such as active malignancy, frailty, porcelain aorta, chest wall radiation, liver cirrhosis, or neurological impairment, which are important for the Heart Team decisionmaking. Other factors favoring TAVI include age >75, prior cardiac surgery, restricted mobility or anticipated prolonged rehabilitation, transfemoral access, severe chest deformation, or prosthesis-patient mismatch. The authors present highlights of data stemming from RCTs and registries that support the use of TAVI in intermediate-risk and data being gathered for lowrisk cohorts.

Finally, Spitzer et al. open a new chapter for TAVI by providing the rationale for exploring this breakthrough therapy in patients with moderate AS in the presence of reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF). This new therapeutic target represents 0.8% of patients referred for echocardiographic assessment, and without intervention have been associated with a high rate of mortality and heart failure hospitalizations. The epidemiology, natural history, and patient characteristics are discussed, as well as the challenges in echocardiographic diagnosis of moderate AS in patient with reduced LVEF. An ongoing trial (NCT02661451) is testing the role of TAVI in this patient population. If proven successful, implementation of new clinical pathways to identify and derive these patients to a TAVI operator in a timely manner will be required, since currently patients with moderate AS are not considered a target of therapy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 69:367–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.10.023

 Stone GW, Lindenfeld J, Abraham WT, Kar S, Lim DS, Mishell JM, et al. Transcatheter mitral-valve repair in patients with heart failure. N Engl J Med. (2018) 379:2307–18. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa180 6640

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Spitzer, Mylotte, Lauten and O'Sullivan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Challenges When Expanding Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation to Younger Patients

Ole De Backer* and Lars Søndergaard

The Heart Center, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark

The rapid expansion of transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) has been based upon robust clinical evidence derived from randomized controlled trials and large-scale international and national registries. Over the past decade, TAVI has evolved into a safe and effective procedure with predictable and reproducible outcomes. As a consequence, the TAVI technology is increasingly used to treat patients with a lower risk profile and the volume of TAVI now exceeds surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) in some countries. It may be anticipated that, in the near future, the majority of patients with severe symptomatic aortic valve stenosis will undergo TAVI as first line therapy, regardless of their age and risk profile. This article identifies some of the specific challenges that lie ahead when considering expansion of TAVI to younger patients.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Crochan John O'Sullivan, Triemli Hospital, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Andrew Roy, Mater Private Hospital, Ireland, Ireland Ernest Spitzer, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Netherlands Luigi Biasco, Cardiocentro Ticino, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Ole De Backer ole.debacker@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 26 February 2018 Accepted: 24 April 2018 Published: 11 May 2018

Citation:

De Backer O and Søndergaard L (2018) Challenges When Expanding Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation to Younger Patients. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:45. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00045 Keywords: aortic valve stenosis, transcatheter aortic valve implantation, young adults, bicuspid aortic valve, challenges

Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) has become an established therapeutic option for patients with symptomatic, severe aortic valve stenosis (AS) who are at increased risk for conventional cardiac surgery (1–4). In recent years, the TAVI technology is also increasingly used to treat patients with a lower risk profile – this practice is supported by results from the NOTION, PARTNER-II and SURTAVI trials indicating that TAVI is a viable option for patients with a low to intermediate surgical risk profile (5–7).

Although TAVI, in many countries, has become the default therapy to treat AS patients aged 75 years or more, there is currently increasing discussion on how far to push the limits when considering treating younger patients. Although the above-mentioned lower-risk TAVI trials included patients with a lower surgical risk score, the mean age of enrolled patients was not different compared to the early TAVI trials conducted in extreme or high risk patients (**Figure 1**) (1–7). When considering further expansion of TAVI indications to encompass younger patients aged 75 years or less, there are still some challenges ahead.

Based on currently available data, it can be stated that TAVI is non-inferior to surgery in terms of mortality and stroke, and is likely to be superior if a transfemoral approach is possible. Surgical patients more frequently experience major bleedings, acute kidney injury, and new-onset atrial fibrillation, whereas TAVI is associated with a higher rate of major vascular complications, paravalvular regurgitation, and pacemaker implantations (3–7). When considering expansion of TAVI to younger patients < 75 years, it will be a must to obtain predictable and outstanding results, also for these latter procedural outcomes.

Over the past decade, the TAVI technology has matured; however, technological improvements have not come to a halt yet. New TAVI devices with lower-profile delivery systems have increased the proportion of patients who can be treated by transfemoral approach and have significantly reduced vascular complications (8). Newer generation TAVI devices also have an additional sealing skirt, which reduces the risk of paravalvular regurgitation, (9) and are often repositionable, which can result in higher implants thereby reducing the risk of conduction disorders (10).

8



Furthermore, procedural outcomes have improved because of increased operator experience and developments in cardiac and vascular imaging, particularly using multidetector CT.

As TAVI would move into younger AS populations, one pitfall may be that treating bicuspid valves would become an increasing part of practice - with an estimate of 30-50% in those patients aged 75 years or less (11). Importantly, patients with bicuspid AS have typically been excluded from the large randomized controlled trials. Today, only limited data exist on outcomes of TAVI in bicuspid AS. In a recent meta-analysis of 13 observational studies, short-term outcome data indicated that TAVI for bicuspid AS is associated with high device success rates and a good safety profile. Mortality at 30 days was low and comparable to that achieved with the newest generation TAVI devices in tricuspid AS. However, there was a trend towards higher rates of significant paravalvular regurgitation (12%) and permanent pacemaker requirement (18%) in bicuspid AS cohorts undergoing TAVI (12). An important issue when considering TAVI in bicuspid AS is the assessments of these patients' anatomy and the modification of the TAVI technique, with specific attention to valve deployment and positioning. In order to overcome the limitations of the current generation TAVI devices with regards to paravalvular regurgitation and pacemaker requirement, the design of specific TAVI devices to treat bicuspid anatomy will become crucial.

Finally, extension of TAVI to younger patients with longer life-expectancy also raises the issue of durability. In 2016, some concern was raised about potential poor long-term durability of transcatheter heart valves – however, these results were based on less than 50 first generation valves and only echocardiographic findings were used to define valve degeneration (13) – which is in contrast with the "need for re-intervention" used as definition for surgical valve degeneration. Importantly, since then, robust 5 year follow-up data have come available demonstrating continued valve durability with low rates of hemodynamic valve dysfunction and/or re-intervention, and this for both balloon-expandable and self-expanding transcatheter heart valves (1–3, 14).

Recently, ESC, EAPCI and EACTS have published a consensus on standard definitions of structural valve deterioration (SVD) and bioprosthetic valve failure (BVF) in order to assess long-term durability of transcatheter and surgical aortic bioprosthesis (15). There should be clear distinction between SVD (the principal etiology) and BVF (the clinical correlate). SVD includes permanent (irreversible) intrinsic changes of the valve (i.e., leaflet tear, calcification, pannus deposition, flail, or fibrotic leaflet) leading to degeneration and/or dysfunction, which in turn may result in stenosis or intra-prosthetic regurgitation. The term BVF integrates severe SVD (i.e., the etiology) with its clinical consequences - thereby avoiding over-interpretation of valve-related outcomes in asymptomatic patients with no clinical impact - and is recommended to be used as the main outcome of interest in studies assessing the long-term performance of TAVI and SAVR. Importantly, BVF may occur in the setting of SVD but also as the consequence of pathophysiological processes unrelated to SVD, such as thrombosis, endocarditis or nonstructural valve dysfunction. BVF includes any of the following: (1) bioprosthetic valve dysfunction at autopsy, very likely related to the cause of death, or "valve- related death"; (2) aortic valve re-intervention (i.e., valve-in-valve TAVI, paravalvular leak closure or SAVR); and (3) severe hemodynamic SVD.

These definitions have been applied to the NOTION trial (7) – including 80% low risk patients – showing that, after five years, the rate of SVD was lower in transcatheter heart valves as compared to surgical aortic bioprosthesis (3.9% vs. 26.1%, respectively; p < 0.001), whereas the rate of BVF was similar in both groups (8.9% vs. 9.5%, respectively; p = 0.89) – as presented at EuroPCR 2017.

As a large portion of the younger AS patients has a bicuspid valve, data on transcatheter heart valve durability and long-term outcomes in this specific cohort will also become essential. Given the anatomical characteristics of a stenotic bicuspid aortic valve, a concern may be that the implanted transcatheter heart valve may not fully expand or not become fully circular with asymmetric leaflets as a result. Although this should not necessarily lead to immediate valvular dysfunction, it has recently been reported that asymmetrical leaflet expansion may be associated with an increased risk of subclinical leaflet thrombosis (16). In



addition, leaflet asymmetry may also have an impact on longterm valve durability. This is still important missing information when one considers treating a younger bicuspid AS patient with TAVI.

In conclusion, the rapid expansion of TAVI has been based upon robust clinical evidence derived from randomized controlled trials and large-scale international and national registries. Over the past decade, TAVI has evolved into a safe and effective procedure with predictable and reproducible outcomes. As a consequence, the volume of TAVI now exceeds SAVR in some countries (17). It may be anticipated that, in the near future, the majority of patients with severe symptomatic AS will undergo TAVI as first line therapy, regardless of their age and risk profile. This article identifies some of the specific challenges that lie ahead when considering expansion of TAVI to younger patients (**Figure 2**). With ongoing developments of the TAVI technology, it can be expected that most of these obstacles will be overcome within the next decade. Still, it will

REFERENCES

- Kapadia SR, Leon MB, Makkar RR, Tuzcu EM, Svensson LG, Kodali S, et al. 5-year outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve replacement compared with standard treatment for patients with inoperable aortic stenosis (PARTNER 1): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2015) 385(9986):2485–91. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(15)60290-2
- Popma JJ, Adams DH, Reardon MJ, Yakubov SJ, Kleiman NS, Heimansohn D, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement using a self-expanding bioprosthesis in patients with severe aortic stenosis at extreme risk for surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol (2014) 63(19):1972–81. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2014.02.556
- Mack MJ, Leon MB, Smith CR, Miller DC, Moses JW, Tuzcu EM, et al. 5-year outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve replacement or surgical aortic valve replacement for high surgical risk patients with aortic stenosis (PARTNER 1): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2015) 385(9986):2477–84. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(15)60308-7
- Reardon MJ, Adams DH, Kleiman NS, Yakubov SJ, Coselli JS, Deeb GM, et al. 2-Year outcomes in patients undergoing surgical or self-expanding transcatheter aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol (2015) 66(2):113–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.05.017
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack MJ, Makkar RR, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, et al. Transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med (2016) 374(17):1609–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1514616

be essential to provide the necessary clinical evidence – within the framework of a randomized trial – comparing TAVI with SAVR. Although large TAVI trials have been initiated by Edwards Lifesciences (USA) and Medtronic (USA) in low-risk AS cohorts, this is not a guarantee that young patients will be enrolled. In additon, patients with bicuspid AS are excluded from these trials. Currently, the only large randomized controlled trial comparing TAVI with SAVR in low-risk, younger patients \leq 75 years of age, not excluding bicuspid valves, is the NOTION-2 trial (ClinTrials. Gov: NCT02825134). This randomized trial should provide the needed clinical evidence to evaluate the use of TAVI in young, low-risk AS patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ODB and LS both contributed to the concept, writing process and revision of this manuscript.

- Reardon MJ, Van Mieghem NM, Popma JJ, Kleiman NS, Søndergaard L, Mumtaz M, et al. Surgical or transcatheter aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med (2017) 376(14):1321–31. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1700456
- Thyregod HG, Steinbrüchel DA, Ihlemann N, Nissen H, Kjeldsen BJ, Petursson P, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve replacement in patients with severe aortic valve stenosis: 1-year results from the all-comers NOTION randomized clinical trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2015) 65(20):2184–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.03.014
- Chaudhry MA, Sardar MR. Vascular complications of transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a concise literature review. World J Cardiol (2017) 9(7):574– 82. doi: 10.4330/wjc.v9.i7.574
- Arai T, Lefèvre T, Hovasse T, Morice MC, Garot P, Benamer H, et al. Comparison of Edwards SAPIEN 3 versus SAPIEN XT in transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve implantation: difference of valve selection in the real world. *J Cardiol* (2017) 69(3):565–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2016.04.012
- Auffret V, Puri R, Urena M, Chamandi C, Rodriguez-Gabella T, Philippon F, et al. Conduction disturbances after transcatheter aortic valve replacement: current status and future perspectives. *Circulation* (2017) 136(11):1049–69. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.028352
- Roberts WC, Ko JM, Jm K. Frequency by decades of unicuspid, bicuspid, and tricuspid aortic valves in adults having isolated aortic valve replacement for aortic stenosis, with or without associated aortic regurgitation. *Circulation* (2005) 111(7):920–5. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000155623.48408.C5

- Reddy G, Wang Z, Nishimura RA, Greason KL, Yoon SH, Makkar RR, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement for stenotic bicuspid aortic valves: systematic review and meta analyses of observational studies. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* (2018) 91(5):975–83. doi: 10.1002/ccd.27340
- Dvir D. First look at long-term durability of transcatheter heart valves: assessment of valve function up to 10 years after implantation. EuroPCR May 17-20; Paris, France (2016).
- 14. Gerckens U, Tamburino C, Bleiziffer S, Bosmans J, Wenaweser P, Brecker S, et al. Final 5-year clinical and echocardiographic results for treatment of severe aortic stenosis with a self-expanding bioprosthesis from the ADVANCE Study. *Eur Heart J* (2017) 38(36):2729–38. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx295
- 15. Capodanno D, Petronio AS, Prendergast B, Eltchaninoff H, Vahanian A, Modine T, et al. Standardized definitions of structural deterioration and valve failure in assessing long-term durability of transcatheter and surgical aortic bioprosthetic valves: a consensus statement from the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI) endorsed by the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* (2017) 52(3):408– 17. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx244
- Fuchs A, de Backer O, Brooks M, de Knegt MC, Bieliauskas G, Yamamoto M, et al. Subclinical leaflet thickening and stent frame geometry in self-expanding transcatheter heart valves. *EuroIntervention* (2017) 13(9):e1067–75. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00373
- de Backer O, Luk NH, Olsen NT, Olsen PS, Søndergaard L. Choice of treatment for aortic valve stenosis in the era of transcatheter aortic valve replacement in Eastern Denmark (2005 to 2015). *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* (2016) 9(11):1152–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.02.028

Conflicts of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 De Backer and Søndergaard. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Screening For Pulmonary Hypertension With Multidetector Computed Tomography Among Patients With Severe Aortic Stenosis Undergoing Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation

Crochan J. O'Sullivan^{1*}, Matteo Montalbetti², Rainer Zbinden¹, David J. Kurz¹, Alain M. Bernheim¹, Aaron Liew³, Matthias R. Meyer¹, David Tüller¹ and Franz R. Eberli¹

¹ Department of Cardiology, Stadtspital Triemli, Zurich, Switzerland, ² Zurich University Hospital, Zurich, Switzerland,

³ Department of Endocrinology, National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabien Praz, Universitätsspital Bern, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Pablo Codner, Pablo Codner, Rabin Medical Center, Israel Anna Franzone, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

> *Correspondence: Crochan J. O'Sullivan crosullivan@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 15 February 2018 Accepted: 16 May 2018 Published: 05 June 2018

Citation:

O'Sullivan CJ, Montalbetti M, Zbinden R, Kurz DJ, Bernheim AM, Liew A, Meyer MR, Tüller D and Eberli FR (2018) Screening For Pulmonary Hypertension With Multidetector Computed Tomography Among Patients With Severe Aortic Stenosis Undergoing Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:63. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00063 **Aim:** To assess the accuracy of multi-detector computed tomography (MDCT) derived pulmonary vessel measurements in predicting pulmonary hypertension (PH) among patients with severe symptomatic aortic stenosis (AS) undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI).

Background: PH is common among patients with severe AS undergoing TAVI and is associated with adverse outcomes. MDCT is the imaging modality of choice to assess anatomical dimensions among patients selected for TAVI.

Methods: One hundred and thirty-nine patients with severe AS undergoing TAVI with both CT scans and right heart catheterizations (RHC) were included. CT diameters of the main pulmonary artery (MPA), right (RPA) and left (LPA), and ascending aorta (AA) were measured. The relationship between CT measurements and PA pressures assessing using RHC was tested with linear regression.

Results: The CT derived ratio of the diameter of the MPA to the diameter of the AA (PA/AA_{ratio}) correlated best with mean PA pressure ($R^2 = 0.48$) and PA systolic pressure ($R^2 = 0.50$). Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis showed that the PA/AA_{ratio} is a moderate predictor of PH (AUC 0.74, 95% Cl 0.65–0.83, p < 0.0001) and that the optimal cut off point is 0.80 (sensitivity 56%, specificity 88%, positive predictive value 95.5%, negative predictive value 30.6% for PH).

Conclusions: Elderly patients with severe AS and PA/AA_{ratio} values \geq 0.80 on MDCT are more likely to have PH but PH cannot be reliably excluded among such patients with lower PA/AA_{ratio} values.

Keywords: aortic stenosis, pulmonary hypertension, computed tomography, right heart catheterization, hemodynamics, transcatheter aortic valve implantation

INTRODUCTION

Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) is a less invasive alternative treatment option to surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) among patients with symptomatic severe aortic stenosis (AS) (1). Patients selected for TAVI tend to be inoperable or high risk for conventional SAVR and typically have a high prevalence of co-morbidities including coronary artery disease, atrial fibrillation, concomitant valvular heart disease, and chronic renal failure (2). In addition, pulmonary hypertension (PH) is common among patients with severe AS undergoing TAVI and is associated with worse clinical outcomes as compared with patients without PH (3). The identification of PH prior to TAVI is therefore important for appropriate risk stratification and may help in determining which patients should be selected for TAVI vs. SAVR. Right heart catheterization is the gold standard method for diagnosing PH, which is defined as a mean pulmonary artery pressure \geq 25 mmHg (4). However, right heart catheterization is an invasive procedure and is not routinely performed prior to TAVI. Transthoracic echocardiography can provide an estimate of the pulmonary artery systolic pressure but cannot reliably detect whether PH is present or not (5). Multi-detector computed tomography (MDCT) is recommended as the imaging modality of choice prior to TAVI to determine annular and aortic root dimensions as well as iliofemoral anatomy prior to TAVI (6). Whether or not MDCT measurements of the pulmonary vasculature provide a reliable estimate of the presence of PH among patients with severe AS selected for TAVI is unknown. Therefore, the aim of this study was to assess the accuracy of MDCT derived pulmonary vessel measurements in predicting the presence of PH among patients with severe symptomatic AS undergoing TAVI.

METHODS

Patient Population

This is a retrospective analysis of prospectively collected data within a database that includes all patients with severe AS, who underwent TAVI at our institution between August 2011 and September 2015 (n = 184). All patients were deemed inoperable or at high risk for surgery by a multidisciplinary team consisting of invasive cardiologists and surgeons. Included in the present analysis were all patients with symptomatic severe AS, a full preprocedural right and left heart catheterization and a preprocedural multidetector computed tomography (MDCT). Data collection was facilitated by using the nation-side prospective TAVI registry (SWISS TAVI Registry) into which all patients from our institution are prospectively enrolled. The cohort study complies with the Declaration of Helsinki, was approved by the local Ethics Committee, and all patients provided informed written consent.

Cardiac Catheterization

All included patients underwent coronary angiography and right and left heart catheterization for haemodynamic assessment prior to TAVI. Intracardiac pressures were recorded with fluid filled catheters connected to pressure transducers as previously described (7).

Right Heart Pressures

(PH) was defined as a mean pulmonary artery pressure \geq 25 mmHg and was subdivide into pre-capillary PH (left-ventricular end-diastolic pressure \leq 15 mmHg) and post-capillary PH (LVEDP >15 mmHg). Furthermore, post-capillary PH was further subdivided into isolated post-capillary PH (diastolic pulmonary gradient \leq 7 mmHg) and combined post- and pre-capillary PH (diastolic pulmonary gradient > 7 mmHg).

Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation

TAVI was performed as previously described (7). Vascular access was transfemoral using the Edwards Sapien Valve XT/S3 (ESV, Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA, USA), the Medtronic CoreValve Revalveing System, the Medtronic Evolut R (MCRS; Medtronic Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA), and the Lotus Valve (Boston Scientific) and transapical for the ESV.

MDCT Protocol and Measurements for PH Assessment

All included patients underwent CT for preinterventional assessment of aortic annulus size and evaluation of vascular access using a second-generation, multidetector 128-slice dual source CT (Somatom Definition Flash, Siements Healthcare, Forchheim, Germany). Images were reviewed on a stationary workstation by an investigator who had no knowledge of any clinical information or the RHC results. Calipers were set for measuring the widest short-axis diameter of the main pulmonary artery within 3 cm of the bifurcation, the right pulmonary artery and left pulmonary artery and the ascending aorta, respectively on axial sections. The diameter of the AA was measured at the level of the MPA.

Statistics

Continuous data are presented as means \pm standard deviations (SD), and categorical variables are depicted as percentages and numbers. Categorical variables were compared by means of the χ^2 test (or Fisher's test for two group comparisons), and continuous variables were compared using the unpaired ttest for two groups or ANOVA for 3 or more groups. ROC analysis were performed to assess the AUC and to compare sensitivity and specificity for different cut-off values using the Youden Index. Sensitivity, specificity, negative predictive value (NPV), and positive predictive value (PPV) were calculated and shown in percentages. Time-to-event data are presented using Kaplan-Meier curves, with incidence rates calculated from lifetables at 2-year follow-up. Log-rank test was used to declare significance. A p-value < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All analyses were performed with SPSS 22, Release 22.0.0.1 or STATA (version 12, StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics.

	All patients $N = 139$	No PH <i>N</i> = 25	PH <i>N</i> = 114	P-value
DEMOGRAPHICS				
Age (years)	83.58 ± 4.98	81.70 ± 3.97	84.0 ± 5.10	0.04
Female gender, n (%)	59 (42.4)	13 (52.0)	46 (40.4)	0.20
PHYSICAL DIMENSIONS				
Height (cm)	165.58 ± 7.81	167.06 ± 8.16	165.06 ± 7.67	0.09
Weight (kg)	71.24 ± 15.76	67.40 ± 15.01	72.09 ± 15.85	0.18
Body mass index (kg/m²)	25.93 ± 5.33	23.81 ± 4.72	26.39 ± 5.37	0.03
BSA (m²)	1.81 ± 0.23	1.77 ± 0.23	1.82 ± 0.23	0.30
CARDIAC RISK FACTORS				
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	27 (19.4)	4 (16.0)	23 (20.2)	0.44
Hypercholesterolemia, n (%)	30 (21.6)	8 (32.0)	22 (19.3)	0.13
Hypertension, n (%)	92 (66.2)	15 (60.0)	77 (67.5)	0.31
PAST MEDICAL HISTORY				
Coronary artery disease, n (%)	64 (46.0)	12 (48)	52 (45.6)	0.50
Previous myocardial infarction, n (%)	11 (7.9)	3 (12.0)	8 (7.0)	0.31
Previous coronary artery bypass graft, n (%)	12 (8.6)	1 (4.0)	11 (9.6)	0.32
Previous percutaneous coronary intervention, n (%)	23 (16.5)	4 (16.0)	19 (16.7)	0.60
Previous cerebrovascular event, n (%)	19 (13.7)	6 (24)	13 (11.4)	0.10
Peripheral vascular disease, n (%)	32 (23.0)	5 (20.0)	27 (23.7)	0.46
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, n (%)	15 (10.8)	3 (12.0)	12 (10.5)	0.53
Previous pacemaker, n (%)	16 (11.5)	2 (8.0)	14 (12.3)	0.42
Renal failure (GFR $< 60 \text{ ml/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$)	99 (71.2)	17 (68.0)	82 (71.9)	0.43
HEART RHYTHM				
Atrial fibrillation, n (%)	34 (24.5)	4 (16.0)	30 (26.3)	0.26
SYMPTOMS				
Syncope, n (%)	15 (10.9)	4 (16.0)	11 (9.7)	0.28
New york heart association (NYHA) functional class				
<i>NYHA III/IV</i> , n (%)	114 (82.0)	18 (72.0)	96 (84.2)	0.13
Canadian cardiovascular society (CCS) angina status				
CCS III/IV, n (%)	9 (6.5)	2 (8.0)	7 (6.1)	0.51
RISK ASSESSMENT				
Logistic EuroScore (%)	20.71 ± 13.25	14.20 ± 10.73	22.16 ± 13.36	0.01
STS Score (%)	4.95 ± 2.84	3.94 ± 2.13	5.17 ± 2.93	0.05
LABORATORY VALUES				
HS Troponin T (ng/ml)	30.72 ± 25.00	22.17 ± 21.52	32.59 ± 25.41	0.06
NT-Pro Brain Natriurtic Peptide (pg/mL)	$3,338 \pm 3,831$	$1,554 \pm 1,774$	$3,749 \pm 4,058$	<0.0001

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

Baseline characteristics are given in **Table 1**. A total of 139 patients with symptomatic severe AS undergoing TAVI had complete MDCT and RHC data and were included in the present analysis. Eighty-Two percentage (n = 114) patients had PH defined as a mean PA pressure ≥ 25 mmHg. PH patients comprised 12 patients with precapillary PH, 86 patients with isolated post-capillary PH and 16 patients with combined precapillary and post-capillary PH (**Figure 1**). Patients with PH were significantly older, had a higher body mass index and had significantly higher surgical risk scores at baseline. In addition, NT-pro-BNP values at baseline were significantly

higher among PH patients as compared with no PH patients (Table 1) (p < 0.0001).

Echocardiographic and Invasive Haemodynamic Characteristics

Baseline echocardiographic and invasive haemodynamic characteristics are shown in **Tables 2**, **3**, respectively. As compared with no PH, patients with PH had significantly larger left ventricular end-diastolic diameters (p = 0.026), higher non-invasive right ventricular/right atrial gradients (p = 0.026), higher left ventricular end-diastolic pressures (p = 0.005), higher pulmonary and right ventricular pressures (p < 0.0001) and lower pulmonary artery saturation measurements (p = 0.026).

Procedural Characteristics

Procedural characteristics are shown in **Table 4**. The majority of patients underwent TAVI via the transfemoral route (78%)



TABLE 2 | Baseline echocardiography characteristics.

under general anesthesia (91%) with the Edwards SAPIEN 3 valve (35%). Balloon predilatation was performed in most cases (86%) and only a minority of patients underwent concomitant revascularization.

MDCT Measurements Referring to PH

MDCT measurements of the pulmonary and aortic vasculature are shown in **Tables 5**, **6**. As compared with no PH, patients with PH had significantly larger diameters of MPA (p = 0.001), RPA (p = 0.004), LPA (p = 0.029), and PA/AA_{ratio} (p < 0.0001). No significant differences in ascending aorta or aortic annular measurements were observed between groups. As compared with no PH, patients with combined post-capillary PH had significantly larger MPA (p = 0.006), RPA (p = 0.011) diameters and PA/AA_{ratio} (p < 0.0001) (Supplementary Table 1). In addition, patients with precapillary PH had significantly larger LPA and RPA diameters as compared with patients without PH (supplementary Table 1).

The PA/AA_{ratio} exhibited the best correlation with PA pressures (**Figure 2**) (r^2 0.48 for mean PA, p < 0.0001; r^2 0.50 for PA systolic pressure, p < 0.0001; r^2 0.41 for diastolic PA pressure,

	All patients N = 139	No PH N = 25	PH <i>N</i> = 114	P-value
AORTIC STENOSIS SEVERITY				
Aortic valve area (cm ²)	0.71 ± 0.20	0.75 ± 0.22	0.70 ± 0.19	0.43
Aortic maximal velocity, cm/s	4.3 ± 0.69	4.0 ± 0.4	4.3 ± 0.7	0.16
Mean gradient (mmHg)	46.6 ± 14.0	47.3 ± 12.5	46.5 ± 14.4	0.83
Peak gradient (mmHg)	72.0 ± 21.1	70.1 ± 17.4	72.2 ± 21.9	0.75
LV GEOMETRY AND 2D MEASUREM	IENTS			
LV end-systolic diameter, mm	32.5 ± 11.1	26.3 ± 12.3	34.0 ± 10.5	0.06
LV end-diastolic diameter, mm	45.3 ± 10.4	40.0 ± 12.4	46.6 ± 9.4	0.026
LV mass index, g/m ²	131.69 ± 33.0	121.7 ± 52.1	133.7 ± 27.7	0.49
LV SYSTOLIC FUNCTION				
LV ejection fraction, %	56.1 ± 12.9	58.8 ± 10.0	55.4 ± 13.5	0.35
ASSOCIATED VALVULAR ABNORMA	LITY			
Aortic regurgitation				0.74
None	58 (41.7)	11 (44.4)	47 (41.2)	
Mild	58 (41.7)	8 (32.0)	50 (43.9)	
Moderate	5 (3.6)	1 (4.0)	4 (3.5)	
Severe	3 (2.2)	1 (4.0)	2 (1.8)	
Mitral regurgitation				0.30
None	33 (23.7)	7 (28.0)	26 (22.8)	
Mild	62 (44.6)	14 (56.0)	48 (42.1)	
Moderate	32 (23.0)	2 (8.0)	30 (26.3)	
Severe	3 (2.2)	O (O)	3 (2.6)	
Tricuspid regurgitation				
None	48 (34.5)	9 (36.0)	39 (34.2)	0.86
Mild	63 (45.3)	10 (40.0)	53 (46.5)	
Moderate	15 (10.8)	3 (12.0)	12 (10.5)	
Severe	2 (1.4)	O (O)	2 (1.8)	
RIGHT SIDED HEMODYNAMICS				
RV-RA gradient, mmHg	38.2 ± 13.5	28.0 ± 6.4	40.4 ± 13.7	0.026

TABLE 3 | Invasive haemodynamic characteristics.

	All patients $N = 139$	No PH N = 25	РН <i>N</i> = 114	P-value
AORTIC STENOSIS SEVERITY				
Aortic valve area (cm ²)	0.64 ± 0.30	0.72 ± 0.36	0.63 ± 0.29	0.19
Peak-to-peak gradient (mmHg)	54.95 ± 26.03	50.48 ± 23.96	55.88 ± 36.45	0.37
Mean gradient (mmHg)	44.74 ± 18.24	41.42 ± 17.25	45.44 ± 18.44	0.34
SYSTEMIC VASCULAR LOAD				
Systolic arterial pressure (mmHg)	138.34 ± 28.65	132.32 ± 26.04	139.66 ± 29.14	0.25
Diastolic arterial pressure (mmHg)	66.10 ± 14.39	66.04 ± 11.71	66.11 ± 14.96	0.98
Mean arterial pressure	95.09 ± 17.31	92.88 ± 14.11	95.58 ± 17.95	0.48
Systemic vascular resistance (mmHg.min.L ⁻¹)	$1,839 \pm 761$	$1,729 \pm 578$	$1,861 \pm 792$	0.47
LV SYSTOLIC FUNCTION				
Ejection fraction (%)	53.80 ± 14.30	56.87 ± 13.21	53.15 ± 14.50	0.26
LV systolic pressure (mmHg)	197.10 ± 38.37	186.87 ± 37.30	199.22 ± 38.41	0.16
LV end diastolic pressure (mmHg)	26.13 ± 9.57	21.13 ± 7.23	27.17 ± 9.69	0.005
Stroke volume (ml)	57.36 ± 23.61	63.43 ± 21.25	56.17 ± 23.96	0.20
Stroke volume index (ml/m²)	32.01 ± 12.16	35.51 ± 10.82	31.32 ± 12.33	0.15
Cardiac output (L/min)	4.12 ± 1.35	4.47 ± 1.25	4.05 ± 1.36	0.19
Cardiac index (l/(min*m²)	2.30 ± 0.68	2.50 ± 0.59	2.26 ± 0.69	0.14
Heart rate (beats/min)	75.82 ± 16.97	71.08 ± 14.71	76.86 ± 17.31	0.12
RIGHT SIDED HEMODYNAMICS				
PA systolic pressure (mmHg)	53.38 ± 16.72	33.72 ± 5.09	57.69 ± 15.22	< 0.0001
PA diastolic pressure (mmHg)	22.37 ± 8.53	12.72 ± 3.42	24.49 ± 7.83	< 0.0001
Mean PA pressure (mmHg)	35.76 ± 11.57	21.28 ± 2.59	38.94 ± 10.27	< 0.0001
RV systolic pressure, mmHg	53.82 ± 15.19	36.64 ± 6.67	57.62 ± 13.86	< 0.0001
RA mean pressure (mmHg)	9.38 ± 4.89	5.68 ± 2.72	10.17 ± 4.90	< 0.0001
Diastolic pressure gradient \geq 7 mmHg, n (%)	26 (18.8)	1 (0.7)	25 (21.9)	0.031
COMPONENTS OF FICK EQUATION				
Aortic saturation (%)	92.72 ± 3.88	94.01 ± 3.18	92.45 ± 3.97	0.07
Pulmonary artery saturation (%)	60.62 ± 11.08	65.18 ± 6.81	59.66 ± 11.58	0.026
Hemoglobin (g/dl)	12.43 ± 1.49	12.75 ± 1.34	12.36 ± 1.53	0.51

p < 0.0001). Using Receiver Operating Characteristic Curves, the PA/AA_{ratio} correlated best with PH (AUC 0.74), whereas MPA (AUC 0.65), RPA (AUC 0.67), and LPA (AUC 0.64) exhibited lower sensitivity and specificity (**Figure 3**). The optimal cut-off point of the PA/AA_{ratio} in predicting the presence of PH defined as an invasive mean PA pressure is 0.80 with a sensitivity of 56%, specificity of 88%, negative predictive value of 30.6%, and positive predictive value of 95.5% (**Figure 4**).

Clinical Outcomes at 30-Days and 2-Years

Clinical outcomes at 30-days and 2-years are shown in **Table** 7. As compared with no PH, no significant differences in all-cause mortality (Hazard Ratio 0.80, 95% confidence interval 0.18–3.60, p = 0.77) or cardiovascular mortality (HR 4.29, 95% CI 0.60–30.45, p = 0.11) were observed at 2 years among patients with PH (**Figure 5**). In addition, no significant differences in other VARC-2 endpoints (cerebrovascular accidents, major bleeding, vascular complications, acute renal failure, and permanent pacemaker implantation) were observed between groups at 30-days or 2 years (**Table 7**).

DISCUSSION

In the present study we sought to assess the reliability of screening for PH using MDCT derived measurements of the pulmonary arteries as compared with gold standard pulmonary artery pressure measurements derived from right heart catheterization among patients with severe AS undergoing TAVI. The key finding was that PA/AA_{ratio} was the most useful parameter to use to screen for PH among patients with severe AS undergoing TAVI with moderate to high specificity but relatively low sensitivity. We found that the best PA/AA_{ratio} cutoff for screening for PH is 0.80. Therefore, patients with a larger PA/AA_{ratio} on CT are more likely to have PH (high positive predictive value) but PH cannot be reliably ruled out among patients with smaller PA/AA_{ratio} values (low negative predictive value). PH is common among patients with severe AS selected for TAVI and is associated with worse clinical outcomes as compared with patients without PH (3, 8-10). Right heart catheterization is the gold standard method for diagnosing PH but is not routinely performed prior to TAVI. Conversely, MDCT is almost always performed

prior to TAVI in order to assess aortic annular and vascular dimensions for procedural planning (6). Consequently, MDCT may serve as a useful screening tool for the presence of PH among patients selected to undergo TAVI and help with risk stratification.

CT Derived Anatomical Indicators of PH

Truong et al. determined the age and sex specific distribution and normal reference values for main pulmonary artery diameter and the PA/AA_{ratio} by CT in an asymptomatic communitybased population (n = 3,171, mean age 51 \pm 10 years) (11). The investigators observed the 90th percentile cutoff value for PA/AA_{ratio} was 0.90 for both males and females but that the PA/AA_{ratio} was inversely proportional to age (11).

 TABLE 4 | Procedural characteristics.

	All patients	No PH	PH	P-value
	<i>N</i> = 139	N = 25	<i>N</i> = 114	
Access route				0.42
Femoral, n (%)	109 (78.4)	22 (88.0)	87 (76.3)	
Apical, n (%)	29 (20.9)	3 (12.0)	26 (22.8)	
Direct aortic, n (%)	1 (0.7)	0 (0)	1 (0.9)	
Valve type				0.83
Edwards Sapien 3, n (%)	49 (35.3)	8 (32.0)	41 (36.0)	
Edwards Sapien valve XT, n (%)	31 (22.3)	5 (20.0)	26 (22.8)	
Medtronic CoreValve, n (%)	42 (30.2)	9 (36.0)	33 (28.9)	
Medtronic Evolut R, n (%)	10 (7.2)	1 (4.0)	9 (7.9)	
Boston Scientific Lotus, n (%)	7 (5.0)	2 (8.0)	5 (4.4)	
Anesthesia				0.15
General, n (%)	127 (91.4)	21 (84.0)	106 (93.0)	
Local, n (%)	12 (8.6)	4 (16.0)	8 (7.0)	
Balloon predilation				0.76
Balloon predilation	119 (85.6)	21 (84.0)	98 (86.0)	
Revascularisation				0.37
Revascularisation, n (%)	5 (3.6)	0 (0)	5 (4.4)	
Procedural Specifications				0.74
Post-preocedure moderate-severe AR, n (%)	17 (12.2)	2 (8.0)	15 (13.2)	

The authors observed that that the PA/AA_{ratio} was smaller in older participants owing to progressive aortic enlargement with increasing age (11). In the present study, the mean age of the study sample was 84 ± 5 years and this may account for the fact that we observed a smaller PA/AA_{ratio} of 0.80 to be the optimal predictor of PH. Prior studies in younger patients with more heterogeneous diseases have suggested that a $PA/AA_{ratio} \ge$ 1.0 is the optimal cutoff point to diagnose PH on CT. A small retrospective study (n = 50, median age 47.5 years) found that a PA/AA_{ratio} > 1.0 was the best predictor of chronic pulmonary arterial hypertension with a sensitivity, specificity and positive and negative predictive values for PH of 70, 92, 96, and 52% (12). Similary, Sanal et al. observed in a retrospective study among patients with pulmonary embolism (mean age 59 \pm 15 years) that a PA/AA_{ratio} \geq 1.0 had a 59% sensitivity, 82% specificity, a 55% positive predictive value, and a 84% negative predictive value for diagnosing moderate to severe PH defined as a pulmonary



pulmonary artery/ascending aorta ratio.

TABLE 5 | Computer Tomography characteristics.

	All patients	No PH	PH	P-Value
	N = 139	N = 25	<i>N</i> = 114	
PULMONARY VASCULAR DIAMETERS				
Main pulmonary artery, mm	28.01 ± 4.33	26.03 ± 2.92	28.44 ± 4.48	0.001
Right pulmonary artery, mm	27.25 ± 4.08	25.13 ± 4.47	27.71 ± 3.86	0.004
Left pulmonary artery, mm	25.70 ± 3.07	24.49 ± 3.24	25.96 ± 2.98	0.029
Main pulmonary artery/ascending aorta ratio	0.80 ± 0.12	0.73 ± 0.08	0.82 ± 0.12	< 0.0001
AORTIC ANNULUS MEASUREMENTS				
Ascending aorta, mm	35.11 ± 4.21	36.06 ± 4.17	34.91 ± 4.21	0.21
Annulus perimeter, mm	89.22 ± 14.81	91.03 ± 14.87	88.82 ± 14.90	0.63
Annulus area, mm ³	483 ± 115	529 ± 138	472 ± 107	0.11

artery systolic pressure $\geq 50 \text{ mmHg}$ on Doppler Echo (13). Mohamed Hoesein et al. (14) assessed the accuracy of CT PA diameter and PA/AA_{ratio} for PH in end-stage COPD among 92 patients (mean age 55 years) and found that a PA/AAratio >1 had a negative predictive value of 77.9% and a positive predictive value of 63.1%. However, the results of the present study would suggest that in an elderly patient population, such as those selected to undergo TAVI, a PA/AA_{ratio} ≥ 1.0 would not be sensitive enough as we observed a sensitivity of just 4.4% when PA/AA_{ratio} ≥ 1.0 was used to predict the presence of PH. Therefore, the key observation of this study is that a lower PA/AA_{ratio} value is required to screen for PH among TAVI patients. To date only one other study assessed the value of CT pulmonary vascular measurements as a predictor of PH and mortality in symptomatic severe AS (15). In contrast to



FIGURE 3 | Receiver operating characteristic curve testing the ability of the CT derived pulmonary artery/ascending aorta ratio to detect PH defined as a mean pulmonary artery pressure ≥ 25 mmHg.



the present study, the authors did not observe that PA/AA_{ratio} was any better at predicting PH as compared with MPA. The reasons for this are unclear but may relate to the fact that the pulmonary artery measurements may have been made during end-systole rather than end-diastole. The investigators also did not find any significant differences between MPA diameters of patients with combined post-and pre-capillary PH and no PH, whereas we observed significant differences between these groups (15).

TABLE 6 | Diagnostic accuracy of computed tomography for detecting pulmonary hypertension.

	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	NPV (%)	PPV (%)
$MPA \ge 29 mm$	39.5	84.0	23.3	91.8
$\text{MPA} \geq 30\text{mm}$	28.9	84.0	20.6	89.2
$MPA \ge 31 \text{ mm}$	24.6	100.0	22.5	100.0
$\text{MPA} \geq 32\text{mm}$	19.3	100.0	21.4	100.0
$\text{MPA} \geq 29\text{mm} \text{ (only men)}$	47.8	76.9	29.4	88.0
$MPA \ge 31 \text{ mm}$ (only men)	30.4	100.0	28.9	100.0
MPA \geq 27 mm (only females)	52.9	83.3	23.8	94.7
$\text{MPA} \geq 29\text{mm} \text{ (only females)}$	33.8	91.7	19.6	95.8
MPA \geq 31 mm (only females)	20.6	100.0	18.2	100.0
PA/AA ratio ≥ 0.75	69.3	56.0	28.6	87.8
PA/AA ratio ≥ 0.80	56.1	88.0	30.6	95.5
PA/AA ratio ≥ 0.85	36.8	96.0	25.0	97.7
PA/AA ratio ≥ 0.90	28.1	100.0	23.4	100.0
PA/AA ratio ≥ 0.95	14.9	100.0	20.5	100.0
PA/AA ratio $\geq 0.1.0$	4.4	100.0	18.7	100.0

AA, ascending aorta; MPA, main pulmonary artery.



TABLE 7 | Clinical outcomes.

	No PH <i>N</i> = 25	РН <i>N</i> = 114	P-value
30 DAYS FOLLOW-UP			
All cause death, n (%)	0 (0)	4 (3.5)	0.45
Cardiovascular death, n (%)	0(0)	O (O)	
Cerebrovascular events	1 (4.0)	O (O)	0.18
Major stroke, n (%)	0(0)	O (O)	
Minor stroke, n (%)	0 (0)	O (O)	
Transient ischemic attack, n (%)	1 (4.0)	O (O)	0.18
Bleeding	4 (16.0)	19 (16.7)	0.60
Life-threatening, n (%)	1 (4.0)	3 (2.6)	0.55
Major, n (%)	1 (4.0)	7 (6.1)	0.56
Acute renal failure, n (%)	0 (0)	1 (0.9)	0.82
Access site complications	3 (12.0)	9 (7.9)	0.37
Major, n (%)	1 (4.0)	4 (3.5)	0.64
Minor, n (%)	2 (8.0)	5 (4.4)	0.37
New permanent pacemaker, n (%)	4 (16.0)	15 (13.2)	0.46
2 YEAR FOLLOW-UP			
All cause death, n (%)	2 (8.0)	11 (9.6)	0.58
Cardiovascular death, n (%)	2 (8.0)	2 (1.8)	0.15
Cerebrovascular events	1 (4.0)	4 (3.5)	0.64
Major stroke, n (%)	0 (0)	2 (1.8)	0.67
Minor stroke, n (%)	0 (0)	1 (0.9)	0.82
Transient ischemic attack, n (%)	1 (4.0)	1 (0.9)	0.33
All cause death or major stroke, n (%)	2 (8.0)	13 (11.4)	0.47

Limitations

The present study is a single center retrospective study with several limitations. Although we observed no significant

REFERENCES

- Mack MJ, Leon MB, Smith CR, Miller DC, Moses JW, Tuzcu EM, et al. PARTNER 1 trial investigators. *Lancet* (2015) 385:2477–84. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60308-7
- O'Sullivan CJ, Wenaweser P. Optimizing clinical outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve implantation patients with comorbidities. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* (2015) 13:1419–32. doi: 10.1586/14779072.2015.1102056
- O'Sullivan CJ, Wenaweser P, Ceylan O, Rat-Wirtzler J, Stortecky S, Heg D, et al. Effect of pulmonary hypertension hemodynamic presentation on clinical outcomes in patients with severe symptomatic aortic valve stenosis undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 8:e002358. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.114.002358
- Vachiery JL, Adir Y, Barbera JA, Champion H, Coghlan JG, Cottin V, et al. Pulmonary hypertension due to left heart diseases. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2013) 62(25 Suppl.):D100–08. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.10.033
- Simonneau G, Gatzoulis MA, Adatia I, Celermajer D, Denton C, Ghofrani A, et al. Updated clinical classification of pulmonary hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2013) 62(25 Suppl.):D34–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.10.029
- O'Sullivan CJ, Stortecky S, Buellesfeld L, Wenaweser P, Windecker S. Preinterventional screening of the TAVI patient: how to choose the suitable patient and the best procedure. *Clin Res Cardiol.* (2014) 103:259–74. doi: 10.1007/s00392-014-0676-4
- 7. O'Sullivan CJ, Stortecky S, Heg D, Pilgrim T, Hosek N, Buellesfeld L, et al. Clinical outcomes of patients with low-flow, low-gradient, severe aortic stenosis and either preserved or reduced ejection fraction undergoing

differences in adverse clinical outcomes between patients with and without PH no definitive conclusions on the effect of PH on mortality can be drawn from this study as too few events occured. However, the main aim of this study was not to compare clinical outcomes between patients with and without PH, but rather to assess the accuracy of CT measurements of the pulmonary vessels in predicting the presence of PH. The presented conclusions are preliminary and only hypothesis generating and that further research is needed. Further studies should test whether we are able to diagnose different severities of PH, since the implications of severe PH are completely different from mild.

CONCLUSIONS

In the present study we found that PA/AA_{ratio} demonstrates the strongest correlation with mean PA and PA systolic pressures and that the optimal cutoff is 0.80 in predicting the presence of PH with high specificity but moderate to low sensitivity.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CO, MM, RZ, DK, and FE: conception and design of the study. CO and MM: analysis and interpretation of data. CO: drafting of the manuscript. All authors revising the manuscript critically for important intellectual content and final approval of the manuscript submitted.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcvm. 2018.00063/full#supplementary-material

transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Eur Heart J.* (2013) **34**:3437–50. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht408

- Lucon A, Oger E, Bedossa M, Bolulmier D, Verhoye JP, Eltchaninoff H, et al. Prognostic implications of pulmonary hypertension in patients with severe aortic stenosis undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation: study from the FRANCE 2 Registry. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2014) 7:240–7. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.113.000482
- Ben-Dor I, Goldstein SA, Pichard AD, Satler LF, Maluenda G, Li Y, et al. Clinical profile, prognostic implication, and response to treatment of pulmonary hypertension in patients with severe aortic stenosis. *Am J Cardiol.* (2011) 107:1046–51. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.11.031
- Tamburino C, Capodanno D, Ramondo A, Petronio AS, Ettori F, Santoro G, et al. Incidence and predictors of early and late mortality after transcatheter aortic valve implantation in 663 patients with severe aortic stenosis. *Circulation* (2011) 123:299–08. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.946533
- Truong QA, Massaro JM, Rogers IS, Mahabadi AA, Kriegel MF, Fox CS, et al. Reference values for normal pulmonary artery dimensions by noncontrast cardiac computed tomography: the Framingham heart study. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging* (2012) 5:147–54. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.111.968610
- Ng CS, Wells AU, Padley SPG. A CT sign of chronic pulmonary arterial hypertension: the ratio of main pulmonary artery to aortic diameter. *J Thor Imaging* (1999) 14:270–78.
- 13. Sanal S, Aronow SW, Ravipati G, Maguire GP, Belkin RN, Lehrman SG. Prediction of moderate or severe pulmonary hypertension by main pulmonary artery diameter and main pulmonary artery diameter/ascending

aorta diameter in pulmonary embolism. *Cardiol Rev.* (2006) 14:213–14. doi: 10.1097/01.crd.0000181619.87084.8b

- Mohamed Hoesein FA, Besselink T, Pompe E, Oudijk EJ, de Graaf EA, Kwakkel-van Erp JM, et al. Accuracy of CT pulmonary artery diameter for pulmonary hypertension in end-stage COPD. *Lung* (2016) **194**:813–19. doi: 10.1007/s00408-016-9926-8
- Eberhard M, Mastalerz M, Pavicevic J, Frauenfelder T, Nietlispach F, Maisano F, et al. Value of CT signs and measurements as a predictor of pulmonary hypertension and mortality in symptomatic severe aortic valve stenosis. *Int J Cardiovasc Imaging* (2017) 33:1637–51. doi: 10.1007/s10554-017-1180-5

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 O'Sullivan, Montalbetti, Zbinden, Kurz, Bernheim, Liew, Meyer, Tüller and Eberli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement and Concomitant Mitral Regurgitation

Barbara E. Stähli^{1,2*}, Markus Reinthaler^{1,2}, David M. Leistner^{1,2,3}, Ulf Landmesser^{1,2,3} and Alexander Lauten^{1,2}

¹ Department of Cardiology, Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² Partner Site Berlin, Deutsches Zentrum für Herz-Kreislaufforschung (DZHK), Berlin, Germany, ³ Berlin Institute of Health, Berlin, Germany

Mitral regurgitation frequently coexists in patients with severe aortic stenosis. Patients with moderate to severe mitral regurgitation at the time of transcatheter aortic valve replacement are at increased risk of future adverse events. Whether concomitant mitral regurgitation is independently associated with worse outcomes after TAVR remains a matter of debate. The optimal therapeutic strategy in these patients—TAVR with evidence-based heart failure therapy, combined TAVR and transcatheter mitral valve intervention, or staged transcatheter therapies—is ill-defined, and guideline-based recommendations in patients at increased risk for open heart surgery are lacking. Hence, a thorough evaluation of the aortic and mitral valve anatomy and function, along with an in-depth assessment of the patients' baseline risk profile, provides the basis for an individualized treatment approach. The aim of this review is therefore to give an overview of the current literature on mitral regurgitation in TAVR, focusing on different diagnostic and therapeutic strategies and optimal clinical decision making.

Keywords: transcatheter aortic vave replacement, mitral valve insufficiency, mitral valve repair, aortic stenosis, aortic valve, mitral valve

INTRODUCTION

Concomitant mitral regurgitation is frequently observed in patients with severe aortic stenosis (1–3). About 20% of patients undergoing transcatheter (TAVR) or surgical (SAVR) aortic valve replacement for severe aortic stenosis have concomitant more than mild mitral regurgitation (1–3). Whether concomitant mitral regurgitation is independently associated with worse outcomes after aortic valve replacement is uncertain (4). A thorough evaluation of the aortic and mitral valve anatomy and function is important in these patients and mainly based on transthoracic and transesophageal echocardiography. An in-depth understanding of the underlying pathophysiological mechanism provides the basis for an individualized treatment approach and optimal procedural planning. Emerging minimally invasive surgical and transcatheter treatment strategies offer novel, less-invasive therapeutic options for combined, staged or hybrid procedures when severe aortic stenosis and mitral regurgitation do coexist, particularly in elderly patients, obviating the need for open heart surgery (5). The treatment of first choice in these patients, however, remains a matter of debate, and guideline-based recommendations are lacking.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maurizio Taramasso, UniversitätsSpital Zürich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Masahiko Asami, Bern University Hospital, Switzerland Paolo Denti, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

*Correspondence:

Barbara E. Stähli barbara-elisabeth.staehli@charite.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 30 March 2018 Accepted: 30 May 2018 Published: 19 June 2018

Citation:

Stähli BE, Reinthaler M, Leistner DM, Landmesser U and Lauten A (2018) Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement and Concomitant Mitral Regurgitation. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:74. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00074 The aim of this review is therefore to give an overview of the current literature on mitral regurgitation in TAVR, with particular focus on the different diagnostic and therapeutic strategies available and on the clinical decision-making process in patients at increased surgical risk.

ASSESSMENT OF MITRAL REGURGITATION IN PATIENTS WITH SEVERE AORTIC STENOSIS

In mitral regurgitation, besides the grading of the regurgitation severity, identification of the underlying etiology, particularly the distinction between primary and secondary mitral regurgitation, is of great importance to guide therapeutic management. The assessment of the mitral valve apparatus and the type of dysfunction is mainly based on transthoracic and/or transesophageal echocardiography with multimodality imaging used in specific situations (6, 7). Although transthoracic echocardiography is diagnostic in most cases, transesophageal echocardiography complements the assessment when transthoracic image quality is suboptimal and further diagnostic refinement is required (6, 7). Transesophageal echocardiography not only provides additional important information on the etiology of the disease, but also helps to determine the feasibility of dedicated transcatheter mitral valve procedures. Threedimensional (3D) echocardiography facilitates anatomic and functional interpretation, particularly in patients with complex valvular pathologies (6, 8, 9).

Mitral regurgitation may either be primary/degenerative due to abnormalities of the valvular apparatus itself such as mitral valve prolapse, flail leaflets, and chordal rupture, or secondary/functional due to restricted leaflets, mostly caused by left ventricular dilatation and dysfunction in ischemic cardiomyopathy and chronic pressure overload related to aortic stenosis (10). Annular dilatation and left atrial enlargement causing insufficient leaflet closure, e. g., in patients with longstanding atrial fibrillation, may also be an underlying cause. Mixed forms exist when both pathologies overlap. As the mitral valvular apparatus is often calcified in patients with degenerative aortic stenosis, pure secondary mitral regurgitation is unlikely in this context (4).

An integrated approach using qualitative, semi-quantitative, and quantitative echocardiographic parameters allows for a comprehensive assessment of mitral regurgitation (9, 11, 12). Color flow imaging is the most common way to detect mitral regurgitation, with quantification based on the integration of further measures such as vena contracta width, PISA radius, regurgitation volume and effective regurgitant orifice area (EROA) (6). The evaluation of mitral regurgitation in aortic stenosis may, however, be challenging as jet velocity may be increased due to high left ventricular pressures (4). On the other hand, concomitant mitral regurgitation impacts on transvalvular gradient and flow in severe aortic stenosis, which may hamper echocardiographic assessment (13).

A thorough echocardiographic evaluation of the mitral valve apparatus is needed to determine the feasibility of

TABLE 1 | Favorable echocardiographic criteria for transcatheter edge-to-edge mitral valve repair with the MitraClip[®] system.

Favorable echocardiographic criteria	Unfavorable echocardiographic criteria		
Regurgitation located in the midportion of the valve	Rheumatic valve disease		
Absence of leaflet calcifications in the grasping area	Leaflet perforation or clefts		
Mitral valve area >4 cm2	Mitral stenosis		
Posterior leaflet length $\geq 10 \text{ mm}$	Posterior leaflet length <7 mm		
Flail gap <10 mm and flail width <15 mm			
Coaptation depth <11mm and coaptation length >2 mm			

Adapted from Wunderlich and Siegel (17).

transcatheter mitral valve interventions (14-16). Unfavorable echocardiographic criteria for percutaneous edge-to-edge mitral valve repair include severe leaflet calcifications in the grasping area, rheumatic leaflet thickening, perforated leaflets or clefts, and a mobile length of the posterior mitral valve leaflet of <7 mm, along with insufficient mechanical coaptation in functional (coaptation depth >11 mm, coaptation length <2 mm) and excessive flail gap in degenerative disease (fail gap >10 mm and flail width >15 mm, Table 1) (15-17). A pre-procedural mitral valve area of >4 cm² is recommended in order to reduce the risk of post-procedural mitral valve stenosis (17). Advanced imaging modalities such as multidetector computed tomography (MDCT) complement the assessment of these patients. Besides the evaluation of the aorto-iliacal axis in TAVR patients, MDCT provides important information on the mitral valve apparatus, particularly on annular dimensions, the extent and localization of calcifications, and the spacial relationship to adjacent structures (16, 18, 19).

IMPACT OF MITRAL REGURGITATION ON OUTCOMES IN PATIENTS WITH SEVERE AORTIC STENOSIS

Patients with aortic stenosis and coexisting moderate to severe mitral regurgitation are known to have a worse clinical risk profile as compared to those without, which is also reflected by higher surgical risk scores (20, 21). They are older, have a higher prevalence of atrial fibrillation and prior myocardial infarction, and poorer left ventricular systolic function (LVEF) (20– 22). Whether concomitant mitral regurgitation independently affects outcomes in patients undergoing AVR remains an ongoing matter of debate, particularly whether secondary mitral regurgitation is related with outcomes irrespective of left ventricular dysfunction. While some studies did not observe any association between the presence of mitral regurgitation and adverse events after SAVR (23, 24), others demonstrated an increased risk of mortality, heart failure, and need for future mitral valve repair/replacement when mitral regurgitation

was treated medically (2, 25, 26). While in some studies, mitral regurgitation did not emerge as independent predictor of mortality after TAVR (2, 20, 27), the majority of studies clearly pointed toward an increased risk of mortality when coexistent moderate to severe mitral regurgitation was present at the time of TAVR (28-34). In a meta-analysis including 4,839 TAVR patients, all-cause mortality was significantly higher in patients with moderate to severe mitral regurgitation (29). Similarly, in a multicenter registry including 1,007 patients undergoing TAVR with the CoreValve Revalving System, 1-year mortality was significantly higher in patients with moderate or severe mitral regurgitation as compared to those without (31). Differences in the grading methodology of mitral regurgitation which was based on qualitative echocardiographic measures in most studies, along with varying inclusion criteria, mainly regarding the etiology and severity of mitral regurgitation, may hamper comparisons among studies. Most interestingly, in the PARTNER (Placement of AoRTic TraNscathetER Valve) trial, patients with moderate to severe mitral regurgitation seemed to experience an even greater benefit from TAVR than those without, as reflected in a smaller number needed to treat to prevent a fatality (35).

TREATMENT STRATEGIES IN PATIENTS WITH SEVERE AORTIC STENOSIS AND MITRAL REGURGITATION

As double valve surgery is associated with an increased mortality as compared to SAVR or combined SAVR and coronary artery bypass grafting (36), transcatheter therapeutic options represent promising less-invasive treatment alternatives to open heart surgery in high-risk patients. Despite the high prevalence of concomitant mitral regurgitation in patients with severe aortic stenosis and the associated substantial morbidity and mortality, randomized trials investigating different therapeutic strategies are lacking. Whether concomitant mitral regurgitation should be treated medically or addressed in combined or staged procedures is ill-defined, and optimal patient selection and timing of interventions need to be determined. The evidence in this field is mostly stemming from observational data and case series, which precludes firm conclusions. Given the lack of guideline-based recommendations, personalized treatment strategies based on associated symptoms, the individual valvular pathology, the comorbid burden, and the estimated procedural risk are advocated (10). Irrespective of attempted surgical or transcatheter approaches to mitral regurgitation, guideline-based heart failure management is essential in these patients before evaluating the regurgitation severity.

The Guideline-Based Heart Team Approach

All patients with severe symptomatic aortic stenosis and concomitant mitral regurgitation, who are at increased surgical risk, are evaluated by a multidisciplinary Heart Team to ensure comprehensive risk stratification and optimal patient selection. Besides technical aspects, associated symptoms, the burden of comorbidities, patient's life expectancy, patient's frailty, and the quality of life need to be taken into account to deliver best quality of care (10). Thereby, a balanced decision on the optimal treatment strategy is taken for each individual patient.

Guideline-based indications for mitral valve procedures are summarized in Table 2. The distinction between primary and secondary mitral regurgitation is emphasized in this context. Although mitral valve repair/replacement is considered the gold standard in patients with symptomatic severe mitral regurgitation (10), benefits in those with secondary forms are less clear as lack of survival benefit and an increased risk of recurrence have been reported (37), finally resulting in lower levels of evidence for treatment recommendations in this patient subgroup. According to current guidelines of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) (10), intervention for severe chronic primary mitral regurgitation is indicated in symptomatic patients with preserved left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF >30%, class of recommendation I, level of evidence B) with valve repair being the preferred treatment approach. Surgery is further indicated in asymptomatic patients with left ventricular dysfunction as mirrored by a reduced left ventricular systolic function [LVEF <60%] or increased left ventricular dimensions (left ventricular end-systolic diameter \geq 45 mm, class of recommendation I, level of evidence B), and should be considered in patients with new onset of atrial fibrillation or increased pulmonary pressures (systolic pulmonary pressure ≥50 mmHg, class of recommendation IIa, level of evidence B), and flail leaflet or significant left atrial dilatation (class of recommendation IIa, level of evidence C) (10). Percutaneous edge-to-edge repair may be considered by the Heart Team for symptomatic patients at high surgical risk (class of recommendation IIb, level of evidence C). Currently, there is no indication to intervene for moderate mitral regurgitation.

In patients with severe secondary mitral regurgitation, optimal guideline-recommended heart failure therapy, including optimal medical therapy and coronary revascularization or cardiac resynchronization as indicated, is of particular importance (10, 38). For the treatment of severe secondary mitral regurgitation, a class I recommendation for mitral valve surgery with valve repair being the method of first choice exists in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery, when LVEF is preserved (level of evidence C). In symptomatic patients with reduced left ventricular systolic function (LVEF <30%), surgery should be considered when coronary revascularization is indicated (class of recommendation IIa, level of evidence C). When there is no option for coronary revascularization, mitral valve surgery may be considered in patients with preserved LVEF and low surgical risk (class of recommendation IIb, level of evidence C). A percutaneous edge-to-edge procedure may be considered when echocardiographic criteria of eligibility are met and surgical risk deemed prohibitive (class of recommendation IIb, level of evidence C). Although transcatheter percutaneous mitral valve procedures were shown to substantially reduce the degree of mitral regurgitation, beneficially affect left ventricular reverse remodeling, and significantly decrease the symptomatic burden (15, 39-41), it remains uncertain whether survival benefits are achieved. Emerging interventional procedures such as transcatheter annuloplasty or transapical valve replacement complement the therapeutic armamentarium for severe mitral TABLE 2 | Recommendations for the treatment of chronic mitral regurgitation according to the 2017 European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease.

Recommendations	Class of recommendation	Level of evidence
PRIMARY MITRAL REGURGITATION		
Mitral valve repair is the treatment of choice when durable results are expected.	I	С
Mitral valve surgery is indicated in patients with severe symptomatic mitral regurgitation and preserved left ventricular systolic function (LVEF >30%).	I	В
Mitral valve surgery is indicated in asymptomatic patients with severe mitral regurgitation and left ventricular dysfunction (LVEF $\leq 60\%$ or LVESD ≥ 45 mm).	I	В
Mitral valve surgery should be considered in asymptomatic patients with atrial fibrillation or pulmonary hypertension (systolic pulmonary pressure at rest >50 mmHg)	lla	В
Mitral valve surgery should be considered in asymptomatic patients with low surgical risk, preserved left ventricular function (LVEF >60%) and LVESD between 40 and 44 mm, when durable repair is likely and there is a flail leaflet or left atrial dilatation (LAVI >60 ml/m2)	lla	С
Mitral valve repair should be considered in symptomatic patients with low surgical risk and severe left ventricular dysfunction (LVEF <30% and/or LVESD >55 mm) refractory to optimal heart-failure therapy when successful repair is likely	lla	C
Mitral valve replacement may be considered in symptomatic patients with low surgical risk and severe left ventricular dysfunction (LVEF <30% and/or LVESD >55 mm) refractory to optimal heart-failure therapy when likelihood of repair is low	llb	С
Percutaneous edge-to-edge repair may be considered by the Heart Team in patients with symptomatic severe mitral regurgitation, who meet the echocardiographic criteria of eligibility and are deemed at high or prohibitive surgical risk	llb	С
SECONDARY MITRAL REGURGITATION		
Mitral valve surgery is indicated in patients with severe mitral regurgitation undergoing CABG	I	С
Mitral valve surgery should be considered in patients with severe symptomatic mitral regurgitation and left ventricular dysfunction (LVEF <30%) with an option for coronary revascularization	lla	С
Mitral valve surgery may be considered in patients with low surgical risk, preserved left ventricular systolic function (LVEF >30%) and severe symptomatic mitral regurgitation refractory to optimal heart-failure therapy	llb	С
Percutaneous edge-to-edge repair may be considered in patients deemed at high or prohibitive surgical risk with no option for coronary revascularization, who have severe symptomatic mitral regurgitation refractory to optimal heart-failure therapy and meet the echocardiographic criteria of eligibility	llb	C
Percutaneous edge-to-edge repair or valve surgery may be considered by the Heart Team in patients deemed at high or prohibitive surgical risk with no option for coronary revascularization and severe left ventricular dysfunction (LVEF <30%), who have severe symptomatic mitral regurgitation refractory to optimal heart-failure therapy and meet the echocardiographic criteria of eligibility	ШЬ	С

Adapted from Baumgartner et al. (10). CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; LAVI, left atrial volume index; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; LVESD, left ventricular end-systolic diameter.

regurgitation in high risk patients. Experience with these procedures is, however, still limited and guideline-based recommendations lacking.

TAVR and Natural Course of Mitral Regurgitation

Most studies report on a significant improvement of mitral regurgitation after AVR, which has mostly been attributed to reverse left ventricular remodeling and improved left ventricular function. Indeed, in a meta-analysis including 8,927 patients undergoing TAVR, the severity of mitral regurgitation significantly improved in about 60% of patients (42). In

the PARTNER trial, moderate to severe mitral regurgitation was observed in 21% of SAVR and 20% of TAVR patients, and improvement was reported in 69% of SAVR and 58% of TAVR patients at 30 days (2). Similar results were reported in other studies (32, 43, 44). These effects may be particularly predominant in patients with secondary mitral regurgitation as structural valve alterations obviously persist after TAVR. A significant improvement in mitral regurgitation severity is more likely to occur in patients without severe pulmonary hypertension and atrial fibrillation (31) Interestingly, acute improvement in mitral regurgitation has been reported following TAVR and was related to immediate post-procedural changes in left ventricular hemodynamics and improved mitral leaflet tethering (45). Whether the design of the implanted transcatheter heart valve influences the post-procedural course of mitral regurgitation needs to be delineated in future studies. Observational studies point toward a greater degree of reduction of mitral regurgitation in patients treated with balloonexpandable as compared to self-expandable transcatheter heart valves (28).

Combined TAVR and Transcatheter Mitral Valve Procedure

In comparison to a single valve procedure, surgical double valve replacement/repair is associated with increased morbidity and mortality (36, 46). Indeed, mortality rates of about 10% have been reported for double valve aortic and mitral surgery as compared to 3% for isolated SAVR (36). Over the last decades, transcatheter techniques have evolved and offer less-invasive treatment alternatives to double valve surgery in patients deemed at high or prohibitive surgical risk. Transcatheter mitral valve replacement (TMVR) offers a less invasive treatment alternative to redo cardiac surgery, particularly in high-risk patients with degenerated mitral bioprostheses and failed annuloplasty rings (47). Clinical experience with bivalvular transcatheter procedures, however, is still limited (48, 49). The success of a combined approach with transcatheter mitral valve repair performed at the time of TAVR has been reported in several studies (50, 51). Different transcatheter mitral valve repair technologies may be used in this context such as the MitraClip® device (Abbott Vascular Inc., Menlo Park, CA, USA), the Carillon Mitral Contour System[®] (Cardiac Dimensions, Kirkland, WA, USA), and the Cardioband[®] (Valtech, Edwards Lifescience Corp, Irvine, CA, USA) (52) An overview of current devices for transcatheter mitral valve repair is provided in Table 3.

The most advanced percutaneous mitral valve repair system is the MitraClip[®] device which allows for introducing a V-shaped clip on the mitral valve leaflets via a transseptal approach under transesophageal echocardiographic and fluoroscopic guidance (**Figure 1**). Thereby, a double or multiple orifice is created (14– 16). High procedural success rates of percutaneous edge-to-edge mitral valve repair have not only been reported for primary, but also secondary mitral regurgitation (41, 53), and safety and efficacy was also demonstrated in patients who did not meet the key echocardiographic eligibility criteria as determined by the EVEREST (Endovascular Valve Edge-to-Edge Repair) studies (54).

Percutaneous indirect mitral annuloplasty was developed to improve leaflet coaptation by reducing mitral annular dimensions using dedicated transcatheter devices such as the Carillon Mitral Contour System[®]. The Carillon Mitral Contour System[®] consists of anchors at both ends, which are connected by a curved nitinol ribbon connector. The device is implanted within the coronary sinus to reduce the severity of mitral regurgitation by annular placation (14, 55). Safety and feasibility of the procedure, along with clinical benefits in terms of heart failure symptoms, quality of life, and exercise tolerance have been shown for patients with dilated cardiomyopathy and functional mitral regurgitation in different studies such as the AMADEUS (the Carillon Mitral Annuloplasty Device European Union Study) and the TITAN (Transcatheter Implantation of Carillon Mitral Annuloplasty Device) trials (40, 55). The direct annuloplasty Cardioband[®] system represents a similar interventional transseptal approach for the treatment of secondary mitral regurgitation (56) The annuloplasty band is implanted around the posterior mitral annulus, aiming at reducing mitral regurgitation by decreasing septolateral annular dimensions.

Besides minimally invasive surgical valve repair or replacement, TMVR has emerged as less-invasive treatment alternative for patients deemed at high or prohibitive surgical risk, with several prostheses already introduced in clinical practice (57–59). Although feasibility and safety of valve-invalve, valve-in-ring, and valve-in-native ring procedures have been demonstrated for transcatheter heart valve implantation in the mitral position (60), future randomized studies are needed to determine the role of TMVR in patients with severe mitral regurgitation.

TAVR and Staged Transcatheter Mitral Valve Procedure

As significant improvements in mitral regurgitation severity have been observed after AVR (26, 43, 44), a staged approach may be favored over a combined procedure with the aortic valve being addressed first and the mitral valve treated only in patients who remain symptomatic in spite of successful TAVR (50, 61). Patients with prior AVR undergoing transcatheter mitral valve repair, however, represent a complex patient subgroup with a high comorbid burden at increased risk of adverse events. Oneyear survival in these patients was reported to be below 50% (62).

Given the lack of randomized comparisons between surgical and transcatheter double valve interventions vs. medical management of mitral regurgitation in the context of severe aortic stenosis, evidence-based recommendations on patient selection and optimal timing of interventions cannot be made. For predominantly secondary mitral regurgitation, when no major structural mitral valve defects exist, a staged approach may be reasonable to tailor mitral interventions to patients with persistent symptomatic mitral regurgitation, who may benefit most. Bivalvular interventions may be advocated when concomitant predominantly primary mitral regurgitation is present.

Based on our experience, we strongly advocate a stepwise approach in this high-risk patient population, with TAVR being performed first and percutaneous mitral valve repair considered by the Heart Team only when severe mitral regurgitation persists after TAVR. A close clinical and echocardiographic follow-up of these patients following TAVR is mandatory, with functional tests used when grading of mitral regurgitation is challenging.

Cost-Effectiveness of Transcatheter Valve Procedures

Although procedural costs of TAVR exceed those of SAVR, cost-effectiveness of TAVR in patients at increased surgical

TABLE 3 | Overview of devices for transcatheter mitral valve repair.

•		
Device	Principle	Characteristics
MitraClip (Abbot Vascular)	Edge-to-edge repair	 V-shaped clip is placed on the mitral valve leaflets via transseptal approach Device produces a double mitral valve orifice
Pascal (Edwards Lifescience)	Edge-to-edge repair	 Central spacer with two paddles is placed on the mitral valve leaflets via transseptal approach Device produces a double mitral valve orifice
Carillon (Cardiac Dimensions)	Indirect annuloplasty	 Anchors at both ends are connected by a curved nitinol ribbon connector Device is implanted within the coronary sinus to decrease annular dimensions
Cardioband (Valtech, Edwards Lifescience)	Direct annuloplasty	 Annuloplasty band implanted around the posterior mitral annulus Device decreases septolateral annular dimensions
Mitralign (Mitralign Inc.)	Direct annuloplasty	 Pledget delivery system with retrograde aortic access Reduction of the annular circumference is achieved by two pairs of pledgets placed at opposite sites of the annulus and producing tissue plication
NeoChord DS 1000 (NeoChord Inc.)	Chordal repair	 Artificial chord-based system implanted via transapical access, secured to the leaflet and anchored to the left ventricular apex
Harpoon TSD-5 (Edwards Lifescience)	Chordal repair	 Artificial chord-based system implanted via transapical access, secured to the leaflet and anchored to the left ventricular apex



FIGURE 1 | Pre- and post-procedural transesophageal echocardiography in a patient undergoing staged transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) and edge-to-edge mitral valve repair with the MitraClip[®] system. (A) Transesophageal color Doppler echocardiography at baseline (three-chamber view) showing severe aortic stenosis and concomitant severe mitral regurgitation. (B) Transesophageal echocardiography at baseline (aortic valve short-axis view) showing severe aortic stenosis. (C) Two-dimensional transesophageal color Doppler echocardiography (three chamber view) showing persistent severe mitral regurgitation following TAVR. (D) Two-dimensional transesophageal echocardiography (three chamber view) following TAVR. (E) Two-dimensional transesophageal color Doppler echocardiography (three-chamber view) during staged percutaneous edge-to-edge mitral valve repair with the MitraClip[®] system (grasping). (F) Two-dimensional transesophageal echocardiography (three-chamber view) during staged percutaneous edge-to-edge mitral valve repair with the MitraClip[®] system (grasping).

risk has been demonstrated when shorter hospital stay and reduced need for post-acute rehabilitation services are taken into account, particularly when a transfemoral access is suitable (63–66). In heart failure patients with moderate-to-severe mitral regurgitation, therapy with the MitraClip[®] device was shown to be cost-effective compared to medical management alone (67). Direct economic comparisons between different transcatheter mitral valve repair systems and mitral valve surgery are, however, lacking. A staged approach with TAVR performed first and percutaneous mitral valve repair tailored to patients who do not experience any improvement in mitral regurgitation following TAVR seems to be cost-effective, as thereby the number of mitral valve interventions is reduced in comparison to simultaneous procedures.

CONCLUSION

Risk assessment and optimal patient selection, along with a personalized treatment approach defined by the Heart Team, is important to ensure best patient care in symptomatic aortic stenosis and concomitant mitral regurgitation. Given the heterogeneity and complexity of mitral valve disease in

REFERENCES

- Moazami N, Diodato MD, Moon MR, Lawton JS, Pasque MK, Herren RL, et al. Does functional mitral regurgitation improve with isolated aortic valve replacement? *J Card Surg.* (2004) 19:444–8. doi: 10.1111/j.0886-0440.2004.00362.x
- Barbanti M, Webb JG, Hahn RT, Feldman T, Boone RH, Smith CR, et al. Impact of preoperative moderate/severe mitral regurgitation on 2-year outcome after transcatheter and surgical aortic valve replacement: insight from the Placement of Aortic Transcatheter Valve (PARTNER) Trial Cohort A. *Circulation* (2013) 128:2776–84. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113. 003885
- Nombela-Franco L, Ribeiro HB, Urena M, Allende R, Amat-Santos I, DeLarochelliere R, et al. Significant mitral regurgitation left untreated at the time of aortic valve replacement: a comprehensive review of a frequent entity in the transcatheter aortic valve replacement era. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2014) 63:2643–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.02.573
- Sannino A, Grayburn PA. Mitral regurgitation in patients with severe aortic stenosis: diagnosis and management. *Heart* (2018) 104:16–22. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2017-311552
- Figulla HR, Webb JG, Lauten A, Feldman T. The transcatheter valve technology pipeline for treatment of adult valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* (2016) 37:2226–39. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehw153
- Lancellotti P, Tribouilloy C, Hagendorff A, Popescu BA, Edvardsen T, Pierard LA, et al. Recommendations for the echocardiographic assessment of native valvular regurgitation: an executive summary from the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* (2013) 14:611–44. doi: 10.1093/ehjci/jet105
- Lancellotti P, Moura L, Pierard LA, Agricola E, Popescu BA, Tribouilloy C, et al. European Association of Echocardiography recommendations for the assessment of valvular regurgitation. Part 2: mitral and tricuspid regurgitation (native valve disease). *Eur J Echocardiogr.* (2010) 11:307–32. doi: 10.1093/ejechocard/jeq031
- Lang RM, Badano LP, Tsang W, Adams DH, Agricola E, Buck T, et al. EAE/ASE recommendations for image acquisition and display using threedimensional echocardiography. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* (2012) 13:1–46. doi: 10.1093/ehjci/jer316

these high-risk patients, individualized treatment concepts are needed. Although the feasibility and safety of bivalvular transcatheter procedures have been demonstrated, the treatment of first choice—TAVR only, staged TAVR and transcatheter mitral valve procedures, or combined bivalvular transcatheter therapy vs. minimally-invasive surgical treatment—remains to be determined. Randomized trials investigating benefits of mitral valve procedures vs. guideline-based heart failure therapy in TAVR patients with concomitant mitral regurgitation will help to define optimal treatment approaches. Refinements of transcatheter mitral valve concepts including the combination of different approaches will probably enter clinical practice in near future and further improve patient outcomes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BS analysis and interpretation of the literature, drafting of the manuscript. BS, MR, DL, UL, and AL revising the manuscript critically for important intellectual content, final approval of the manuscript submitted. AL analysis and interpretation of the literature.

- Grayburn PA, Weissman NJ, Zamorano JL. Quantitation of mitral regurgitation. *Circulation* (2012) 126:2005–17. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.121590
- Baumgartner H, Falk V, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, et al. ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease: the task force for the management of valvular heart disease of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2739–91. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx391
- 11. Zoghbi WA, Adams D, Bonow RO, Enriquez-Sarano M, Foster E, Grayburn PA, et al. Recommendations for noninvasive evaluation of native valvular regurgitation: a report from the american society of echocardiography developed in collaboration with the society for cardiovascular magnetic resonance. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr.* (2017) 30:303–71. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2017.01.007
- Grayburn PA, Carabello B, Hung J, Gillam LD, Liang D, Mack MJ, et al. Defining "severe" secondary mitral regurgitation: emphasizing an integrated approach. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 64:2792–801. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.10.016
- Katte F, Franz M, Jung C, Figulla HR, Leistner D, Jakob P, et al. Impact of concomitant mitral regurgitation on transvalvular gradient and flow in severe aortic stenosis: a systematic *ex vivo* analysis of a subentity of low-flow low-gradient aortic stenosis. *EuroIntervention* (2018) 13:1635–44. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00476
- Delgado V, Kapadia S, Marsan NA, Schalij MJ, Tuzcu EM, Bax JJ. Multimodality imaging before, during, and after percutaneous mitral valve repair. *Heart* (2011) 97:1704–14. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2011.227785
- Feldman T, Foster E, Glower DD, Kar S, Rinaldi MJ, Fail PS, et al. Percutaneous repair or surgery for mitral regurgitation. *New Engl J Med.* (2011) 364:1395– 406. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1009355
- Feldman T, Kar S, Rinaldi M, Fail P, Hermiller J, Smalling R, et al. Percutaneous mitral repair with the MitraClip system: safety and midterm durability in the initial EVEREST (Endovascular Valve Edge-to-Edge REpair Study) cohort. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2009) 54:686–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.03.077
- Wunderlich NC, Siegel RJ. Peri-interventional echo assessment for the MitraClip procedure. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* (2013) 14:935–49. doi: 10.1093/ehjci/jet060
- 18. Blanke P, Naoum C, Webb J, Dvir D, Hahn RT, Grayburn P, et al. Multimodality imaging in the context of transcatheter mitral

valve replacement: establishing consensus among modalities and disciplines. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Imaging (2015) 8:1191–208. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2015.08.004

- Eleid MF, Foley TA, Said SM, Pislaru SV, Rihal CS. Severe mitral annular calcification: multimodality imaging for therapeutic strategies and interventions. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Imaging (2016) 9:1318–37. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2016.09.001
- Toggweiler S, Boone RH, Rodes-Cabau J, Humphries KH, Lee M, Nombela-Franco L, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement: outcomes of patients with moderate or severe mitral regurgitation. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 59:2068–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.02.020
- D'Onofrio A, Gasparetto V, Napodano M, Bianco R, Tarantini G, Renier V, et al. Impact of preoperative mitral valve regurgitation on outcomes after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2012) 41:1271–6; discussion 1276–7. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezr236
- Lauten A, Ferrari M, Goebel B, Rademacher W, Schumm J, Uth O, et al. Microvascular tissue perfusion is impaired in acutely decompensated heart failure and improves following standard treatment. *Eur J Heart Fail*. (2011) 13:711–7. doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfr043
- 23. Absil B, Dagenais F, Mathieu P, Metras J, Perron J, Baillot R, et al. Does moderate mitral regurgitation impact early or mid-term clinical outcome in patients undergoing isolated aortic valve replacement for aortic stenosis? *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2003) 24:217–22; discussion 222. doi: 10.1016/S1010-7940(03)00251-3
- 24. Schubert SA, Yarboro LT, Madala S, Ayunipudi K, Kron IL, Kern JA, Ailawadi G, et al. Natural history of coexistent mitral regurgitation after aortic valve replacement. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2016) 151:1032–9, 1042 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.12.006
- Barreiro CJ, Patel ND, Fitton TP, Williams JA, Bonde PN, Chan V, Alejo DE, et al. Aortic valve replacement and concomitant mitral valve regurgitation in the elderly: impact on survival and functional outcome. *Circulation* (2005) 112:I443–7. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.526046
- Ruel M, Kapila V, Price J, Kulik A, Burwash IG, Mesana TG. Natural history and predictors of outcome in patients with concomitant functional mitral regurgitation at the time of aortic valve replacement. *Circulation* (2006) 114:I541–6. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.000976
- Lauten A, Figulla HR, Mollmann H, Holzhey D, Kotting J, Beckmann A, et al. TAVI for low-flow, low-gradient severe aortic stenosis with preserved or reduced ejection fraction: a subgroup analysis from the German Aortic Valve Registry (GARY). *EuroIntervention* (2014) 10:850–9. doi: 10.4244/EJJV10I7A145
- Nombela-Franco L, Eltchaninoff H, Zahn R, Testa L, Leon MB, Trillo-Nouche R, et al. Clinical impact and evolution of mitral regurgitation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a meta-analysis. *Heart* (2015) 101:1395–405. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2014-307120
- Sannino A, Losi MA, Schiattarella GG, Gargiulo G, Perrino C, Stabile E, et al. Meta-analysis of mortality outcomes and mitral regurgitation evolution in 4,839 patients having transcatheter aortic valve implantation for severe aortic stenosis. *Am J Cardiol.* (2014) 114:875–82. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.06.022
- Zahn R, Gerckens U, Linke A, Sievert H, Kahlert P, Hambrecht R, et al. Predictors of one-year mortality after transcatheter aortic valve implantation for severe symptomatic aortic stenosis. *Am J Cardiol.* (2013) 112:272–9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.03.024
- Bedogni F, Latib A, De Marco F, Agnifili M, Oreglia J, Pizzocri S, et al. Interplay between mitral regurgitation and transcatheter aortic valve replacement with the CoreValve Revalving System: a multicenter registry. *Circulation*. (2013) 128:2145–53. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.001822
- 32. Cortes C, Amat-Santos IJ, Nombela-Franco L, Munoz-Garcia AJ, Gutierrez-Ibanes E, De La Torre Hernandez JM, et al. Mitral regurgitation after transcatheter aortic valve replacement: prognosis, imaging predictors, and potential management. *J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Interv*. (2016) 9:1603–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.05.025
- 33. O'Sullivan CJ, Stortecky S, Butikofer A, Heg D, Zanchin T, Huber C, et al. Impact of mitral regurgitation on clinical outcomes of patients with low-ejection fraction, low-gradient severe aortic stenosis undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 8:e001895. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.114.001895

- 34. Selle A, Figulla HR, Ferrari M, Rademacher W, Goebel B, Hamadanchi A, et al. Impact of rapid ventricular pacing during TAVI on microvascular tissue perfusion. *Clin Res Cardiol.* (2014) 103:902–11. doi: 10.1007/s00392-014-0728-9
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack M, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve implantation for aortic stenosis in patients who cannot undergo surgery. *New Engl J Med.* (2010) 363:1597–607. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1008232
- 36. Iung B, Baron G, Butchart EG, Delahaye F, Gohlke-Barwolf C, Levang OW, et al. A prospective survey of patients with valvular heart disease in Europe: the Euro Heart Survey on Valvular Heart Disease. *Eur Heart J.* (2003) 24:1231–43. doi: 10.1016/S0195-668X(03)00201-X
- Mihaljevic T, Gillinov AM, Sabik JF, III. Functional ischemic mitral regurgitation: myocardial viability as a predictor of postoperative outcome after isolated coronary artery bypass grafting. *Circulation* (2009) 120:1459–61. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.893347
- 38. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. *Eur Heart J.* (2016) 37:2129–200. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw128
- 39. Siminiak T, Hoppe UC, Schofer J, Haude M, Herrman JP, Vainer J, et al. Effectiveness and safety of percutaneous coronary sinus-based mitral valve repair in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy (from the AMADEUS trial). *Am J Cardiol.* (2009) 104:565–70. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.04.021
- 40. Siminiak T, Wu JC, Haude M, Hoppe UC, Sadowski J, Lipiecki J, et al. Treatment of functional mitral regurgitation by percutaneous annuloplasty: results of the TITAN Trial. *Eur J Heart Fail*. (2012) 14:931–8. doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfs076
- Glower DD, Kar S, Trento A, Lim DS, Bajwa T, Quesada R, et al. Percutaneous mitral valve repair for mitral regurgitation in high-risk patients: results of the EVEREST II study. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 64:172–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.12.062
- 42. Chakravarty T, Van Belle E, Jilaihawi H, Noheria A, Testa L, Bedogni F, et al. Meta-analysis of the impact of mitral regurgitation on outcomes after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Am J Cardiol.* (2015) 115:942–9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.01.022
- Coutinho GF, Correia PM, Pancas R, Antunes MJ. Management of moderate secondary mitral regurgitation at the time of aortic valve surgery. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2013) 44:32–40. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezs676
- 44. Almasood A, Al Ahmari S, El-Shurafa H, Alotaibi M, Al Kasab S, AlAbdallah M, et al. The change in mitral regurgitation severity after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *J Saudi Heart Assoc.* (2015) 27:10–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jsha.2014.05.002
- 45. Shibayama K, Harada K, Berdejo J, Mihara H, Tanaka J, Gurudevan SV, et al. Effect of transcatheter aortic valve replacement on the mitral valve apparatus and mitral regurgitation: real-time three-dimensional transesophageal echocardiography study. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging.* (2014) 7:344–51. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.113.000942
- 46. Galloway AC, Grossi EA, Baumann FG, LaMendola CL, Crooke GA, Harris LJ, et al. Multiple valve operation for advanced valvular heart disease: results and risk factors in 513 patients. J Am Coll Cardiol. (1992) 19:725–32. doi: 10.1016/0735-1097(92)90509-L
- 47. Yoon SH, Whisenant BK, Bleiziffer S, Delgado V, Schofer N, Eschenbach L, et al. Transcatheter mitral valve replacement for degenerated bioprosthetic valves and failed annuloplasty rings. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2017) 70:1121–1131. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.07.714
- Yaryura R, Rehman A, Morsli H, Hussain N. Transcatheter aortic and mitral valve replacement in a patient with critical aortic and mitral valve in-ring stenosis. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 8:e155–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.03.040
- Weich H, Janson J, Pecoraro A, van Wyk J, Rocher A, Dempers J et al. First case of transcatheter native mitral and aortic valve replacement. *EuroIntervention* (2016) 12:1196. doi: 10.4244/EIJV12I9A195
- 50. Rudolph V, Schirmer J, Franzen O, Schluter M, Seiffert M, Treede H, et al. Bivalvular transcatheter treatment of high-surgical-risk patients with

coexisting severe aortic stenosis and significant mitral regurgitation. Int J Cardiol. (2013) 167:716–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.03.060

- Puls M, Seipelt R, Schillinger W. Complete interventional heart repair of multiple concomitant cardiac pathologies in a staged approach. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2013) 81:896–900. doi: 10.1002/ccd.24448
- Maisano F, Alfieri O, Banai S, Buchbinder M, Colombo A, Falk V, et al. The future of transcatheter mitral valve interventions: competitive or complementary role of repair vs. replacement? *Eur Heart J.* (2015) 36:1651–9. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv123
- Braun D, Lesevic H, Orban M, Michalk F, Barthel P, Hoppe K, et al. Percutaneous edge-to-edge repair of the mitral valve in patients with degenerative versus functional mitral regurgitation. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv*. (2014) 84:137–46. doi: 10.1002/ccd.25331
- 54. Attizzani GF, Ohno Y, Capodanno D, Cannata S, Dipasqua F, Imme S, et al. Extended use of percutaneous edge-to-edge mitral valve repair beyond EVEREST (Endovascular Valve Edge-to-Edge Repair) criteria: 30-day and 12-month clinical and echocardiographic outcomes from the GRASP (Getting Reduction of Mitral Insufficiency by Percutaneous Clip Implantation) registry. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Interv. (2015) 8:74–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.07.024
- 55. Schofer J, Siminiak T, Haude M, Herrman JP, Vainer J, Wu JC, et al. Percutaneous mitral annuloplasty for functional mitral regurgitation: results of the CARILLON Mitral Annuloplasty Device European Union Study. *Circulation* (2009) 120:326–33. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.849885
- 56. Maisano F, La Canna G, Latib A, Denti P, Taramasso M, Kuck KH, Colombo A, et al. First-in-man transseptal implantation of a "surgical-like" mitral valve annuloplasty device for functional mitral regurgitation. J Am Coll Cardiol Cardiovasc Interv. (2014) 7:1326–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014. 08.003
- 57. Rodes-Cabau J. Transcatheter mitral valve replacement: first steps on a long road. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2018) 71:22–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.11.015
- Regueiro A, Granada JF, Dagenais F, Rodes-Cabau J. Transcatheter mitral valve replacement: insights from early clinical experience and future challenges. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 69:2175–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.02.045
- Bapat V, Rajagopal V, Meduri C, Farivar RS, Walton A, Duffy SJ, et al. Early experience with new transcatheter mitral valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2018) 71:12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.10.061
- 60. Wilbring M, Alexiou K, Tugtekin SM, Arzt S, Ibrahim K, Matschke K et al. Pushing the limits-further evolutions of transcatheter valve procedures in the mitral position, including valve-in-valve, valve-in-ring, and valve-in-native-ring. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2014) 147:210–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2013.09.021

- D'Ancona G, Paranskaya L, Oner A, Kische S, Ince H. Mitro-aortic pathology: a point of view for a fully transcatheter staged approach. *Neth Heart J.* (2017) 25:605–8. doi: 10.1007/s12471-017-1028-6
- 62. D'Ancona G, Kische S, Senges J, Ouarrak T, Puls M, Bekeredjian R, et al. Combined mitro-aortic pathology: impact of previous aortic valve replacement upon outcomes of MitraClip therapy (from the German transcatheter mitral valve interventions registry). *EuroIntervention* (2017) 13:475–82. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00222
- 63. Reynolds MR, Magnuson EA, Wang K, Lei Y, Vilain K, Walczak J, et al. Cost-effectiveness of transcatheter aortic valve replacement compared with standard care among inoperable patients with severe aortic stenosis: results from the placement of aortic transcatheter valves (PARTNER) trial (Cohort B). *Circulation* (2012) 125:1102–9. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.054072
- 64. Reynolds MR, Magnuson EA, Lei Y, Wang K, Vilain K, Li H, et al. Cost-effectiveness of transcatheter aortic valve replacement compared with surgical aortic valve replacement in high-risk patients with severe aortic stenosis: results of the PARTNER (Placement of Aortic Transcatheter Valves) trial (Cohort A). J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 60:2683–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.09.018
- Reynolds MR, Baron SJ, Cohen DJ. Economic implications of transcatheter aortic valve replacement in patients at intermediate surgical risk. *Circulation* (2016) 134:1416–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.021962
- 66. Tam DY, Hughes A, Wijeysundera HC, Fremes SE. The cost-effectiveness of self-expandable transcatheter aortic valves in intermediate risk patients. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2018.03.069. [Epub ahead of print].
- 67. Armeni P, Boscolo PR, Tarricone R, Capodanno D, Maggioni AP, Grasso C, et al. Real-world cost effectiveness of MitraClip combined with medical therapy versus medical therapy alone in patients with moderate or severe mitral regurgitation. *Int J Cardiol.* (2016) 209:153–60. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.01.212

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Stähli, Reinthaler, Leistner, Landmesser and Lauten. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

29





TAVI and Post Procedural Cardiac Conduction Abnormalities

Antonio Mangieri^{1*}, Claudio Montalto¹, Matteo Pagnesi¹, Giuseppe Lanzillo¹, Ozan Demir¹, Luca Testa², Antonio Colombo¹ and Azeem Latib¹

¹ IRCCS San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy, ² Department of Cardiology, IRCCS Policlinico San Donato, Milan, Italy

Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) is a worldwide accepted alternative for treating patients at intermediate or high risk for surgery. In recent years, the rate of complications has markedly decreased except for new-onset atrioventricular and intraventricular conduction block that remains the most common complication after TAVI. Although procedural, clinical, and electrocardiographic predisposing factors have been identified as predictors of conduction disturbances, new strategies are needed to avoid such complications, particularly in the current TAVI era that is moving quickly toward the percutaneous treatment of low-risk patients. In this article, we will review the incidence, predictive factors, and clinical implications of conduction disturbances after TAVI.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Crochan John O'Sullivan, Triemli Hospital, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Moritz Seiffert, University Heart Center Hamburg GmbH, Germany Gidon Yehuda Perlman, Hadassah Medical Center, Israel

*Correspondence:

Antonio Mangieri antonio.mangieri@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> **Received:** 18 April 2018 **Accepted:** 12 June 2018 **Published:** 03 July 2018

Citation:

Mangieri A, Montalto C, Pagnesi M, Lanzillo G, Demir O, Testa L, Colombo A and Latib A (2018) TAVI and Post Procedural Cardiac Conduction Abnormalities. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:85. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00085 Keywords: transcatheter aortic valve implantation, pacemaker, left bundle branch block, right bundle branch block, aortic stenosis

INTRODUCTION

As transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) evolves toward treating patients with lower surgical risk and greater life expectancy (1), a significant effort should be directed at a better understanding of common complications following this procedure.

New-onset conduction disturbances are common after TAVI, occurring in as much as 34.8% of patients at hospital discharge (2), and with left bundle branch block (LBBB) being the most common significant conduction disturbance after TAVI (10.5%) (2, 3). Although many studies investigated this topic, indications for permanent pacemaker implantation (PPI) are still unclear, often resulting in overtreatment.

The aims of the present review are to elucidate the anatomical and pathophysiological basis of these complications, to systematically illustrate currently available data, and to highlight unclear areas that clinical research still need to unveil.

ANATOMY AND PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

A high incidence of conduction disturbances occurs not only following TAVI, but also after surgical aortic valve replacement (4), mainly because of the close anatomical relationship between the aortic valve and fundamental structures of the heart conduction system. The atrioventricular (AV) node lies within the apex of the triangle of *Koch*, at the convergence of the tendon of *Todaro* and of the attachment of the tricuspid septal leaflet in the right atrium. It continues as the bundle of His, piercing the membranous septum and penetrating through the central fibrous body to the left. Three major variants of AV nodes have been described, with 50% of individuals exhibiting a



relatively right-sided AV bundle and 30% with a left-sided AV bundle, whereas in about 20% of patients the bundle courses under the membranous septum just below the endocardium (5). The last 2 above-described variants may expose patients to a higher risk of TAVI-induced conduction disturbances, especially in patients with a short membranous septum (5).

The left bundle branch emerges immediately beneath the membranous septum and is positioned superficially on the crest of the interventricular septum, and is intimately related to the base of the interleaflet triangle separating the non-coronary and right coronary leaflets of the aortic valve (3) (Figure 1). Consequently, when operating on the aortic valve, the risk exists to mechanically damage the nearby conductive system. TAVI may acutely expose the conduction system to an ischemic and inflammatory damage, in conjunction with a subacute process of healing (6), which may account for later and overall rarer conduction disturbances. Technical aspects of TAVI procedures, especially self- vs. balloon-expandable valve deployment system (7) and depth of implantation (8), are major factors in directly determining this acute mechanical damage to the conduction system. Furthermore, especially when treating intermediate-risk patients with greater life expectancy, a balance might exist between higher pre- and post-dilation pressures, needed to reduce paravalvular leak and the risk of a direct mechanical damage to the conduction system.

Finally, the close anatomical relationship with the aortic valve could also account for a certain degree of senile calcium deposition on the conduction system, which has been associated with the occurrence of LBBB and advanced atrioventricular block (AVB) in patients with aortic stenosis (9).

LEFT BUNDLE BRANCH BLOCK

Overall the most common conduction alteration post-TAVI is new-onset LBBB (8), whose timing varies consistently and reflects different entities and reversibility of damage to the conduction system (**Table 1**); results of studies are summarized in **Table 2**. For the sake of clarity, we will refer to *new onset LBBB* as all LBBB which developed after TAVI, to *persistent LBBB* as all those who did not resolve at the time of discharge, while those patients who did not present LBBB will be referred to as *LBBB-free*.

Onset and Self-Resolution

Urena et al. analyzed a cohort of 202 patients undergoing TAVI with a balloon-expandable valve and with no previous conduction disturbance or PPI, and showed that of the 61 (30.2%) who developed LBBB during hospital stay, 85.2% recovered normal conductive function (59% at 7-day median discharge and 26.2% at long-term follow-up) (8); these findings were in concordance with other studies (6, 16, 17) and demonstrates that most of the new-onset LBBB are transient and do not require PPI implantation. In a cohort of 91 patients undergoing TAVI with self-expandable valve and with no exclusion of patients with previous conduction disturbances and/or PPI, Piazza et al. observed a higher incidence of 54% new-onset LBBB and of 45% at 6-month follow-up (7). These findings, corroborated by other studies (10), further suggest that self-expandable valves may cause a more severe mechanical injury to the conduction system as compared to balloon-expandable valves. Moreover, it was suggested that by not excluding patients with previous conduction disturbances and/or PPI, a higher rate of persistent LBBB might be observed (8).

Impaired Function Recovery and Reverse Remodeling

Historically, the unfavorable effect of LBBB on systolic function is attributed to alterations in global and regional contraction and was proven both in otherwise normal subjects (18) and in hypertensive patients (19); furthermore, an adverse effect on diastolic function (19) and worse prognosis in comorbid patients (20) were also observed. Consequently, concerns were raised that in patients undergoing TAVI who develop persistent LBBB, a reduced EF recovery and therefore reduced benefits from the procedure might be observed.

Nazif et al. showed that in such cases a detrimental effect exists, with less or no EF recovery as compared to LBBB-free patients (58.1% vs. 52.8% at follow-up; p = 0.001) (2), independently of baseline EF. Carrabba et al. further elucidated that patients with new-onset LBBB lacked not only EF improvement, but also left ventricular remodeling (13). Urena et al. showed a decreased EF in patients with persistent LBBB at 1-year follow-up ($\Delta = 4.75 \pm 8.02\%$, p = 0.031) (8), and Tzikas et al. reported similar findings also in patients treated with self-expandable valves (14). In another study by Urena et al., the only predictors of a lack of EF recovery were higher baseline EF and new onset LBBB (6).

Abbreviations: AV, Atrioventricular; AVB, Advanced Atrioventricular Block; EF, Ejection Fraction; LBBB, Left Bundle Branch Block; OR, Odds Ratio; PPI, Permanent Pacemaker Implantation; TAVI, Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation.

TABLE 1 | Timing of new-onset conduction abnormalities after TAVI.

	Onset	Proposed mechanisms	Incidence	Resolution	Clinical implication	References
LBBB	Intraprocedural (before valve implantation)	Guide wire insertion and balloon pre-dilation	46.5%			(10)
	Post-procedural (early)	Acute mechanical injury (ischemia, inflammation)	10.5–28.2%	 At hospital discharge: 18.1% self-resolves; 40.1–57.4% persists and 11.5 evolves toward complete AVB 	The most frequent occurrence of LBBB after TAVI	(2, 6–8, 10)
	Post-procedural (late)		2–6.2%	• At long-term follow-up: 57.4% self-resolves; 14.8% persists and 18% evolves toward complete AVB		
				• With self-expandable TAVI a higher rate of persistent LBBB (45%) was observed at follow-up.		
	At follow-up	Subacute damage (ischemia, healing)	0–2.9%		This represents a rare phenomenon	

TAVI, Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation; LBBB, left bundle branch block; AVB:

Impact on Survival and Functional Class

There was no evidence of an impact of new-onset LBBB on patients survival after-TAVI (2, 6, 8, 13, 21) in all but one study by Houthuizen et al., which included patients with high logistic EuroSCORE (21%), therefore more prone to higher mortality rate (28.3%), regardless of whether the new-onset LBBB resolved spontaneously or not. No impact on rehospitalization was observed at 1-year follow-up (6, 8, 21) and no sudden death was reported in patients with new-onset LBBB and no PPI (8). The lack of increased mortality persisted also after a landmark analysis at 30-days (6).

Nonetheless, a poorer New York Heart Association class was observed at follow-up (18% vs. 7% in class II or higher, p = 0.015) (6, 8). Testa et al. failed to prove such a difference, although, when considering the high PPI rate in LBBB-free group (17 vs. 18%), it might be attributable to a worse-than-normal mechanical function also in the LBBB-free group (21). Therefore, in patients with persistent LBBB after TAVI, a strategy of early resynchronization seems reasonable, especially in patients with reduced LVEF.

Finally, new-onset persistent LBBB was also associated with an increased risk of AVB and need of PPI at follow-up (13.9 vs. 3.0%, p = 0.001, median time to PPI: 12 months) (6, 8). Although further studies are needed in order to confirm these findings, in this setting it might be reasonable to implement a strategy of close (24–48 h) ECG monitoring during the first months after TAVI or after systematic electrophysiology study (8).

Predictors of Left-Bundle Branch Block After TAVI

Common limitations of studies investigating this topic are the inclusion of patients with pre-TAVI conduction disturbances and not taking in due consideration of the role of self- vs. balloon-expandable valves (3, 7), which led to controversial results in the past (6) (**Table 3**). When all these factors were taken into account,

predictors of new-onset persistent LBBB were ventricular depth of the prosthesis (odds ratio [OR] = 1.37 for each increase of 1 mm) and baseline QRS duration (OR= 1.24 for each increase of 4 ms) (8); no predictors of transient LBBB were found (8) (**Table 4**).

While a longer QRS duration may be related to baseline conduction system damage and increased vulnerability (8), increased risk of new onset LBBB with lower valve implantation might reflect a more permanent damage to the conduction system with a more ventricular positioning (6). Moreover, this risk factor is consistent also when self-expandable valves are considered (42–44), suggesting that it might be intrinsic of the TAVI procedure.

ADVANCED CONDUCTION DISTURBANCES AFTER TAVI AND PPI

A high rate of new AV and intraventricular conduction delays is observed within the first 48 h of TAVI, with a significant resolution by 30 days. About 22% of patients undergoing TAVI develop a post-operative new-onset AV block after balloon valvuloplasty or after valve deployment. These patients have a 5-fold higher risk of permanent AV block requiring a PPI (45). However, most of the complete AV block as well as the new-onset LBBB and AV blocks tends to disappear within the first days after TAVI: in a cohort of patients implanted with CoreValve, 19.7% had an absolute indication to PPI secondary to the development of advanced II degree AV-block and/or III degree AV block; however half of the advanced conduction delays resolved beyond the periprocedural period, waiting for more than 24 h following TAVI (46).

Incidence of PPI After TAVI

The overall rate of PPI after TAVI ranges from 2 to 51% in a meta-analysis including 41 studies. The rate of PPI implant was

TABLE 2 | Evidences on the clinical impact of LBBB after TAVI.

References	Ν	TAVI type	New onset LBBB, n (%)	Results	Other
(2)	1151	Balloon- expandable	121 (10.5)	No difference in mortality (both overall and heart-related) at 30-days and 1-year follow-up	All patients were included in the PARTNER trial; †
				• Higher PPI in LBBB group at 1-year follow-up (p = 0.001)	
				• Lower EF in the LBBB group at 1-year follow-up (53.4% vs. 57.4%; $\rho = 0.02$)	
(11)	202	Balloon- expandable	61 (30.2)	No difference in mortality at 1-year follow-up	†
		onpunduoio		• No EF recovery at 1-year follow-up (53 \pm 13% vs. 62 \pm 9%; p = 0.0014) in the persistent LBBB group	
				• Higher PPI in LBBB group (34.2 vs. 4.3%; $p = 0.001$)	
				 No sudden death in patients with persistent LBBB and no PPI at discharge, but higher rates of syncope (16.0 vs. 0.7%; p = 0.001) and need for PPI (20.0 vs. 0.7%; p = 0.001) at 1-year follow-up 	
				• Worse NYHA class at 1-year follow-up ($p = 0.034$)	
(12)	668	Balloon- expandable	128 (19.2)	 No difference in mortality at 13-month follow-up, even after stratifying for several risk factors; a landmark analysis at 30-d confirmed this finding 	Four participating centers; †
				 No association at 13-month follow-up with rehospitalization, both for all causes and for heart failure 	
				• Worse NYHA functional class at 6- month and 1-year follow-up ($\rho = 0.015$)	
				 No EF recovery (55% vs. 60%; p = 0.014) at 13- month follow-up 	
(13)	92	Self-expandable	34 (37)	No difference in mortality and/or rehospitalization at 1-year follow-up	†
				Higher PPI in LBBB who developed complete AVB	
				 No EF recovery at 6-month follow-up (Δ = 7.39 ± 9.05% vs0.46 ± 5.63%, p = 0.0001) No reverse remodeling at 1-year follow up (ESV 54.5 mL vs. 46 mL, p < 0.05; EDV 104 mL vs. 89 mL, p < 0.05) 	
(14)	27	Self-expandable	14 (52)	• EF decreased after TAVI in patients with new conduction abnormalities (47 \pm 12% to 44 \pm 10% vs. 49 \pm 12% to 54 \pm 12%)	Patients with previous conduction
				No data on follow-up available	disturbances wer included in the analysis
(15)	679	Balloon- expandable (43%) and self-expandable (57%)	233 (34.3)	Increased all-cause mortality in LBBB group (26.6% vs. 17.5%; $\rho = 0.006$) Strongest predictive factors for all-cause mortality were: TAVI-induced LBBB (HR = 1.54; 95% Cl = 1.12–2.10) and COPD (HR = 1.56; 95% Cl = 1.15–2.10) A higher number of LBBB were observed after the implantation of a self-expandable valve (51.1% vs. 12%; $\rho = 0.001$)	Eight participating centers; †

TAVI, Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation; LBBB, Left Bundle Branch Block; PPI, Permanent Pacemaker Implantation; EF, Ejection Fraction; NYHA, New York Heart Association; HR, Hazard Ratio; Cl, Confidence Interval; [†]Patients with previous conduction disturbances or PPI were excluded from the analysis. When available, only predictors that persisted at multivariable analysis were reported.

Conduction Disturbances	Following	TAVI
-------------------------	-----------	------

Valve type	References	Design of the study	FU lenght	Ν	Rate of PPI	Comments
Evolut R	(22)	Retrospetive, multi-center	30-days	120	21.9% (n = 19)	Only Evolut R 34 mm included
	(23)	Retrospective, sigle center	1-year	188	25% (n = 29)	Only 3 patients had AVB, the remaining had a prophylactic PPI
	(24)	Prospective, multi-center	1-year	1,038	19.3% (n = 175)	Unknown rate of AVB
	(25)	Prospective, multi-center	30-days	241	16.4% (<i>n</i> = 39)	Unknown rate of AVB
Sapien 3	(26)	Prospective, multi-center	1-year	1,946	11.5% (<i>n</i> = 195)	Unknown rate of AVB
	(27)	Propensity-matched cohort	1-year	622	15.5% (n = 87)	Cohort compared with ACURATE Neo, higher PPI implant in the Sapien 3 group
	(28)	Randomized trial	1-year	583	16.8% (<i>n</i> = 96)	PPI was required in 14.5% of HR patients and in 21.3% of inoperable patients
	(29)	Randomized trial	1-year	1,067	12.4%	Sapien 3 implant in intermediate-risk cohort
Lotus	(30)	Prospective, multi-center	1 year	1,041	34.6%	30.7% of PPI at 30 days, 3.9% after 30 days
	(30)	Multicenter, prospective	1 year	250	36% (n = 81)	Cohort of high-risk patients, unknown rate of AVB.
ACURATE neo Symetis	(27)	Propensity-matched cohort	1-year	311	9.9% (n = 28)	Cohort compared with Sapien 3, higher PPI implant in the Sapien 3 group
	(31)	Prospective, multicenter	1-year	1,000	8.3% (n = 83)	Unknown rate of AVB.

TABLE 3 | Rate of advanced conduction disturbances requiring PPI.

PPI, Permanent Pamaceker Implant; AVB, advanced atrio-ventricular block; HR, high risk.

5 times more frequent in patients receiving a self-expandable Medtronic CoreValve (25–28%) compared to those who received a balloon-expandable Edwards Sapien/Sapien XT valve (5–7%) (47).

This increased risk of PPI with the CoreValve system was confirmed in the CHOICE randomized trial (Comparison of Transcatheter Heart Valves in High Risk Patients With Severe Aortic Stenosis), in which the rate of new PPI in the CoreValve group was 38% while in the Sapien XT group was 23.4% (p = 0.001) (48). The SURTAVI trial also confirmed high rates of PPI with both old generation CoreValve (25.5%) and new generation Evolut R (26.7%), despite the inclusion of intermediate-risk patients (49).

Focusing only on the latest-generation transcatheter heart valves, the incidence of PPI ranged between 2.3 and 36.1%. For balloon-expandable prostheses, the PPI rate was between 4.0 and 24.0% when using the new-generation Sapien 3 device, and a similar figure was observed with the previous generation Sapien XT device (ranging between 2.3 and 28.2%). For selfexpandable prostheses, the PPI rates were higher with the early generation CoreValve device (16.3-37.7%), and despite a reduction in PPI rates with the new Evolut R, the rates remained relatively higher (14.7-26.7%) (50). These data are confirmed also in the latest experience with the new Evolut R device: among 1,038 patients, the rate of PPI was 17.8%. Similarly, the experience with the latest-generation Evolut PRO valve reports a rate of PPI of 11.8%; however, these results are limited by the low number of patients included in this early feasibility trial (n = 60) (51). A low incidence of PPI has been reported in case of Acurate neo implantation: in a recent large experience collected in 1,000 patients, the overall incidence of PPI was 8.3% (26); these data are confirmed in a recent propensity matched analysis comparing the Acurate *neo* and the Sapien 3: a high success rates was achieved for both valves, and the clinical and procedural results were comparable. However, Acurate *neo* required less frequently a PPI (9.9% vs. 15.5%; p = 0.02). Finally, the Lotus valve has been associated with higher rates of PPI than other devices (31.9–41.0%) (28, 52–54); this could partially be attributable to its peculiar design, including Adaptive Seal technology, which guarantees less paravalvular leak, but might poses a major risk toward the conduction system. Recently introduced strategies for higher implants (including the Lotus Edge Depth Guard Technology) might reduce the aforementioned stress on the conduction system and lead to lower PPI rates.

The prevalence of PPI among the most widely commercially available valves is reported in **Figure 2.** Although a clear trend can be observed, a huge variability in PPI was observed amongst different registries, even when the same valve was involved (**Figure 2**) (1, 22–25, 27, 29–31, 49, 51–75).

As reported by Auffret et al. (76), 2 main factors should be taken into account when evaluating the real incidence of PPI among different studies: first of all, indications to PPI are not uniform and do not always follow the canonic indication reported in the guidelines. As an example, some teams undertook prophylactic PPI in patients with new-onset LBBB after TAVR, which in turn resulted in an increased rate of PPI after TAVI. Moreover, the shorter period of observation after TAVI can underestimate the real incidence of PPI after the procedure. As demonstrated, a reduction in PPI rates has been observed with a strict adherence to Class I and TABLE 4 | Predictors of conduction disturbances, pacemaker implantation and dependency after TAVI.

Pre-procedural	References	Intra-procedural	References
PREDICTORS OF LBBB			
Baseline QRS duration	(4)	Depth of prostheisis implantation	(4)
PREDICTORS OF AV BLOCK			
Male sex	(32)	New LBBB or RBBB	(32)
Short membranous septum	(33)	QRS > 128 ms	(34)
		Insufficient difference between membranous septum lenght and depth of implantation	
PREDICTORS OF PPI			
Male sex	(35)	New heart block	(35)
1st degree AV block	(35)	Self-expandable valve (vs. balloon-expandable)	(35)
Left anterior hemiblock	(35)	Depth of prosthesis implantation	(36)
Right bundle branch block	(35)	Valve oversizing	(37, 38)
Calcifications (aortic valve, LVOT, mitral valve, membranous septum)	(33, 39, 40)	Insufficient difference between membranous septum lenght and depth of implantation	(33)
PREDICTORS OF PACEMAKER DEPENDE	NCY		
Baseline LBBB	(41)	PR change after TAVI	(41)
PR duration before TAVI	(41)		
Porcelain Aorta	(41)		

II indications as recommended by clinical guidelines (12). Moreover, as experience, confidence and knowledge grows, a trend toward less PPI in single center registries has been observed (77).

As already mentioned, many of the newly developed advanced AV block resolves spontaneously, therefore according to the European Society of Cardiology guidelines, a prophylactic implantation of PPI after TAVI should be avoided and reserved only to those patients with recurrent AVB after an appropriate period of clinical observation with ECG monitoring (Class I, Level of Evidence C). **Table 3** reports currently available data about the rate of advanced conduction disturbances requiring PPI.

Finally, the real incidence of PPI can be altered in some studies where patients with prior implant of PPI were included in the denominator, although not being exposed to the risk of new PPI implant.

Although guidelines remain vague and clear indications for PPI are still missing, many multicenter and literature-based decisional algorithms exist. In a recent state-of-the-art review, Auffret et al. proposed (76):

- ECG continuous monitoring until discharge for all patients who undergo TAVI;
- Same day PPI in all patients with a class I/II indication for PPI before TAVI;
- Temporary pacemaker for 24 h if new-onset LBBB and up to 48 h if new advanced AVB;
- PPI if new-onset LBBB persists 48 h after TAVI and QRS duration > 160 msec; consider loop recorder and/or electrophysiological studies and/or 30 days ECG monitoring in all other cases;

- PPI if advanced AV block persists 48 h after TAVI or recur before discharge (28, 54, 55, 57, 58, 78–82).

Predictors of PPI After TAVI

In a recent meta-analysis of 41 studies including 11,210 TAVI recipients, male sex, first-degree AV block, left anterior hemiblock, and right bundle-branch block (RBBB) were identified as pre-procedural predictors of PPI, whereas the presence of intraoperative heart block and the use of a selfexpandable prosthesis were the procedural predictors (35). In that study, the implantation of a CoreValve system was associated with a 2.5-fold higher risk of PPI, which was confirmed in another systematic review and in the recent report of the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Transcatheter Valve Therapy registry. Baseline RBBB is probably the strongest, most consistent clinical predictor of PPI; it has been identified in more than half of the studies evaluating multivariable predictors of PPI. Calcifications of the aortic valve (39), LVOT, and mitral annulus (40) and depth of prosthesis implantation (36) have been associated with PPI after TAVI. Proposed cut-off values for valve implantation depth predicting new-onset LBBB or PPI were 7 mm or 25% of the stent frame in the LVOT with the Sapien valve (37) and ranged from 6 to 7.8 mm with the CoreValve system (83) and from 5 to 6.7 mm with the Lotus valve (37). Values of 10 to 15% of valve oversizing have been associated with an increased risk of PPI with first-generation devices (37, 38). Concerning the postprocedural management of TAVI recipients, of particular interest are the predictors of delayed AVB after TAVI. In a larger series of 1,064 patients (45% with self-expandable valves), of whom 71 (6.7%) presented with delayed AVB (occurring 24 h after TAVI), Toggweiller et al. identified male sex and the presence of LBBB or


FIGURE 2 | Summary of major trials and registries involving different types (both self-expandable and balloon-expandable) of valve and reporting incidence of new PPI. PPI, Permanent Pacemaker Implantation.

RBBB after TAVI as independent predictors of delayed AVB (32). Mouillet et al. also proposed a post-TAVI QRS duration cutoff of >128 ms as a predictor of the evolution to AVB 24-h after TAVI (34). Baseline RBBB, PR interval duration before and after TAVI, PR interval change (>28 ms) within 3 days of TAVI, and porcelain aorta have been highlighted as independent predictors of pacemaker dependency at 1 year after TAVI (41). Finally, the membranous septum length, a surrogate for the distance between the aortic ring and the piercing bundle of His, has been proven as a major pre-intervention predictors of advanced AV block and PPI (33). In fact, mechanical compression of the emerging conduction tissue is easier if the membranous septum is too short and insufficient difference between this measure and the depth of implantation is achieved during TAVI.

Prognostic Impact of PPI After TAVI

Right ventricular apical pacing results in a left ventricular electrical activation sequence resembling left bundle-branch block. The resulting electrical asynchrony is manifest in a prolonged QRS duration due to slow myocardial conduction. Consequently, left ventricular contraction is altered, and significant interventricular and intraventricular dyssynchrony may occur (84) as result of a non-physiological activation. Ventricular desynchronization imposed by right ventricular apical pacing causes chronic left ventricular remodeling (85), including asymmetric hypertrophy and redistribution of cardiac mass, mitral regurgitation (86), increased left atrial diameter and reduced ejection fraction (87).

These adverse effects on ventricular structure and function likely explain the association of right ventricular pacing with increased risks of atrial fibrillation and heart failure in randomized clinical trials of pacemaker therapy. The MOST (Mode Selection Trial) demonstrated that heart failure during conventional cardiac pacing can be explained by complex interactions between substrate and promoters (11). Substrate is represented by clinical variables including atrial rhythm, AV conduction, ventricular conduction, ventricular function, symptomatic heart failure, and myocardial infarction. The promoters of heart failure are specific to the implementation of cardiac pacing and contain 2 constituents: ventricular desynchronization and AV desynchronization. Based on this model, patients with a very high-risk substrate (low ejection fraction, history of heart failure) are more likely to receive a negative impact from chronic right ventricular pacing (88).

TABLE 5 | Principal studies on PPI and outcome after TAVI.

References	Ν	Type of valve	PPI recipients n, (%)	FU length	FU Mortality (PPI vs. no-PPI)	FU Hospitalization (PPI vs. no-PPI)
(79)	1,347	SEV	n = 33.7%	30-days	NA	18.7 vs. 21.7% (p = 0.39)
(78)	275	SEV	n = 66 (24%)	1-year	12.5% vs. 11.8% (p = 0.9)	NA
(80)	2,559	BEV	n = 173 (8.8%)	1-year	7.6 vs. 9.0% (p = 0.52)	23.9 vs. 18.2% (p = 0.05)
(81)	9,785	BEV, SEV	n = 651 (6.7%)	1-year	24.1 vs. 19.6% (p = 0.003)	37.3 vs. 28.5% (p = 0.162)
(77)	1,556	BEV, SEV	n = 239 (15.4%)	36 months	36.1 vs. 31.5% (p = 0.73)	9.6 vs. 6.2% (p = 0.25)
(89)	1,629	BEV,SEV	n = 322 (19.8%)	4-years	48.5 vs. 42.9% (p = 0.15)	59.6 vs. 51.9% (p = 0.011)

SEV, self expanding valve, BEV, balloon expanding valve, PPI, permanent pacemaker implant, FU, follow-up, NA, not available.

The negative impact of PPI in TAVI patients has been largely explored in observational and retrospective studies (6). PPI after TAVI has been linked to and increased risk of recurrent hospitalizations for cardiovascular reasons and less recovery of left ventricular EF among patients with baseline impaired left ventricular function (89). In a meta-analysis published by Regueiro et al., the authors demonstrated a trend trough a reduction of cardiovascular deaths associated with the implantation of the PPI. The reason could be linked to the protective effect of pacing against the progression toward complete AV block and sudden death after TAVI. Conversely, the negative impact of PPI implant on mortality after TAVI was showed in a large patient population of 9,785 subjects. After multivariate adjustment, the authors found that PPI in TAVI patients was associated with a 31% increased risk for 1year mortality and a 33% increased risk for a composite of mortality or heart failure admission at 1-year. Moreover, PPI was found to be associated with a prolonged length of stay in hospital (7 days vs. 6 days; p < 0.001) and in the intensive care unit (56.7 vs. 45.0 h; p < 0.001) (90). A smaller recent study of 1,973 patients from the PARTNER trial (91) and an international multicentre registry noted a trend toward increased 1-year mortality in patients with new PPI, but it did not reach statistical significance (92). Similarly, in a small study conducted on a cohort of patients treated with first-generation CoreValve, PPI was not associated with increased mortality at 1-year followup (93). Actually, only the large experience from the Society of Thoracic Surgeons/American College of Cardiology TVT registry demonstrated a negative influence of PPI on clinical outcome (90). Notably, PPI after TAVI has also been found to be protective against sudden death (92). The results of the most important studies on PPI and outcomes in TAVI patients are reported in Table 5 (89-94).

The heterogeneity of data regarding PPI after TAVI can be interpreted in the light of the following points:

- The negative effects of chronic right ventricular pacing may be difficult to demonstrate in the sicker TAVI population with a reduced life expectancy. A longer follow-up period is necessary to demonstrate the detrimental effect of chronic pacing.
- The negative impact of chronic pacing could have a prognostic importance mainly in patients with reduced left ventricular EF.
- 3) The impact of right apical pacing on left ventricular EF is dependent both on the percentage of pacing and on pacing modality (i.e., DDD vs. VVI). Only few patients after TAVI have evidence of pacemaker-dependency, so that the negative impact of PPI implant becomes hard to be demonstrated.
- 4) The negative effect of chronic pacing is counterbalanced by the protective effect that PPI has at follow-up after TAVI. Patients with baseline RBBB and those with long LBBB (QRS length >160 ms) are at higher risk of death after discharge probably due to the development of AVB (92, 95). In this setting, PPI should be protective against the risk of suddendeath.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

As TAVI becomes a widespread technology, it is becoming a safe and valid alternative for the treatment of aortic stenosis also in patients at intermediate surgical risk. The development of new transcatheter valves has led to a reduction in significant perivalvular leaks, but with a milder impact in the rate of PPI after TAVI. One of the main challenges in the TAVI field will be the reduction of advanced conduction disturbances needing PPI. This goal could be achieved through a better understanding of the clinical and procedural factors implicated in the development of conduction disturbances after TAVI and through a careful monitoring of patients developing conduction delays in order to avoid futile PPI. In this context, further studies should investigate the optimal timing for PPI after TAVI and evaluate factors associated with the development and recovery of conduction disturbances. Moreover, considering the aforementioned difference in PPI amongst different devices, it is reasonable to expect advancements in technology that could minimize the need of PPI especially when TAVI will be expanded to low-risk patients.

REFERENCES

- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack MJ, Makkar RR, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, et al. Transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2016) 374:1609–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1514616
- Nazif TM, Williams MR, Hahn RT, Kapadia S, Babaliaros V, Rodés-Cabau J, et al. Clinical implications of new-onset left bundle branch block after transcatheter aortic valve replacement: analysis of the PARTNER experience. *Eur Heart J*. (2014) 35:1599–607. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht376
- van der Boon RM, Nuis R-J, Van Mieghem NM, Jordaens L, Rodés-Cabau J, van Domburg RT, et al. New conduction abnormalities after TAVI—frequency and causes. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2012) 9:454–63. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2012.58
- Poels TT, Houthuizen P, Van Garsse LAFM, Soliman Hamad MA, Maessen JG, Prinzen FW, et al. Frequency and prognosis of new bundle branch block induced by surgical aortic valve replacement. *Eur J Cardio-thoracic Surg.* (2014) 47:e47–53. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezu435
- Kawashima T, Sato F. Visualizing anatomical evidences on atrioventricular conduction system for TAVI. *Int J Cardiol.* (2014) 174:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.04.003
- Urena M, Webb JG, Cheema A, Serra V, Toggweiler S, Barbanti M, et al. Impact of new-onset persistent left bundle branch block on late clinical outcomes in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation with a balloon-expandable valve. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2014) 7:128–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2013.08.015
- Piazza N, Nuis RJ, Tzikas A, Otten A, Onuma Y, Garcia Garcia H, et al. Persistent conduction abnormalities and requirements for pacemaking six months after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *EuroIntervention* (2010) 6:475–84. doi: 10.4244/EIJ30V6I4A80
- Urena M, Mok M, Serra V, Dumont E, Nombela-Franco L, DeLarochellière R, et al. Predictive factors and long-term clinical consequences of persistent left bundle branch block following transcatheter aortic valve implantation with a balloon-expandable valve. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 60:1743–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.07.035
- MacMillan RM, Demorizi NM, Gessman LJ, Maranhao V. Correlates of prolonged HV conduction in aortic stenosis. *Am Heart J.* (1985) 110:56–60. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(85)90514-9
- Nuis RJ, Van Mieghem NM, Schultz CJ, Tzikas A, Van Der Boon RM, Maugenest AM, et al. Timing and potential mechanisms of new conduction abnormalities during the implantation of the Medtronic CoreValve System in patients with aortic stenosis. *Eur Heart J.* (2011) 32:2067– 74. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr110
- 11. Sweeney MO, Hellkamp AS, Ellenbogen KA, Greenspon AJ, Freedman RA, Lee KL, et al. MOde Selection Trial Investigators. Adverse effect of ventricular pacing on heart failure and atrial fibrillation among patients with normal baseline QRS duration in a clinical trial of pacemaker therapy for sinus node dysfunction. *Circulation* (2003) 107:2932–7. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000072769.17295.B1
- Petronio AS, Sinning JM, Van Mieghem N, Zucchelli G, Nickenig G, Bekeredjian R, et al. Optimal implantation depth and adherence to guidelines on permanent pacing to improve the results of transcatheter aortic valve replacement with the medtronic corevalve system: the CoreValve prospective, international, post-market ADVANCE-II study. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 8:837–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.02.005
- 13. Carrabba N, Valenti R, Migliorini A, Marrani M, Cantini G, Parodi G, et al. Impact on left ventricular function and remodeling and on 1-year outcome in patients with left bundle branch block after

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors contributed to the manuscript production and in the final revision. AM, CM, MP, and OD structured the manuscript giving contribute to table, figures and text editing. AC, LT, and AL revisited the article implementing the final manuscript form.

transcatheter aortic valve implantation. Am J Cardiol. (2015) 116:125–31. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.03.054

- 14. Tzikas A, Van Dalen BM, Van Mieghem NM, Gutierrez-Chico JL, Nuis RJ, Kauer F, et al. Frequency of conduction abnormalities after transcatheter aortic valve implantation with the medtronic-corevalve and the effect on left ventricular ejection fraction. *Am J Cardiol.* (2011) 107:285–9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.09.015
- Houthuizen P, Van Garsse LAFM, Poels TT, de Jaegere P, van der Boon RMA, Swinkels BM, et al. Left bundle-branch block induced by transcatheter aortic valve implantation increases risk of death. *Circulation* (2012) 126:720–28. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.101055
- Gutiérrez M, Rodés-Cabau J, Bagur R, Doyle D, DeLarochellière R, Bergeron S, et al. Electrocardiographic changes and clinical outcomes after transapical aortic valve implantation. *Am Heart J.* (2009) 158:302–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2009.05.029
- Godin M, Eltchaninoff H, Furuta A, Tron C, Anselme F, Bejar K, et al. Frequency of conduction disturbances after transcatheter implantation of an Edwards Sapien aortic valve prosthesis. *Am J Cardiol.* (2010) 106:707–12. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.04.029
- Grines CL, Bashore TM, Boudoulas H, Olson S, Shafer P, Wooley CF. Functional abnormalities in isolated left bundle branch block. The effect of interventricular asynchrony. *Circulation* (1989) 79:845–53. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.79.4.845
- Li ZB, Wachtell K, Okin PM, Gerdts E, Liu JE, Nieminen MS, et al. Association of left bundle branch block with left ventricular structure and function in hypertensive patients with left ventricular hypertrophy: the LIFE study. *J Hum Hypertens*. (2004) 18:397–402. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh.1001709
- Francia P, Balla C, Paneni F, Volpe M. Left bundle-branch block pathophysiology, prognosis and clinical management. *Clin Cardiol.* (2007) 30:326–30. doi: 10.1002/clc.20034
- Testa L, Latib A, De Marco F, De Carlo M, Agnifili M, Latini RA, et al. Clinical impact of persistent left bundle-branch block after transcatheter aortic valve implantation with CoreValve revalving system. *Circulation* (2013) 127:1300–7. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.001099
- 22. Wenaweser P, Stortecky S, Schütz T, Praz F, Gloekler S, Windecker S, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation with the NVT Allegra transcatheter heart valve system: first-in-human experience with a novel self-expanding transcatheter heart valve. *EuroIntervention* (2016) 12:71–7. doi: 10.4244/EIJV12I1A13
- 23. Silaschi M, Conradi L, Wendler O, Schlingloff F, Kappert U, Rastan AJ, et al. The JUPITER registry: one-year outcomes of transapical aortic valve implantation using a second generation transcatheter heart valve for aortic regurgitation. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2017) 91:1345–51. doi: 10.1002/ccd.27370
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack M, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve implantation for aortic stenosis in patients who cannot undergo surgery. N Engl J Med. (2010) 363:1597–607. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1008232
- 25. Rodés-Cabau J, Webb JG, Cheung A, Ye J, Dumont E, Feindel CM, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation for the treatment of severe symptomatic aortic stenosis in patients at very high or prohibitive surgical risk. Acute and late outcomes of the multicenter Canadian experience. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2010) 55:1080–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009. 12.014
- Möllmann H, Hengstenberg C, Hilker M, Kerber S, Schäfer U, Rudolph T, et al. Real-world experience using the ACURATE neoTM prosthesis: 30-day

outcomes of 1000 patients enrolled in the SAVI-TF registry. *EuroIntervention* (2017) 13:e1764–70. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00628

- 27. Bosmans JM, Kefer J, De Bruyne B, Herijgers P, Dubois C, Legrand V, et al. Procedural, 30-day and one year outcome following CoreValve or Edwards transcatheter aortic valve implantation: results of the Belgian national registry. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* (2011) 12:762–67. doi: 10.1510/icvts.2010.253773
- Meredith I, Dumonteil N, Blackman D, Tchétché D, Walters D, Hildick-Smith D, et al. Repositionable percutaneous aortic valve implantation with the LOTUS valve: 30-day and 1-year outcomes in 250 high-risk surgical patients. *EuroIntervention* (2017) 13:788–95. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-16-01024
- D'Onofrio A, Rubino P, Fusari M, Salvador L, Musumeci F, Rinaldi M, et al. Clinical and hemodynamic outcomes of "all-comers" undergoing transapical aortic valve implantation: results from the Italian Registry of Trans-Apical Aortic Valve Implantation (I-TA). *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2011) 142:768– 75. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2011.06.026
- Auffret V, Lefevre T, Van Belle E, Eltchaninoff H, Iung B, Koning R, et al. Temporal trends in transcatheter aortic valve replacement in France: FRANCE 2 to FRANCE TAVI. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 70:42–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.04.053
- 31. Chieffo A, Buchanan GL, Van Mieghem NM, Tchetche D, Dumonteil N, Latib A, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation with the Edwards SAPIEN versus the medtronic corevalve revalving system devices: a multicenter collaborative study: The PRAGMATIC plus initiative (Pooled-RotterdAm-Milano-Toulouse in Collaboration). J Am Coll Cardiol. (2013) 61:830–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.11.050
- 32. Toggweiler S, Stortecky S, Holy E, Zuk K, Cuculi F, Nietlispach F, et al. The electrocardiogram after transcatheter aortic valve replacement determines the risk for post-procedural high-degree AV block and the need for telemetry monitoring. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:1269–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.03.024
- 33. Hamdan A, Guetta V, Klempfner R, Konen E, Raanani E, Glikson M, et al. Inverse relationship between membranous septal length and the risk of atrioventricular block in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 8:1218–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.05.010
- Mouillet G, Lellouche N, Lim P, Meguro K, Yamamoto M, Deux JF, et al. Patients without prolonged QRS after TAVI with corevalve device do not experience high-degree atrio-ventricular block. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2013) 81:882–7. doi: 10.1002/ccd.24657
- Siontis GCM, Jüni P, Pilgrim T, Stortecky S, Büllesfeld L, Meier B, et al. Predictors of permanent pacemaker implantation in patients with severe aortic stenosis undergoing TAVR: A meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 64:129–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.04.033
- 36. Fraccaro C, Buja G, Tarantini G, Gasparetto V, Leoni L, Razzolini R, et al. Incidence, predictors, and outcome of conduction disorders after transcatheter self-expandable aortic valve implantation. *Am J Cardiol.* (2011) 107:747–54. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.10.054
- Rodríguez-Olivares R, Van Gils L, El Faquir N, Rahhab Z, Di Martino LFM, et al. Importance of the left ventricular outflow tract in the need for pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Int J Cardiol.* (2016) 216:9–15. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.04.023
- Katsanos S, Van Rosendael P, Kamperidis V, Van Der Kley F, Joyce E, Debonnaire P, et al. Insights into new-onset rhythm conduction disorders detected by multi-detector row computed tomography after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Am J Cardiol.* (2014) 114:1556–61. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.08.020
- Latsios G, Gerckens U, Buellesfeld L, Mueller R, John D, Yuecel S, et al. "Device landing zone" calcification, assessed by MSCT, as a predictive factor for pacemaker implantation after TAVI. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2010) 76:431–39. doi: 10.1002/ccd.22563
- Abramowitz Y, Kazuno Y, Chakravarty T, Kawamori H, Maeno Y, Anderson D, et al. Concomitant mitral annular calcification and severe aortic stenosis: prevalence, characteristics and outcome following transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:1194–203. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehw594
- 41. Naveh S, Perlman GY, Elitsur Y, Planer D, Gilon D, Leibowitz D, et al. Electrocardiographic predictors of long-term cardiac pacing dependency

following transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol.* (2017) 28:216–23. doi: 10.1111/jce.13147

- 42. Piazza N, Onuma Y, Jesserun E, Kint PP, Maugenest AM, Anderson RH, et al. Early and persistent intraventricular conduction abnormalities and requirements for pacemaking after percutaneous replacement of the aortic valve. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. (2008) 1:310–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2008.04.007
- 43. Baan J, Yong ZY, Koch KT, Henriques JPS, Bouma BJ, Vis MM, et al. Factors associated with cardiac conduction disorders and permanent pacemaker implantation after percutaneous aortic valve implantation with the CoreValve prosthesis. Am Heart J. (2010) 159:497–503. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2009.12.009
- 44. Aktug Ö, Dohmen G, Brehmer K, Koos R, Altiok E, Deserno V, et al. Incidence and predictors of left bundle branch block after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Int J Cardiol.* (2012) 160:26–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2011.03.004
- Bleiziffer S, Ruge H, Hörer J, Hutter A, Geisbüsch S, Brockmann G, et al. Predictors for new-onset complete heart block after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2010) 3:524–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2010.01.017
- Bjerre Thygesen J, Loh PH, Cholteesupachai J, Franzen O, Søndergaard L. Reevaluation of the indications for permanent pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. J Invasive Cardiol. (2014) 26:94–9.
- Erkapic D, De Rosa S, Kelava A, Lehmann R, Fichtlsscherer S, Hohloser SH. Risk for permanent pacemaker after transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a comprehensive analysis of the literature. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*. (2012) 23:391–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8167.2011.02211.x
- Abdel-Wahab M, Neumann F-J, Mehilli J, Frerker C, Richardt D, Landt M, et al. 1-year outcomes after transcatheter aortic valve replacement with balloon-expandable versus self-expandable valves. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2015) 66:791–800. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.06.026
- Reardon MJ, Van Mieghem NM, Popma JJ, Kleiman NS, Søndergaard L, Mumtaz M, et al. Surgical or transcatheter aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:1321–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1700456
- van Rosendael PJ, Delgado V, Bax JJ. Pacemaker implantation rate after transcatheter aortic valve implantation with early and newgeneration devices: a systematic review. *Eur Heart J.* (2018) 39:2003–13. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx785
- Forrest JK, Mangi AA, Popma JJ, Khabbaz K, Reardon MJ, Kleiman NS, et al. Early outcomes with the evolut pro repositionable self-expanding transcatheter aortic valve with pericardial wrap. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. (2018) 11:160–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.10.014
- 52. Meredith IT, Walters DL, Dumonteil N, Worthley SG, Tchétché D, Manoharan G, et al. 1-year outcomes with the fully repositionable and retrievable lotus transcatheter aortic replacement valve in 120 high-risk surgical patients with severe aortic stenosis: Results of the REPRISE II study. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. (2016) 9:376–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.10.024
- 53. Feldman TE, Reardon MJ, Rajagopal V, Makkar RR, Bajwa TK, Kleiman NS, et al. Effect of mechanically expanded vs self-expanding transcatheter aortic valve replacement on mortality and major adverse clinical events in high-risk patients with aortic stenosis. *JAMA* (2018) 319:27. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.19132
- Falk V, Wöhrle J, Hildick-Smith D, Bleiziffer S, Blackman DJ, Abdel-Wahab M, et al. Safety and efficacy of a repositionable and fully retrievable aortic valve used in routine clinical practice: the RESPOND Study. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:3359–66. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx297
- Grube E, Van Mieghem NM, Bleiziffer S, Modine T, Bosmans J, Manoharan G, et al. Clinical outcomes with a repositionable self-expanding transcatheter aortic valve prosthesis. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 70:845–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.06.045
- Linke A, Holzhey D, Möllmann H, Manoharan G, Schäfer U, Frerker C, et al. Treatment of aortic stenosis with a self-expanding, resheathable transcatheter valve. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2018) 11:e005206. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.117.005206
- 57. Wendler O, Schymik G, Treede H, Baumgartner H, Dumonteil N, Neumann F-J, et al. SOURCE 3: 1-year outcomes post-transcatheter aortic valve implantation using the latest generation of the balloonexpandable transcatheter heart valve. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2717–26. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx294

- Reichenspurner H, Schaefer A, Schäfer U, Tchétché D, Linke A, Spence MS, et al. Self-expanding transcatheter aortic valve system for symptomatic highrisk patients with severe aortic stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 70:3127–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.10.060
- Möllmann H, Walther T, Siqueira D, Diemert P, Treede H, Grube E, Nickenig G, et al. Transfemoral TAVI using the self-expanding ACURATE neo prosthesis: one-year outcomes of the multicentre "CE-approval cohort." *EuroIntervention*. (2017) 13:e1040–6. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00187
- Thomas M, Schymik G, Walther T, Himbert D, Lefèvre T, Treede H, et al. Thirty-day results of the SAPIEN aortic bioprosthesis European outcome (SOURCE) registry. *Circulation* (2010) 122:62–9. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.907402
- 61. Ludman PF, Moat N, de Belder MA, Blackman DJ, Duncan A, Banya W, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation in the UK: temporal trends, predictors of outcome and 6 year follow up: a report from the UK TAVI registry 2007 to 2012. *Circulation* (2015) 131:1181–90. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013947
- Chieffo A, Petronio AS, Mehilli J, Chandrasekhar J, Sartori S, Lefèvre T, et al. 1-Year clinical outcomes in women after transcatheter aortic valve replacement: results from the first WIN-TAVI registry. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2018) 11:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.09.034
- 63. Schymik G, Lefèvre T, Bartorelli AL, Rubino P, Treede H, Walther T, et al. European experience with the second-generation Edwards SAPIEN XT transcatheter heart valve in patients with severe aortic stenosis: 1-year outcomes from the SOURCE XT Registry. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 8:657–69. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.10.026
- Gilard M, Eltchaninoff H, Iung, B, Donzeau-Gouge P, Chevreul K, Fajadet J, et al. Registry of transcatheter aortic-valve implantation in high-risk patients. *Surv Anesthesiol.* (2013) 57:62–3. doi: 10.1097/01.SA.0000426523.25196.4e
- Zahn R, Gerckens U, Grube E, Linke A, Sievert H, Eggebrecht H, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation: first results from a multi-centre realworld registry. *Eur Heart J.* (2011) 32:198–204. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq339
- 66. Piazza N, Grube E, Gerckens U, den Heijer P, Linke A, Luha O, et al. Procedural and 30-day outcomes following transcatheter aortic valve implantation using the third generation (18 Fr) corevalve revalving system: results from the multicentre, expanded evaluation registry 1-year following CE mark approval. *EuroIntervention* (2008) 4:242–49. doi: 10.4244/EIJV4I2A43
- Ussia GP, Barbanti M, Petronio AS, Tarantini G, Ettori F, Colombo A, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation: 3-year outcomes of self-expanding CoreValve prosthesis. *Eur Heart J.* (2012) 33:969–76. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr491
- Petronio AS, De Carlo M, Bedogni F, Marzocchi A, Klugmann S, Maisano F, et al. Safety and efficacy of the subclavian approach for transcatheter aortic valve implantation with the CoreValve revalving system. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*. (2010) 3:359–66. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.109.930453
- 69. Tamburino C, Capodanno D, Ramondo A, Petronio AS, Ettori F, Santoro G, et al. Incidence and predictors of early and late mortality after transcatheter aortic valve implantation in 663 patients with severe aortic stenosis. *Circulation* (2011) 123:299–308. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.946533
- Noble S, Stortecky S, Heg D, Tueller D, Jeger R, Toggweiler S, et al. Comparison of procedural and clinical outcomes with Evolut R versus Medtronic CoreValve: A Swiss TAVI registry analysis. *EuroIntervention* (2017) 12:e2170–76. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-16-00677
- Petronio AS, De Carlo M, Bedogni F, Maisano F, Ettori F, Klugmann S, et al. 2-year results of CoreValve implantation through the subclavian access: a propensity-matched comparison with the femoral access. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 60:502–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.04.014
- Buellesfeld L, Gerckens U, Schuler G, Bonan R, Kovac J, Serruys PW, et al. 2-Year follow-up of patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation using a self-expanding valve prosthesis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. (2011) 57:1650–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.11.044
- 73. Gerckens U, Tamburino C, Bleiziffer S, Bosmans J, Wenaweser P, Brecker S, et al. Final 5-year clinical and echocardiographic results for treatment of severe aortic stenosis with a self-expanding bioprosthesis from the ADVANCE Study. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2729–38. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx295

- 74. Thyregod HGH, Steinbrüchel DA, Ihlemann N, Nissen H, Kjeldsen BJ, Petursson P, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve replacement in patients with severe aortic valve stenosis: 1-year results from the all-comers NOTION randomized clinical trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2015) 65:2184–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.03.014
- 75. Meredith IT, Worthley SG, Whitbourn RJ, Antonis P, Montarello JK, Newcomb AE, et al. Transfemoral aortic valve replacement with the repositionable Lotus Valve system in high surgical risk patients: the REPRISE I study. *EuroIntervention* (2014) 9:1264–70. doi: 10.4244/EIJV9I11A216
- Auffret V, Puri R, Urena M, Chamandi C, Rodriguez-Gabella T, Philippon F, et al. Conduction disturbances after transcatheter aortic valve replacement: current status and future perspectives. *Circulation* (2017) 136:1049–69. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.028352
- 77. Landes U, Barsheshet A, Finkelstein A, Guetta V, Assali A, Halkin A, et al. Temporal trends in transcatheter aortic valve implantation, 2008–2014: patient characteristics, procedural issues, and clinical outcome. *Clin Cardiol.* (2017) 40:82–8. doi: 10.1002/clc.22632
- Harnath A, Gomes B, Herwig V, Gatto F, Watremez S, Katus HA, Bekeredjian R. First experience with the 34mm self-expanding Evolut R in a multi-center registry. *EuroIntervention* (2018) 14:298–300. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-18-00137
- 79. Vavuranakis M, Kariori M, Scott L, Kalogeras K, Siasos G, Vrachatis D, et al. Impact of "high" implantation on functionality of self-expandable bioprosthesis during the short- and long-term outcome of patients who undergo TAVI. Is high implantation beneficial? *Cardiovasc Ther.* (2018) 36: e12330. doi: 10.1111/1755-5922.12330
- Popma JJ, Reardon MJ, Khabbaz K, Harrison JK, Hughes GC, Kodali S, et al. Early clinical outcomes after transcatheter aortic valve replacement using a novel self-expanding bioprosthesis in patients with severe aortic stenosis who are suboptimal for surgery. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. (2017) 10:268–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.08.050
- Husser O, Kim W-K, Pellegrini C, Holzamer A, Walther T, Mayr PN, et al. Multicenter comparison of novel self-expanding versus balloon-expandable transcatheter heart valves. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2017) 10:2078–87. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.06.026
- Thourani VH, Kodali S, Makkar RR, Herrmann HC, Williams M, Babaliaros V, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement versus surgical valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients: a propensity score analysis. *Lancet* (2016) 387:2218–25. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30073-3
- Guetta V, Goldenberg G, Segev A, Dvir D, Kornowski R, Finckelstein A, et al. Predictors and course of high-degree atrioventricular block after transcatheter aortic valve implantation using the CoreValve revalving system. *Am J Cardiol.* (2011) 108:1600–5. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.07.020
- Prinzen FW, Peschar M. Relation between the pacing induced sequence of activation and left ventricular pump function in animals. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol.* (2002) 25:484–98. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9592.2002.00484.x
- Prinzen FW, Augustijn CH, Arts T, Allessie MA, Reneman RS. Redistribution of myocardial fiber strain and blood flow by asynchronous activation. *Am J Physiol Circ Physiol.* (1990) 259:H300–8. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.1990.259.2.H300
- Kanzaki H, Bazaz R, Schwartzman D, Dohi K, Sade LE, Gorcsan J. A mechanism for immediate reduction in mitral regurgitation after cardiac resynchronization therapy: insights from mechanical activation strain mapping. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2004) 44:1619–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.07.036
- Nahlawi M, Waligora M, Spies SM, Bonow RO, Kadish AH, Goldberger JJ. Left ventricular function during and after right ventricular pacing. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2004) 44:1883–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.06.074
- Sweeney MO, Hellkamp AS. Heart failure during cardiac pacing. *Circulation* (2006) 113:2082–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.608356
- Chamandi C, Barbanti M, Munoz-Garcia A, Latib A, Nombela-Franco L, Gutiérrez-Ibanez E, et al. Long-term outcomes in patients with new permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2018) 11:301–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.10.032
- Fadahunsi OO, Olowoyeye A, Ukaigwe A, Li Z, Vora AN, Vemulapalli S, et al. Incidence, predictors, and outcomes of permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement: analysis from the U.S.

society of thoracic surgeons/American college of cardiology TVT Registry. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:2189–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.07.026

- Nazif TM, Dizon JM, Hahn RT, Xu K, Babaliaros V, Douglas PS, et al. PARTNER publications office. predictors and clinical outcomes of permanent pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 8:60–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.07.022
- 92. Urena M, Webb JG, Tamburino C, Munoz-Garcia AJ, Cheema A, Dager AE, et al. Permanent pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic valve implantation: impact on late clinical outcomes and left ventricular function. *Circulation* (2014) 129:1233–43. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005479
- De Carlo M, Giannini C, Bedogni F, Klugmann S, Brambilla N, De Marco F, et al. Safety of a conservative strategy of permanent pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic CoreValve implantation. *Am Heart J.* (2012) 163:492–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2011.12.009
- 94. Ledwoch J, Franke J, Gerckens U, Kuck K-H, Linke A, Nickenig G, et al. German transcatheter aortic valve interventions registry investigators. Incidence and predictors of permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve implantation: analysis from the german

transcatheter aortic valve interventions registry. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. (2013) 82:E569-77. doi: 10.1002/ccd.24915

95. Watanabe Y, Kozuma K, Hioki H, Kawashima H, Nara Y, Kataoka A, et al. Pre-existing right bundle branch block increases risk for death after transcatheter aortic valve replacement with a balloon-expandable valve. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:2210–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016. 08.035

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Mangieri, Montalto, Pagnesi, Lanzillo, Demir, Testa, Colombo and Latib. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Expanding TAVI to Low and Intermediate Risk Patients

Lisa Voigtländer¹ and Moritz Seiffert^{1,2*}

¹ Department of General and Interventional Cardiology, University Heart Center Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany, ² Partner site Hamburg/Kiel/Lübeck, DZHK, German Centre for Cardiovascular Research, Hamburg, Germany

TAVI has become the standard treatment in patients at increased surgical risk and is increasingly being performed in patients at intermediate to low surgical risk. While non-inferiority has been demonstrated in intermediate risk patients, several challenges—particularly with regard to valve durability—need to be addressed before expansion to lower risk and younger patients can be recommended on a broad basis. Current trends, trials results, and remaining challenges are summarized and discussed in the light of updated treatment guidelines.

Keywords: TAVI, TAVR, intermediate risk, low risk, aortic valve stenosis

INTRODUCTION

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Crochan John O'Sullivan, Triemli Hospital, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Masahiko Asami, Inselspital, Bern University Hospital, Switzerland Luis Nombela-Franco, Hospital Clínico San Carlos, Spain

> *Correspondence: Moritz Seiffert m.seiffert@uke.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> **Received:** 02 April 2018 **Accepted:** 25 June 2018 **Published:** 12 July 2018

Citation:

Voigtländer L and Seiffert M (2018) Expanding TAVI to Low and Intermediate Risk Patients. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:92. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00092 Severe aortic valve stenosis (AS) represents the most common valvular heart disease in developed countries. Since its prevalence is associated with increasing age, a growing disease burden is expected in the future considering an aging patient population (1). Surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR)—the traditional standard of care for patients with severe symptomatic AS—is increasingly complemented by transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI). After the first TAVI procedure in 2002 (4), the number of procedures has increased exponentially in the past years and has recently outperformed the number of isolated SAVR per year in Germany (5). Several prospective randomized trials demonstrated non-inferiority for TAVI compared to SAVR in patients at high surgical risk (6, 7). More recently, three additional trials reported non-inferiority of TAVI in intermediate-risk patients (**Figure 1, Table 1**) (8–10). Current debates focus on the expansion of TAVI as the standard of care for the treatment of patients with AS and low to intermediate operative risk.

ASSESSMENT OF OPERATIVE RISK

What are criteria and cutoffs for low to intermediate operative risk? Objective risk estimation remains the Achilles' heel for the evaluation of individual treatment options and overall comparison of clinical trial results. A multitude of relevant clinical and anatomical factors effectively influence operative complexity, complicating precise risk calculation in these patients. All of the widely-used risk stratification tools (STS-PROM, logistic EuroSCORE, EuroSCORE II) entail significant limitations in predicting operative mortality (11, 12). In the absence of a perfectly reliable risk model, the STS-PROM has mostly been applied for individual risk assessment and for comparison of trials results. In the past, operative risk was classified as high (STS-PROM >8%), intermediate (STS-PROM of 4–8%), and low (STS-PROM <4%).

Abbreviations: AS, Aortic stenosis; LogES, Logistic EuroSCORE; PVL, Paravalvular leakage; SAVR, Surgical aortic valve replacement; STS-PROM, Society of Thoracic Surgeons' Predicted Risk of Operative Mortality; TAVI, Transcatheter aortic valve implantation; THV, Transcatheter heart valve.



However, important additional factors, e.g. active malignancy, frailty, porcelain aorta, chest wall radiation, liver cirrhosis, or neurological impairment, were not comprehensively integrated in these risk models. In addition, treatment decisions may differ in elderly patients without comorbidities (low operative risk despite advanced age) and young patients with significant comorbidities (increased operative risk despite young age). The 2017 ESC/EACTS guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease incorporate these difficulties and opt for a more differentiated approach to operative risk and choice of treatment modality (13).

TREATMENT SELECTION ACCORDING TO CURRENT GUIDELINES

To help navigate the choice of treatment modality in patients with low to intermediate surgical risk, European (13) and American (14) guidelines were recently updated. In general, the indication for TAVI was expanded to intermediate risk patients in both versions on the basis of three major trials (8– 10). American guidelines in its current version consider TAVI a reasonable alternative to SAVR in patients at intermediate operative risk (STS-PROM \geq 4%), depending on patientspecific procedural risks, values, and preferences (14). European guidelines emphasize, that the treatment selection (TAVI or SAVR) in patients at increased surgical risk (STS-PROM \geq 4%, logistic EuroSCORE \geq 10% or risk factors not considered in these algorithms) should be made by the Heart Team on an individualized basis (13). According to the guideline's authors, factors in favor of a catheter-based approach include patient age ≥75 years, prior cardiac surgery, frailty, restricted mobility or anticipated prolonged rehabilitation, favorable transfemoral access, prior chest radiation, porcelain aorta, severe chest deformation, or expected prosthesis-patient mismatch. Other aspects, e.g. patient age <75 years, suspicion of endocarditis, unfavorable anatomy for TAVI (access, low coronary take-off, unfavorable aortic root, valvular, or annular anatomy), and concomitant cardiac conditions that require additional surgical treatment favor SAVR. Overall, SAVR remains the standard therapy for patients <75 years of age with low surgical risk at current as long-term durability data for THV remain insufficient. In the absence of a perfect risk assessment, both guidelines emphasize the integral role of the interdisciplinary heart team in patient evaluation, assessment of technical suitability, and identification of the appropriate treatment modality (13, 14).

EVIDENCE FROM INTERMEDIATE-RISK TRIALS OR REGISTRIES

Essential evidence for the expansion of TAVI for the treatment of intermediate risk patients stems from three prospective randomized trials and reports from major contemporary registries.

Registries

Several large-scale nationwide registries evaluated outcomes and trends in the treatment of aortic valve stenosis. Long before first results from prospective randomized intermediate-risk trials were available, large registries had already reported a paradigm shift of TAVI towards lower risk patients: According to the

	PART	PARTNER 1A (6)		Core	CoreValve HR (7)		PART	PARTNER 2A (10)		N	NOTION (9)		SU	SURTAVI (8)	
Time of recruitment	May 2007	May 2007–August 2009	60	February 2	February 2011–December 2012	hber	-Novi	December 2011 -November 2013		Deceml	December 2009-April 2013		June 20	June 2012 –June 2016	16
THV	S	SAPIEN		ŏ	CoreValve		SA	SAPIEN XT		ŭ	CoreValve		ŭ	CoreValve	
Primary endpoint	All-cause	All-cause death at 1 year	ear	All-cause	-cause death at 1 year	ear	All-ca diasblii	All-cause death or diasbling stroke at 2 years		All-ca disabli myocardia	All-cause death, disabling stroke or myocardial infarction at 1 year	it 1	All-cau disablin	All-cause death or disabling stroke at 2 years	- N
	TAVI	SAVR	٩	TAVI	SAVR	٩	TAVI	SAVR	٩	TAVI	SAVR	٩	TAVI	SAVR	95% CI
Number of randomized pts.	348	351	n/a	394	401	n/a	1,011	1,021	n/a	145	135	n/a	864	296	n/a
Age	83.6 ± 6.8	84.5 土 6.4	0.07	83.2 ± 7.1	83.5 ± 6.3	n/a	81.5 ± 6.7	81.7 ± 6.7	n/a	79.2 土 4.9	79.0 ± 4.7	n/a	79.9 ± 6.2	79.7 ± 6.1	n/a
Male gender	57.8%	56.7%	0.82	53.6%	52.9%	n/a	54.2%	54.8%	n/a	53.8%	52.6%	n/a	57.6%	55.0%	n/a
STS-PROM (%)	11.8 ± 3.3	11.7 ± 3.5	0.61	7.3 ± 3.0	7.5 ± 3.2	n/a	5.8 ± 2.1	5.8 ± 1.9	n/a	2.9 ± 1.6	3.1 ± 1.7	n/a	4.4 土 1.5	4.5 土 1.6	n/a
Log. EuroSCORE (%)	29.3 ± 16.5	29.2 ± 15.6	0.93	17.6 土 13.0	18.4 土 12.8	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	8.4 土 4	8.9 ± 5.5	n/a	11.9 土 7.6	11.6.8.0	n/a
Transfemoral access	70.1%	I	I	n/a	I	I	76.3%	I	I	96.5%	I	I	93.6%	I	I
Primary endpoint	24.2%	26.8%	0.44	14.2%	19.1%	0.04	19.3%	21.1%	0.25	13.1%	16.3%	0.43	12.6%	14.0%	-5.2 to 2.3
All-cause mortality (30 days)	3.4%	6.5%	0.07	3.3%	4.5%	n/a	3.9%	4.1%	0.78	2.1%	3.7%	0.43	2.2%	1.7%	-0.9 to 1.8
All-cause mortality (1 year)	24.2%	26.8%	0.44	14.2%	19.1%	0.004	12.3%	12.9%	0.69	4.9%	7.5%	0.38	6.7%	6.8%	-2.7 to 2.4
All-cause mortality (2 years)	33.9%	35.0%	0.78	22.2%	28.6%	0.04	16.7%	18.0%	0.45	8.0%	9.8%	0.54	11.4%	11.6%	-3.8 to 3.3
Stroke (30 days)	3.8%	2.1%	0.2	4.9%	6.2%	0.46	5.5%	6.1%	0.57	1.4%	3.0%	0.37	3.4%	5.6%	-4.2 to-0.2
Myocardial infarction (30 days)	0	0.6%	0.16	0.8%	0.8%	0.92	1.2%	1.9%	0.22	2.8%	6.0%	0.2	0.9%	1.0%	-1.0 to 0.9
Major vascular complications (30 days)	11.0%	3.2%	<0.001	5.9%	1.7%	0.003	7.9%	5.0%	0.008	5.6%	1.5%	0.1	6.0%	1.0%	3.2 to 6.7
Major or life-threatening bleeding (30 days)	9.3%	3.2%	< 0.001	13.6%	35.0%	<0.001	10.4%	43.4%	<0.001	11.3%	20.9%	0.03	12.2%	9.3%	-0.1 to 5.9
New permanent	3.8%	3.6%	0.89	19.8%	7.1%	<0.001	8.5%	6.9%	0.17	34.1%	1.6%	<0.001	25.9%	6.6%	15.9- 22.7

	PART	PARTNER 1A (6)		CoreV	CoreValve HR (7)		PART	PARTNER 2A (10)		N	NOTION (9)		SUI	SURTAVI (8)	
Time of recruitment	May 2007	May 2007–August 2009	60	February 2	ruary 2011–December 2012	lber	Dece -Nove	December 2011 -November 2013		Decemb	December 2009–April 2013	÷	June 201	June 2012 -June 2016	9
THV	S)	SAPIEN		ပိ	CoreValve		SA	SAPIEN XT		ပိ	CoreValve		ů	CoreValve	
Primary endpoint	All-cause	All-cause death at 1 year	ear	All-cause	All-cause death at 1 year	ear	All-cau diasblir	All-cause death or diasbling stroke at 2 years	. 8	All-ca disablii myocardia	All-cause death, disabling stroke or myocardial infarction at year	at 1	All-cau disablin	All-cause death or disabling stroke at 2 years	
	TAVI	SAVR	٩	TAVI	SAVR	٩	TAVI	SAVR	٩	TAVI	SAVR	٩	TAVI	SAVR	95% CI
New-onset atrial fibrillation (30 days)	8.6%	16.0%	0.006	11.7%	30.5%	<0.001	9.1%	26.4%	< 0.001	16.9%	57.8%	0.001	12.9%	43.3%	-34.7 to -26.4
Acute kidney injury (30 days)	1.2%	1.2%	0.95	6.0%	15.1%	<0.001	1.3%	3.1%	0.006	0.7%	6.7%	0.01	1.7%	4.4%	-4.4 to -1.0
Moderate or severe PVL (1 year)	6.8%	1.9%	< 0.001	6.1%	0.5%	<0.001	3.4%	0.4%	<0.001	15.7%	0.9%	0.001	5.3%	0.6%	n/a
Rehospitalization (2 years)	24.7%	21.7%	0.41	n/a	n/a	I	19.6%	17.3%	0.22	n/a	n/a	I	13.2%	9.7%	0.1-7.0
Endocarditis (2 years)	1.5%	1.0%	0.61	0.9%	1.7%	0.35	1.2%	0.7%	0.22	n/a	n/a	I	n/a	n/a	I
AV reintervention (2 years)	n/a	n/a	I	2.5%	0.4%	0.02	1.4%	0.6%	0.09	n/a	n/a	I	2.7%	%2.0	0.6-3.4
- Al, aortic valve; CI, confidence interval; LogES, logistic EuroSCORE; PVL, paravalvular leakage; SAVR, surgical aortic valve replacement; STS-PROM, Society of Thoracic Surgeons predicted risk of operative mortality; TAVI, transcatheter heart valve. Values are given as mean ± standard deviation or frequencies and percentages.	nce interval; Lo +V, transcathet	ngES, logistic Ł er heart valve.	EuroSCORE; F Values are gi	⊃VL, paravalvu. ven as mean ∃	lar leakage; Sv ± standard de	AVR, surgical ε viation or frequ	aortic valve rep Jencies and p	olacement; ST: bercentages.	S-PROM, Soc	iety of Thoraci	c Surgeons pr	edicted risk o	f operative mo	rtality; TAVI, tra	nscatheter

TABLE 1 | Continued

compulsory German quality assurance registry on aortic valve replacement (AQUA), the number of annual TAVI procedures in Germany increased 20-fold from 2008 to 2014 while the number of SAVR procedures slowly declined (15). Interestingly, operative risk, as assessed by the logistic EuroSCORE, decreased significantly over the years with a larger percentage of patients at low to intermediate risk in the later years (logES < 10%: 18.9% [2012] vs. 25.9% [2014]). This was followed by a drop in hospital mortality after TAVI during the observation period (2008: 10.4%, 2014: 4.2%) (15).

Similar trends were observed in the German Aortic Valve Registry (GARY), which included a total of 15,964 patients undergoing TAVI between 2011 and 2013 (16). Over the years, a significant regression in risk profiles (logES 20.2% [2011] to 16.9% [2013]; STS-PROM: 5.2% [2011] to 4.9 [2013], both p < 0.001), periprocedural complications and in-hospital mortality (5.9% [2011] to 4.9% [2013], p = 0.078) were observed (16).

The Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS)/American College of Cardiology Transcatheter Valve Therapy (TVT) Registry collected data from 54,782 TAVI procedures performed in the United States from 2012 to 2015. The volume of annual TAVI procedures increased from 4,627 to 24,808 in this time window (17). While the median STS-PROM decreased from 7.1 to 6.3% (2012 vs. 2015, p < 0.001), a subsequent decline of 30-day mortality (7.5% [2012] vs. 4.6% [2015], p < 0.0001), stroke (2.3% [2012] vs. 1.9% [2015], p = 0.0264), or moderate/severe PVL (2012:10.8% [2012] vs. 6.2% [2015], p < 0.0001) was observed (17).

A shift in patients' disease severity and advancements in procedural and technical aspects over the past years have most likely contributed to these consistent improvements of outcomes after TAVI. However, a comparison of treatment modalities from these registries' results is impeded by very different risk profiles in the treatment groups, calling for appropriate randomized trials.

Randomized Trials

In addition to several real-world registries, few comprehensive but highly selective—industry-sponsored trials evaluated outcomes after TAVI in different risk categories (see **Table 1** for selected results, Figure for risk profile). Results of intermediate risk trials are discussed in the following.

The first randomized trial to evaluate TAVI in low to intermediate risk patients was the Nordic STACCATO trial. It started patient recruitment as early as 2008 and aimed to compare transapical TAVI to SAVR in operable patients \geq 75 years of age (18). Due to an excess of serious adverse events in the transapical TAVI arm, the study was prematurely terminated after inclusion of 70 patients. The trial was heavily criticized for its design, including only a transapical TAVI arm.

One year later, the NOTION (Nordic Aortic Valve Intervention) trial (9) started recruitment. NOTION randomized 280 patients \geq 70 years of age with severe aortic stenosis to TAVI with the Medtronic CoreValve THV or SAVR at three Nordic centers (TAVI:145 patients; SAVR: 135 patients). Mean STS-PROM was 2.9 \pm 1.6% in TAVI and 3.1 \pm 1.7% in SAVR patients. The access route was transfermeral in 96.5% of TAVI cases. The

composite primary endpoint (all-cause mortality, stroke or myocardial infarction) and all-cause mortality were similar in both groups (13.1% [TAVI] vs. 16.3% [SAVR] and 4.9% [TAVI] vs. 7.5% [SAVR], p = 0.38). Periprocedural complications differed according to treatment arm with an access of major/lifethreatening bleeding (11.3% [TAVI]) vs. 20.9 [SAVR]), acute kidney injury stage 3 (0.7% [TAVI] vs. 6.7% [SAVR]), and new-onset or worsening atrial fibrillation (16.9 [TAVI] vs. 57.8% [SAVR], p < 0.001) in the SAVR arm. Rates of permanent pacemaker implantation (34.1% [TAVI] vs. 1.6% [SAVR], p < 0.001) and PVL (moderate/severe at 1 year: 15.7% [TAVI] vs. 0.9% [SAVR]) were observed more frequently in patients treated with TAVI. At the same time, transvalvular gradients and effective orifice areas were in favor of TAVI treatment. Recent 5-year data confirmed non-inferiority of TAVI compared to SAVR regarding the composite endpoint (TAVI: 39.2%; SAVR 35.8%; p = 0.78) (2) and the 5-year all-cause mortality of 27.7% was the lowest 5-year mortality rate ever reported in a TAVI population. NOTION was the first prospective randomized trial to generate data on TAVI in intermediate to low risk patients. However, the small sample size and the large rate of screening failures challenge the "all-comers" character of the trial.

At a larger scale, the PARTNER 2A trial randomized 2,032 patients with intermediate surgical risk (STS-PROM score 4-8% and heart team consensus) to either TAVI with the balloonexpandable SAPIEN XT or SAVR (10). The mean STS-PROM was 5.8% and almost twice as high as in the NOTION trial. The composite endpoint at 2 years (all-cause death or disabling stroke) was non-inferior in patients treated with TAVI compared to SAVR (TAVI: 19.3%, SAVR: 21.1%, p = 0.25). A subsequent subgroup analysis even demonstrated superiority for the transfemoral cohort compared to SAVR (16.3 vs. 20%, p = 0.04). At 2 years of follow-up, a higher incidence of lifethreatening/disabling bleeding (47.0 vs. 17.3%, p < 0.001), acute kidney injury stage 3 (6.2 vs. 3.8%, p = 0.02), and new onset atrial fibrillation (27.3 vs. 11.3%, p < 0.001) were reported after SAVR while patients after TAVI had a higher risk for major vascular complications (8.6 vs. 5.5%, p = 0.006). Interestingly, rates of permanent pacemaker implantations were not significantly different in both groups in this trial. An overall faster recovery and shorter hospitalization (in-hospital: median 6 vs. 9 days, ICU: median 2 vs. 4 days, p < 0.001 for both) were observed after TAVI. While lower transprosthetic gradients were reported in the TAVI arm, the rate of moderate/severe PVL was significantly higher compared to SAVR (8.0 vs. 0.6%, p < 0.001) and a trend towards more aortic valve re-interventions was observed after TAVI at 2 years (1.4 vs. 0.6%, p = 0.09). This observation has to be followed closely as the TAVI indication is expanded to younger patients. Of note, 14.5% of patients in the SAVR arm underwent concomitant coronary artery bypass graft surgery for significant coronary artery disease.

After a recruitment period of almost 4 years, the SURTAVI trial (8) recently reported results of 1,764 patients at intermediate surgical risk (predicted 30-day operative mortality 3–15%). The mean STS-Score was $4.5 \pm 1.6\%$ and thus in between the PARTNER 2A and NOTION trials. Patients were randomized 1:1 to TAVI with the self-expanding CoreValve or CoreValve Evolut

R prostheses and SAVR. The primary endpoint, a composite of all-cause death and disabling stroke at 2 years, was similar in both treatment arms (12.6% [TAVI] vs. 14% [SAVR], 95%CI -5.2 to 2.3%). Again, higher rates of acute kidney injury (4.4 vs. 1.7%), new onset atrial fibrillation (43.4 vs. 12.9%), and transfusion requirements (41.1 vs. 12.5%) were observed after SAVR. While hemodynamic measures were in favor of TAVI (transprosthetic gradients, effective orifice area), the incidence of PVL (moderate/severe at 1 year: 5.3 vs. 0.6%) and the need for pacemaker implantation (25.9 vs. 6.6%) were lower after SAVR. Quality of life at 2 years was similar in both groups. Aortic valve reintervention was reported more often after TAVI (2.7 vs. 0.7% at 2 years), although no structural valve deterioration was found in either group.

Currently Active Intermediate to Low Risk Trials

Building on the results of intermediate-risk trials and registries named above, several prospective randomized trials are currently active, either recruiting patients or in follow-up, to evaluate outcomes after TAVI in patients at low to intermediate operative risk. The results of these trials will determine future guideline recommendations on the treatment of aortic stenosis in low to intermediate risk patients (see **Table 2** for major characteristics of these trials).

The PARTNER 3 trial (clinicaltrials.gov NCT02675114) randomly assigns 1,328 patients with low surgical risk (STS-PROM<4%) to TAVI with the Sapien 3 device or SAVR. Patients will be followed for 10 years and the primary endpoint is a composite of all-cause mortality, stroke and rehospitalization at 1 year. Results of the primary endpoint are expected to be presented in 2019.

The Medtronic TAVR low risk trial (clinicaltrials.gov NCT02701283) includes 1,200 patients with an STS-PROM<3%. Patients are randomized to TAVI with the CoreValve or CoreValve Evolut R self-expandable THV or SAVR. Patients will be followed for 10 years and the primary endpoint is a composite of all-cause mortality or disabling stroke at 2 years.

While both studies are industry-sponsored and limited to one THV, two additional investigator-initiated trials have been initiated:

The Nordic NOTION-2 trial (clinicaltrials.gov NCT02825134) aims to randomize 992 low risk patients (STS<4%, \leq 75 years) to TAVI with any CE-marked device or SAVR. Due to the exclusion of elderly patients, this trial will particularly gain important insights into outcomes of TAVI in younger patients at low risk. Interestingly, combined procedures (SAVR and concomitant CABG or TAVI and PCI) are also included in the trial. The primary endpoint is a composite of all-cause mortality, stroke or myocardial infarction at 1 year. The trial is investigator-initiated but industry-funded.

The DEDICATE trial (DEDICATE-DZHK6, clinicaltrials.gov NCT03112980) is multicenter investigator-initiated and industry-independent study. It is funded by the DZHK (German Center for Cardiovascular Research), the Deutsche Herzstiftung e.V., and supported by German health insurance providers. Overall 1,600 patients at low to intermediate surgical risk (STS-PROM 2–6%) will be included. As opposed to previous trial designs, DEDICATE aims to investigate a true all-comers patient population and evaluate real-world outcomes. After 1:1 randomization to either TAVI or SAVR, the remaining treatment decisions (e.g. access route, THV type, periprocedural treatment, etc.) are left to the interdisciplinary heart team. All CE-marked devices can be utilized to avoid any potential device-based bias. To account for the increasing importance of long-term data in low risk patients, the primary endpoint was chosen as overall survival after 5 years. Low to intermediate risk patients undergoing aortic valve treatment at the study sites who are not included in the randomized trial will be captured in a nested registry to evaluate an all-comers population.

All of these active trials will add significantly to the current evidence for TAVI in intermediate to low risk patients and allow first insights into long-term results on a broad basis.

REMAINING CHALLENGES

Within the last decade, TAVI has become the standard of care for high-risk patients with severe and symptomatic AS. It has increasingly been performed in intermediate and also low-risk patients more recently. Particularly for younger and low-risk patients, additional challenges need to be addressed:

Valve Durability and Function

The unresolved issue of long-term valve durability is probably the key challenge in expanding TAVI to lower risk and younger age patients. Longitudinal echocardiographic evaluation of the PARTNER trials (PARTNER 1A, 1B, and continued access) demonstrated stable hemodynamic results after TAVI over 5 years of follow-up (19). Similar results were reported in other series and for self-expanding transcatheter heart valves (20). Recently results from the Nordic NOTION trial confirmed not only robust hemodynamic data over 5 years of follow-up but also favorable hemodynamics after TAVI compared to SAVR (2). Particularly in patients with smaller aortic annuli, TAVI may yield a lower incidence of patient-prosthesis mismatch, compared to SAVR. However, increased rates of PVL were consistently observed after TAVI compared to SAVR. Due to an adverse effect of significant paravalvular leakage on survival (10), reduction of residual regurgitation will be essential to improve long-term outcomes. Although progress has been made to reduce residual AR after TAVI in recent studies with next-generation devices (21), further improvements will be required to match data from SAVR cohorts.

Additionally, subclinical leaflet thrombosis, its effects on hemodynamic and clinical results need to be evaluated due to a significantly higher incidence after TAVI compared to SAVR (22). Overall, the incidence of structural valve degeneration and aortic valve re-intervention were low but will naturally become an issue as follow-up length and patient numbers increase. Recently published definitions of prosthesis degeneration may aid comprehensive analysis of this important topic (23, 24). To eliminate durability concerns after TAVI, very solid durability data available for surgical bioprostheses over the course of more than a decade will need to be matched (25). Voigtländer and Seiffert

	DEDICATE	NOTION 2	PARTNER 3	CoreValve low risk
Reference/NCT number	Clinicaltrials.gov/NCT03112980	Clinicaltrials.gov/NCT02825134	Clinicaltrials.gov/NCT02675114	Clinicaltrials.gov/NCT02701283
Study start date	2017	2016	2016	2016
Study status	Recruiting	Recruiting	Recruiting	Recruiting
Estimated study completion date	2024	2024	2027	2026
Patients' risk profile	STS-PROM 2-6%	Patient age \leq 75 years and STS-PROM $<$ 4%	STS-PROM <4%	Operative risk <3%
Study arms	TAVI* vs. SAVR* (1:1 randomization)	TAVI* vs. SAVR* (1:1 randomization)	TAVI (SAPIEN 3) vs. SAVR* (1:1 randomization)	TAVI (CoreValve Evolut R) vs. SAVR* (1:1 randomization)
Estimated enrollment	1,600	992	1,328	1,200
Primary Outcome	Efficacy endpoint: Overall survival at 5 years	All-cause mortality, myocardial infarction or stroke at 1 year	All-cause mortality, stroke, or re-hospitalization at 1 year	All-cause mortality or disabling stroke at 2 years
	 Safety endpoint: Overall survival at 1 year and 196 deaths (event-driven) 			
Follow up time	5 years	1 year	10 years	10 years
Listed location countries	Germany	Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, Sweden	Australia, Canada, Japan, New Zealand, United States	Australia, Canada, France, Netherlands, New Zealand, Switzerland, United States
Study sponsor and collaborators	University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf	Rigshospitalet, Denmark Symetis SA, Boston Scientific Corporation, St. Jude Medical	Edwards Lifesciences	Medtronic Cardiovascular
	German Center for Cardiovascular Research (DZHK)			

TABLE 2 Overview of currently active randomized trials on TAVI vs. SAVR in low to intermediate risk patients with severe aortic stenosis.

SAVR, surgical aortic valve replacement; STS-PROM, Society of Thoracic Surgeons predicted risk of operative mortality; TAVI, transcatheter aortic valve intervention; *Any commercially available or CE marked device. Information up-to-date as available on clinicaltrials.gov on June 10th, 2018.

Nevertheless, degeneration of THV will occur at some point in patient life, leading to either surgical valve replacement or valve-in-valve procedures. Valve-in-valve procedures have demonstrated encouraging results in patients with degenerated surgical aortic bioprostheses (26). Whether these results can be systematically achieved for valve-in-valve procedures in degenerated THV needs to be demonstrated. Different design features of THV may yield variable results after valve-in-valve implantation, for example with regard to coronary access in degenerated supra-annular THV.

While moving towards younger patients, the prevalence of biscuspid aortic valve disease will inevitably increase. Data from retrospective registries demonstrated lower procedural success and higher residual PVL after TAVI in patients with bicuspid compared to tricuspid aortic valve disease (27–30). Implantation of new-generation devices yielded improved outcomes, giving rise to hope that TAVI may become a valid treatment option in bicuspid aortic valve disease in the future (30). Due to the paucity of data, guidelines favor SAVR in these patients at current (13).

Morbidity and Mortality

After early reports of increased stroke rates after TAVI (6), more recent trials have consistently demonstrated similar outcomes for mortality and stroke after TAVI or SAVR. However, distinct complication patterns have repeatedly been

reported for both treatment options (see Table 1). These need to be weighed against the individual patient's risk profile when choosing the optimal treatment modality. These include a higher incidences of acute kidney injury, bleeding events, and atrial fibrillation after SAVR. TAVI was associated with faster recovery and shorter index hospitalization but a higher rate of re-interventions or heart failure were documented during follow-up. Long-term results will be essential to gain further insights into these important first observations. While major vascular complications were common after transfemoral TAVI with first-generation devices (31), a significant decrease was observed in recently reported intermediate-risk trials (8-10). A shift in patients' risk and device refinements with smaller delivery systems and improved vascular closure devices may be responsible for this decline. Permanent pacemaker implantation remains a concern after TAVI, particularly with self-expanding THV. Although data remain ambiguous regarding the association of pacemaker implantation and outcome after TAVI at current (32, 33), this issue requires in-depth evaluation, particularly in the treatment of younger patients.

Although a major advantage of TAVI relates to the less invasive procedure compared to SAVR, the risk for rare but life-threatening complications after TAVI (e.g., annular rupture, valve migration, or coronary obstruction) requiring bail-out emergency cardiac surgery must be taken into account. Recently published data from the European Registry on Emergent Cardiac Surgery during TAVI (EuRECS-TAVI) reported an incidence of emergent cardiac surgery of 0.7% in recent years. Most common causes were left ventricular guidewire perforations (28.3%) and annular ruptures (21.2%). Most of these complications occurred during the procedure and mortality remained high despite emergent cardiac surgery (34). While these serious procedure-related complications were more frequent in the early TAVI era and have become very rare events at this stage (35), expansion of TAVI towards younger and low-risk patients requires an even more critical appraisal and all measures need to be taken to prevent these complications.

Cost-Effectiveness

With the rapid growth of TAVI volume, its implications on healthcare systems and its cost-effectiveness will become even more important, particularly while expanding TAVI indications to lower risk patients (36). An early analysis from the Netherlands demonstrated higher 1-years costs of TAVI vs. SAVR in intermediate-risk patients (37). This cost difference was mainly driven by the difference in device prices. A recent cost-effectiveness analysis from the Partner 2A and Sapien 3 trials reported lower costs at 2 years after TAVI (3). Higher procedural costs were compensated for by shorter hospitalization and substantially lower costs during follow-up. Regional and national differences in reimbursement and device costs impede

REFERENCES

- Lindroos M, Kupari M, Heikkilä J, Tilvis R. Prevalence of aortic valve abnormalities in the elderly: an echocardiographic study of a random population sample. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (1993) 21:1220–5. doi: 10.1016/0735-1097(93)90249-Z
- Thyregod HGH. Five-year outcomes from the all-comers Nordic Aortic Valve Intervention randomized clinical trial in patients with severe aortic valve stenosis. In: ACC 2018 - 67th Annual Scientific Sessions. Orlando, FL (2018).
- 3. Cohen DJ. Cost-effectiveness of transcatheter vs. surgical aortic valve replacement in intermediate risk patients. In: *Transcatheter Cardiovascular Therapeutic*. Denver, CO (2017).
- Cribier A, Eltchaninoff H, Bash A, Borenstein N, Tron C, Bauer F, et al. Percutaneous transcatheter implantation of an aortic valve prosthesis for calcific aortic stenosis: first human case description. *Circulation* (2002) 106:3006–8. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000047200.36165.B8
- Beckmann A, Funkat AK, Lewandowski J, Frie M, Ernst M, Hekmat K, et al. German Heart Surgery Report 2016: the annual updated registry of the german society for thoracic and cardiovascular surgery. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2017) 65:505–18. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1606603
- Smith CR, Leon MB, Mack MJ, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, et al. Transcatheter versus Surgical Aortic-Valve Replacement in High-Risk Patients. N Engl J Med. (2011) 364:2187–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1103510
- Adams DH, Popma JJ, Reardon MJ, Yakubov SJ, Coselli JS, Deeb GM, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement with a self-expanding prosthesis. N Engl J Med. (2014) 370:1790–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1400590
- Reardon MJ, Van Mieghem NM, Popma JJ, Kleiman NS, Søndergaard L, Mumtaz M, et al. Surgical or transcatheter aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:1321–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1700456
- 9. Thyregod HG, Steinbrüchel DA, Ihlemann N, Nissen H, Kjeldsen BJ, Petursson P, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve replacement in

generalization of these results. However, health economic analyses will gain importance as the field expands.

CONCLUSION

TAVI has become the standard treatment in patients at increased surgical risk and is increasingly being performed in patients at intermediate to low risk at current. Non-inferiority has been demonstrated in different intermediate risk cohorts. However, before broad expansion to lower risk and younger patients can be recommended, several challenges-particularly with regard to valve durability-need to be addressed. Several randomized trials are under way to investigate these issues and will determine future guideline recommendations. For now, distinct risks should be weighed into the decision of TAVI vs. SAVR, incorporating each patient's individual risk profile and personal preferences. Shared-decision making will increasingly become a crucial element in this process. Preferences of the informed patient should be discussed, balanced, and weighed into the joint treatment decision of the interdisciplinary heart team to select the appropriate treatment for every individual patient while expanding TAVI to intermediate and low risk operative patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LV: literature research, drafted the manuscript; MS: literature research, critical revision of the manuscript.

patients with severe aortic valve stenosis: one-year results from the all-comers Nordic Aortic Valve Intervention (NOTION) randomized clinical trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2015) 65:2184–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.03.014

- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack MJ, Makkar RR, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, et al. Transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2016) 374:1609–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1514616
- Dewey TM, Brown D, Ryan WH, Herbert MA, Prince SL, Mack MJ. Reliability of risk algorithms in predicting early and late operative outcomes in highrisk patients undergoing aortic valve replacement. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2008) 135:180–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2007.09.011
- Silaschi M, Conradi L, Seiffert M, Schnabel R, Schön G, Blankenberg S, et al. Predicting risk in transcatheter aortic valve implantation: comparative analysis of EuroSCORE II and established risk stratification tools. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2014) 63:472–8. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1389107
- Baumgartner H, Falk V, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, et al. 2017 ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2739–91. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx391
- Nishimura RA, Otto CM, Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Erwin JP III, Fleisher LA, et al. 2017 AHA/ACC focused update of the 2014 AHA/ACC guideline for the management of patients with valvular heart disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2017) 70:252–89. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.03.011
- Eggebrecht H, Mehta RH. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) in Germany 2008-2014: on its way to standard therapy for aortic valve stenosis in the elderly? *Eurointervention* (2016) 11:1029–33. doi: 10.4244/EIJY15 M09_11
- Walther T, Hamm CW, Schuler G, Berkowitsch A, Kötting J, Mangner N, et al. Perioperative results and complications in 15,964 transcatheter aortic valve replacements. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2015) 65:2173–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.03.034
- Grover FL, Vemulapalli S, Carroll JD, Edwards FH, Mack MJ, Thourani VH, et al. 2016 Annual Report of the Society of Thoracic Surgeons/American College of Cardiology Transcatheter Valve Therapy

Registry. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 69:1215-30. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.1 1.033

- Nielsen HH, Klaaborg KE, Nissen H, Terp K, Mortensen PE, Kjeldsen BJ, et al. A prospective, randomised trial of transapical transcatheter aortic valve implantation vs. surgical aortic valve replacement in operable elderly patients with aortic stenosis: the STACCATO trial. *Eurointervention* (2012) 8:383–9. doi: 10.4244/EJJV8I3A58
- Douglas PS, Leon MB, Mack MJ, Svensson LG, Webb JG, Hahn RT, et al. Longitudinal hemodynamics of transcatheter and surgical aortic valves in the PARTNER trial. *JAMA Cardiol.* (2017) 2:1197–206. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2017.3306
- Arora S, Ramm CJ, Strassle PD, Vaidya SR, Caranasos TG, Vavalle JP, et al. Review of major registries and clinical trials of late outcomes after transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Am J Cardiol.* (2017) 120:331–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2017.04.029
- Thourani VH, Kodali S, Makkar RR, Herrmann HC, Williams M, Babaliaros V, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement versus surgical valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients: a propensity score analysis. *Lancet* (2016) 387:2218–25. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30073-3
- Chakravarty T, Søndergaard L, Friedman J, De Backer O, Berman D, Kofoed KF, et al. Subclinical leaflet thrombosis in surgical and transcatheter bioprosthetic aortic valves: an observational study. *Lancet* (2017) 389:2383– 92. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30757-2
- Dvir D, Bourguignon T, Otto CM, Hahn RT, Rosenhek R, Webb JG, et al. Standardized definition of structural valve degeneration for surgical and transcatheter bioprosthetic aortic valves. *Circulation* (2018)137:388–99. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030729
- 24. Capodanno D, Petronio AS, Prendergast B, Eltchaninoff H, Vahanian A, Modine T, et al. Standardized definitions of structural deterioration and valve failure in assessing long-term durability of transcatheter and surgical aortic bioprosthetic valves: a consensus statement from the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interven. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:3382–90. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx244
- Johnston DR, Soltesz EG, Vakil N, Rajeswaran J, Roselli EE, Sabik JF III, et al. Long-term durability of bioprosthetic aortic valves: implications from 12,569 implants. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2015) 99:1239–47. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.10.070
- Dvir D, Webb JG, Bleiziffer S, Pasic M, Waksman R, Kodali S, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation in failed bioprosthetic surgical valves. *JAMA* (2014) 312:162–70. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.7246
- Bauer T, Linke A, Sievert H, Kahlert P, Hambrecht R, Nickenig G, et al. Comparison of the effectiveness of transcatheter aortic valve implantation in patients with stenotic bicuspid versus tricuspid aortic valves (from the German TAVI Registry). *Am J Cardiol.* (2014) 113:518–21. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.10.023
- Abdel-Wahab M, Zahn R, Horack M, Gerckens U, Schuler G, Sievert H, et al. Aortic regurgitation after transcatheter aortic valve implantation: incidence and early outcome. Results from the German transcatheter aortic valve interventions registry. *Heart* (2011) 97:899–906 doi: 10.1136/hrt.2010.217158
- 29. Mylotte D, Lefevre T, Søndergaard L, Watanabe Y, Modine T, Dvir D, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement in bicuspid aortic valve

disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 64:2330-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014. 09.039

- Yoon SH, Bleiziffer S, De Backer O, Delgado V, Arai T, Ziegelmueller J, et al. Outcomes in transcatheter aortic valve replacement for bicuspid versus tricuspid aortic valve stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 69:2579–89 (2017). doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.03.017
- Généreux P, Webb JG, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, Satler LF, Fearon WF, et al. Vascular complications after transcatheter aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 60:1043–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.07.003
- Nazif TM, Dizon JM, Hahn RT, Xu K, Babaliaros V, Douglas PS, et al. Predictors and clinical outcomes of permanent pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 8:60–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.07.022
- Buellesfeld L, Stortecky S, Heg D, Hausen S, Mueller R, Wenaweser P, et al. Impact of permanent pacemaker implantation on clinical outcome among patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2012) 60:493–501. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012. 03.054
- 34. Eggebrecht H, Vaquerizo B, Moris C, Bossone E, Lämmer J, Czerny M, et al. Incidence and outcomes of emergent cardiac surgery during transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI): insights from the European Registry on Emergent Cardiac Surgery during TAVI (EuRECS-TAVI). *Eur Heart J.* (2018) 39:676–84. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx713
- 35. Wendler O, Schymik G, Treede H, Baumgartner H, Dumonteil N, Ihlberg L, et al. SOURCE 3 registry: design and 30-day results of the European postapproval registry of the latest generation of the SAPIEN 3 Transcatheter heart valve. *Circulation* (2017) 135:1123–32. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.025103
- Reynolds MR, Baron SJ, Cohen DJ. Economic implications of transcatheter aortic valve replacement in patients at intermediate surgical risk. *Circulation* (2016) 134:1416–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.0 21962
- Osnabrugge RL, Head SJ, Genders TS, Van Mieghem NM, De Jaegere PP, van der Boon RM, et al. Costs of transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2012) 94:1954– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.07.002

Conflict of Interest Statement: MS received travel compensation from Edwards Lifesciences and lecture fees from Medtronic, serves as coordinating investigator for the DEDICATE-DZHK6 trial.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Voigtländer and Seiffert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Access Sites for TAVI: Patient Selection Criteria, Technical Aspects, and Outcomes

Luigi Biasco^{1*†}, Enrico Ferrari^{2†}, Giovanni Pedrazzini¹, Francesco Faletra¹, Tiziano Moccetti¹, Francesco Petracca¹ and Marco Moccetti¹

¹ Division of Cardiology, Fondazione Cardiocentro Ticino, Lugano, Switzerland, ² Division of Cardiovascular Surgery, Fondazione Cardiocentro Ticino, Lugano, Switzerland

During the last ten years, transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) has become a reliable and valid alternative treatment for elderly patients with severe symptomatic aortic valve stenosis requiring valve replacement and being at high or intermediate surgical risk. While common femoral arteries are the access site of choice in the vast majority of TAVI patients, in up to 15–20% of TAVI candidates this route might be precluded due to the presence of diffuse atherosclerotic disease, tortuosity or small vessel diameter. Therefore, in order to achieve an antegrade or retrograde implant, several alterative access routes have been described, namely trans-axillary, trans-aortic, trans-apical, trans-carotid, trans-septal, and trans-caval. The aim of this paper is to give a concise overview on vascular access sites for TAVI, with a particular focus on patient's selection criteria, imaging, technical aspects, and clinical outcome.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Crochan John O'Sullivan, Triemli Hospital, Switzerland

Reviewed by: Paolo Denti.

San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Moritz Seiffert, University Heart Center Hamburg GmbH, Germany

> *Correspondence: Luigi Biasco luigi.biasco@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 16 April 2018 Accepted: 19 June 2018 Published: 17 July 2018

Citation:

Biasco L, Ferrari E, Pedrazzini G, Faletra F, Moccetti T, Petracca F and Moccetti M (2018) Access Sites for TAVI: Patient Selection Criteria, Technical Aspects, and Outcomes. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:88. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00088 Keywords: TAVI, trans-axillary, trans-aortic, trans-apical, trans-carotid, trans-septal, trans-caval, access

INTRODUCTION

Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) has gained prime time as the preferred treatment for elderly patients suffering from severe symptomatic aortic valve stenosis and at high or intermediate risk for standard surgery (1). During the last decade, cardiac centers have faced a continuously increasing number of TAVI procedures that overtook, in some countries, the number of standard surgical aortic valve replacements (2).

Experience acquired in this setting suggests that procedural success is achieved through an accurate pre-procedural evaluation, a perfect matching between commercially available prostheses and the peculiar anatomical characteristics of TAVI patients, technical implant skills of the TAVI team and a tailored choice of access options, the latter representing one of the most critical points.

The trans-femoral access represents the preferred route in the vast majority of TAVI patients because of its minimal invasiveness and the possibility to perform the procedure under conscious sedation without intubation. Increased expertise and technical advancements lead to a significant reduction of major access site-related vascular complications that occur, nowadays, in <10% of cases.

Due to its wide diffusion and feasibility, the trans-femoral access is the preferred route in the majority of the clinical trials and is recommended as first choice by all guidelines and consensus documents (1–5).

Nonetheless, data from randomized clinical trials (3-7) and registries (8-14) clearly show that the trans-femoral access might be precluded in up to 25-30% of TAVI patients due to the

presence of severe arterial disease (Figure 1). In particular, obstructive peripheral vascular disease, femoro-iliac tortuosity, aortic atheromas, or the presence of previously implanted arterial grafts can seriously limit the possibility of a transfemoral access (Figure 2).

Beside technical aspects, the choice of the access in TAVI seems to be independently associated with an impact on prognosis, in particular in the case of the trans-apical approach, when manipulation of the left ventricular apex is needed (14, 15). This evidence highlights the priority of an appropriate access route selection in TAVI. So far, several alternative options for antegrade or retrograde TAVI procedures have been described, namely the trans-femoral, trans-axyllarian, trans-aortic, trans-apical, trans-carotid, trans-septal, and trans-caval. Nonetheless, no randomized comparisons are so far available, thus the choice is often based on data derived from retrospective analyses of national registries as well as on local experience.

In this report we give a concise overview on accesses for TAVI, with a particular focus on patient's selection criteria, technical aspects and clinical outcome.

FEMORAL ACCESS

The common femoral artery represents the preferred access in the vast majority of TAVI procedures. This route allows a fullypercutaneous TAVI under conscious sedation/local anesthesia. Careful procedural planning and accurate choice of the proper site for vascular puncture are keys for procedural success.

Patient's Selection and Planning

While obtaining the femoral access is technically easy, planning a successful procedure through this route might be demanding and time consuming. Unplanned (or angio-only guided) femoral access should be avoided whenever possible, this representing a potential risk of severe vascular complications. A detailed reconstruction of the arterial route along with precise aortic annular dimensions can be obtained at CT scan analysis, adding invaluable data about the feasibility of different approaches.

As a standard protocol in our center, patients referred for TAVR undergo an angio CT-scan and a 3D reconstruction extending from the aortic annulus to the superficial femoral artery with commercially available software packages (e.g., 3mensio structural Heart, Pie Medical Imaging, Maastricht, The Netherlands). The relationship of the vessels, in particular of the bifurcation, with the femoral head should be carefully evaluated. In selected cases, the angiographic reconstruction will help to perform a fluoro-guided puncture of the artery with no or minimal contrast injection (**Figure 3**).

While analyzing the common femoral and iliac arteries, particular attention should be paid to their caliber (that has to exceed at least 5.5 mm, ideally 6.5 mm for a 18F delivery system) and to the presence and extension of atherosclerotic plaques, calcifications as well as to the degree and extension of tortuosity. When calcifications are concentric, located anywhere from the aorto iliac bifurcation to the femoral bifurcation, even in the presence of vessels of good caliber, this could represent a potential contraindication for the trans-femoral access and the need for alternative accesses should be discussed within the Heart Team.

A good estimation of the caliber of the iliac artery is of paramount importance in balloon size selection when transient occlusion is needed in bailout situations.

Beside detailed analysis of the iliiac-femoral arteries, a cautious exploration of the aorta should be performed as well in order to identify potential challenges such as tortuosity, presence of aneurysms, thrombotic appositions, or aortic arch calcifications. All these anatomic features are potential sources of embolization or causes of vascular rupture/dissection when large catheters are inserted and, therefore, can be considered as relative contraindications for a transfemoral approach.

Technical Aspects

When deemed suitable for transcutaneous access, an optimal puncture site is then identified (**Figures 3A,B**) in the segment of the common femoral artery extending between the inferior epigastric artery and the distal portion of the common femoral artery, ideally 1 cm above the femoral bifurcation (**Figure 3C**). In case of vascular complications, the most common being failure of the vascular closure device; having enough distance from the femoral bifurcation will allow the placement of a covered stent or, in alternative, a safe surgical isolation and repair.

In presence of an anterior calcification of the femoral artery, attention should be paid when percutaneous suturebased vascular closure devices (e.g., Perclose, Prostar, both from Abbot medical) are meant to be used, because their efficacy might be reduced. In those cases, surgical cut down with or without surgical endarterectomy or alternative access, should be considered.

When performing a transcutaneous femoral artery puncture for TAVR, we almost invariably try to roadmap the route. For this purpose a selective angiography with a pigtail inserted by the contralateral access through a cross-over technique is used (Figures 4A-C). Then, the needle is directed toward the middle of the pigtail, and the arterial wall is punctured on its anterior aspect (Figure 4D). This will minimize the risk of vascular injury and enhance the success rate of percutaneous closure devices as well. While in the first TAVI series the Prostar was widely adopted, nowadays vascular preclosure with two Perclose/Proglide (Abbot Medical) devices inserted on the medial (2 o'clock) and lateral (11 o'clock) aspect of the arterial wall are used in the vast majority of transfemoral cases. When using this technique, attention should be paid in removing the contralateral pigtail before the insertion of the closure devices in order to prevent the entrapment of the catheter, a complication requireing surgical removal (Figure 4E). In some centers, omolateral injections using micropuncture needles (3F) are used to identify the optimal site. In obese patients with deep femoral arteries (i.e., >8 cm from the skin) as well as in cases with anterior calcifications, surgical cut down or alternative accesses should be considered. At case completion, when doubting about the efficacy of the preclosure devices implanted, a good tip to keep in mind is to perform a crossover from the contralateral femoral artery before removing the main sheath. This will allow to position a safety wire in the iliac/femoral artery that could be used rapidly for balloon occlusion and, eventually, to deliver a covered stent.





FIGURE 2 | Three dimensional angio CT reconstruction obtained with the 3mensio software in a patient with severe aortic stenosis referred for TAVI (A). Snake view of the aorta and right iliacofemoral arteries (B) clearly shows diffuse calcific atherosclerotic disease precluding trans-femoral route. (C) shows diffuse tortuosity of the iliac arteries, while (D) the incidental finding of an infrarenal abdominal aneurysm. All the above mentioned findings might preclude a transfemoral approach.

Outcome Data

Increased awareness of operators regarding the intrinsic difficulties of the femoral access in TAVI associated with

technological advancements such as the progressive reduction of the caliber of the vascular sheaths and delivery systems has led to a perceivable reduction in the occurrence of major vascular



FIGURE 3 | Three dimensional reconstruction of the arterial system (A) and cross section of the common right femoral artery at the optimal puncture site (B). The artery shows a good caliber (exceeding 6.5 mm as evident from the yellow circle) and no calcifications. Moderate tortuosity of the superficial iliac artery is evident at both 3 D and angio reconstruction (C). In particular, the angio reconstruction allows for the fluoro guided detection of the optimal access site, based on its relationship with the femoral head.



FIGURE 4 | Step by step approach for the transfermoral access. Once the common femoral artery has been deemed suitable for a trans-femoral approach due to the good caliber and the lack of anterior calcifications, the relationships with the femoral head (inferior border of the femoral head is highlighted in red), observed at the angio reconstruction, have to be described (A). Through a contralateral crossover, the pigtail is inserted in the common right femoral artery (B) and its position confirmed by contrast injection (C). Vessel puncture aiming at the anterior aspect of the femoral artery is then performed (D). Particular attention has to be paid in removing the pigtail before inserting the suture based closure devices with the consequent risk of catheter jailing and need for surgical removal (E).

complications, declined from above 10% in early PARTNER trials to about 6% in the more recent SURTAVI, NOTION and COREVALVE high risk trials (3–7). These data are in line with real-life data reported from national registries [(8–14), **Table 1**].

TRANS-AXILLARY/TRANS-SUBCLAVIAN ACCESS

The subclavian artery is the terminal branch of the brachiocephalic artery. For the purpose of a retrograde TAVI implant, the right axillary/subclavian artery is rarely (if not ever) used due to the anatomy of the vessel leading to an unfavorable implantation angle. The left subclavian artery arises as the third branch of the aortic arch after the left common carotid artery, and exits the thorax from the superior thoracic aperture between the anterior and middle scalene muscles before passing between the first rib and the clavicle. At the lateral border of the first rib it continues as the axillary artery. The proximal third of the axillary artery (i.e., between the lateral border of the first rib and the medial border of the pectoralis minor) represents the ideal target for both surgical and percutaneous approaches (**Figures 5A,B**).

Patient's Selection and Planning

Trans-axillary approach represents a valid option in 5-10% of patients referred for transarterial retrograde TAVI (32) and, in many centers, is considered the second option when transfemoral TAVI is not feasible. Currently available software for CT-scan analysis allows a semi-automated 3D reconstruction of the axillary and subclavian arteries. As for the femoral approach, caliber (>6.5 mm), calcifications, tortuosity and anatomical relationships with side branches have to be taken into account. Particular attention should be paid to the aortic take-off of the subclavian artery, a typical site of atherosclerotic calcific plaque apposition.

Worth to mention is the different histological structure of the axillary and subclavian arteries when compared to the femoral artery. In fact, the subclavian, and axillary arteries are of the elastic type while the femoral is of the muscular type with a media containing smooth muscle cells instead of elastic fibers and a thicker, and more fibrous, adventitia (33). Those characteristics predispose this access to vascular complications such as ruptures or dissections. For these reasons, in the presence of a patent right internal mammarian artery to left anterior descending artery, the use of this access has been questioned due to the increased risk of vascular complication leading to the potentially lethal acute graft occlusion.

Technical Aspects

Transaxillarian approach was usually performed through a surgical cut down (**Figure 5C**), but the feasibility of a full percutaneous approach has been demonstrated (33).

When performing a surgical cut down, a 6–7 cm incision 1 cm below and parallel to the clavicle from the mid clavicular line to the axillary line is performed. Then, the pectoralis major muscle is dissected along its fibers, the pectoralis minor is retracted, and vessels are exposed. Attention is required to not damage to the nervous structures of the brachial plexus. Once isolated, a single or double purse string suture is placed on the subclavian artery and access to lumen is achieved by means of a direct puncture. In selected cases, a 10-12 cm Dacron vascular graft can be anastomosed end-to-side to the subclavian artery with and a standard large femoral sheath (>18F), custom modified by cutting the distal portion in order to allow to accommodate the sheath inside the vascular graft without extending its distal edge into the subclavian artery (34) (Figures 5D,E). This modified technique avoids extensive manipulation of the artery in case of borderline vascular diameter allowing a safe implantation even in patients with patent left internal mammary artery to the left anterior descending coronary artery.

A fully percutaneuos approach was described by Schäfer et al. in 2012 as the "Hamburg Sankt Georg Approach" (33). The axillary artery was landmarked with a regular J-wire and punctured below the clavicula to allow manual compression and reduce the risk of pneumothorax. Subsequently, the procedure was carried out as for the trans-femoral access. In their report, vascular complications significantly decreased when two Proglide (Abbott Vascular Devices) were used instead of a ProStar (Abbott

•					
Access	Procedural success(%)	30 D mortality	Major and life-threatening bleeding	Neurological events (TIA/Stroke)	New pacemaker implantation (%)
Trans-femoral (3–14)	95–100	2.1–5% [‡] 5.2–9.7% [†]	9.3–28.1% [‡] 3.5–11.4% [†]	1.4–6.7% (30 days stroke) 2.3–4.1% (1 year stroke)	3.4–34.1 5.9–20.1
Trans-axyllarian (16)	97.9	5.7%	7.8% life threatening 36.2% major bleeding	2.1%	24.7
Trans-Aortic (17–24)	87-100	6.1-13%	0.3–12%	0-3.2%	0-14
Trans-Apical (13, 25–28)	90–96	4.6-14%	3.6-6.1%	1.3-4.1%	5.4-11.0
Trans-Carotid (29)	100	6.3%	4.2%	3.1% (all TIAs, stroke not reported)	26.5
Trans-Caval (30, 31)	100	8%	12% (6% transcaval related)	5%	16

[‡]Data derived from Partner A, Partner B, Partner II, Notion and SURTAVI trials. [†]Data derived from TVT, Gary, UK TAVI, Observant and France2 registries.



FIGURE 5 | Anatomy of the subclavian and axillary artery (A) and its relationship with the clavicle, the first rib and the medial border of the pectoralis minor. The first segment of the axillary artery (comprised between the two red lines) is usually the target for both surgical or percutaneous approaches. (B) shows the angiographic anatomy of the subclavian and axillary artery. (C) reports the surgical cut down for axillary artery with the vessel isolated by two yellow rubber bands. (D) shows a "Chimney approach" performed by means of a 15 cm × 8 mm GelwaveTM prosthesis, a gelatin sealed woven polyester peripheral vascular graft and a Check-FIoVR PerformerTM 18 F Cook sheath (length 35 cm), routinely used for the transfemoral modified by cutting the distal portion in order to obtain an approximate length of 10–12 cm that could allow to accommodate the sheath inside the vascular graft without extending its distal edge into the axillary artery. (E) shows the navigation of a Medtronic Corevalve delivery system through the left subclavian artery.

Vascular Devices, Redwood City, California). At completion of the case, closure of the axillary artery was achieved with the preimplanted vascular closure devices, while a peripheral balloon was always advanced in the subclavian artery to control possible bleedings.

Self-expandable prostheses are chosen in the vast majority of cases performed through this access, mainly the Medtronic Corevalve, while balloon expandable devices have been used only in selected cases.

Outcome Data

Trans-axillary approach has shown to be non-inferior to the femoral approach in terms of procedural and medium-term results in a propensity matched comparison derived from the Italian national registry (16). Both groups showed comparable rates of procedural success (subclavian 97.9 vs. femoral 96.5%, p = ns), major vascular complications (5.0 vs. 7.8%, p = ns) and life-threatening bleeding (7.8 vs. 5.7%, p = ns). Freedom from cardiovascular death as well as survival at 2 years was also comparable between the two groups, providing strong support to the use of this approach as a valid alternative to the trans-femoral access.

DIRECT TRANSAORTIC ACCESS

The direct transaortic TAVI has been originally reported by Bapat in 2012 (17, 18). The new concept behind this first report was

the use of the short transapical TAVI delivery system for the retrograde TAVI implant through the ascending aorta. Since its advent, the trans-aortic technique was well accepted by heart teams and it has become a valid option in case of severe vascular disease impeding trans-femoral TAVI (19–24). Both balloon-expandable and self-expandable prostheses are currently used with good results. Some dedicated delivery systems are commercially available, but standard trans-femoral systems can be used, adopting some tricks in room set-up (long delivery systems requiring good support).

Patient's Selection and Planning

Most of the patients selected for TAVI are in fact eligible for a direct trans-aortic access with few exclusions, basically represented by the presence of thorax deformities, very short ascending aorta, porcelain aorta and the presence of a patent venous coronary artery bypass graft with proximal anastomosis on the ascending aorta at risk of damage. When facing a severely atherosclerotic aortic arch (with a good ascending portion), the direct aortic access might represent a good choice. This will allow to avoid extensive manipulation of an atherosclerotic aortic arch with the consequent risk of hembolization. In case a trans-aortic TAVI is planned, a careful evaluation of the quality of the aortic wall area where the purse string sutures will be placed (free of calcium for at least 1 square cm) is mandatory (**Figures 6A,B**). This is usually performed at CT-scan analysis, and for this purpose, a native contrast-free scan can be enough.



FIGURE 6 | (A) shows a 3D reconstruction of the left ventricle, aortic valve and ascending aorta in a patient with severe aortic stenosis. Lack of anterior calcifications of the aortic walls allowed for a transaortic approach. (B) shows an a case of a patients with extensive anterior aortic calcifications, a potential contra-indication for trans-aortic puncture. (C) the distance between the aortic entry site and the aortic valve annulus is of paramount importance for the valve release. A minimal distance of 6 cm is required for small delivery systems. The larger the valve size, the longer will be the length for delivery system retrieval.

Then, the trajectory between the entry site and the aortic valve annulus has to be considered in order to allow a perfect alignment between the delivery system and the native aortic valve. An "horizontal" ascending aorta (i.e., with an angle $>70^{\circ}$) requires more banding of the delivery system with the subsequent risk of valve malalignment. Additionally, in order to allow the complete release of the valve, the aortic entry should be at least 6 cm between the above the aortic annulus (**Figure 6C**).

Technical Aspects

The right antero-lateral mini-thoracotomy at second intercostal space and the direct trans-aortic TAVI through an upper mini-sternotomy requires a different set-up of the cath lab as compared to the traditional trans-femoral access. First, the fluoroscopy arm is placed at patient's left side with cardiac surgeon and cardiologist standing together at the patient's right side. Compared to the mini-sternotomy, the advantage of the right mini-thoracotomy is represented by a lateral entry site into aortic lumen (right side) allowing for a straight trajectory of the delivery system through the stenotic aortic, with a consequent reduced risk of aortic damage.

Trans-aortic TAVI can be successfully performed with the Edwards Sapien balloon-expandable valve, using the dedicated trans-apical delivery system (valve mounted with the tissue skirt toward the tip of the delivery system) as well as with the Corevalve system (19–24). Other devices such as the transfemoral Boston Lotus, the trans-femoral Accurate Neo Symetis and the St Jude Portico valve systems have been rarely used by the trans-apical route.

Due to the invasiveness of the approach, procedures are invariably performed under general anesthesia and the mechanical ventilation is obtained with a single or a double lumen endotracheal tube.

In the case the right antero-lateral mini-thoracotomy is choosen, a 5-8 cm long incision is usually performed at the right second intercostal space, parallel to the right clavicle, and muscles are gently dissected. If possible, mammary vessels should not be damaged. The pleural space is opened and the lung is either deflated (with a double-lumen tube) or displaced in order to identify the pericardium at the level of the ascending aorta. Ribs are retracted, the pericardium is opened and stay sutures are placed to expand the surgical field and pull the ascending aorta toward the operators. To identify the entry site, the ascending aorta is gently manipulated for calcium detection or a Doppler probe is used for the same purpose. The distance between the entry site and the aortic annulus is confirmed with a graduated pigtail catheter placed against the non-coronary aortic cusps under fluoroscopy. Two 3-0 or 4-0 polypropylene purse-string sutures reinforced by pledgets are placed at the entry site on the lateral wall of the ascending aorta. The ascending aorta is then punctured within the purse-string sutures and a soft guidewire is advanced toward the aortic valve, allowing for a standard valve implant. In case the trans-aortic TAVI is performed through an upper mini-sternotomy, the incision (5-8 cm) is carried out along the mid line of the thorax and the upper part of the sternum is sawed to reach the cranial portion of the ascending aorta. Once a sternal spreader is in place and the pericardium is opened, placement of the purse string sutures follows the same rules of the mini-thoracotomy but entry site is at a more more anterior. The advantage of an upper mini-sternotomy is that pleural spaces are not open. Full sternotomy is usually performed in highrisk patients requiring combined procedures such as off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting and/or tricuspid valve repair on cardiopulmonary bypass and beating heart can be considered in selected cases (35-37). The device insertion is similar to the upper mini-sternotomy.



FIGURE 7 | Procedural steps in trans-apical approach. (A) surgical incision at the left fifth intercostal space and, after placement of a rib retractor and opening pericardium the apex is exposed. (B) Purse-string sutures reinforced by pledgets are placed at the apex and stabilized with a Tourniquet. (C) after apex is punctured within the purse-string sutures and a soft guidewire is advanced with an antegrade approach toward the aortic valve and positioned in the ascending aorta. Then, a conventional 18F sheath is advanced in the left ventricular cavity.

Clinical Results

While trans-apical can be at risk of apical bleeding and major access related complications in frail elderly patients (38, 39), the transaortic TAVI can be a valid alternative in preventing apical manipulations and peripheral vascular injuries, with satisfactory clinical results. Procedural success rates of above 90% have been reported in the vast majority of series, with a 30 days mortality ranging from 6.1 to 13%. In a recently published review comparing trans-aortic vs. trans-apical TAVI procedures, Dunne et al. (40) reported similar 30-day outcomes: mortality of 7.9% (TAO) and 9.7% (TA); procedural success of 95% for both; rate of conversion to surgical aortic valve replacement of 2.1% (TAO) and 1.1% (TA); rate of new pacemaker implantation of 5.5% (TAO) and 5.9% (TA). A trend toward a lower rate of stroke in the trans-aortic TAVI group was also evident (0.9% in TAO vs 2.1% in TA).

Compared to the transapical TAVI, avoidance of apical incision with the related myocardial scar reduces the risk of apical aneurysm formation, ventricular rupture and late arrhythmias (35).

TRANSAPICAL ACCESS

The transapical access represents the historical alternative to the trans-femoral TAVI and can be performed in all patients with contraindications to the transfemoral TAVI (13, 25–28).

Patient's Selection and Planning

The approach requires a left mini-thoracotomy andgeneral anesthesia. Contraindications to the transapical access route are a few, basically represented by a severely reduced left ventricular function and the presence of apical thrombus. Preoperative CTscan images, can be useful in identifying the ventricular apex and its relationship with the thorax wall while transthoracic echocardiogram right before the procedure helps in identifying the apex and guiding the mini-thoracotomy. With regards to the commercially available transcatheter aortic valves and delivery systems, the transapical TAVI requires short dedicated delivery catheters. So far only the Edwards Sapien balloonexpandable valve and the self-expandable Symetis valve provide such possibility.

Technical Aspects

A left antero-lateral mini-thoracotomy at the fifth intercostal space requires a different set-up of the cath lab as compared to the trans-femoral and the transaortic accesses. The fluoroscopy arm is placed at patient's right side with cardiac surgeon and cardiologist standing together at the patient's left side. Due to the invasiveness of the approach, the transapical TAVI is performed under general anesthesia and the mechanical ventilation is obtained with a single lumen endotracheal tube. A 5–8 cm long incision is performed at left fifth intercostal space and muscles are gently dissected (**Figure 7A**). The pleura space is opened. After the placement of a rib retractor the pericardium is opened and stay sutures are placed to expand the surgical field and pull apex toward the operators. Two concentric 3-0 or 4-0 polypropylene

purse-string sutures reinforced by pledgets are placed at the apex (**Figure 7B**). Then, the apex is punctured within the pursestring sutures and a soft guidewire is advanced toward the aortic valve and the ascending aorta (**Figure 7C**). The valve is placed and delivered following standard techniques. Once implant is achieved, the delivery system and the sheath are gently removed and sutures are secured. In order to lower the intraventricular pressure during this phase, a short period of rapid pacing can be useful.

Clinical Results

The transapical TAVI can be an alternative to the transfemoral TAVI in case of severe vascular disease. Also in this case, reported procedural success rate are above 90% with 30 days mortality rate ranging from 4 to 14%.

According to data derived from the German GARY registry, trans-apical access is an independent predictor of 1 year mortality in TAVI patients. While this effect is related to the impact of apical manipulation or associated to the increased co-morbidities of those patients is still widely debated (14, 15).

OTHER ACCESSES

Starting from the original description of the first in human case of a percutaneous transcatheter implantation of an aortic valve prosthesis performed by Alain Cribier in April 2002 (41), access's choice seems to represent an intrinsic challenge of this technique. In their ground-breaking report, the procedure was performed through an antegrade approach from the right femoral vein. Access to the left atrium was obtained by transseptal puncture, then the stenotic aortic valve was crossed on an antegrade fashion creating a venous arterial loop to allow the advancement and the stability of the percutaneous valve. Apart from this pioneering description, the antegrade transeptal approach is nowadays not considered as an option in patients unsuitable for other conventional accesses.

Rarely, the trans-carotid approach can be considered as an alternative option in patients unsuitable for trans-femoral, trans-subclavian or surgical trans-aortic/apical approaches.

While pro's are represented by avoidance of chest opening and the possibility to perform the procedure under local anesthesia, cons are mainly related to the necessity of a complex pre procedural planning with carotid and vertebral doppler to exclude significant atheromatosis, and cerebral MRI to confirm patency of the circle of Willis that could limit the cerebral perfusion during the carotid occlusion. While both common carotid arteries can be chosen, usually the left one is preferred given the straight pathway to the aortic valve. From a practical perspective, a 2 cm incision above the left clavicle allows the surgical exposure of the common carotid artery. Attention to avoid injury to the vagus nerve has to be paid. The arterial lumen is then accessed by direct puncture and surgical closure is performed at case completion. To the best of our knowledge, percutaneous access was not reported in this setting due to the complex management of potential bleedings and vascular damage. Mylotte et al. reported the feasibility and the safety of this trans-carotid approach in 96 patients enrolled in 3 different French sites (42). In their series, no major bleedings nor vascular complications related to the access site occurred, while only three transient ischemic attacks and no strokes were reported. No direct or propensity matched comparisons to trans-femoral TAVI are available so far.

The trans-caval approach, described by Greenbaum et al. in 2014 (29) is considered as the last resort in patients not qualifying for any other vascular access. Procedural planning requires a baseline CT-scan to identify a calcium free target on the right abdominal aortic wall allowing for a safe passage from the inferior vena cava to the aortic lumen of the large bore sheath. After having obtained a femoral venous access, the inferior vena cava is punctured by means of a stiff CTO wire (usually a Confianza PRO 12) mounted over a microcatheter and a standard RCA or IMA guiding catheter. The caval and aortic walls are perforated by using electrocautery applied at the distal end of the wire. Once obtained access to the aortic lumen, the wire is snared and both the microcatheter and the guiding catether are advanced into the abdominal aorta. This allows for the placement of a stiff "0.035" wire and the advancement of a large introducer sheath from the femoral vein into the aortic lumen for conventional retrograde aortic valve replacement. At case completion, heparin is reversed, and the aortic perforation is closed using a conventional vascular, duct or ventricular septal defect occluder device. The authors recently reported the 30-day outcomes of the first 100 patients from the prospective multicentre study (30). Device success, defined as successful trans-caval access and deployment of a closure device without death or emergent surgery was obtained in 98% of cases. Nonetheless, VARC-2 major or life threatening bleedings were evident in 12 patients, retroperitoneal hematomas were found at post procedural CT-scans in 24% of patients, while in 8 cases implant of an aortic covered stent was deemed necessary during the index procedure or in the early post procedural phase. Thus, so far, based on the above mentioned data, this approach should be considered as a proof of concept rather than as an effective alternative option to standard TAVI access routes and should only be considered in patients without alternative treatment options.

CONCLUSIONS

Retrograde trans-femoral TAVI is the access of choice in the vast majority of patients with severe aortic stenosis deemed at intermediate or high operative risk for traditional surgical aortic valve replacement, and current guidelines highlight that the feasibility of a transfemoral approach should be considered as a determinant aspect favoring TAVI in the decision making process when choosing between percutaneous or surgical procedures. In line with current recommendations, also in our clinical experience, the transfemoral access is always considered as the first option. Nonetheless, in a discrete percentage of cases, this access might be precluded. This implies that several different options have been proposed as alternatives, each of them with unique features, pros and cons. The availability of different, mainly surgical accesses, should be seen as a possibility for

the patients to be treated with a trans-catheter approach and for the involved heart team as a concrete opportunity to increase even more the collaboration between cardiac experts with interventional or surgical skills. So far, no randomized head to head comparisons between different access options are available, and if ever obtainable, several local factors and patient's characteristics should be considered when choosing an alternative approach. Future extension of TAVI to lower risk patients will probably result in a relative increase of transfemoral procedures. Nonetheless, in those higher risk patients in which the femoral approach is precluded, alternative routes, either percutaneously or surgically achieved might represent a concrete opportunity. When willing to avoid either general anesthesia and/or sternum/rib opening with pulmonary deflation, an option that could result as a game changer in the post op management of elderly patients allowing early mobilization

REFERENCES

- Baumgartner H, Falk V, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, et al. ESC Scientific Document Group. 2017 ESC/EACTS guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2739–91. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx391
- Reinöhl J, Kaier K, Reinecke H, Schmoor C, Frankenstein L, Vach W, et al. Effect of availability of transcatheter aortic-valve replacement on clinical practice. *N Engl J Med.* (2015) 373:2438–47. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa15 00893
- Makkar RR, Fontana GP, Jilaihawi H, Kapadia S, Pichard AD, Douglas PS, et al. PARTNER Trial Investigators. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement for inoperable severe aortic stenosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 366:1696–704. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1202277
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack MJ, Makkar RR, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, et al. PARTNER 2 Investigators. Transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. *N Engl J Med.* (2016) 374:1609–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1514616
- Adams DH, Popma JJ, Reardon MJ, Yakubov SJ, Coselli JS, Deeb GM, et al. CoreValve Clinical Investigators. Transcatheter aortic- valve replacement with a self- expanding prosthesis. N Engl J Med. (2014) 370:1790–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1400590
- Reardon MJ, Van Mieghem NM, Popma JJ, Kleiman NS, Sondergaard L, Mumatz M, et al. Kappetein AP for the SURTAVI Investigators. Surgical or transcatheter aortic- valve replacement in intermediate risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:1321–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1700456
- Thyregod HG, Steinbrüchel DA, Ihlemann N, Nissen H, Kjeldsen BJ, Petursson P, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve replacement in patients with severe aortic valve stenosis: 1- year results from the all- comers NOTION randomized clinical trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2015) 65:2184–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.03.014
- Mack MJ, Brennan JM, Brindis R, Carroll J, Edwards F, Grover F, et al. STS/ACC TVT Registry. Outcomes following transcatheter aortic valve replacement in the United States. *JAMA* (2013) 310:2069–77. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.282043
- Walther T, Hamm CW, Schuler G, Berkowitsch A, Kötting J, Mangner N, et al. GARY Executive Board. Perioperative results and complications in 15, 964 transcatheter aortic valve replacements: prospective data from the GARY registry. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2015) 65:2173–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015. 03.034
- Holmes DR Jr, Brennan JM, Rumsfeld JS, Dai D, O'Brien SM, Vemulapalli S, et al. STS/ACC TVT Registry. Clinical outcomes at 1 year following transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *JAMA* (2015) 313:1019–28. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.1474
- 11. Ludman PF, Moat N, de Belder MA, Blackman DJ, Duncan A, Banya W, et al. UK TAVI Steering Committee and the National Institute for

and discharge, the axillary (either surgically or percutaneously performed) and trans-carotid access can be considered as a second option. On the other hand, local expertise might favor trans-aortic or trans-apical approaches due to their wide availability.

Surely, while no clear indications are still available, TAVI operators are called to a tailored decision making. Comprehensive patient's evaluation as well as extensive discussion within the heart team will represent the key points to achieve good procedural and long term outcomes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LB conceived, drafted and finalized the manuscript. EF wrote the sections regarding transapical and transaortic access. GP, FF, TM, FP, and MM critically reviewed the manuscript.

Cardiovascular Outcomes Research. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation in the United Kingdom: temporal trends, predictors of outcome, and 6- year follow- up: a report from the UK transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) registry, 2007 to 2012. *Circulation* (2015) 131:1181–90. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013947

- 12. D'Errigo P, Barbanti M, Santini F, Grossi C, Ranucci M, Onorati F, et al. Gruppo di Lavoro dello Studio OBSERVANT: Results of the OBSERVANT study: clinical characteristics and short- term outcome of the enrolled population treated with transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve implantation. *G Ital Cardiol.* (2014) 15:177–4. doi: 10.1714/1463.16169
- Gilard M, Eltchaninoff H, Iung B, Donzeau-Gouge P, Chevreul K, Fajadet J, et al. FRANCE 2 Investigators: Registry of transcatheter aortic- valve implantation in high- risk patients. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 366:1705–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1114705
- Mohr FW, Holzhey D, Möllmann H, Beckmann A, Veit C, Figulla HR, et al. GARY Executive board: the German aortic valve registry: 1- year results from 13, 680 patients with aortic valve disease. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2014) 46:808–16. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezu290
- Van der Boon RM, Marcheix B, Tchetche D, Chieffo A, Van Mieghem NM, Dumonteil N, et al. Transapical versus transfemoral aortic valve implantation: a multicenter collaborative study. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2014) 97:22–8. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.09.088
- Petronio AS, De Carlo M, Bedogni F, Maisano F, Ettori F, Klugmann S, et al. 2-year results of CoreValve implantation through the subclavian access: a propensity-matched comparison with the femoral access. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 60:502–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.04.014
- Bapat V, Khawaja MZ, Attia R, Narayana A, Wilson K, Macgillivray K, et al. Transaortic transcatheter aortic valve implantation using Edwards SAPIEN valve: a novel approach. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2012) 79:733– 40. doi: 10.1002/ccd.23276
- Bapat V, Attia R. Transaortic transcatheter aortic valve implantation: step-by-step guide. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2012) 24:206–11. doi: 10.1053/j.semtcvs.2012.06.004
- Hayashida K, Romano M, Lefèvre T, Chevalier B, Farge A, Hovasse T, et al. Transaortic approach for transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a valid alternative to the transapical access in patients with no peripheral vascular option. A single center experience. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2013) 44:692– 700. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezt037
- Bruschi G, Botta L, De Marco F, Cannata A, Oreglia J, Clombo P, et al. Direct aortic access for trans-catheter self-expanding aortic bioprosthetic valves implantation: single centre experience. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2012) 94:497–503. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.04.021
- Lardizabal JA, O'Neill BP, Desai HV, Macon CJ, Rodriguez AP, Martinez CA, et al. The transaortic approach for transcatheter aortic valve replacement: initial clinical experience in the United States. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2013) 61:2341–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.02.076

- Arai T, Romano M, Lefèvre T, Hovasse T, Farge A, Le Houerou D, et al. Direct comparison of feasibility and safety of transfemoral versus transaortic versus transapical transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:2320–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.08.009
- Bapat V, Frank D, Cocchieri R, Jagielak D, Bonaros N, Aiello M, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement using transaortic access: experience from the multicenter, multinational, prospective ROUTE registry. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:1815–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016. 06.031
- 24. Thourani VH, Jensen HA, Babaliaros V, Suri R, Vemulapalli S, Dai D, et al. Transapical and transaortic transcatheter aortic valve replacement in the United States. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2015) 100:1718–26. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015.05.010
- Dewey TM, Bowers B, Thourani VH, Babaliaros V, Smith CR, Leon MB, et al. Transapical aortic valve replacement for severe aortic stenosis: results from the nonrandomized continued access cohort of the PARTNER trial. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2013) 96:2083–9. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.05.093
- D'Onofrio A, Salizzoni S, Agrifoglio M, Cota L, Luzi G, Tartara PM, et al. Medium term outcomes of transapical aortic valve implantation: results from the Italian registry of trans-apical aortic valve implantation. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2013) 96:830–5. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.04.094
- Holzhey DM, Shi W, Rastan A, Borger MA, Hänsig M, Mohr FW. Transapical versus conventional aortic valve replacement-a propensitymatched comparison. *Heart Surg Forum*. (2012) 15:E4–8. doi: 10.1532/ HSF98.20111084
- Pasic M, Unbehaun A, Dreysse S, Buz S, Drews T, Kukucka M, et al. Introducing transapical aortic valve implantation (part 1): effect of a structured training program on clinical outcome in a series of 500 procedures. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2013) 145:911–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.12.057
- Mylotte D, Sudre A, Teiger E, Obadia JF, Lee M, Spence M, et al. Transcarotid transcatheter aortic valve replacement: feasibility and safety. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. (2016) 9:472–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.11.045
- Greenbaum AB, O'Neill WW, Paone G, Guerrero ME, Wyman JF, Cooper RL, et al. Caval-aortic access to allow transcatheter aortic valve replacement in otherwise ineligible patients: initial human experience. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2014) 63:2795–804. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.04.015
- Greenbaum AB, Babaliaros VC, Chen MY, Stine AM, Rogers T, O'Neill WW, et al. Transcaval access and closure for transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a prospective investigation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2017) 69:511–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.10.024
- 32. Di Mario C, Eltchaninoff H, Moat N, Goicolea J, Ussia GP, Kala P, et al. Transcatheter Valve Treatment Sentinel Registry (TCVT) Investigators of the EURObservational Research Programme (EORP) of the European Society of Cardiology. The 2011-12 pilot European sentinel registry of transcatheter aortic valve implantation: in-hospital results in 4,571 patients. *EuroIntervention* (2013) 8:1362–71. doi: 10.4244/EIJV8112A209
- 33. Schäfer U, Ho Y, Frerker C, Schewel D, Sanchez-Quintana D, Schofer J, et al. Direct percutaneous access technique for transaxillary transcatheter aortic valve implantation: "the Hamburg Sankt Georg approach." *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2012) 5:477–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2011.11.014

- 34. Biasco L, De Backer O, Holme S, Søndergaard L, Jönsson A. The "chimney approach" for transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a strategy for trans axillarian bareback approach in patients with no other access options. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 86:E167–73. doi: 10.1002/ccd.25840
- 35. Ribeiro HB, Dahou A, Urena M, Carrasco JL, Mohammadi S, Doyle D, et al. Myocardial injury after transaortic versus transapical transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2015) 99:2001–9. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015.01.029
- Hulman M, Bena M, Artemiou P, Gasparovic I, Hudec V. Transaortic approach for transcatheter aortic valve replacement with other concomitant cardiac procedures in high-risk patients. J Card Surg. (2016) 31:493–7. doi: 10.1111/jocs.12796
- 37. Kobayashi J, Shimahara Y, Fujita T, Kanzaki H, Amaki M, Hata H, et al. Early results of simultaneous transaortic transcatheter aortic valve implantation and total arterial off-pump coronary artery revascularization in high-risk patients. *Circ J.* (2016) 80:1946–50 doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-16-0329
- Von Segesser LK, Gerosa G, Borger MA, Ferrari E. Prevention and management of potential adverse events during transapical aortic valve replacement. J Heart Valve Dis. (2013) 22:276–286.
- 39. Steinvil A, Leshem-Rubinow E, Halkin A, Abramowitz Y, Ben-Assa E, Shacham Y, et al. Vascular complications after transcatheter aortic valve implantation and their association with mortality reevaluated by the valve academic research consortium definitions. *Am J Cardiol.* (2015) 115:100–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.09.047
- Dunne B, Tan D, Chu D, Yau V, Xiao J, Ho KM, et al. Transapical versus transaortic transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a systematic review. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2015) 100:354–61. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015.03.039
- Wendler O, Walther T, Schroefel H, Lange R, Treede H, Fusari M, et al. SOURCE Investigators. Transapical aortic valve implantation: mid-term outcome from the SOURCE registry. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2013) 43:505– 11. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezs297
- Cribier A, Eltchaninoff H, Bash A, Borenstein N, Tron C, Bauer F, et al. Percutaneous transcatheter implantation of an aortic valve prosthesis for calcific aortic stenosis: first human case description. *Circulation* (2002) 106:3006–8. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000047200.36165.B8

Conflict of Interest Statement: EF is proctor and consultant for Edwards Lifesciences.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Biasco, Ferrari, Pedrazzini, Faletra, Moccetti, Petracca and Moccetti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





TAVI: Simplification Is the Ultimate Sophistication

Mariama Akodad^{1,2} and Thierry Lefèvre^{1*}

¹ Ramsay Générale de Santé, Institut Cardiovasculaire Paris Sud, Massy, France, ² Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Arnaud de Villeneuve, Montpellier, France

Since its introduction in 2002, TAVI has evolved dramatically and is now standard of care for intermediate risk patients when the femoral approach can be implemented safely. The development of innovative transcatheter heart valves (THVs) and refinement of technical skills have contributed to the decrease in complication rates associated with TAVI⁴. Increased experience, smaller sheaths, rigorous pre-procedural planning and improved vascular closing techniques have resulted in markedly lower rates of vascular complications. The next step is the simplification of the procedure, which should contribute to a further decrease in complications, and also reduce procedural time, hospital stay as well as staff workload and costs. Moving to conscious sedation, no predilatation, no temporary pace maker and use of the radial approach as the contralateral approach are all instrumental in achieving this ultimate refinement.

Keywords: TAVI, simplification, minimalist, vascular complications, temporary pace maker, hospital stay duration

INTRODUCTION

Since the first successful procedure was carried out in 2002 (1), transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) has gradually been established as an alternative to conventional surgery in patients with severe aortic stenosis contra-indicated to surgery or at high surgical risk (2). In 2017, during the last ESC meeting, TAVI indications were extended to intermediate risk patients when the transfemoral approach (TFA) is feasible (3).

Improvements in technique, devices, operator's experience, and patient selection have contributed to a dramatic decrease in procedural complications, thus allowing further technical simplification at every step of the procedure (4–9). In this paper, our aim is to describe how to simplify the technique at each stage of the procedure in order to turn it into a "PCI-like" procedure and to discuss how this may improve TAVI outcomes.

PRE-PROCEDURAL EVALUATION AND PROCEDURAL SETTING

Patient clinical and anatomical criteria may influence per- and post- procedural outcomes. Therefore, a truly minimalist approach should be considered only when femoral access is possible. Recently, Barbalios et al. compared minimalist TAVI performed in the catheterization laboratory to standard TAVI performed in the hybrid room demonstrating shorter procedure and intensive care unit time, as well as reduced hospitalization duration and costs in the minimalist approach group without differences in terms of short- and long-term survival (10).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darren Mylotte, National University of Ireland Galway, Ireland

Reviewed by:

Marco Barbanti, Università degli Studi di Catania, Italy Andrew Roy, Mater Private Hospital, Ireland, Ireland Alexander Lauten, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany Gidon Yehuda Perlman, Hadassah Medical Center, Israel

> *Correspondence: Thierry Lefèvre t.lefevre@icps.com.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 10 March 2018 Accepted: 29 June 2018 Published: 18 July 2018

Citation:

Akodad M and Lefèvre T (2018) TAVI: Simplification Is the Ultimate Sophistication. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:96. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00096

62

Multislice CT (MSCT) is instrumental in procedural simplification. Image quality and optimal analysis are therefore crucial for anticipating the potential difficulty of the procedure as well as for optimal valve selection and working view. The role of MSCT has also been central in allowing a shift from general anesthesia to conscious sedation by obviating the need for transesophageal echocardiography (TOE) during the procedure. MSCT became the gold standard for evaluation of the aortic root in our center in 2009.

The use of the TRA for preprocedural evaluation of the coronary arteries is also part of the simplification process. It helps not only to reduce the risk of vascular complications related to the screening phase, but also to assess femoral access by performing a selective bilateral iliac injection using a long multipurpose catheter. Recently, screening of coronary artery disease and ad hoc percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) during TAVI has been described by Barbanti et al. showing to be feasible without increased periprocedural complications (11).

A minimalist approach can be performed in routine practice with two operators, two nurses and an anesthesiologist (**Figure 1**). A cardiac surgeon and an echocardiographist are not mandatory in the room but should be available.

FROM GENERAL ANESTHESIA TO CONSCIOUS SEDATION

Although the first in-man TAVI cases in Rouen were initially performed on conscious sedation (1), the procedure was commonly carried out under general anesthesia between 2002 and 2008 in Europe. It remains standard practice in the majority of cases in North America (12). However, it was Alain Cribier's idea that TAVI should be a "PCI- like" procedure. Potential advantages of general anesthesia are patient's procedural comfort, possibility of using TOE and rapid conversion to surgery when complications occur (13-15). Conversely, many issues are related to general anesthesia such as hemodynamic instability, higher need for inotropic drugs, higher risk of bleeding, increased risk of pulmonary infection, extubation difficulty or delay in patients with chronic pulmonary disease, late complication identification such as stroke or aortic complications and finally, longer procedural duration, hospital stay, higher staff workload, and global costs (16-18). In the France 2 and the France TAVI registries, the adoption of local anesthesia with conscious sedation has progressively increased from 30% in 2010 to 70% in 2017 (15, 19). In a recent meta-analysis, outcomes of both approaches were similar with respect to in-hospital mortality, conversion to open-heart surgery, major vascular complications, acute kidney failure and stroke (17). Cross-over to general anesthesia was observed in only 6%. Conversely, catecholamine requirement and transfusion were less frequent in patients on conscious sedation, and duration of intensive care unit and global hospital stay was also shorter (17, 20, 21). No difference concerning neurocognitive outcomes was highlighted between both approaches (21).

Data from registries demonstrated the feasibility, safety, and cost-effectiveness of local anesthesia with conscious sedation in comparison to general anesthesia, with potential advantages in terms of bleeding and hospitalization length. It has been adopted as the default approach in our center since April 2009.

FROM SURGICAL CUT DOWN TO PERCUTANEOUS ACCESS

Initially, TAVI procedures were performed exclusively via surgical cut down (1). Over the past decade, sheath diameter has been gradually reduced to 14–16 French with the last generation percutaneous heart valves (**Figure 2**). TFA is currently the default access route, with superior outcomes than transapical route and other transvascular approaches as carotid, aortic, axillary, and caval-aortic. Alternative transvascular routes may be considered anly in case of unsuitable femoral access (22).

Percutaneous closure has been progressively adopted in routine practice in most centers for TF TAVI procedures (23). Indeed, even though the surgical approach has been reported to be associated with a low rate of vascular complications and to provide a more direct control of haemostasis (24), percutaneous closure is a less invasive technique and may result in shorter hospital stay (25). With the refinement of the TAVI procedure, better patient preprocedural screening, increased operator experience, and device improvement, the percutaneous approach has become more simple, less time consuming, thus allowing a reduction in staff workload. The Prostar technique was introduced in our center in 2009 and we moved progressively to Proglide (Abbott Vascular Devices, Redwood City, CA, United States) preclosing in 2015-2016 (26) because this technique was simpler and less costly. In 2016, a lower risk of vascular complications was reported with the use of 2 Proglide devices in comparison with Prostar (27). New collagen-based closure devices were recently described in TAVI procedure as the MANTA closure device with similar results than suture based closure devices (28).

In addition to the selection of the most appropriate percutaneous device, the percutaneous technique should be rigorous in order to limit access site complications. Indeed, the common femoral artery puncture site should be carefully selected on the CT-scan or angiography before the procedure. During the procedure, puncture should be performed under angiographic or ultra-sound guidance at the center of the anterior arterial wall (29). Percutaneous closure devices should be subsequently deployed as previously described (30).

Thus, percutaneous transfemoral access is as safe as the surgical approach and feasible in the majority of cases with a very high rate of success after the learning phase. Most vascular complications can be managed percutaneously. It is an essential component of TAVI's simplification process allowing early discharge.

Abbreviations: BAV, balloon aortic valvuloplasty; CCU, conventional cardiology unit; ICU, intensive care unit; LV, left ventricle; MP, multipurpose; MSCT, multislice CT; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; TAVI, transcatheter aortic valve implantation; TFA, transfemoral approach; TOE, transesophagal echocardiography; TRA, transradial approach.





FROM CONTRALATERAL FEMORAL ACCESS TO RADIAL ACCESS

Although vascular complications dramatically decreased in parallel with enhanced operator experience, availability of low profile sheaths and better patient selection, 25–30% of these complications occurred at the contralateral femoral access site, (9). Therefore, using the TRA as a secondary access appears to be very promising (29–31). We have been using this approach since 2016 and have observed a 50% reduction in vascular complications. The radial artery (right or left) is punctured and a 40 cm 6 Fr hydrophilic sheath with a side port for blood pressure measurement is subsequently inserted through the radial artery. A 125 4 or 5 Fr multipurpose (MP) catheter is advanced over a standard 0.35 guide wire to the common iliac artery in order to obtain a reference image and guide the puncture. After the puncture, the MP catheter is retrieved and a pig-tail is advanced

in the ascending aorta via the 0.35 guide wire to perform aortography before and after TAVI. At the end of the procedure, prior to access closure, the MP catheter is re-advanced to the common femoral artery in order to check the final result of the closure (29). In cases of vascular complication, a long 120 cm 5 Fr catheter (Optimed, Germany) can be positioned in the common femoral artery to perform femoral artery balloon inflation or stent implantation. In rare cases where a covered stent is needed, a larger balloon can be used through the Optimed catheter in order to close temporarily the iliac or femoral artery, while a cross-over femoral approach is implemented (29). Indeed, in our practice, even if the radial secondary access is our default approach, the controlateral femoral access should be available immediately in case of failure or emergent need of cross-over.

Therefore, by reducing contralateral vascular complications and simplifying the procedure, TRA will probably follow the predominant tendency observed in other interventional cardiology settings and become the gold standard contralateral approach for TAVI.

FROM VENOUS STIMULATION TO LV GUIDE WIRE PACING

During balloon valvuloplasty (BAV) or balloon expandable TAVI procedures, rapid ventricular pacing is mandatory. Traditionally, rapid pacing is performed through a venous access with temporary pacemaker implantation (1). However, this technique may be challenging in anatomic variations and may lead to increased X-ray exposure and complications (32) such as hematoma, arterio-venous fistula, thrombosis or right ventricle perforation. Recently, rapid ventricular pacing through the left ventricle guide wire has been described as a way of simplifying the procedure by eliminating the need for additional vascular access during TAVI (33). This approach was adopted in 2016 in our center. Briefly, a 22 G needle is inserted subcutaneously near the femoral sheath. Alligator clips are then connected to the left ventricle guide wire (negative clip) and to the needle (positive clip) following insertion of the delivery system close to the aortic valve. The rapid pacing is then tested using maximal output and minimal sensitivity (Figure 3). Valve implantation is then carried out under rapid pacing. In the presence of high-degree conduction disturbance, stimulation can be performed with this technique while a temporary pacemaker is inserted through a venous access, more frequently through brachial vein access to limit femoral vascular complications.

This new technique has been shown to be feasible and safe, allowing stable stimulation with a low rate of complications and a potential reduction in procedural time. A randomized trial comparing left ventricle guide wire rapid pacing to conventional pacing (Easy TAVI) is ongoing in France (NCT02781896).

VALVE IMPLANTATION WITHOUT PREDILATION

In the early days of TAVI, BAV was considered a mandatory step. However BAV have been shown to be associated with a higher risk of cerebral embolization, and severe acute aortic regurgitation may occur after predilatation in up to 3% of cases. TAVI without BAV was evaluated for the first time in 2011 by Grübe et al. (34) and was shown to be feasible in non-randomized studies (35, 36). Currently, improvements in new generation devices including paravalvular skirts, the ability of repositioning of the valve, lower profile of delivery system, and of the prosthesis provide more favorable outcomes (22). Therefore, BAV seems no longer essential during TAVI procedures, and consequently, TAVI without predilation is routinely implemented in many centers.

We moved progressively to this approach between 2012 and 2015 in our center. Today, more than 90% of cases are performed without predilatation. Only very complex anatomies or highly calcified valves are predilated before valve deployment (5–10%). Post dilatation is performed mainly after self-expandable valve deployment in the presence of significant paravalvular leak or transvalvular gradient (10–15%).

Thus, avoiding balloon predilatation may reduce complication rates, decrease the need for permanent pacemaker and reduce procedural time. A large randomized trial (37) with the Sapien 3 valve is on-going in France (NCT02729519).



FIGURE 3 From left to right and up to down: Alligator clips with negative clip (black) and positive clip (red). After insertion of Sheath, a 22G needle is inserted subcutaneously through the skin, close to the femoral sheath and the positive clip is connected to the needle while the negative clip is connected to the guidewire. Setting of the temporary pacemaker with maximal output and minimal sensitivity. Pacing efficacy at 180 beats per minute with the LV wire and drop in blood pressure.

TABLE 1 | Current outcomes of early discharge after TAVI.

Study	Patients	Early discharge, n (%)	Timing of early discharge	30-days mortality, n (%)	Rehospitalization within 30-days, n (%)
Durand et al. (40)	337	121 (36)	Within 3 days	O (O)	4 (3.3)
Noad et al. (41)	120	26 (21.7)	Same/next day	O (O)	1 (3.84)
Serletis-Bizios et al. (42)	130	76 (59)	Within 3 days	1 (1.3)	3 (3.94)
Lauck et al. (43)	393	150 (38.2)	Within 2 days	1 (0.7)	12 (8)

POST-PROCEDURE MANAGEMENT:

From Intensive Care Unit (ICU) to Conventional Cardiology Unit (CCU)

After TAVI, systematic close monitoring with special attention to hemodynamic and cardiac rhythm is mandatory to allow early detection of periprocedural complications. In many centers, monitoring is performed for at least 12 to 24 h in the ICU before transferring the patient to a CCU after clinical and paraclinical status re-assessment. Recently, TAVI without subsequent ICU admission has been evaluated and has been shown to be feasible and safe in selected patients after rigorous preprocedural and postprocedural evaluation (38). Indeed, this new strategy adopted in our center in 2017 may obviate ICU admission in up to one third of cases and should be considered a part of the "minimalist" approach.

Short Hospitalization

Early discharge was evaluated in the literature demonstrating safety in patients with hospitalization duration shorter than 48 h (39). Indeed, the median length of hospitalization was 1 day in the early discharge group with no differences between early discharge and discharge after 48 h in terms of 1-month mortality, stroke and readmission. A "minimalistic" TAVI procedure with local anesthesia, no predilatation, urinary catheter avoidance

REFERENCES

- Cribier A, Eltchaninoff H, Bash A, Borenstein N, Tron C, Bauer F, et al. Percutaneous transcatheter implantation of an aortic valve prosthesis for calcific aortic stenosis: first human case description. *Circulation* (2002) 106:3006–8. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000047200.36165.B8
- Vahanian A, Alfieri O, Andreotti F, Antunes MJ, Barón-Esquivias G, Baumgartner H, et al. Guidelines on the management of valvular heart disease (version 2012): the Joint Task Force on the Management of Valvular Heart Disease of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* (2012) 42:S1–44. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezs455
- Baumgartner H, Falk V, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, et al. ESC Scientific Document Group, ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2739–91. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx391
- Auffret V, Lefèvre T, Van Belle E, Eltchaninoff H, Iung B, Koning R, et al. Temporal trends in transcatheter aortic valve replacement in France: FRANCE 2 to FRANCE TAVI. JACC 70:42–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.04.053
- 5. Durand E, Borz B, Godin M, Tron C, Litzler PY, Bessou JP, et al. Transfemoral aortic valve replacement with the Edwards SAPIEN and Edwards SAPIEN XT prosthesis using exclusively local anesthesia and fluoroscopic guidance: feasibility and 30-day outcomes. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2012) 5:461–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2012.01.018
- Landes U, Barsheshet A, Finkelstein A, Guetta V, Assali A, Halkin A, et al. Temporal trends in transcatheter aortic valve implantation, 2008-2014: patient characteristics, procedural issues, and clinical outcome. *Clin Cardiol.* (2017) 40:82–8. doi: 10.1002/clc.22632
- Vahl TP, Kodali SK, Leon MB. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement 2016: a modern-day "Through the Looking-Glass" Adventure. JACC (2016) 67:1472– 87. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.12.059
- 8. Kodali S, Thourani VH, White J, Malaisrie SC, Lim S, Greason KL, et al. Early clinical and echocardiographic outcomes after SAPIEN 3 transcatheter aortic valve replacement in inoperable, high-risk and intermediate-risk patients

and early removal of temporary pacemaker was predictive of early discharge in this study. Current outcomes of early discharge after TAVI are summarized in **Table 1**. Shortening hospital stay is also an essential component of the TAVI simplification process with a potential reduction in procedural costs and need for rehabilitation but may be studied in large studies to ensure safety without increased risk of outcomes or readmission.

CONCLUSION

TAVI simplification has already been adopted in routine practice in experienced centers, resulting in a low rate of complications, shorter procedural time, improved patient comfort, as well as decreased costs and staff workload. However, rigorous patient selection, and risk stratification are key factors in ensuring successful "PCI-like" procedures. On-going randomized trials may confirm preliminary results, thus leading to a "simple" but not "simpler" procedure in the near future with lower profile devices.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

with aortic stenosis. *Eur Heart J.* (2016) 37:2252–62. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw112

- Allende R, Urena M, Cordoba JG, Ribeiro HB, Amat-Santos I, DeLarochellière R, et al. Impact of the use of transradial versus transfemoral approach as secondary access in transcatheter aortic valve implantation procedures. *Am J Cardiol.* (2014) 114:1729–34. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.09.009
- Babaliaros V, Devireddy C, Lerakis S, Leonardi R, Iturra SA, Mavromatis K, et al. Comparison of transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve replacement performed in the catheterization laboratory (minimalist approach) versus hybrid operating room (standard approach): outcomes and cost analysis. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. (2014) 7:898–904. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.04.005
- 11. Barbanti M, Todaro D, Costa G, Pilato G, Picci A, Gulino S, et al. Optimized screening of coronary artery disease with invasive coronary angiography and Ad Hoc percutaneous coronary intervention during transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*. (2017) 10:e005234. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.117.005234
- Rodés-Cabau J, Webb JG, Cheung A, Ye J, Dumont E, Feindel CM, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation for the treatment of severe symptomatic aortic stenosis in patients at very high or prohibitive surgical risk: acute and late outcomes of the multicenter Canadian experience. *JACC* (2010) 55:1080–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.12.014
- Villablanca PA, Mohananey D, Nikolic K, Bangalore S, Slovut DP, Mathew V, et al. Comparison of local versus general anesthesia in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a meta-analysis. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2018) 91:330–42 doi: 10.1002/ccd.27207
- Maas EHA, Pieters BMA, Van de Velde M, Rex S. General or local anesthesia for TAVI? a systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2016) 22:1868–78. doi: 10.2174/1381612822666151208121825
- 15. Oguri A, Yamamoto M, Mouillet G, Gilard M, Laskar M, Eltchaninoff H, et al. FRANCE 2 Registry Investigators, Clinical outcomes and safety of transfemoral aortic valve implantation under general versus local anesthesia: subanalysis of the French Aortic National CoreValve and Edwards 2 registry. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2014) 7:602–10. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.113.000403

- Fröhlich GM, Lansky AJ, Webb J, Roffi M, Toggweiler S, Reinthaler M, et al. Local versus general anesthesia for transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVR) – systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Med.* (2014) 12: 41. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-12-41
- Ehret C, Rossaint R, Foldenauer AC, Stoppe C, Stevanovic A, Dohms K, et al. Is local anaesthesia a favourable approach for transcatheter aortic valve implantation? A systematic review and meta-analysis comparing local and general anaesthesia. *BMJ Open* (2017) 7:e016321. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016321
- Hosoba S, Yamamoto M, Shioda K, Sago M, Koyama Y, Shimura T, et al. Safety and efficacy of minimalist approach in transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve replacement: insights from the Optimized transCathEter vAlvular interventioN-Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation (OCEAN-TAVI) registry. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* (2017) 26:420–4. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivx355
- Auffret V, Bedossa M, Boulmier D, Verhoye JP, Ruggieri VG, Koning R, et al. [From FRANCE 2 to FRANCE TAVI: are indications, technique and results of transcatheter aortic valve replacement the same?]. *Presse Med.* (2015) 44:752–60. doi: 10.1016/j.lpm.2015.05.004
- Yamamoto M, Meguro K, Mouillet G, Bergoend E, Monin JL, Lim P, et al. Effect of local anesthetic management with conscious sedation in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Am J Cardiol.* (2013) 111:94–9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.08.053
- Mayr NP, Hapfelmeier A, Martin K, Kurz A, van der Starre P, Babik B, et al. Comparison of sedation and general anaesthesia for transcatheter aortic valve implantation on cerebral oxygen saturation and neurocognitive outcome[†]. Br J Anaesth. (2016) 116:90–9. doi: 10.1093/bja/aev294
- Figulla HR, Webb JG, Lauten A, Feldman T. The transcatheter valve technology pipeline for treatment of adult valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart* J. (2016) 37:2226–39. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw153
- Webb J, Gerosa G, Lefèvre T, Leipsic J, Spence M, Thomas M, et al. Multicenter evaluation of a next-generation balloon-expandable transcatheter aortic valve. *JACC* (2014) 64:2235–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.09.026
- Leclercq F, Akodad M, Macia JC, Gandet T, Lattuca B, Schmutz L, et al. Vascular complications and bleeding after transfermoral transcatheter aortic valve implantation performed through open surgical access. *Am J Cardiol.* (2015) 116:1399–404. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.08.003
- 25. Kadakia MB, Herrmann HC, Desai ND, Fox Z, Ogbara J, Anwaruddin S, et al. Factors associated with vascular complications in patients undergoing balloon-expandable transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve replacement via open versus percutaneous approaches. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2014) 7:570–6. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.113.001030
- Barbash IM, Barbanti M, Webb J, Molina-Martin De Nicolas J, Abramowitz Y, et al. Comparison of vascular closure devices for access site closure after transfemoral aortic valve implantation. *Eur Heart J.* (2015) 36:3370–9. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv417
- 27. Julinda M, David J, Mohamed AW, D RK, Hans T, Nina S, et al. One-year outcomes with two suture-mediated closure devices to achieve access-site haemostasis following transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *EuroIntervention* (2016) 12:1298–304. doi: 10.4244/EJJV12I10A213
- De Palma R, Settergren M, Rück A, Linder R, Saleh N. Impact of percutaneous femoral arteriotomy closure using the MANTATM device on vascular and bleeding complications after transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2018). doi: 10.1002/ccd.27595. [Epub ahead of print].
- 29. Sawaya FJ, Lefèvre T, Spaziano M, Roy A, Fernandez L, Garot P, et al. Transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve implantation: how minimalistic can we become? *J Interv Cardiol.* (2016) 29:628–31. doi: 10.1111/joic.12348
- Dato I, Burzotta F, Trani C, Crea F, Ussia GP. Percutaneous management of vascular access in transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve implantation. World J Cardiol. (2014) 6:836–46. doi: 10.4330/wjc.v6.i8.836
- 31. Curran H, Chieffo A, Buchanan GL, Bernelli C, Montorfano M, Maisano F, et al. A comparison of the femoral and radial crossover techniques

for vascular access management in transcatheter aortic valve implantation: the Milan experience. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2014) 83:156–61. doi: 10.1002/ccd.24913

- 32. Jolly SS, Amlani S, Hamon M, Yusuf S, Mehta SR. Radial versus femoral access for coronary angiography or intervention and the impact on major bleeding and ischemic events: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Am Heart J.* (2009) 157:132–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2008. 08.023
- Faurie B, Abdellaoui M, Wautot F, Staat P, Champagnac D, Wintzer-Wehekind J, et al. Rapid pacing using the left ventricular guidewire: reviving an old technique to simplify BAV and TAVI procedures. *Cathet Cardiovasc Intervent*. (2016) 88:988–93. doi: 10.1002/ccd.26666
- Grube E, Naber C, Abizaid A, Sousa E, Mendiz O, Lemos P, et al. Feasibility of transcatheter aortic valve implantation without balloon pre-dilation: a pilot study. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. (2011) 4:751–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2011.03.015
- 35. Fiorina C, Maffeo D, Curello S, Lipartiti F, Chizzola G, D'Aloia A, et al. Direct transcatheter aortic valve implantation with self-expandable bioprosthesis: feasibility and safety. *Cardiovasc Revasc Med* (2014) 15:200–3. doi: 10.1016/j.carrev.2014.03.005
- 36. Spaziano M, Sawaya F, Chevalier B, Roy A, Neylon A, Garot P, et al. Comparison of systematic predilation, selective predilation, and direct transcatheter aortic valve implantation with the SAPIEN S3 Valve. *Can J Cardiol.* (2017) 33:260–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2016.09.007
- Leclercq F, Robert P, Labour J, Lattuca B, Akodad M, Macia JC, et al. Prior balloon valvuloplasty versus DIRECT transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation (DIRECTAVI): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* (2017) 18:303. doi: 10.1186/s13063-017-2036-y
- Leclercq F, Iemmi A, Lattuca B, Macia JC, Gervasoni R, Roubille F, et al. Feasibility and safety of transcatheter aortic valve implantation performed without intensive care unit admission. *Am J Cardiol.* (2016) 118:99–106. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.04.019
- Mallikethi-Reddy S, Akintoye E, Telila T, Sudhakar R, Jagadeesh K, Briasoulis A, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation in the United States: Predictors of early hospital discharge. J Interv Cardiol. (2017) 30:149–55. doi: 10.1111/joic.12373
- Durand E, Eltchaninoff H, Canville A, Bouhzam N, Godin M, Tron C, et al. Feasibility and safety of early discharge after transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve implantation with the Edwards SAPIEN-XT prosthesis. *Am J Cardiol.* (2015) 115:1116–22. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.01.546
- Noad RL, Johnston N, McKinley A, Dougherty M, Nzewi OC, Jeganathan R, et al. A pathway to earlier discharge following TAVI: assessment of safety and resource utilization. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 87:134–42. doi: 10.1002/ccd.26005
- 42. Serletis-Bizios A, Durand E, Cellier G, Tron C, Bauer F, Glinel B, et al. A prospective analysis of early discharge after transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Am J Cardiol.* (2016) 118:866–72. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.06.035
- 43. Lauck SB, Wood DA, Baumbusch J, Kwon JY, Stub D, Achtem L, et al. Vancouver transcatheter aortic valve replacement clinical pathway: minimalist approach, standardized care, and discharge criteria to reduce length of stay. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* (2016) 9:312–21. doi: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.115.002541

Conflict of Interest Statement: TL is proctor for edwards and Abbott vascular MA received research grants from Edwards Lifescience and Medtronic.

Copyright © 2018 Akodad and Lefèvre. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Transcatheter Treatment of Bicuspid Aortic Valve Disease: Imaging and Interventional Considerations

Rajiv Das 1* and Rishi Puri 2*

¹ Freeman Hospital, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom, ² Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, United States

Patients with bicuspid aortic valve disease have systematically been excluded from large randomized clinical trials investigating transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) due to their younger age, lower surgical risk and complex aortic anatomy. The asymmetric nature of the bicuspid valve orifice often accompanied by heavy regional calcification has led to concerns regarding valve positioning and expansion. Bicuspid aortic valve disease patients are at heightened risk of TAVI-related complications including coronary occlusion, aortic dissection and annular rupture, as well as the known risks of progressive aortopathy in these patients. These unique anatomical characteristics pose challenges for TAVI operators. However, with recent and ongoing refinements in implantation technique, improvements in pre-procedural imaging and iterations in device design, TAVI is emerging as a safe and feasible treatment option in this population. Paravalvular aortic regurgitation and high pacemaker rates have been the Achilles Heel for TAVI in bicuspid valve patients, yet newer generation devices are yielding promising results. Further studies are required before TAVI ultimately emerges as a viable option in low and intermediate surgical-risk patients with bicuspid valve disease. This review comprehensively summarizes the epidemiology, pathology and current evidence for TAVI in patients with bicuspid aortic valve disease. We also outline some practical tips for performing TAVI in these patients.

Keywords: TAVI, bicuspid valve disease, CT, treatment, bicuspid aortic valve

INTRODUCTION

The transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) revolution for severe tricuspid aortic valve stenosis (AS) is well-recognized as an alternative to surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) for severe aortic stenosis. This has been established in the randomized clinical trials for balloon-expandable and self-expanding valves (1–4). TAVI is now regarded as the standard of care for patients with severe symptomatic AS that are considered inoperable or in patients at high surgical risk. More recently randomized clinical trials have shown non-inferiority when TAVI has been compared with SAVR in patients at intermediate or low surgical risk (5–7). Bicuspid aortic valve (BAV) has largely been excluded from seminal randomized clinical trials involving TAVI. This was due to concerns about (i) valve positioning and expansion due to the asymmetrical nature of the leaflets and heavy calcification leading to severe paravalvular leak (PVL), (ii) aortic annulus rupture and risk of coronary occlusion, (iii) concomitant aortopathy associated with BAV increasing

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Crochan John O'Sullivan, Triemli Hospital, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Augusto D'Onofrio, Università degli Studi di Padova, Italy Ozan Demir, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

*Correspondence:

Rajiv Das rajiv.das@nuth.nhs.uk Rishi Puri purir@ccf.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 28 March 2018 Accepted: 25 June 2018 Published: 19 July 2018

Citation:

Das R and Puri R (2018) Transcatheter Treatment of Bicuspid Aortic Valve Disease: Imaging and Interventional Considerations. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:91. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00091 the risk of spontaneous and iatrogenic aortic dissection and rupture, and (iv) concerns regarding the long-term durability of Transcatheter Heart Valves (THV), particularly in a younger BAV population. There is clear data on the safety and efficacy of TAVI in patients with tricuspid valve severe AS (1–10), and despite encouraging data from registries including BAV disease patients (11–14), TAVI has yet to establish itself in this patient cohort.

This review summarizes the evidence for TAVI in bicuspid aortic valve disease, the role of multi-slice computed tomography (MSCT) to aid procedural planning, and technical considerations to undertake when performing TAVI in BAV.

EPIDEMIOLOGY

BAV disease is a common congenital cardiac abnormality seen in adults and is frequently associated with AS (15). The estimated incidence of bicuspid aortic valves is 0.4–2.25% in the general population. The most frequent complication of BAV is AS, often requiring aortic valve replacement surgery. BAV is commonly associated with aortopathy leading to asymptomatic dilatation of the ascending aorta in the initial stages followed by aneurysm formation of the aorta and the potential lifethreatening complication of aortic dissection (16–20). In a large population based study involving nearly 200 patients with a mean follow-up of 15 years, 13% developed severe AS requiring SAVR. In this cohort of patients, the main indication for surgery was severe AS; performed at a younger age group compared with the general population (21).

Registry data has shown that 37% of BAV patients have moderate-to-severe AS at the time of their initial echocardiogram (22). The prevalence of bicuspid aortic valve disease in patients undergoing surgical aortic valve replacement has been reported to be as high as 50% in some surgical series, 27.5% amongst octogenarians, and up to 41.7% of septuagenarians (23). In an Asian transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) population, BAV has been reported in upto 50%, potentially posing unique challenges for percutaneous treatment options in the Asian landscape (24).

PATHOLOGY

BAV disease is frequently associated with valvular stenosis, valvular regurgitation, aortic coarctation, aortic dilatation, aneurysms, and dissection. It is essential that pre-procedural imaging assesses the thoracic aorta in BAV patients. Aortic root dilatation occurs in 50–60% of patients with a normally functioning bicuspid valve, increasing the risk of aortic dissection nine-fold (25). The etiology of ascending aortic dilatation may be due to genetic and hemodynamic factors that affect the aortic wall elasticity and strength. Genetic mutations in smooth muscle cells α actin (ACTA2) and transforming growth factor β receptor (TGFBR1 and TGFBR2) have been linked with aortopathy in BAV disease (26). A genetic link between aortic dilatation and BAV can be substantiated by the fact there is greater incidence of aortopathy in first degree relatives with BAV disease, and not

infrequently we see progressive aortic root dilatation in patients post SAVR with BAV disease (27).

Abnormalities in wall shear stress can arise due to the asymmetrical nature of the orifice in BAV patients. Studies using flow-sensitive MRI and four-dimensional (4D) cardiovascular MRI have looked at abnormalities in wall shear stress and flow patterns in the aortic wall for different BAV fusion patterns, which in turn has been linked with adverse remodeling within the aortic root wall (28, 29). The right and left cusp fusion variant of BAV is associated with asymmetrically elevated wall shear stress in the ascending aorta (30, 31). Phenotypic variations in BAV fusion patterns may need to be considered when assessing patients, especially if TAVI is to be extended to low-risk patients. As highlighted certain BAV fusion patterns are predictors of increased wall shear stress and aortic root dilatation (**Figure 1**).

CLASSIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR BICUSPID AORTIC VALVE DISEASE

Different classification systems exist for the varying BAV morphologies; based on the presence and characteristics of the raphe, commissural position, description of the cusp and its size and the aortic sinus characteristics (15, 21). The most widely used classification is by Sievers and Schmidtke; due to its simplicity and user friendliness (33). Valve morphology is classified according to the number of cusps and the presence of raphes, as well as the position and symmetry of the cusps. Type 0 has 2 symmetric leaflet/cusps and 1 commissure without evidence of a raphe, Type 1 has a single raphe due to fusion of the left coronary cusp with either the right or non-coronary cusp, and Type 2 arises when 2 raphes are present with fusion of both the right and non-coronary cusps (Figure 2). A functional (bicuspid) valve are classified as tricuspid valves with no raphe present, but there is fixation of the commissure between 2 cusps due to degenerative processes. Mylotte et al. used a modified Sievers classification system and observed higher rates of PVL in Sievers type 1 morphology (34.2%) than in Sievers type 0 (13.3%), possibly due to incomplete THV expansion due to calcified raphe and leaflet asymmetry (14).

Jilaihawi et al. proposed a classification system for BAV and described 3 subtypes, tricommissural, bicommisural raphe type, and bicommisural non-raphe type (11). The classification enabled a greater understanding of the interaction of the valve with the aortic-valvular complex at both the basal leaflet plane (presence or absence of a raphe) and at the commissural level (presence of 2 or 3 commissures). It was noted that the presence of a calcified raphe may impact on TAVI expansion and device apposition at the annulus. Tricommisural BAV type was not found to be associated with aortopathy and has widely been termed functional or acquired BAV disease. Tricommisural BAV arises from rheumatic, fibrotic, or calcific processes leading to focal commissural fusion (11). Tricommisural BAV disease is different from tricuspid valve aortic stenosis and may account for the higher incidence of PPM after TAVI. Interestingly, there were marked geographical differences between the subtypes of BAV. Non-raphe type bicommisural bicuspid AS was more





common in Asia, but not in North America or Europe. The classification system did not predict the rates of moderate or severe PVL (tricommisural 19%, bicommisural raphe type 19.5%, and bicommisural non-raphe subtype 15%). Thirty-day mortality rates according to the BAV subtypes were not found to be statistically different (tricommisural 4.2%, bicommissural raphe subtype 2.7%, and bicommisural non-raphe subtype 9.5%). There was also no difference in new permanent pacemaker implantation rates between the BAV subtypes.

CURRENT REGISTRY DATA ON BICUSPID AORTIC VALVE DISEASE

Our current understanding of the safety and efficacy of treating BAV patients with TAVI is largely based on small registries, most of which used older generation THVs (14, 34, 35). A multi-center study raised concerns regarding an excess of bioprosthetic PVL in bicuspid aortic valve disease patients undergoing TAVI (14). This was a retrospective registry of 139 patients across 12 centers collecting clinical, procedural, and follow-up data. Procedural mortality was 3.6%, with THV embolization occurring in 2.2% with a 1-year mortality of 17.5%. MSCT-based TAVI sizing was used in 63.5% of patients. AR grade 2+ post-TAVI was not infrequent at 28.4% which decreased to 17.4% when CT-sizing and planning algorithms were used. This series demonstrated that pre-procedural MSCT imaging can minimize PVL in TAVI for BAV disease by more accurately sizing the annulus. In a registry using a newer generation SAPIEN 3 valve, 51 patients with BAV disease from 8 centers were evaluated (13). The incidence of trivial and no AR post-TAVI was 63% and mild AR was 37%. The 30-day mortality rate was reported at 3.9%.

In a study of 130 patients with severe AS and BAV from 14 centers undergoing TAVI (11), the 30-day outcomes were comparable with those reported in patients with tricuspid valve stenosis (1, 2, 7, 36, 37). There was however an excess of new pacemaker implantation which was similar for balloon expandable and self-expanding valves (**Table 1**). An increase in significant PVL was not observed in this study as compared with tricuspid valve stenosis patients undergoing TAVI. Once again, PVL rates were lower in this study if MSCT data was used for sizing.

The Bicuspid AS TAVI multicentre registry is the largest study to date evaluating 546 patients with either bicuspid or tricuspid AS who were propensity scored matched (12). Patients were recruited from Europe, North America and the Asia specific region. The patients with bicuspid severe AS had lower STS scores and represented an intermediate risk profile population, and furthermore the use of a large prostheses was more commonly associated with bicuspid AS patients. The major findings of this study were bicuspid severe AS patients had more frequent conversion to open surgery and a significantly lower device success rate as compared with propensity matched tricuspid AS patients. There were no significant betweengroup differences in procedural complications such aortic root injury and moderate-to-severe PVL when new generation devices were used. All-cause mortality at 2-year followup was comparable between the bicuspid and tricuspid groups.

TABLE 1 | Summary of 30-day outcomes in the main TAVI trials in patients with bicuspid aortic stenosis.

Study	Patients (n)	BE (%)	SE (%)	ME* (%)	Death (%)	All CVE (%)	Valve embolization (%)	PVL > Mild (%)	New PPM (%)	Conversion to surgery (%)	Need for second valve (%)	References
Yoon et al.	546	58	34	8	3.7	2.9	NA	10.4	15.4	2.0	4.8	(12)
Perlman et al.	51	100	0	0	3.9	1.9	0	0	23.5	0	0	(13)
Jilaihawi et al. Mylotte et al.	130 139	54 34	46 66	0 0	1.5 5.0	3.2 2.2	1.5 2.2	18.1 28.4	26.2 23.2	3.1 2.2	3.1 3.6	(11) (14)

ME*, mechanical expanding valve LOTUS valve; NA, not available; CVE, cerebrovascular event, stroke, or transient ischemic attack.

PROSTHESIS CHOICE IN BICUSPID VALVE DISEASE

Operators need to be cognisant of the potential advantages and disadvantages of balloon-expandable and self-expanding devices in the BAV space. Balloon-expandable valves exert greater radial force as compared with self-expanding devices and may circularize the native annulus minimizing potential sites for paravalvular leaks. Mylotte et al. (14) reported outcomes on both balloon-expandable and self-expanding devices observing a greater incidence of PVL ≥ 2 with selfexpanding valves (19.6% with Sapien XT and 32.2% with CoreValve). This may be attributable to the reduced radial strength in self-expanding devices increasing the likelihood of residual PVL. Conversely, when comparisons are made using newer generation balloon-expandable and self-expanding devices which feature an external sealing skirt there were no significant differences between the two general valve designs (38).

Rates of annular rupture have been reported to be as high as 5.3% in some series using the balloon-expandable Sapien XT valve (38). This may have been largely driven by a degree of oversizing required for device anchoring to prevent significant PVL. With improvements in design of the newer-generation balloon expandable valves there is sufficient anchoring with less oversizing which has led to acceptable rates of PVL and annular rupture (39, 40). When sizing is guided by CT annular measurements a degree of oversizing (7–13% for the S3 THV design) appears to be safe with newer generation valves, leading to a reduction in AR in patients with bicuspid valve disease.

In a series of 51 patients who underwent TAVI in bicuspid AS using the new generation balloon expandable S3 valve, device success rate was reported to be 98% with no cases of moderate to severe aortic regurgitation (13). Improvements in design of the newer generation S3 THVs have resulted in a lower profile device with more accurate positioning, and improved sealing with its polyethylene terephthalate outer skirt. The Lotus mechanical expanding valve has an outer adaptive seal with the ability to be repositioned and retrieved. Promising results were also demonstrated with regards device success when this device was used to treat bicuspid AS patients (38).

NEW PERMANENT PACEMAKER IMPLANTATION RATES FOR TAVI IN BICUSPID VALVE DISEASE

One of the main limitations of TAVI in tricuspid valve severe AS compared with SAVR is the high incidence of conduction abnormalities. New permanent pacemaker implantation has emerged to be an important short-term complication; reported to be around 6.0% for balloon expandable valves and up to 28.0% for self-expanding valves (41, 42). There are no specific design advances that have been incorporated in the newer generation THVs to reduce the risk of permanent pacemaker implantation. Moreover, there has been a reported increase in conduction abnormalities with newer generation devices (43). Mauri et al. identified technical and anatomical factors predisposing to new permanent pacemaker implantation (44). In this study using the new generation SAPIEN 3 THV, 33 of 229 patients received a pacemaker following TAVI. Pre-existing RBBB, left ventricular outflow tract calcification and an implantation depth defined as >25.5% of the stent frame below the annulus were each found to be important predictors of new permanent pacemaker implantation. This study highlighted important technical factors such as reducing the depth of the valve implant by a mere 3 mm reduced the need for permanent pacemaker implantation by 52%. TAVI operators will need to consider such technical aspects to reduce pacing rates, yet balance these with the risk of THV embolization with higher implants (45).

For bicuspid valve severe AS, pacemaker implantation rates were similar for balloon expandable (BE) and self-expanding (SE) THVs (11, 14). Jilaihawi et al. reported pacing rates of 25.5% for balloon expanding valves and 26.9% for self-expanding valves (11). Mylotte et al. also reported higher than expected pacing rates (16.7% for balloon expanding and 26.7% for self-expanding valves) in TAVI patients (14).

It has been postulated that the higher incidence of PPM implantation rates in BAV patients is related to asymmetric THV expansion due to resistant calcified raphe and leaflet fusion. There may be preferential expansion posteriorly to the non-coronary cusp which lies adjacent to the atrioventricular node. In tricuspid valve disease or incomplete raphe type BAV, there may be a more symmetrical expansion of THVs, thus diverting tissue away from the AV node (11). The presence of bulky calcification in the Sievers L-R Type 1 BAV may cause protrusion
toward the membranous part of the interventricular septum leading to atrioventricular and intraventricular conduction block (46). The higher pacemaker rates may thus be associated with difficulty in valve positioning due to irregular leaflet shape and inability to achieve a coaxial position during valve deployment. This can often lead to lower implantation depths, known to be associated with higher pacing rates. Patients with BAV disease also tend to be younger, and as TAVI moves to intermediate and the low-risk, complications such as pacemaker implantations will be important. Understanding the factors contributing to new permanent pacemaker implantation need to be addressed with particular focus on implantation depth and important calcification in the left ventricular outflow tract.

CORONARY OCCLUSION AND ANNULAR RUPTURE

The data on acute coronary occlusion during TAVI stems from isolated case reports and case series. The incidence is reported to be <1% and is a rare yet potentially life-threatening (4, 47–52). Randomized control trials of patients with tricuspid severe AS; report an acute coronary obstruction incidence of 0.1–1.2%. Data from bicuspid TAVI registry data report a similar 0–1.5% incidence of acute coronary obstruction (11–14, 38). Certain factors may increase the risk of coronary obstruction post-TAVI such as female sex, coronary ostia height of <10 mm, sinus of Valsalva dimensions and the presence of severe valve calcification (53). Most reported cases of coronary obstruction post-TAVI received a balloon-expandable THV.

Recent reports have arisen of the development of delayed coronary obstruction (DCO) occurring hours or days following TAVI. In a recently published international registry of 17,092 patients undergoing TAVI, the reported incidence of delayed coronary obstruction was 0.22% (54). DCO can be divided into early (0–7 days) and late (>7 days) post-TAVI. The etiology of DCO relates to a number factors such as a narrow sinuses of Valsalva, low coronary heights, excessive calcification, valve-in-valve TAVI and pharmacological factors such as antiplatelet and anticoagulation (54). Aortic root injury and annulus rupture likewise is a rare complication in BAV undergoing TAVI; reported to have an incidence ranging from 0 to 2% in the reported literature (11–14, 38).

COMPARISON OF OUTCOMES BETWEEN OLD AND NEWER GENERATION THVS IN BAV

THV device iteration significantly addressed the shortcomings of earlier generation THVs which were limited by PVL. Significant PVL post-TAVI has been shown to correlate with increased mortality (37, 55–57). PVL rates have improved significantly with newer-generation devices for patients with tricuspid AS patients, and has also been seen when newer-generation THVs are used in BAV patients (13). In a recently reported BAV registry comparing older versus newer generation THVs in BAV, moderate or

severe paravalvular leak was significantly less frequent with newgeneration devices compared to early generation devices (0.0 vs. 8.5%; p = 0.002), which resulted in a higher device success rate (92.2 vs. 80.9%; p = 0.01) (38). When compared with TAVI in tricuspid valve stenosis, there were no differences in procedural related complications with new generation devices. This was true for cumulative mortality at 2 years which were similar for tricuspid and bicuspid valves with newer generation devices (12). This has also been seen in several other registries using the SAPIEN 3 valve in tricuspid AS (58-61). Improvements in PVL have largely been made by developing a poly-ethylene terephthalate sealing skirt along with more accurate positioning. With the Lotus valve, the incidence of moderate to severe PVL has been reported to be as low as 2.0%, largely due to the adaptive seal and optimal positioning due to device retrievability and repositionability (62).

TECHNICAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR TAVI IN BAV

BAV disease poses many technical challenges for TAVI operators. Selection of the optimal angiographic projection and visualization of the aortic annulus can be difficult due to the asymmetric shape of the cusps and sinus of Valsalva. Calcium distribution throughout the aorto-annular complex is frequently asymmetric, along with raphe resistant to pre-dilatation and aortic root dilatation. These variations may promote poor valve expansion and thus adversely affect valve hemodynamics and durability which in turn can lead to high transvalvular gradients, PVL, device malpositioning, and higher permanent pacemaker rates post-TAVI (11, 12, 14, 63). The aortic annulus is often elliptical in shape, larger in size, and associated with a dilated and horizontal aorta, (64) further giving rise to difficulties in device positioning and expansion. The native valve leaflets can be capacious due to leaflet fusion resulting in longer leaflets increasing the risk of coronary obstruction (34, 65).

Himbert et al. reported on the use of self-expanding devices in 15 patients with BAV disease (66). The device was associated with non-circular expansion at the annular level which was less frequent when the device was implanted lower in the left ventricular outflow tract. In another series of 21 patients who had post-procedural MSCT imaging, non-circular expansion of the valve was seen more commonly with self-expanding valves due to the asymmetrical nature of the bicuspid valve orifice and resistant raphe (67). With balloon-expandable valves there have been reports of asymmetric longitudinal valve expansion, however further assessment is required for both self-expanding and balloon-expandable valves to ascertain if this ultimately affects leaflet motion and durability (13).

Imaging for TAVI in Bicuspid-Aortic Valve Disease

Sizing of THVs can be difficult due to multiple anatomical considerations including a large and eccentric annulus, calcified raphe, horizontal aorta, complex calcification, and aortic root

dilatation. Each of these variables can interplay and make TAVI implantation technically challenging. MSCT has enabled operators to have a better understanding of the anatomy of BAV disease, critical for procedural planning pre-TAVI to minimize complications (68).

Due to the percutaneous nature of TAVI, operators lack the ability to expose the surgical field and directly visualize the aortic valve, annulus and structures around it. MSCT is used to provide a comprehensive 3-dimensional data-set of the aortic valve anatomy and identification of concomitant aortopathy. MSCT provides anatomical measurements of the aortic annulus, detail of the aortic valve, calcium burden, aortic root ("sinus of Valsalva"), coronary ostia and access site, all of which are essential to minimize complications and improve procedural outcomes. In BAV, MSCT is key to providing information on leaflet morphology, symmetry of the valve leaflets, presence of raphe and the location of calcification all of which can influence the type and size of THV selected (**Figure 3**) (69).

In a study using MSCT which looked at the shape and size of the annulus in bicuspid (n = 200) and tricuspid valves (n = 200), the aortic annulus was found to be less elliptical in bicuspid than tricuspid valves (ellipticity index 1.24 vs. 1.29, respectively). This study also highlighted that biscuspid valve patients had large annular areas compared with tricuspid valves (5.21 vs. 4.63 cm²) (27). Reports from recent large series of bicuspid patients indicate that annular dimensions still fall within the valve sizing recommendations for current commercially available THVs (13, 14, 67).

THV oversizing can lead to distortion and poor expansion of the valve prosthesis leading to PVL. This can be improved with intra-procedural post-dilatation, however there is a risk of annular rupture, aortic root haematoma and heart block with subsequent post-dilatations. A self-expanding THV may minimize the risk of annular rupture, however when compared with balloon expandable THVs, there is a greater incidence of PVL and heart block in BAV disease patients (38, 70).

Balloon Sizing

Other techniques can be used to help with valve sizing such as fluoroscopic balloon sizing of the aortic valve annulus pre-TAVI (71). Balloon sizing can complement MSCT especially when there is ambiguity regarding valve sizing and when measurements fall in the "gray zone" between two valve sizes. In the presence of bulky cusps or long leaflets, balloon sizing can mimic valve implantation and also identify patients at risk of coronary obstruction. It provides additional information that is not available from MSCT or transoesphageal echocardiography (TEE) and can help predict how situations such as severe, eccentric calcification may behave and the complications that can arise from it.

Commonly in BAV disease the abnormal geometry at the annular level and unequal-sized leaflets makes alignment of the two or three hinge points (depending on BAV type) difficult. MSCT is useful in tricuspid valve disease to find the optimal implantation projection of the aortic root and an orthogonal alignment of the native annulus. This however, is often found to be unhelpful in BAV disease. Techniques have been described using the pigtail catheter and altering the fluoroscopic projection to find an optimal view for implantation; "follow the right cusp rule" (72) and the "Right cusp rule, Part II" (73).

Valve Crossing

Crossing the stenotic BAV may be challenging and time-consuming, increasing the risk of embolic cerebral complications. Careful interrogation of the MSCT can identify the fused cusps in BAV disease and may help with predicting the location of valve opening and maximize the chance of the wire to cross. Frangieh et al. (68) have described a step by step approach to crossing a stenotic BAV. Wire movement should start from the non-fused leaflet ("single cusp") which has no raphe and then with careful rotation direct the wire in small steps toward the fused cusps. If starting in the NCC rotate clockwise, or anticlockwise if starting in the LCC. In BAV with no raphe, there are only two anatomical cusps and the guide wire should be slowly manipulated between each cusp carefully interrogating the opening between the leaflets. In more angulated aortic roots, catheters with a bigger curve such as an Amplatz-2 (AL-2) may help with retrograde crossing, and/or softer hydrophilic coated wires such as the Glidewire. In extreme circumstances when conventional retrograde wire crossing of the BAV is not possible, ad hoc trans-septal puncture followed



FIGURE 3 | Computer Tomography Imaging of bicuspid aortic valve. (A) Sievers Type 1 Raphe-type bicuspid aortic valve (BAV) with mixed cusp fusion (left-right). (B) Large bulky cusps measuring 16.9 mm maximum diameter. (C) Asymmetric large annulus. (D) Low lying coronary ostia at 11 mm combined with large bulky leaflets indicate a risk of coronary occlusion during TAVI. by wire delivery into the left ventricular apex, anterograde aortic valve crossing, wire externalization and subsequent aorto-venous loop creation can be undertaken. A catheter of choice (i.e., AL) can then be placed retrogradely across the stenotic BAV thus facilitating regular fully percutaneous transfemoral TAVI (**Figure 4**) (74, 75).

HOW TO PERFORM TAVI IN BICUSPID AORTIC VALVE DISEASE

Historically, patients with BAV disease with severe AS were referred for SAVR. However, there is an increasing tendency for some younger patients to opt for a less invasive percutaneous



FIGURE 4 | (A) Transeptal puncture and positioning of hydrophilic wire and Judkins Right in the left ventricle. (B) Anterograde crossing of the aortic valve and wire changed for exchange wire. (C) Amplatz Goose Neck Snare used to snare the exchange wire. (D) Exchange wire then externalized via the left femoral artery [Adapted with permission from the Rodríguez-Olivares et al. (75)].



FIGURE 5 | MSCT imaging of bicuspid aortic valve. (A) Annulus measurement with minimum diameter of 17 mm and maximum diameter of 24 mm and area of 325 mm². (B) Cross-sectional view taken 4 mm above the level of the annulus. The valve is a Type 0 Sievers BAV with no raphe. (C) Distance to coronary ostia > 10 mm. (D) The distance from the aortic annulus to the mitral valve ring measures 10.1 mm acceptable for TAVI implantation.

procedure, particularly in the presence of significant comorbidity or prior cardiac surgery. The selection of the type and size of the valve can be challenging due to the anatomical reasons outlined above, with MSCT playing an important role in THV device selection and implantation technique. Sizing and implantation technique is key to success in TAVI in bicuspid valve disease. Due the asymmetric nature of the aortic annulus, eccentric heavy calcification and raphe resistant to dilation, THV valves are implanted higher and anchored at the tightest part of the commissural. This has in part led to sizing of valves at +4 mm above the annulus at the intercommisural space. The final implantation depth are often higher due to the anchoring effect of the calcification at the level of the commisures with <4 m for CoreValve, <3 mm for CoreValve Evolute R (Medtronic, Minneapolis, Minnesota) and atrio-ventricular ratio of 60/40 for Sapien XT/S3 (Edwards Lifesciences, Minnesota). Here we present 2 illustrative cases of how to perform TAVI in BAV.

Case 1

A 67-year old female with acute respiratory failure due to severe AS was referred for consideration of TAVI. She underwent ventricular septal defect repair at the age of 10. At the age of 57 she presented with progressive breathlessness secondary to severe mitral regurgitation and underwent a mitral valve replacement with a 27 mm Carpentier Edwards Magna Valve. Six years later she developed further progressive dyspnoea and underwent an urgent redo mitral valve replacement for a stenotic prosthetic mitral valve. A 33 mm Carbomedics Valve was inserted into the mitral position. She has end-stage renal disease requiring haemodialysis.

Transthoracic echocardiography showed a degenerated bicuspid aortic valve with a peak velocity of 5.2 m/s (peak gradient 108 mmHg; mean gradient 68 mmHg, area of 0.43 cm²). The mitral valve prosthesis was functioning normally. Invasive coronary angiography revealed normal coronary arteries. Following a Heart team discussion, it was decided to perform TAVI due to her previous mitral and redo mitral valve replacement. The aortic valve was a Sievers Type 0 bicuspid valve. The aortic annulus minimum diameter was 17 mm, maximum diameter 24 mm, perimeter 69 mm, and an area of 355 mm² (Figure 5). The common femoral arteries measured 6 mm bilaterally. A technical concern regarding TAVI in this lady was the interaction of the TAVI valve with the mitral valve prosthesis and the risk of valve embolization



FIGURE 6 | Implantation of SAPIEN 3 in patient with bicuspid aortic valve with previous mitral valve replacement. (A) Aortogram for root alignment with pigtail catheter in the right coronary cusp. (B) Balloon sizing with 20 mm balloon touching hinge points with simultaneous aortogram showing filling of coronary arteries. (C) Successful deployment of 23 mm SAPIEN 3 valve with no paravalvular leakage.



FIGURE 7 | MSCT imaging of the aortic annulus post TAVI implantation with 23 mm Edwards Sapien Valve. (A) shows circular deployment of the transcatheter heart valve. (B) Left ventricular outflow tract view showing bi-leaflet mitral valve prosthesis and TAVI valve post deployment. (C) Volume rendered imaging confirming there is no interaction between the base of the TAVI valve and mitral valve prosthesis.

during deployment. The MSCT identified the rim between the mitral valve prosthesis and the aortic annulus to measure 10 mm, which was felt to provide an adequate landing zone for the THV, with the risk of valve embolization deemed to be small.

The right femoral artery was cannulated and a 14 French Esheath was introduced. The annulus area was felt to be between two valve sizes (23and 26 mm Sapien S3 valves). The valve was crossed retrogradely using an Amplatz Left1 diagnostic catheter and a "straight" standard wire. The wire was then exchanged with a pre-shaped small Safari wire (Boston Scientific, Natick, MA, USA). A balloon aortic valvuloplasty was performed and simultaneous aortogram was performed. An aortogram confirmed that during inflation the 20 mm balloon adequately filled the aortic annulus and was in contact with the hinge points (Figure 6). Coronary filling was also visualized. It was therefore decided to implant a 23 mm Edwards Sapien S3 Valve. Careful attention was given during valve positioning ensuring the valve skirt was positioned just below the hinge points. The valve was confirmed to be well positioned with good hemodynamics without paravalvular regurgitation. Following valve deployment, MSCT was performed confirming circular expansion of the valve and no infringement on the mitral valve prosthesis (Figure 7).

In cases of BAV, large aortic annuli pose a challenge for the TAVI operator as large annular dimensions fall outside the recommended sizing ranges for currently available THVs. There are concerns regarding significant paravalvular leakage post TAVI deployment in this group of patients. In certain cases with large annuli the inter-commisural space can be used for the landing zone with good effect. Improvements in THV design (in particular the sealing skirt) and technical considerations such as landing the valve in the inter-commisural space means that these patients can be treated with good outcomes. This forms the rationale of some TAVI operators who suggest to size and land the THV 4 mm above the measured annulus.

Case 2

A 58 year-old male with end stage renal disease due to IgA nephropathy who had previously undergone a renal transplant which had failed was declined for redo renal transplantation. He had progressive dyspnoea and a history of syncope on exertion.

The transthoracic echocardiogram confirmed severe stenosis of a BAV with a peak velocity of 3.9 m/s (peak gradient 61 mmHg, mean gradient of 39 mmHg and area of 0.89 cm²). There was also the presence of moderate aortic regurgitation. Coronary angiography revealed non-flow limiting coronary artery disease. MSCT confirmed a Sievers Type 1 bicuspid valve with a partial raphe between the right and left cusps. The aortic annulus was large with a perimeter measuring 98 mm, mean Sinus of Valsalva diameter of 40 mm and an inter-commisural distance of 29 mm (**Figure 8**). Both common femoral arteries were of large caliber and measured 8 mm on the left and 9 mm on the right. Following discussion by the Heart team and careful analysis of the MSCT it was felt that TAVI was technically possible if deployed at the inter-commisural space.

TAVI was performed under local anesthetic and the right femoral artery was cannulated and a 20 Fr sheath was inserted. The left femoral artery was cannulated and a 7 Fr sheath was inserted. The left femoral vein was used for insertion of a temporary pacemaker lead. The bicuspid aortic valve was crossed retrogradely using a Amplatz Left 1 diagnostic catheter and a hydrophilic coated straight tipped Glidewire. This was exchanged for a pre-shaped Safari wire and placed in the left ventricular apex. A balloon valvuloplasty was performed using a 25 mm balloon and a simultaneous aortogram was performed. The aortogram revealed a leak of contrast into the left ventricular cavity during balloon aortic valvuloplasty and felt to be an inadequate seal. A 34 mm Evolut CoreValve was deployed at the level of the leaflet tips, with hemodynamics and echocardiography confirming a good result with no significant PVL. The peak velocity across the TAVI valve was 1.8 m/s, peak gradient of 14 mmHg and area of 1.11 cm^2 .

CONCLUSIONS

Despite encouraging data, especially with newer generation THVs for BAV disease, caution needs to be taken as patients with bicuspid AS are more likely to be younger (12, 38, 76) and therefore concerns regarding significant PVL and high permanent pacemaker implantation rates need to be





addressed before offering it to younger and lower operative risk patients. With improvements in the design of the sealing skirts of THVs, PVL rates have reduced and the ability to reposition and retrieve the devices have led to more technical success with TAVI in selected patients with BAV disease. Procedural success is high and the survival rates are similar to those in patients with tricuspid valve AS undergoing TAVI. However, complications such as moderate or severe PVL and aortic root dissection are more common in BAV disease compared to tricuspid aortic valve patients. As the indications for TAVI expands with data supporting its use in the younger and intermediate risk group patients, the proportion of patients with BAV is expected rise. Specifically designed prospective studies are required to provide further evidence on durability, anatomical selection criteria and long-term

REFERENCES

- Popma JJ, Adams DH, Reardon MJ, Yakubov SJ, Kleiman NS, Heimansohn D, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement using a self-expanding bioprosthesis in patients with severe aortic stenosis at extreme risk for surgery. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2014) 63:1972–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.02.556
- Adams DH, Popma JJ, Reardon MJ, Yakubov SJ, Coselli JS, Deeb GM, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement with a self-expanding prosthesis. N Engl J Med. (2014) 370:1790–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1400590
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack M, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve implantation for aortic stenosis in patients who cannot undergo surgery. N Engl J Med. (2010) 363:1597–607. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1008232
- Smith CR, Leon MB, Mack MJ, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic-valve replacement in high-risk patients. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 364:2187–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1103510
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack MJ, Makkar RR, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, et al. Transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2016) 2016;1609–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1514616
- Reardon MJ, Van Mieghem NM, Popma JJ, Kleiman NS, Søndergaard L, Mumtaz M, et al. Surgical or transcatheter aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:1321–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1700456
- Thyregod HG, Steinbruchel DA, Ihlemann N, Nissen H, Kjeldsen BJ, Petursson P, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve replacement in patients with severe aortic valve stenosis: 1-year results from the all-comers NOTION randomized clinical trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2015) 65:2184–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.03.014
- Thourani VH, Kodali S, Makkar RR, Herrmann HC, Williams M, Babaliaros V, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement versus surgical valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients: a propensity score analysis. *Lancet* (2016) 387:2218–25. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30073-3
- Kapadia SR, Leon MB, Makkar RR, Tuzcu EM, Svensson LG, Kodali S, et al. 5-year outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve replacement compared with standard treatment for patients with inoperable aortic stenosis (PARTNER 1): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2015) 385:2485–91. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60290-2
- Mack MJ, Leon MB, Smith CR, Miller DC, Moses JW, Tuzcu EM, et al. 5-year outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve replacement or surgical aortic valve replacement for high surgical risk patients with aortic stenosis (PARTNER 1): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2015) 385:2477–84. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60308-7
- Jilaihawi H, Chen M, Webb J, Himbert D, Ruiz CE, Rodés-Cabau J, et al. A bicuspid aortic valve imaging classification for the TAVR era. JACC Cardiovasc. Imaging (2016) 9:1145–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2015.12.022
- 12. Yoon SH, Bleiziffer S, De Backer O, Delgado V, Arai T, Ziegelmueller J, et al. Outcomes in transcatheter aortic valve replacement for bicuspid

success before it becomes a viable option for patients with BAV.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RD and RP wrote the manuscript and provided substantial contribution to the discussion and content. All the authors researched data for the article, and reviewed and/or edited the manuscript before submission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors can confirm that full written informed consent was obtained from the patients for publication of the case reports included in this review.

versus tricuspid aortic valve stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 69:2579–89. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.03.017

- Perlman GY, Blanke P, Dvir D, Pache G, Modine T, Barbanti M, et al. Bicuspid aortic valve stenosis: favorable early outcomes with a next-generation transcatheter heart valve in a multicenter study. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:817–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.01.002
- Mylotte D, Lefevre T, Søndergaard L, Watanabe Y, Modine T, Dvir D, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement in bicuspid aortic valve disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 64:2330–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.09.039
- Michelena H, Prakash S, Della Corte A, Bissell M, Anavekar N, Mathieu P, et al. Bicuspid aortic valve: identifying knowledge gaps and rising to the challenge from the International Bicuspid Aortic Valve Consortium (BAVCon). *Circulation* (2014) 129:2691–704. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.007851
- Hahn RT, Roman MJ, Mogtadek AH, Devereux RB. Association of aortic dilation with regurgitant, stenotic and functionally normal bicuspid aortic valves. J Am Coll Cardiol. (1992) 19:283–88. doi: 10.1016/0735-1097(92)90479-7
- Olson LJ, Subramanian R, Edwards WD. Surgical pathology of pure aortic insufficiency: a study of 225 gases. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (1984) 59:835–41. doi: 10.1016/S0025-6196(12)65618-3
- Nkomo VT, Enriquez-Sarano M, Ammash NM, Melton LJ, Bailey KR, Desjardins V, et al. Bicuspid aortic valve associated with aortic dilatation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2003) 23:351–6. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000055441.28842.0A
- Keane MG, Wiegers SE, Plappert T, Pochettino A, Bavaria JE, Sutton MG. Bicuspid aortic valves are associated with aortic dilatation out of proportion to coexistent valvular lesions. *Circulation* (2000) 102(19 Suppl 3):III35-9. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.suppl_3.III-35
- Pachulski RT, Weinberg AL, Chan KL. Aortic aneurysm in patients with functionally normal or minimally stenotic bicuspid aortic valve. *Am J Cardiol.* (1991) 67:781–2. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(91)90544-U
- Michelena HI, Desjardins VA, Avierinos, J.-F., Russo A, Nkomo VT, Sundt TM, et al. Natural history of asymptomatic patients with normally functioning or minimally dysfunctional bicuspid aortic valve in the community. *Circulation* (2008) 117:2776–84. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.740878
- Kong WK, Regeer MV, Ng AC, McCormack L, Poh KK, Yeo TC, et al. Sex differences in phenotypes of bicuspid aortic valve and aortopathy. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging* (2017) 10:e005155. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.116.005155
- Roberts WC, Ko JM, Garner WL, Filardo G, Henry AC, Hebeler RF, et al. Valve structure and survival in octogenarians having aortic valve replacement for aortic stenosis (±aortic regurgitation) with versus without coronary artery bypass grafting at a single US medical center (1993 to 2005). Am J Cardiol. (2007) 100:489–95. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2007.0 3.050

- 24. Jilaihawi H, Wu Y, Yang Y, Xu L, Chen M, Wang J, et al. Morphological characteristics of severe aortic stenosis in China: imaging corelab observations from the first Chinese transcatheter aortic valve trial. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* (2015) 85:752–61. doi: 10.1002/ccd.25863
- Ward C. Clinical significance of the bicuspid aortic valve. *Heart* (2000) 83:81–5. doi: 10.1136/heart.83.1.81
- Ng AC, Wang WY, Delgado V, Bax JJ. Bicuspid aortic valve disease: new insights. *Struct Heart* (2017). doi: 10.1080/24748706.2017.1329572
- Bissell MM, Biasiolli L, Oswal A, Loudon M, Hess AT, Watkins H, et al. Inherited aortopathy assessment in relatives of patients with a bicuspid aortic valve. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 69:904–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.11.068
- Bissell MM, Hess AT, Biasiolli L, Glaze SJ, Loudon M, Pitcher A, et al. Aortic dilation in bicuspid aortic valve disease: flow pattern is a major contributor and differs with valve fusion type. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging* (2013) 6:499–507. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.113.000528
- 29. Mahadevia R, Barker AJ, Schnell S, Entezari P, Kansal P, Fedak PW, et al. Bicuspid aortic cusp fusion morphology alters aortic three-dimensional outflow patterns, wall shear stress, and expression of aortopathy. *Circulation* (2014) 129:673–82. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.003026
- Barker AJ, Markl M. The role of hemodynamics in bicuspid aortic valve disease. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2011) 39:805–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2011.01.006
- Hope MD, Hope TA, Crook SE, Ordovas KG, Urbania TH, Alley MT, et al. 4D flow CMR in assessment of valve-related ascending aortic disease. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging* (2011) 4:781–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2011.05.004
- Bissell MM, Hess AT, Glaze SJ, Pitcher A, Robson MD, Barker AJ, et al. Cusp fusion pattern in bicuspid aortic valve disease predicts severity of aortic flow abnormalities. *J Cardiovas Mag Reson*. (2013) 15(Suppl 1): O96. doi: 10.1186/1532-429X-15-S1-O69
- Sievers HH, Schmidtke C. A classification system for the bicuspid aortic valve from 304 surgical specimens. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2007) 133:1226–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2007.01.039
- 34. Yousef A, Simard T, Webb J, Rodés-Cabau J, Costopoulos C, Kochman J, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation in patients with bicuspid aortic valve: a patient level multi-center analysis. *Int J Cardiol.* (2015) 189:282–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.04.066
- 35. Kochman J, Huczek Z, Scisło P, Dabrowski M, Chmielak Z, Szymanski P, et al. Comparison of one-and 12-month outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve replacement in patients with severely stenotic bicuspid versus tricuspid aortic valves (results from a multicenter registry). *Am J Cardiol.* (2014) 114:757–62. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.05.063
- Kodali SK, Williams MR, Smith CR, Svensson LG, Webb JG, Makkar RR, et al. Two-year outcomes after transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:1686–95. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200384
- Abdel-Wahab M, Mehilli J, Frerker C, Neumann FJ, Kurz T, Tölg R, et al. Comparison of balloon-expandable vs self-expandable valves in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement: the CHOICE randomized clinical trial. JAMA (2014) 311:1503–14. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.3316
- Yoon SH, Lefèvre T, Ahn JM, Perlman GY, Dvir D, Latib A, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement with early-and new-generation devices in bicuspid aortic valve stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2016) 68:1195–205. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.06.041
- 39. Yang TH, Webb JG, Blanke P, Dvir D, Hansson NC, Nørgaard BL, et al. Incidence and severity of paravalvular aortic regurgitation with multidetector computed tomography nominal area oversizing or undersizing after transcatheter heart valve replacement with the Sapien 3: a comparison with the Sapien, XT. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. (2015) 8:462–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.10.014
- 40. Tan JS, Leipsic J, Perlman G, Stub D, Dvir D, Hansson NC, et al. A strategy of underexpansion and ad hoc post-dilation of balloonexpandable transcatheter aortic valves in patients at risk of annular injury: favorable mid-term outcomes. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 8:1727–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.08.011
- Khatri PJ, Webb JG, Rodés-Cabau J, Fremes SE, Ruel M, Lau K, et al. Adverse effects associated with transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a meta-analysis of contemporary studies. *Ann Intern Med.* (2013) 158:35–46. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-158-1-201301010-00007

- Siontis GC, Jüni P, Pilgrim T, Stortecky S, Büllesfeld L, Meier B, et al. Predictors of permanent pacemaker implantation in patients with severe aortic stenosis undergoing TAVR: a meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 64:129–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.04.033
- Urena M, Rodes-Cabau J. Managing heart block after transcatheter aortic valve implantation: from monitoring to device selection and pacemaker indications. *Eurointervention* (2015) 11:W101–5. doi: 10.4244/EJJV11SWA30
- 44. Mauri V, Reimann A, Stern D, Scherner M, Kuhn E, Rudolph V, et al. Predictors of permanent pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic valve replacement with the SAPIEN 3. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:2200– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.08.034
- Urena M, Rodés-Cabau J. Conduction abnormalities. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. (2016) 21:2217–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.09.040
- Guyton RA, Padala M. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement in bicuspid aortic stenosis: early success but concerning red flags. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:825–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.02.042
- Eltchaninoff H, Prat A, Gilard M, Leguerrier A, Blanchard D, Fournial G, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation: early results of the FRANCE (FRench Aortic National CoreValve and Edwards) registry. *Eur Heart J.* (2010) 32:191–7. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq261
- Linke A, Gerckens U, Wenaweser P, Tamburino C, Bosmans J, Brecker S, et al. Treatment of high risk aortic stenosis patients with transcatheter medtronic corevalve implantation: results from the international multi-center advance study. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 59:E8. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(12)60009-6
- 49. Rodés-Cabau J, Webb JG, Cheung A, Ye J, Dumont E, Feindel CM, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation for the treatment of severe symptomatic aortic stenosis in patients at very high or prohibitive surgical risk: acute and late outcomes of the multicenter Canadian experience. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2010) 55:1080–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.12.014
- Thomas M, Schymik G, Walther T, Himbert D, Lefèvre T, Treede H, et al. Thirty-day results of the SAPIEN aortic Bioprosthesis European Outcome (SOURCE) Registry: a European registry of transcatheter aortic valve implantation using the Edwards SAPIEN valve. *Circulation* (2010) 122:62–9. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.907402
- Vahanian A. (ed.). Thirty-day outcomes in a 2700 patient international clinical registry with a second generation balloon expandable transcatheter heart valve using multiple access techniques. In: *Euro-PCR Conference*. Paris (2012).
- 52. Zahn R, Gerckens U, Grube E, Linke A, Sievert H, Eggebrecht H, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation: first results from a multi-centre realworld registry. *Eur Heart J.* (2010) 32:198–204. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq339
- Ribeiro HB, Nombela-Franco L, Urena M, Mok M, Pasian S, Doyle D, et al. Coronary obstruction following transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a systematic review. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2013) 6:452–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2012.11.014
- 54. Jabbour RJ, Tanaka A, Finkelstein A, Mack M, Tamburino C, Van Mieghem N, et al. Delayed coronary obstruction after transcatheter aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2018) 71:1513–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.01.066
- 55. Gilard M, Eltchaninoff H, Iung B, Donzeau-Gouge P, Chevreul K, Fajadet J, et al. Registry of transcatheter aortic-valve implantation in high-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:1705–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1114705
- 56. Kodali S, Pibarot P, Douglas PS, Williams M, Xu K, Thourani V, et al. Paravalvular regurgitation after transcatheter aortic valve replacement with the Edwards sapien valve in the PARTNER trial: characterizing patients and impact on outcomes. *Eur Heart J.* (2014) 36:449–56. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu384
- 57. Abdel-Wahab M, Zahn R, Horack M, Gerckens U, Schuler G, Sievert H, et al. Aortic regurgitation after transcatheter aortic valve implantation: incidence and early outcome. Results from the German transcatheter aortic valve interventions registry. *Heart* (2011) 97:899–906. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2010.217158.
- Amat-Santos IJ, Dahou A, Webb J, Dvir D, Dumesnil JG, Allende R, et al. Comparison of hemodynamic performance of the balloon-expandable SAPIEN 3 versus SAPIEN XT transcatheter valve. *Am J Cardiol.* (2014) 114:1075–82. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.07.019
- 59. Husser O, Pellegrini C, Kessler T, Burgdorf C, Thaller H, Mayr NP, et al. Outcomes after transcatheter aortic valve replacement using a novel

balloon-expandable transcatheter heart valve: a single-center experience. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. (2015) 8:1809–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.08.014

- Murray MI, Geis N, Pleger ST, Kallenbach K, Katus HA, Bekeredjian R, et al. First experience with the new generation Edwards Sapien 3 aortic bioprosthesis: procedural results and short term outcome. *J Interv Cardiol.* (2015) 28:109–16. doi: 10.1111/joic.12182
- Webb J, Gerosa G, Lefèvre T, Leipsic J, Spence M, Thomas M, et al. Multicenter evaluation of a next-generation balloon-expandable transcatheter aortic valve. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 64:2235–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.09.026
- 62. Meredith Am IT, Walters DL, Dumonteil N, Worthley SG, Tchétché D, Manoharan G, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement for severe symptomatic aortic stenosis using a repositionable valve system: 30-day primary endpoint results from the REPRISE II study. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 64:1339–48. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.05.067
- Perlman GY, Blanke P, Webb JG. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation in bicuspid aortic valve stenosis. *Eurointervention* (2016) 12:Y42–5. doi: 10.4244/EJJV12SYA10
- 64. Philip F, Faza NN, Schoenhagen P, Desai MY, Tuzcu EM, Svensson LG, et al. Aortic annulus and root characteristics in severe aortic stenosis due to bicuspid aortic valve and tricuspid aortic valves: implications for transcatheter aortic valve therapies. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2015) 86:E88–98. doi: 10.1002/ccd.25948
- 65. Al Emam AR, Chamsi-Pasha M, Pavlides G. Ostial coronary occlusion during TAVR in bicuspid aortic valve, should we redefine what is a safe ostial height? *Int J Cardiol.* (2016) 212:288–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.03.100
- 66. Himbert D, Pontnau F, Messika-Zeitoun D, Descoutures F, Detaint D, Cueff C, et al. Feasibility and outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve implantation in high-risk patients with stenotic bicuspid aortic valves. *Am J Cardiol.* (2012) 110:877–83. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.04.064
- Hayashida K, Bouvier E, Lefevre T, Chevalier B, Hovasse T, Romano M, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation for patients with severe bicuspid aortic valve stenosis. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2013) 6:284–91. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.112.000084
- Frangieh AH, Kasel AM. TAVI in bicuspid aortic valves 'made easy'. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:1177–81. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx167
- Popma JJ, Ramadan R. CT imaging of bicuspid aortic valve disease for TAVR. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging (2016) 9:1159–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2016.02.028

- Xie X, Shi X, Xun X, Rao L. Efficacy and safety of transcatheter aortic valve implantation for bicuspid aortic valves: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2016) 22:203–15. doi: 10.5761/atcs.ra. 16-00032
- Shivaraju A, Thilo C, Ott I, Mayr PN, Schunkert H, von Scheidt W, et al. Tools and Techniques - Clinical: Fluoroscopic balloon sizing of the aortic annulus before transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) - follow the "right cusp rule". *Eurointervention* (2015) 11:840–2. doi: 10.4244/EIJV1117A170
- Kasel AM, Cassese S, Leber AW, von Scheidt W, Kastrati A. Fluoroscopyguided aortic root imaging for TAVR. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging (2013) 6:274–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2012.06.014
- 73. Shivaraju A, Ott I, Cassese S, Bourier F, Kastrati A, Kasel AM, et al. Fluoroscopic calcification-guided optimal deployment projection during transcatheter aortic valve replacement—"The eye of the pigtail."(Follow the right cusp rule—Part II). *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* (2016) 87:996–8. doi: 10.1002/ccd.25929
- Tay E, Singh D, Kong WK, Jimmy KF. Hybrid technique to bail out an unsuccessful transfermoral TAVR attempt. *HonAsiaIntervention* (2018) 4:38–40, doi: 10.4244/AIJ-D-17-00032
- 75. Rodríguez-Olivares R, Robert-Jan Van Geuns M, Peter De Jong M, Van Mieghem NM, De Jaegere P. How should I treat a patient with a stenosed bicuspid aortic valve and an unexpected finding during TAVI? *Eurointervention* (2014) 9:1474–7. doi: 10.4244/EJJV9I12A246
- Zhao ZG, Jilaihawi H, Feng Y, Chen M. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation in bicuspid anatomy. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2015) 12:123–8. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2014.161

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Das and Puri. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cerebrovascular Events After Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation

German Armijo, Luis Nombela-Franco* and Gabriela Tirado-Conte

Interventional Cardiology Department, Cardiovascular Institute, Hospital Clinico San Carlos, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria San Carlos (IdISSC), Madrid, Spain

Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) has emerged as an alternative less invasive treatment for patients with symptomatic severe aortic stenosis. Despite the technological development and knowledge improvement in recent years, neurological complications remain a concern, especially with the expansion of the technique toward younger and lower risk patients. Clinical cerebrovascular events have an important impact on patients' morbidity and mortality with a multifactorial origin. While cerebral microembolizations during TAVI is a universal phenomenon and embolic protection devices have been developed in an attempt to reduce them, their clinical utility remains unclear. We review the current evidence on cerebrovascular events associated with TAVI and potential preventive strategies.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Crochan John O'Sullivan, Triemli Hospital, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Masahiko Asami, Inselspital, Switzerland David Chistian Reineke, Inselspital, Switzerland

*Correspondence: Luis Nombela-Franco

luisnombela@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> **Received:** 04 May 2018 **Accepted:** 12 July 2018 **Published:** 31 July 2018

Citation:

Armijo G, Nombela-Franco L and Tirado-Conte G (2018) Cerebrovascular Events After Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:104. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00104 Keywords: TAVI, cerebrovascular event, stroke, aortic valve stenosis, transcatheter aortic valve implantation, transcatheter aortic vave replacement

INTRODUCTION

Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) has been established as the therapy of choice in patients with severe aortic stenosis of high or prohibitive risk, and in the last years as a valid alternative to surgery (SAVR) in patients with intermediate risk (1–4). Despite the great technological advances, cerebrovascular events (CVE) remain one of the most feared complications, increasing the risk of morbidity and mortality at short and long term (5, 6). The incidence of CVE following TAVI varies according to definition ranging from 1 to 11% (7) and with a similar frequency compared to SAVR in randomized clinical trials (4, 8). However, it exceeds any other daily percutaneous cardiac intervention especially in the acute period to decrease later in the following months (6, 9). Despite clinically strokes represents only a small proportion of patients, silent cerebral embolisms are an almost universal finding associated with this procedure. Furthermore, the real impact of these micro emboli on patients' cognitive function and development of future cerebral complications remain unclear. We present a review of the current knowledge about CVE following TAVI and insights about potential preventive strategies and future implications.

CLASSIFICATION AND DEFINITION OF CEREBROVASCULAR EVENTS

In an effort to unify the discrepancies in the stroke definition used across the studies, the Valve Academic Research Consortium (VARC-I) in 2012 recommended to use the definitions of transient ischemic attack (TIA) and stroke (10). TIA was defined as a neurological deficit that resolves

80

TABLE 1 | The modified Rankin Scale for classification of stroke severity.

Severity	Degree of neurological damage
Level 0	No disability: no restriction of usual activities
Level 1	No significant disability: able to carry out all usual activities despite neurologic deficits
Level 2	Slight disability: able to look after own affairs without assistance but is unable to carry out all previous activities
Level 3	Moderate disability: requires some help but is able to walk without any assistance
Level 4	Moderately severe disability: cannot to attend to own bodily needs without assistance or requires assistance to walk
Level 5	Severe disability: requires constant nursing care and attention
Level 6	Death

Adapted from Sacco et al. (11).

rapidly, in <24 h, without evidence of tissue injury in neuroimaging study. Stroke was defined as a new focal or global neurological deficit that persisted more than 24 h, or <24 h associated with cerebral injury in neuroimaging study, or if the neurological deficit resulted in death. The severity of stroke is usually categorized according to the modified Rankin Scale (mRS), classifying it into disabiling (major stroke mRS \geq 2) and non-disabiling (minor stroke mRS <2) (**Table 1**). This criteria have been recently complemented by the Neurologic Academic Research Consortium in 2017 after the preparation of a consensus document where they established a new classification and also defined the endpoints applicable to clinical trials (12) (**Table 2**).

INCIDENCE OF CLINICAL CEREBROVASCULAR EVENTS

Cerebrovascular complications related to TAVI showed a significant variability between centers and studies, ranging from 1 to 11% (7). Rates of 30-day CVE in randomized trials and national registries are shown in **Figure 1**. This variability might be explained depending on the definition used, study design, diagnostic methods, patient risk-profile, site-specific factors, and systematic evaluation by a neurologist (13–15). The stroke incidence reported in most studies was generally a combination of non-disabling (*minor*) and disabling (*major*) stroke, while TIA is less frequently reported. The studies that categorized the stroke severity, suggested that disabling stroke had a higher incidence (58%) than non-disabling (26%) and transient ischemic attack (16%) (16). However, this data could be influenced by a lack of adequate and systematic neurological assessment to detect minor stroke or TIA in observational and randomized studies.

Initially, the results from PARTNER I trial (both cohorts A and B) showed greater stroke incidence in the group undergoing TAVI (1, 3, 17). Later, in the Corevalve trial with high-risk patient, patients undergoing TAVI had a numerically lower stroke rate at 30-day and 1-year compared to SAVR (2). In the recent randomized trials with intermediate risk patients, the results of the NOTION I, PARTNER-2, and SURTAVI trials showed a 1.4,

TABLE 2 Cerebrovascular events definitions according to the Neurological
Academic Research Consortium (2017).

Cerebral / Subarachnoid hemorrhage Hipoxic Injury Type 2 Covert injury CNS Infarction CNS Hemorrhage			
Type 2 Covert injury Cerebral / Subarachnoid hemorrhage Type 2 Covert injury Hipoxic Injury Type 3 Symptoms without injury TIA Delirium CLASSIFICATION OF NEUROLOGICAL EVENT TIMING Periprocedural <30 days post-intervention	NEUROARC N	EUROLOGICAL EVENT DEFINIT	TIONS
Type 2 Covert injury Hipoxic Injury Type 3 Symptoms without injury CNS Infarction CNS Hemorrhage Type 3 Symptoms without injury TIA Delirium CLASSIFICATION OF NEUROLOGICAL EVENT TINING Periprocedural < 30 days post-intervention	Type 1	Overt injury	Ischemic stroke
Type 2 Covert injury CNS Infarction Type 3 Symptoms without injury TIA Delirium CLASSIFICATION OF NEUROLOGICAL EVENT TIMING Periprocedural <30 days post-intervention			
Type 3 Symptoms without injury TIA CLASSIFICATION OF NEUROLOGICAL EVENT TIMING Periprocedural <30 days post-intervention			Hipoxic Injury
Type 3 Symptoms without injury TIA Delirium CLASSIFICATION OF NEUROLOGICAL EVENT TIMING Periprocedural <30 days post-intervention	Type 2	Covert injury	CNS Infarction
Delirium CLASSIFICATION OF NEUROLOGICAL EVENT TIMING Periprocedural <30 days post-intervention			CNS Hemorrhage
CLASSIFICATION OF NEUROLOGICAL EVENT TIMING Periprocedural <30 days post-intervention	Туре З	Symptoms without injury	TIA
Periprocedural <30 days post-intervention			Delirium
	CLASSIFICATI	ON OF NEUROLOGICAL EVENT	TIMING
Late >30 days post-intervention	Periprocedural	<30 days post-intervention	
	Late	>30 days post-intervention	

CNS, central nervous system. Adapted from Lansky et al. (12).

5.5, 3.4% 30-day stroke rate in the TAVI arm, compared to 3.0% (p = 0.37), 6.1% (p = 0.57), and 5.6% (95%CI -4.2 to 0.3) in the surgical arm, respectively. In addition, in the propensity matched comparison of the surgical arm from PARTNER 2 with the observational cohort of Sapien 3 study, the 30-day stroke rate was lower in the TAVI group (-3.5, 95% CI: -5.9 to -1.1, p = 0.004) (18). Thus, the initial fear of higher CVE rates in the TAVI arm has changed over time and now there is enough evidence to support that clinical CVE incidence is at least similar to the surgical arm (4, 8, 19).

Several meta-analyses, including mostly observational studies, have determined the incidence of stroke following TAVI (6, 7, 20). Eggebrecht et al. (with 10,037 patients from 53 studies) reported a 30-day stroke rate of $3.3 \pm 1.8\%$, with the majority being major strokes (2.9 \pm 1.8%). More recently, Muralidharan et al. (with 29,043 patients from 34 studies) and Auffret et al. (with 72,318 patients from 64 studies) reported a median 30-day stroke rate of 3.1 and 3.3%, respectively (9, 18).

TEMPORAL PRESENTATION AND PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF CEREBROVASCULAR EVENTS

Cerebrovascular events have been also classified according to the temporal pattern in acute (\leq 24 h), sub-acute (1–30 days), and late (>1 month) events. Several studies have shown that stroke incidence following TAVI has a peak in the immediate period after the procedure (24–48 h), reaching in some studies, half of the total events within 1 month (5, 21). Patients remain vulnerable for a period of up to 2 months after the procedure to subsequently decrease and stay stable over time. Temporal distribution of the CVE is closely related to their mechanism (**Figure 2**) (5).

Acute Cerebrovascular Events

Most Acute CVE after TAVI are related to an ischemic origin, with <5% reported as hemorrhagic stroke (16). Most of this ischemic CVE are related to an embolic source. Due



to the constitution of the calcified aortic valve and the walls of the aorta, its manipulation with rigid and large delivery catheters, balloon valvuloplasty or the interaction of the stent valve during the positioning or valve release will inevitably generate embolic material (22). This fact is supported by several different findings (Figure 3): Firstly, studies with diffusionweighted magnetic resonance imaging (DW-MRI) demonstrated that between 60 and 90% of patients had new silent cerebral lesions after TAVI, independently of the vascular access or device type (22, 25, 26). These lesions were generally multiple, diffuse, distributed in both cerebral hemispheres and from both cerebral vascular territories (anterior and posterior) in most patients, suggesting an embolic nature. Secondly, procedural transcranial doppler studies confirmed that there were high intensity signals (HITS) in the middle cerebral artery in almost all the phases of the procedures, but especially during valve positioning and implantation (24). Interestingly, it has been suggested that valve design and implantation process could be associated with different temporal pattern of the HITS. While balloon expandable valve produces more emboli during valve positioning, self-expandable valve has greater amount of HITS during valve deployment (24). Thirdly, Van Mieghen et al., extensively examined the incidence and the histopathology of embolic debris retained in an embolic protection device during TAVI (27) (Figure 3). In the majority of cases (>85%), debris was obtained after the procedure, with a median size of 1 mm (IQR 0.6-1.6 mm). The nature of these emboli was varied. The most frequent was fibrin and thrombotic material (74% of the patients) (Figure 4) that were found in similar proportion in balloon and self-expanding valve. The wires and catheters used are known to be prothrombotic, associated with suboptimal anticoagulation during the procedure could be a potential source of thrombus formation. Additionally, damage to endothelium secondary to catheters manipulation, may cause platelet activation and the coagulation cascade, resulting in thrombus generation. Tissuederived debris was present in 63% of the patients, with higher proportion in patients with balloon-expandable valve and higher degree of oversizing. This proportion of debris and its histopathology nature has been confirmed in more recent studies (27-31) (Figure 4). In this line, another study reported that total atheroma volume in the aorta was associated with higher risk of acute CVE (32). Another possible source of CVE during the procedure was air embolisms, especially associated with large delivery catheters and contrast injection. However, air



embolisms are usually considered temporary and are difficult to detect.

Systemic hypotension could also develop cerebral hypoperfusion, especially in the border territories supplied by different cerebral arteries, causing a watershed infarct. At least, one ventricular rapid pacing is mandatory in almost every TAVI, either with the valvuloplasty or balloon postdilation (more frequently performed with self-expandable valves) or during valve implantation (with balloon-expandable valves). Rapid pacing causes an impairment of cerebral perfusion but it is usually transitory and well tolerated with a prompt recovery. Patients with very low ejection fraction, especially after a long ventricular rapid pacing, may have a prolonged period of hypotension that requires inotropic support. Additionally, permanent cerebral injury could be caused by maintained systemic hypotension in the setting of hemodynamic instability during any procedural complication (bleeding, cardiac tamponade, severe acute aortic regurgitation...), even when inotropic and mechanical circulatory support are provided. Fortunately, the incidence of such complications has clearly decreased in the later years.

Subacute/Late Cerebrovascular Events

Cerebrovascular events occurring more than 48 h after TAVI are unlikely to be related to the procedure *per se*. The etiology of delayed CVE is less understood and has a multifactorial origin. In the immediate period after valve implantation, several theoretical phenomena may be thrombogenic. Disruption of the calcified native valve with denudation of the endothelium, the stent of the valve before endothelization, and the paravalvular space with the native valve compressed against the aortic wall, are some examples of potential sources of thrombus. Intraartrial thrombus formation related to atrial arrhythmias could be another source of thromboembolism. Intracardiac thrombus, usually detected in left atrial appendage, and spontaneous echo contrast were frequent findings in patients with aortic stenosis (10 and 24%, respectively) (33).

PREDICTORS OF CEREBROVASCULAR EVENTS AFTER TAVI

Based on their mechanism, predictors of CVE following TAVI can be divided in procedural and patient factors related (Figure 2). Several studies reported predictors of developing neurological events after TAVI (5, 7, 34). Initially, the PARTNER trial showed that patients with lower aortic valve area had a higher risk of CVE in the early period after TAVI (16). This was related to a more calcified valve, with a plausible mechanism of higher risk of embolization. In this line, Nombela-Franco et al. reported that patients with a higher degree of valve calcification underwent more frequently balloon post-dilation (BPD) to treat paravalvular regurgitation (35). These patients also had a higher rate of acute CVE. However, it was not possible to determine if the independent factor for the acute CVE was the amount of calcium or BPD. Later, other studies highlighted the impact on acute CVE of mechanical procedural factors, such as number of implantation attempts, valve embolization, second valve implantation, or BPD (5, 14, 21).

Attempts have been made to find other risk factors related to CVE following TAVI, such as the presence of porcelain aorta, which in cardiac surgery is a well-established factor with a



Kahlert et al. (24).

higher risk of stroke (36). Although porcelain aorta is associated with a greater burden of cardiovascular risk factors (37), and therefore could lead to a higher incidence of late CVE, the currently available evidence have not found a higher incidence of stroke in this group of patients undergoing TAVI compared to patients without porcelain aorta (1.6 vs. 2.5% respectively, p = 1.0) (37–39). It would appear reasonable that operator, and center experience may also be predictors of stroke post TAVI.

Carroll et al. evaluated the association of hospital TAVI volume and patient outcomes by using data from 42,988 procedures conducted at 395 hospitals from the TVT Registry from 2011 through 2015. High-volume centers had significantly lower inhospital events, but no difference was found in the stroke rate (p = 0.14) (40). However, a greater center experience was associated with lower stroke rates (2.03 vs. 1.66%, p = 0.01), similar findings described by Auffret et al. showing 1.55 fold more



risk of CVE after TAVI during the first half of enrollment (95%CI, 1.16–2.08, p = 0.003) (7).

Regarding the access site, no differences were found in MRI studies comparing transfemoral vs. transapical approaches (41). Also, some meta-analysis have revealed that a non-transfemoral approach did not carry a higher stroke risk (RR 1.03, 95%CI 0.83–1.27, p = 0.81) (7). Transcarotid approach in terms of stroke risk is more controversial. Non-randomized trials found similar neurological outcomes (3.8% 30-day CVE) compared to an historically transfemoral cohort (42). However, recent evidence with a small number of patients (n = 22) showed more than twice the number and total volume of new ischemic lesions evaluated by diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging within the left hemisphere (p < 0.01 for both) when performing TAVI through the left carotid artery (43). Therefore, more information is needed to clarify this issue.

In the sub-acute phase after TAVI, the strongest predictor for 30-day CVE found in several studies was NOAF, which usually occurs in an average of 15% of the patients. In a recent meta-analysis NOAF had a 1.85-fold increased 30-day hazard for CVE after TAVI. Although the incidence and definition of NOAF has varied across the studies, some studies reported that even short and transient periods of NOAF may have a significant influence in CVE, especially because some of these patients had a suboptimal anticoagulation regimen (44, 45). The stroke rate of patients with optimal anticoagulation was 2.9% compared to 40% in non-anticoagulated patients (45). Also Nuis et al. found a temporal relation between NOAF and CVE, where NOAF preceded the first signs of neurological impairment in all patients with an ischemic stroke (44). Auffret et al., also found that chronic kidney disease (CKD) defined by an estimated glomerular filtration rate <60 ml/min 1.73 m², was an additional factor associated with an increased risk of 30-day CVE (7). Renal disease facilitates chronic inflammation, oxidative stress and atherosclerotic process with an increase in vascular calcification and endothelial dysfunction (46). In general, patients with renal impairment usually have an excess risk of stroke after adjusting for age and other cardiovascular risk factor (47).

PROGNOSIS VALUE ON MORTALITY, MORBIDITY AND NEUROCOGNITIVE FUNCTION OF CEREBROVASCULAR EVENTS AFTER TAVI

Patients with an early CVE (within 30-day) after TAVI had significantly higher mortality at 30-day and 1-year as compared to those without CVE, as shown in several studies (5, 9, 20, 21, 48–50). Eggebrecht et al. also reported a 3.5 times higher 30-day mortality after stroke in a large meta-analysis. One-month mortality was as high as 25% in patients with CVE compared to 7% in patients without CVE. Similarly, in a more recent meta-analysis of 29,034 patients, mortality was six-fold higher in patients with stroke (20). Short and long term mortality risk is incremental according to the severity of the CVE, being significantly higher with major stroke (OR 7.43; 95% CI, 2.45–22.53; p = 0.001, and HR 1.75; 95% CI, 1.01–3.04; p = 0.043 respectively) (**Figure 5**).



In addition, stroke is probably the most feared complication (even more than death) reported by patients (51). Coylewright et al. described that the majority of patients undergoing TAVI wanted to maintain independence and be able to participate in daily hobbies, and only 7% of the patients stated that their main goal was to stay alive after the procedure. Importantly, the total proportion of patients with a permanent disability (modified Rankin scale of 2–5) at 30-day is around 50% of patients with CVE (5, 48). This highlights the impact of major stroke, not only in mortality, but also in patients' quality of life.

Cognitive Function and Cerebral Lesions

As previously commented, new cerebral silent lesions are found in a high (~75%) percentage of patients undergoing TAVI, and cerebral embolization is almost ubiquitous in studies with filters embolic protection devices. The Rotterdam Scan Study evaluated the presence of silent cerebral infarction in a group of healthy elderly patients, demonstrating 3 times higher risk of stroke, greater decline in cognitive functions and 2 times more risk of dementia after a follow-up of almost 4 years (52, 53). In addition, in SAVR patients, it has been found an association between new cerebral lesions in DWI-MRI studies and cognitive deterioration during follow-up (54). However, the impact of these silent cerebral emboli and its relationship with cognitive deterioration after TAVI is under debate. In one study (n = 111), neurocognitive function declined in 5.4% of patients after TAVI (55) but new cerebral lesions were not associated with cognitive impairment. In a study of 44 consecutive patients with systematic baseline and serial

neurologic and cognitive assessments combined with postprocedure DWI-MRI imaging, brain lesions were detected in 94% of the patients (56). Neurologic impairment, assessed by a worsening in the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS), was detected in 21 and 11% of patients, at discharge and 30-day, respectively, and it was slightly higher in patients with cerebral lesions (23 vs. 15%). In addition, cognitive decline evaluated by the Montreal Cognitive Assessment was identified in 33 and 41% of patients at discharge and 30-day, respectively. However, many studies, failed to find an association between new cerebral lesions post-TAVI and cognitive impairment (57, 58). In more recent studies the volume of these new cerebral lesions had a weak, although statistical significant, correlation with neurocognitive changes (31). These discrepancies across studies could be explained due to the lack of validated models to assess neurocognitive function in TAVI candidates, a certain degree of cognitive dysfunction pre-procedural in some patients and the high prevalence of inter and intra-observer variability for these tests.

Several studies have analyzed the global impact of cognitive function after TAVI, independently of the presence of cerebral lesions. Schoenenberger et al. (n = 229) showed in a prospective analysis that cognitive function, assessed by the Mini-mental State Examination, worsened in 12.7% (n = 29) of patients. Interestingly among the patients with cognitive impairment before the procedure, TAVI was related to an improvement in the cognitive function in 37.5% (n = 18). Baseline smaller aortic valve areas were lower in patients who cognitively improved, suggesting a greater hemodynamic benefit in those

patients (59). Another study evaluated changes of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment score with an improvement at the early stage and remained stable at 1-year (60). This global improvement was more pronounced among the 40% of patients with baseline cognitive impairment. However, early decline in some complex cognitive functions was also observed in 26%, persisting at 1 year in 10% of the patients. Thus, long-term follow up studies are needed to clarify the consequences of this nearly universal cerebral embolism imaging finding post TAVI in regards to neurocognitive impairment and vascular dementia, especially in younger patients with longer life expectancy.

PREVENTION STRATEGIES

As previously commented, the majority of CVE following TAVI have an embolic origin. The strategy to obtain, at least a theoretical reduction of the CVE rate, is: (1) to decrease thrombus formation and debris embolization, and (2) once they have been formed or embolized, to avoid them reaching cerebral vasculature by using mechanical barriers such as embolic protection device (EPD). Regarding the first objective improving device performance and procedural technique (less damage of the aortic wall, less traumatic valve crossing and avoiding multiple recaptures and balloon pre and post-dilation) could lead to a significant reduction of the amount of debris. Another important factor is the antithrombotic therapy before, during and after the procedure.

ANTITHROMBOTIC THERAPY

Antithrombotic treatment in patients undergoing TAVI is currently one of the most important research scenarios in the TAVI field, with several large multicenter randomized clinical trials already ongoing. However, in the initial phase of the TAVI, and until definitive trials results, antithrombotic treatment has been recommended on an empirical basis. Guidelines do not recommend any treatment before the procedure (61, 62) and pre-procedural aspirin plus a loading dose of 300-600 mg of clopidogrel has been adopted from randomized clinical trials in patients undergoing transfemoral TAVI (1, 2, 19). Preprocedural loading dose of clopidogrel is avoided in nontransfemoral cases. Most of the centers achieved intraprocedural anticoagulation with full-dose of intravenous heparin, although one fourth of the centers do not performed activated clotting time (ACT) measurement to guide anticoagulation (63). One non-randomized retrospective study compared the efficacy and safety of the standard bolus of heparin based on body weight vs. an adjusted dose of heparin guided by a baseline ACT. Interestingly, the ACT-guided group received lower total dose of heparin with no differences in terms of stroke and lower rate of major and life-threatening bleeding (64). The BRAVO trial reported that bivalirudin did not reduce the rates of major bleeding within 48 h or net adverse cardiovascular events at 30 days (65). In the MRI-substudy of the BRAVO trial, new post-procedural cerebral lesions and large lesions (volume $\geq 1,000 \text{ mm}^3$) were also similar in both groups (66). Thus, bivalirudin was considered an alternative procedural anticoagulant in patients unable to receive heparin.

Regarding the antiplatelet treatment after the procedure, dual antiplatelet therapy (DAPT) is the most common antithrombotic treatment prescribed at hospital discharge in patients without AF, but with a high variability of the duration across centers (63), ranging from 1 to 12 months in most centers. Although a minority of centers initially adopted a single antiplatelet treatment, there are 3 small randomized trials suggesting no benefit of DAPT in terms of ischemic events with a higher rate of bleeding complications (67, 68). The CLOE and Popular TAVI trials will determine the efficacy and safety of a less aggressive antiplatelet treatment in patients undergoing TAVI (Figure 6). On the other hand, valve thrombosis and its relation to CVE (69), has raised the question whether a more aggressive antithrombotic treatment should be the preferred option in the first months after the procedure. Several on-going trials would help to clarify this issue (Figure 6).

In patients with AF, the variability in the antithrombotic treatment across centers is even greater. In an international survey with 250 centers, warfarin alone or combined with either ASA or clopidogrel were used in 28, 39, and 26% of the centers, respectively (63). Triple therapy (warfarin+DAPT, 4.5%) or left atrial appendage closure (0.5%) was marginally used as the standard care in patients with AF undergoing TAVI. Two observational studies showed no differences in terms of stroke, but lower bleeding rates in patients treated with warfarin alone compared to a combination of warfarin with one antiplatelet drug, especially with ASA (70, 71). Another interesting alternative in patients with AF is to mechanically close the left atrial appendage in order to reduce bleeding events without jeopardizing stroke protection (72). The impact of non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants and left atrial appendage closure would be tested in future randomized trials (Figure 6).

EMBOLIC PROTECTION DEVICES

Embolic protection devices have emerged as a potential solution to decrease cerebral embolization and the associated neurological effects. To date, 4 types of EPD have been studied, with differences mainly in terms of design and access routes (Figure 7, Table 3). Deflectors, represented by the Embrella (Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA) and TriGuard (Keystone Heart Ltd, Caesarea, Israel) devices are released along the external curvature of the aortic arch providing coverage to the innominate artery, common left carotid and in the case of the Triguard also to the left subclavian artery rejecting the embolized material toward the descending aorta. On the other hand, there are filter-type systems represented by Sentinel (Claret Medical Inc., Santa Rosa, CA) and Embol-X (Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA). The first contains filters that are released in the brachiocephalic trunk and the left common carotid, and the second is positioned in the ascending aorta being deployed before





FIGURE 7 | Cerebral embolic protection devices: (A) Sentinel (Claret Medical Inc., Santa Rosa, CA; (B) Embol-X (Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA); (C) Embrella (Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA); (D) TriGuard (Keystone Heart Ltd, Caesarea, Israel).

TABLE 3 | Main characteristics of the embolic protection devices.

Device	Manufacturer	Design	access	Delivery	deployment
Embrella	Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA	Deflector	Radial/Brachial	6F	Aortic arch
TriGuard	Keystone Heart Ltd, Caesarea, Israel	Deflector	Femoral	9F	Aortic arch
Sentinel	Claret Medical Inc., Santa Rosa, CA	Filter	Radial/Brachial	6F	1 filter to brachiocephalic trunk and 1 filter to left common carotid
Embol-X	Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA	Filter	Direct aortic	14F	Ascending aorta

Adapted from Steinvil et al. (73).

aortic puncture for transaortic TAVI, providing a full cerebral coverage (73).

Randomized Clinical Trials

The current available evidence in relation to EPD are constituted by a series of observational and 5 randomized studies (31, 58, 74–76), which have been also combined in several metaanalysis (77–80). Main limitations of randomized trials have been the relatively low number of patients included and using surrogate events such as the number and volume of cerebral lesions as the primary endpoint, instead of clinical neurological events.

The Embrella device was evaluated in the prospective nonrandomized PROTAVI-C trial (n = 52) by DW-MRI (at baseline, 7 and 30 days) and procedural transcranial Doppler. Its implantation was associated with higher total number of HITS than the control group (p < 0.001). Both groups presented new brain lesions (100% of patients in each group), however the intervention group showed a lower volume of ischemic lesions compared to the control group (p = 0.003) (81).

The DEFLECT III multicenter randomized trial (n = 85) evaluated the TriGuard system, with neurocognitive assessment and DW-MRI at baseline, pre-discharge and 30-day. The safety endpoint (death, stroke, major bleeding, acute kidney injury stage 2 or 3, major vascular complication) occurred in 21.7% of the intervention group and in 30.8% of the control group (p = 0.34). Patients with a full cerebral coverage (89% in the intervention group), had a greater freedom from new ischemic brain lesions at 30-day (26.9 vs. 11.5%) and lower neurological deficit in NIHSS scale (3.1 vs. 15.4%; p = 0.16) (74).

There is very limited evidence in trans-aortic TAVI with the EMBOL-X device in a single randomized trial that included 30 patients (14 patients with filter). In the intervention group, a nonsignificant decrease in new brain lesions (57 vs. 69%; p = 0.70) and volume lesions (88 ± 60 mm³ vs. 168 ± 217 mm³; p = 0.27) in DW-MRI at 7 days post-procedure was found (75).

The MISTRAL-C multicenter randomized trial (n = 65) compared the number of new brain lesions evaluated by DW-MRI and neurocognitive function before and after TAVI (average 5 days) using the Claret Sentinel device. The primary endpoint (percentage of patients with new brain lesions) was not reduced in the device group (73 vs. 87%; p = 0.31) with a tendency to lower volume of new brain lesions (95 vs. 197 mm³; p = 0.171). A significant reduction in the number of patients with multiple brain lesions (20 vs. 0%; p = 0.03) and lower cognitive impairment (4 vs. 27%; p = 0.017) was observed. Regarding study limitations, images and neurocognitive tests were obtained in only 57 and 80% of patients with and without EP, respectively (76).

The CLEAN-TAVI randomized trial (n = 100) with the Claret Sentinel device, was the first trial to show a positive result in the primary end-point (new brain lesions evaluated by DW-MRI at 2 days after the intervention). The filter group was associated with a significant reduction of new cerebral lesions in the protected territories (4 vs. 10, p < 0.001) and in the entire brain (8 vs. 16, p = 0.002). Volume of these lesions was also lower in the filter group (466 vs. 800 mm³; p = 0.02), with a total of 5 minor strokes in each treatment arm (54–58, 68– 70).

The SENTINEL study (n = 363) is the largest randomized study with EPD. The device was successfully implanted in all the patients, and obtained almost universally embolic material, mostly non-thrombotic from the arterial walls. Fluoroscopic time was longer in the device group with a non-inferior rate of the primary safety end-point (7.3% vs. 9.9, p = 0.41). Primary efficacy end-point (volume of new cerebral lesions) was similar in both groups (102.8 vs. 178 mm³; p = 0.33) in the DW-MRI performed between 2 and 7 days after the procedure. The stroke rate was numerically lower in the device group (5.6 vs. 9.1%, p = 0.25) (31).

Several meta-analyses have combined the results of the observational and randomized studies. Surrogate end-point such as the number and volume of new brain lesions seemed to be reduced in favor of the EPD (77, 80), although differences in the global rate of stroke or death is more controversial. While, some meta-analyses did not show any an statistical differences, other showed a reduction in the combined event of death or stroke using EPD, performing an analysis by the fixed-effects method (79). Finally, a recent single-center observational study, included 280 consecutive patients treated with the Sentinel device and compared them to a historical cohort of patients (n = 522) treated in an identical setting but without a filter. After a propensity score matching (n = 280 in each group), patients in the filter group had a significant reduction of the stroke rate (1.4 vs. 4.6%, p = 0.03), or a combination of death or stroke (2.1 vs. 6.8%, p = 0.01) (82). The procedure without an EPD was the only independent predictor (p = 0.04) for the occurrence of stroke within 7 days.

Cost Effectiveness Analysis

A stroke can have an unpredictable and devastating impact, not only in terms of mortality but also in terms of its sequelae (50% permanent disability). It is estimated that more than half of

patients with a clinical stroke will be unable to return to work, and 1 in 3 patients will have serious financial problems (83-85). The economic and social impact of presenting a stroke after the implantation of TAVI is a topic to consider. It is estimated that during the index hospitalization, it can increase the costs of the initial hospitalization \sim \$25,000, with an average of 7 additional days of hospital stay compared to patients who do not have a stroke (86). This cost can be even higher in patients discharged with a moderate disability, in whom the annual health costs can be increased by up to \$60,000 (87). According to meta-analyses from Giustino et al. 22 patients have to be treated to reduce one stroke or death using EPD (79). The Sentinel device has a cost around to \$2,800, therefore, making a quick and simplified calculation, a total of \$61,600 has to be spent to prevent one stroke or death, a value that may be justifiable given the negative physical, emotional and economic impact of stroke. However proper studies about the cost-effectiveness of EPD are needed to determine the validity of this rough calculation.

CONCLUSIONS

Cerebrovascular events after TAVI had a multifactorial etiology with an incidence about \sim 3–4%. This complication has clearly

REFERENCES

- Makkar RR, Fontana GP, Jilaihawi H, Kapadia S, Pichard AD, Douglas PS, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement for inoperable severe aortic stenosis. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:1696–704. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1202277
- Adams DH, Popma JJ, Reardon MJ, Yakubov SJ, Coselli JS, Deeb GM, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement with a self-expanding prosthesis. N Engl J Med. (2014) 370:1790–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1400590
- Kodali SK, Williams MR, Smith CR, Svensson LG, Webb JG, Makkar RR, et al. Two-year outcomes after transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:1686–95. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200384
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack MJ, Makkar RR, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, et al. Transcatheter or Surgical Aortic-Valve Replacement in Intermediate-Risk Patients. N Engl J Med. (2016) 374:1609–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa15 14616
- Nombela-Franco L, Webb JG, de Jaegere PP, Toggweiler S, Nuis RJ, Dager AE, et al. Timing, predictive factors, and prognostic value of cerebrovascular events in a large cohort of patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Circulation* (2012) 126:3041–53. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.110981
- Eggebrecht H, Schmermund A, Voigtländer T, Kahlert P, Erbel R, Mehta RH. Risk of stroke after transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI): a meta-analysis of 10,037 published patients. *EuroIntervention J Eur Collab Work Group Interv Cardiol Eur Soc Cardiol.* (2012) 8:129–38. doi: 10.4244/EIJV8I1A20
- Auffret V, Regueiro A, Del Trigo M, Abdul-Jawad Altisent O, Campelo-Parada F, Chiche O, et al. Predictors of early cerebrovascular events in patients with aortic stenosis undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2016) 68:673–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.05.065
- Reardon MJ, Van Mieghem NM, Popma JJ, Kleiman NS, Søndergaard L, Mumtaz M, et al. Surgical or transcatheter aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:1321–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1700456
- Tay ELW, Gurvitch R, Wijesinghe N, Nietlispach F, Nielispach F, Wood D, et al. A high-risk period for cerebrovascular events exists after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2011) 4:1290–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2011.08.012

a significant impact on patient's morbidity and mortality, mainly during its acute and subacute phase. Despite the fact that its incidence has slightly decreased in the modern TAVI era with greater knowledge and new technologies, it seems that cerebral embolization is ubiquitous after TAVI, proven by HITS during the procedure; new cerebral lesions on DW-MRI studies and debris captured in cerebral filters devices. The clinical impact of cerebral embolization is still under discussion. The currently available trials with EPD have not been designed to detect clinical CVE and they have assessed neurological damage by surrogate end-points such as rate or volume of new brain lesions. However, the expansion of the technique to younger and low risk patients will force us to look for new and better tools to avoid cerebral embolization.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Each author has contributed to this work as follows: GA and LN-F: conception and design, drafting and revising of manuscript, final approval of the manuscript submitted; GT-C: critical review of the manuscript for important intellectual content; final approval of the manuscript submitted.

- Kappetein AP, Head SJ, Généreux P, Piazza N, van Mieghem NM, Blackstone EH, et al. Updated standardized endpoint definitions for transcatheter aortic valve implantation: the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 consensus document (VARC-2). Eur J Cardio-Thorac Surg Off J Eur Assoc Cardio-Thorac Surg. (2012) 42:S45–60. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezs533
- Sacco RL, Kasner SE, Broderick JP, Caplan LR, Connors JJB, Culebras A, et al. An updated definition of stroke for the 21st century: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2013) 44:2064–89. doi: 10.1161/STR.0b013e318296aeca
- Lansky AJ, Messé SR, Brickman AM, Dwyer M, van der Worp HB, Lazar RM, et al. Proposed standardized neurological endpoints for cardiovascular clinical trials: an academic research consortium initiative. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2017) 69:679–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.11.045
- Buellesfeld L, Wenaweser P, Gerckens U, Mueller R, Sauren B, Latsios G, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation: predictors of procedural success-the Siegburg-Bern experience. *Eur Heart J.* (2010) 31:984–91. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp570
- 14. Stortecky S, Windecker S, Pilgrim T, Heg D, Buellesfeld L, Khattab AA, et al. Cerebrovascular accidents complicating transcatheter aortic valve implantation: frequency, timing and impact on outcomes. *EuroIntervention J Eur Collab Work Group Interv Cardiol Eur Soc Cardiol.* (2012) 8:62–70. doi: 10.4244/EJJV8I1A11
- Eltchaninoff H, Prat A, Gilard M, Leguerrier A, Blanchard D, Fournial G, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation: early results of the FRANCE (FRench Aortic National CoreValve and Edwards) registry. *Eur Heart J.* (2011) 32:191–7. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq261
- Miller DC, Blackstone EH, Mack MJ, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, Kapadia S, et al. Transcatheter (TAVR) versus surgical (AVR) aortic valve replacement: occurrence, hazard, risk factors, and consequences of neurologic events in the PARTNER trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2012) 143:832–43.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.01.055
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack M, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve implantation for aortic stenosis in patients who cannot undergo surgery. N Engl J Med. (2010) 363:1597–607. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1008232
- Thourani VH, Kodali S, Makkar RR, Herrmann HC, Williams M, Babaliaros V, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement versus surgical valve

replacement in intermediate-risk patients: a propensity score analysis. *Lancet* (2016) 387:2218–25. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30073-3

- Thyregod HGH, Steinbrüchel DA, Ihlemann N, Nissen H, Kjeldsen BJ, Petursson P, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve replacement in patients with severe aortic valve stenosis: 1-year results from the all-comers NOTION randomized clinical trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2015) 65:2184–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.03.014
- Muralidharan A, Thiagarajan K, Van Ham R, Gleason TG, Mulukutla S, Schindler JT, et al. Meta-analysis of perioperative stroke and mortality in transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Am J Cardiol.* (2016) 118:1031–45. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.07.011
- Tchetche D, Farah B, Misuraca L, Pierri A, Vahdat O, Lereun C, et al. Cerebrovascular events post-transcatheter aortic valve replacement in a large cohort of patients: a FRANCE-2 registry substudy. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2014) 7:1138–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.04.018
- Kahlert P, Knipp SC, Schlamann M, Thielmann M, Al-Rashid F, Weber M, et al. Silent and apparent cerebral ischemia after percutaneous transfemoral aortic valve implantation: a diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging study. *Circulation* (2010) 121:870–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.855866
- Abdul-Jawad Altisent O, Puri R, Rodés-Cabau J. Embolic protection devices during TAVI: current evidence and uncertainties. *Rev Espanola Cardiol Engl Ed.* (2016) 69:962–72. doi: 10.1016/j.rec.2016.04.056
- 24. Kahlert P, Al-Rashid F, Döttger P, Mori K, Plicht B, Wendt D, et al. Cerebral embolization during transcatheter aortic valve implantationclinical perspective: a transcranial doppler study. *Circulation* (2012) 126:1245–55. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.092544
- Arnold M, Schulz-Heise S, Achenbach S, Ott S, Dörfler A, Ropers D, et al. Embolic cerebral insults after transapical aortic valve implantation detected by magnetic resonance imaging. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2010) 3:1126–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2010.09.008
- 26. Ghanem A, Müller A, Nähle CP, Kocurek J, Werner N, Hammerstingl C, et al. Risk and fate of cerebral embolism after transfemoral aortic valve implantation: a prospective pilot study with diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2010) 55:1427–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.12.026
- Van Mieghem NM, Schipper MEI, Ladich E, Faqiri E, van der Boon R, Randjgari A, et al. Histopathology of embolic debris captured during transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Circulation* (2013) 127:2194–201. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.001091
- Van Gils L, Kroon H, Daemen J, Ren C, Maugenest AM, Schipper M, et al. Complete filter-based cerebral embolic protection with transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv Off J Soc Card Angiogr Interv.* (2018) 91:790–7. doi: 10.1002/ccd.27323
- Schmidt T, Akdag O, Wohlmuth P, Thielsen T, Schewel D, Schewel J, et al. Histological findings and predictors of cerebral debris from transcatheter aortic valve replacement: the ALSTER experience. J Am Heart Assoc Cardiovasc Cerebrovasc Dis. (2016) 5:e004399 doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.004399
- Schmidt T, Schlüter M, Alessandrini H, Akdag O, Schewel D, Schewel J, et al. Histology of debris captured by a cerebral protection system during transcatheter valve-in-valve implantation. *Heart Br Card Soc.* (2016) 102:1573–80. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2016-309597
- Kapadia SR, Kodali S, Makkar R, Mehran R, Lazar RM, Zivadinov R, et al. Protection against cerebral embolism during transcatheter aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 69:367–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.10.023
- 32. Kataoka Y, Puri R, Pisaniello AD, Hammadah M, Qintar M, Uno K, et al. Aortic atheroma burden predicts acute cerebrovascular events after transcatheter aortic valve implantation: insights from volumetric multislice computed tomography analysis. *EuroIntervention J Eur Collab Work Group Interv Cardiol Eur Soc Cardiol.* (2016) 12:783–9. doi: 10.4244/EIJV12I6A127
- 33. Lenders GD, Paelinck BP, Wouters K, Claeys MJ, Rodrigus IE, Van Herck PL, et al. Transesophageal echocardiography for cardiac thromboembolic risk assessment in patients with severe, symptomatic aortic valve stenosis referred for potential transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Am J Cardiol.* (2013) 111:1470–4. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.01.302
- 34. Jochheim D, Zadrozny M, Ricard I, Sadry TM, Theiss H, Baquet M, et al. Predictors of cerebrovascular events at mid-term after transcatheter aortic

valve implantation - Results from EVERY-TAVI registry. Int J Cardiol. (2017) 244:106–11. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.03.003

- 35. Nombela-Franco L, Rodés-Cabau J, DeLarochellière R, Larose E, Doyle D, Villeneuve J, et al. Predictive factors, efficacy, and safety of balloon post-dilation after transcatheter aortic valve implantation with a balloon-expandable valve. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2012) 5:499–512. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2012.02.010
- Dávila-Román VG, Murphy SF, Nickerson NJ, Kouchoukos NT, Schechtman KB, Barzilai B. Atherosclerosis of the ascending aorta is an independent predictor of long-term neurologic events and mortality. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (1999) 33:1308–16.
- 37. Zahn R, Schiele R, Gerckens U, Linke A, Sievert H, Kahlert P, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation in patients with "porcelain" aorta (from a Multicenter Real World Registry). Am J Cardiol. (2013) 111:602–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.11.004
- Rodés-Cabau J, Webb JG, Cheung A, Ye J, Dumont E, Feindel CM, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation for the treatment of severe symptomatic aortic stenosis in patients at very high or prohibitive surgical risk: acute and late outcomes of the multicenter Canadian experience. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2010) 55:1080–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.12.014
- 39. Pascual I, Avanzas P, Muñoz-García AJ, López-Otero D, Jimenez-Navarro MF, Cid-Alvarez B, et al. Percutaneous implantation of the CoreValve® self-expanding valve prosthesis in patients with severe aortic stenosis and porcelain aorta: medium-term follow-up. *Rev Espanola Cardiol Engl Ed.* (2013) 66:775–81. doi: 10.1016/j.rec.2013.03.001
- Carroll JD, Vemulapalli S, Dai D, Matsouaka R, Blackstone E, Edwards F, et al. Procedural experience for transcatheter aortic valve replacement and relation to outcomes: the STS/ACC TVT registry. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 70:29–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.04.056
- Rodés-Cabau J, Dumont E, Boone RH, Larose E, Bagur R, Gurvitch R, et al. Cerebral embolism following transcatheter aortic valve implantation: comparison of transfemoral and transapical approaches. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2011) 57:18–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.07.036
- Wee IJY, Stonier T, Harrison M, Choong AMTL. Transcarotid transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a systematic review. J Cardiol. (2018) 71:525–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2018.01.010
- Chamandi C, Mohammadi S, Dumont E, Doyle D, DeLarochellière R, Paradis JM, et al. Cerebral Embolism following transcarotid transcatheter aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2018) 71:101–2. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.10.075
- 44. Nuis RJ, Mieghem NMV, Schultz CJ, Moelker A, van der Boon RM, van Geuns RJ, et al. Frequency and causes of stroke during or after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Am J Cardiol* (2012) 109:1637–43. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.01.389
- Amat-Santos IJ, Rodés-Cabau J, Urena M, DeLarochellière R, Doyle D, Bagur R, et al. Incidence, predictive factors, and prognostic value of new-onset atrial fibrillation following transcatheter aortic valve implantation. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 59:178–88. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.09.061
- Weiner DE, Dad T. Stroke and chronic kidney disease: epidemiology, pathogenesis, and management across kidney disease stages. *Semin Nephrol.* (2015) 35:311–22. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2015.06.003
- Toyoda K, Ninomiya T. Stroke and cerebrovascular diseases in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:823–33. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70026-2
- Werner N, Zeymer U, Schneider S, Bauer T, Gerckens U, Linke A, et al. Incidence and clinical impact of stroke complicating transcatheter aortic valve implantation: results from the German TAVI registry. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv Off J Soc Card Angiogr Interv.* (2016) 88:644–53. doi: 10.1002/ccd. 26612
- Kapadia S, Agarwal S, Miller DC, Webb JG, Mack M, Ellis S, et al. Insights Into Timing, Risk Factors, and Outcomes of Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attack After Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement in the PARTNER Trial (Placement of Aortic Transcatheter Valves). *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* (2016) 9:e002981. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.115.00 2981
- 50. Gleason TG, Schindler JT, Adams DH, Reardon MJ, Kleiman NS, Caplan LR, et al. The risk and extent of neurologic events are equivalent for highrisk patients treated with transcatheter or surgical aortic valve replacement.

J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2016) 152:85-96. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2016. 02.073

- Coylewright M, Palmer R, O'Neill ES, Robb JF, Fried TR. Patient-defined goals for the treatment of severe aortic stenosis: a qualitative analysis. *Health Expect Int J Public Particip Health Care Health Policy* (2016) 19:1036–43. doi: 10.1111/hex.12393
- Vermeer SE, Hollander M, van Dijk EJ, Hofman A, Koudstaal PJ, Breteler MMB. Silent brain infarcts and white matter lesions increase stroke risk in the general population: the rotterdam scan study. *Stroke* (2003) 34:1126–1129. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000068408.82115.D2
- Vermeer SE, Prins ND, den Heijer T, Hofman A, Koudstaal PJ, Breteler MMB. Silent brain infarcts and the risk of dementia and cognitive decline. N Engl J Med (2003) 348:1215–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 022066
- Barber PA, Hach S, Tippett LJ, Ross L, Merry AF, Milsom P. Cerebral ischemic lesions on diffusion-weighted imaging are associated with neurocognitive decline after cardiac surgery. *Stroke* (2008) 39:1427–33. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.502989
- 55. Ghanem A, Kocurek J, Sinning JM, Wagner M, Becker BV, Vogel M, et al. Cognitive trajectory after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2013) 6:615–24. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.112.000429
- Lansky AJ, Brown D, Pena C, Pietras CG, Parise H, Ng VG, et al. Neurologic complications of unprotected transcatheter aortic valve implantation (from the Neuro-TAVI Trial). *Am J Cardiol.* (2016) 118:1519–26. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.08.013
- 57. Abdul-Jawad Altisent O, Ferreira-Gonzalez I, Marsal JR, Ribera A, Auger C, Ortega G, et al. Neurological damage after transcatheter aortic valve implantation compared with surgical aortic valve replacement in intermediate risk patients. *Clin Res Cardiol Off J Ger Card Soc.* (2016) 105:508–17. doi: 10.1007/s00392-015-0946-9
- Haussig S, Mangner N, Dwyer MG, Lehmkuhl L, Lücke C, Woitek F, et al. Effect of a cerebral protection device on brain lesions following transcatheter aortic valve implantation in patients with severe aortic stenosis: the CLEAN-TAVI randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* (2016) 316:592–601. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.10302
- Schoenenberger AW, Zuber C, Moser A, Zwahlen M, Wenaweser P, Windecker S, et al. Evolution of cognitive function after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:e003590. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.116.003590
- Auffret V, Campelo-Parada F, Regueiro A, Del Trigo M, Chiche O, Chamandi C, et al. Serial changes in cognitive function following transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2016) 68:2129–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.08.046
- Baumgartner H, Falk V, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, et al. 2017 ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2739–91. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx391
- 62. Nishimura RA, Otto CM, Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Erwin JP, Fleisher LA, et al. 2017 AHA/ACC focused update of the 2014 AHA/ACC guideline for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: a report of the american college of cardiology/american heart association task force on clinical practice guidelines. *Circulation* (2017) 135:e1159–95. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000503
- Cerrato E, Nombela-Franco L, Nazif TM, Eltchaninoff H, Søndergaard L, Ribeiro HB, et al. Evaluation of current practices in transcatheter aortic valve implantation: the WRITTEN (WoRldwIde TAVI ExperieNce) survey. *Int J Cardiol.* (2017) 228:640–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.11.104
- 64. Bernelli C, Chieffo A, Montorfano M, Maisano F, Giustino G, Buchanan GL, et al. Usefulness of baseline activated clotting time-guided heparin administration in reducing bleeding events during transfemoral transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2014) 7:140–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2013.10.016
- 65. Dangas GD, Lefèvre T, Kupatt C, Tchetche D, Schäfer U, Dumonteil N, et al. Bivalirudin versus heparin anticoagulation in transcatheter aortic valve replacement: the randomized BRAVO-3 trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2015) 66:2860–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.10.003
- 66. Van Belle E, Hengstenberg C, Lefevre T, Kupatt C, Debry N, Husser O, et al. Cerebral embolism during transcatheter aortic valve replacement:

the BRAVO-3 MRI study. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2016) 68:589–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.05.006

- 67. Ando T, Takagi H, Briasoulis A, Afonso L. Single versus dual antiplatelet therapy post transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Thromb Thrombol.* (2017) 44:448–56. doi: 10.1007/s11239-017-1550-9
- 68. Rodés-Cabau J, Masson JB, Welsh RC, Garcia Del Blanco B, Pelletier M, Webb JG, et al. Aspirin versus aspirin plus clopidogrel as antithrombotic treatment following transcatheter aortic valve replacement with a balloon-expandable valve: the arte (aspirin versus aspirin + clopidogrel following transcatheter aortic valve implantation) randomized clinical trial. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2017) 10:1357–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.04.014
- Chakravarty T, Søndergaard L, Friedman J, De Backer O, Berman D, Kofoed KF, et al. Subclinical leaflet thrombosis in surgical and transcatheter bioprosthetic aortic valves: an observational study. *Lancet Lond Engl.* (2017) 389:2383–92. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30757-2
- 70. D'Ascenzo F, Benedetto U, Bianco M, Conrotto F, Moretti C, D'Onofrio A, et al. Which is the best antiaggregant or anticoagulant therapy after TAVI? A propensity-matched analysis from the ITER registry. The management of DAPT after TAVI. EuroIntervention J Eur Collab Work Group Interv Cardiol Eur Soc Cardiol. (2017) 13:e1392–400. doi: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00198
- Abdul-Jawad Altisent O, Durand E, Muñoz-García AJ, Nombela-Franco L, Cheema A, Kefer J, et al. Warfarin and antiplatelet therapy versus warfarin alone for treating patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:1706–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.06.025
- Attinger-Toller A, Maisano F, Senn O, Taramasso M, Shakir S, Possner M, et al. "One-Stop Shop": safety of combining transcatheter aortic valve replacement and left atrial appendage occlusion. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:1487–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.04.038
- Steinvil A, Benson RT, Waksman R. Embolic protection devices in transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:e003284. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.115.003284
- 74. Lansky AJ, Schofer J, Tchetche D, Stella P, Pietras CG, Parise H, et al. A prospective randomized evaluation of the TriGuardTM HDH embolic DEFLECTion device during transcatheter aortic valve implantation: results from the DEFLECT III trial. *Eur Heart J.* (2015) 36:2070–8. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv191
- Wendt D, Kleinbongard P, Knipp S, Al-Rashid F, Gedik N, El Chilali K, et al. Intraaortic protection from embolization in patients undergoing transaortic transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (2015) 100:686–91. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015.03.119
- 76. Van Mieghem NM, van Gils L, Ahmad H, van Kesteren F, van der Werf HW, Brueren G, et al. Filter-based cerebral embolic protection with transcatheter aortic valve implantation: the randomised MISTRAL-C trial. *EuroIntervention J Eur Collab Work Group Interv Cardiol Eur Soc Cardiol.* (2016) 12:499–507. doi: 10.4244/EIJV12I4A84
- 77. Giustino G, Mehran R, Veltkamp R, Faggioni M, Baber U, Dangas GD. Neurological outcomes with embolic protection devices in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2016) 9:2124–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.07.024
- Mohananey D, Sankaramangalam K, Kumar A, Jobanputra Y, Villablanca P, Krishnaswamy A, et al. Safety and efficacy of cerebral protection devices in transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a clinical end-points meta-analysis. *Cardiovasc Revascularization Med Mol Interv.* (2018) doi: 10.1016/j.carrev.2018.02.009. [Epub ahead of print].
- Giustino G, Sorrentino S, Mehran R, Faggioni M, Dangas G. Cerebral embolic protection during TAVR: a clinical event meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 69:465–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.12.002
- Bagur R, Solo K, Alghofaili S, Nombela-Franco L, Kwok CS, Hayman S, et al. Cerebral embolic protection devices during transcatheter aortic valve implantation: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Stroke* (2017) 48:1306–15. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.116.015915
- 81. Rodés-Cabau J, Kahlert P, Neumann FJ, Schymik G, Webb JG, Amarenco P, et al. Feasibility and exploratory efficacy evaluation of the Embrella Embolic Deflector system for the prevention of cerebral emboli in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement: the PROTAVI-C pilot

study. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. (2014) 7:1146-55. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014. 04.019

- Seeger J, Gonska B, Otto M, Rottbauer W, Wöhrle J. Cerebral embolic protection during transcatheter aortic valve replacement significantly reduces death and stroke compared with unprotected procedures. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2017) 10:2297–303. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017. 06.037
- Connolly SJ, Ezekowitz MD, Yusuf S, Eikelboom J, Oldgren J, Parekh A, et al. Dabigatran versus Warfarin in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med. (2009) 361:1139–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa09 05561
- Lai S-M, Studenski S, Duncan PW, Perera S. Persisting consequences of stroke measured by the stroke impact scale. *Stroke* (2002) 33:1840–4. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000019289.15440.F2
- Daniel K, Wolfe CDA, Busch MA, McKevitt C. What are the social consequences of stroke for working-aged adults? A systematic review. *Stroke* (2009) 40:e431–40. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108. 534487
- 86. Arnold SV, Lei Y, Reynolds MR, Magnuson EA, Suri RM, Tuzcu EM, et al. Costs of periprocedural complications in patients treated with transcatheter aortic valve replacement: results from the Placement of

Aortic Transcatheter Valve trial. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2014) 7:829–36. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.114.001395

 Freeman JV, Zhu RP, Owens DK, Garber AM, Hutton DW, Go AS, et al. Cost-effectiveness of dabigatran compared with warfarin for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation. *Ann Intern Med.* (2011) 154:1. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-154-1-201101040-00289

Conflict of Interest Statement: LN-F has served as a proctor for Abbott; and has received speaker honoraria from Edwards Lifesciences Inc.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Armijo, Nombela-Franco and Tirado-Conte. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Moderate Aortic Stenosis and Reduced Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction: Current Evidence and Challenges Ahead

Ernest Spitzer^{1,2*}, Ben Ren^{1,2}, Herbert Kroon¹, Lennart van Gils¹, Olivier Manintveld¹, Joost Daemen¹, Felix Zijlstra¹, Peter P. de Jaegere¹, Marcel L. Geleijnse¹ and Nicolas M. Van Mieghem¹

¹ Department of Cardiology, Thoraxcenter, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ² Cardialysis, Clinical Trial Management and Core Laboratories, Rotterdam, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Ole De Backer, Rigshospitalet, Denmark

Reviewed by:

Chiara Fraccaro, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Italy Luigi Biasco, Cardiocentro Ticino, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Ernest Spitzer ernest.spitzer@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 08 May 2018 Accepted: 30 July 2018 Published: 17 August 2018

Citation:

Spitzer E, Ren B, Kroon H, van Gils L, Manintveld O, Daemen J, Zijlstra F, de Jaegere PP, Geleijnse ML and Van Mieghem NM (2018) Moderate Aortic Stenosis and Reduced Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction: Current Evidence and Challenges Ahead. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:111. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00111

Moderate aortic stenosis (AS) and reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) constitute a clinical entity that has been proposed as a therapeutic target for transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR). It is defined by a mean trans-aortic gradient between 20 and 40 mmHg and an aortic valve area between 1.0 and 1.5 cm² in patients with LVEF < 50%. Retrospective data suggests a prevalence of 0.8% among patients referred for echocardiographic assessment. These patients are younger and show a higher frequency of previous myocardial infarction than those with severe AS randomized to TAVR in recent trials. In two retrospective studies including patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF, a one-year mortality rate of 9 and 32% was reported, the latter in patients treated with medical therapy only during follow-up. Echocardiographic diagnosis of moderate AS poses challenges as current guidelines are directed to determine severe AS, and different presentations of moderate and mild AS have been generally neglected. Thus, the nomenclature would need to be revised and a description of possible scenarios is provided in this review. Dobutamine stress echocardiography and computed tomography are promising complementary tools. Likewise, a standardized clinical pathway is needed, in which a high level of suspicion and a low threshold for referral to a heart valve center is warranted. The Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement to UNload the Left ventricle in patients with Advanced heart failure (TAVR UNLOAD) trial (NCT02661451) is exploring whether TAVR would improve outcomes in patients receiving optimal heart failure therapy.

Keywords: moderate aortic stenosis, left ventricular ejection fraction, transcatheter aortic valve replacement, surgical aortic valve replacement, structural heart disease, TAVR UNLOAD trial

INTRODUCTION

Severe aortic stenosis (AS) is the most common indication for valvular interventions in adults. It affects 3% of patients after 75 years of age (1). Earlier stages of the disease have been typically disregarded as targets for aortic valve replacement (AVR) given an unfavorable risk-benefit balance. Specifically, due to the relatively high rates of peri-procedural death or stroke with AVR, and

the lack of evidence of a significant increased risk of events in patients with mild to moderate AS treated medically (2). Better characterization of high risk populations among patients with moderate AS together with advancements of transcatheter aortic valve replacement would identify a niche population potentially benefiting from an earlier intervention (3–5).

In patients with moderate AS and concomitant reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF < 50%), death or heart failure hospitalization was observed in half of them at 4 years of followup (5). It is noteworthy that pathophysiologically LVEF reduction in this population is generally not attributed to AS, but rather to myocardial damage due to ischemic conditions or non-ischemic non-valvular cardiomyopathies. In this setting moderate AS may contribute significantly to the overall ventricular afterload, and contribute to systolic and diastolic dysfunctions and ultimately to a progressive symptomatic status (6, 7). In patients with severe AS and conservative treatment, reduced LVEF has been associated with increased rates of death and heart failure hospitalizations [hazard ratio (HR), 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.82 [1.44-2.28], p < 0.001, when compared with LVEF > 70% by the Teichholz or Simpson method] (8). In patients undergoing AVR, reduced EF has also emerged as an independent predictor of mortality at 5 years of follow-up, with an increase of 12% mortality [HR (95% CI) = 0.88 (0.83–0.94), p < 0.001] for every 10% decrease in LVEF (9). Among patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF, male sex, New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class III and IV, and the peak aortic jet velocity obtained with Doppler ultrasound emerged as independent predictors of worse outcome (5). Advanced heart failure symptoms (NYHA III or IV = 58%, NYHA II = 31%, and NYHA I = 23%, at 2 years) as well as being admitted at the time of diagnosis (60 vs. 34% at 2 years, p < 0.001), are associated with increased rate of death, AVR or heart failure hospitalizations (5).

This review summarizes the frequency of concomitant reduced LVEF and moderate AS, its natural history, differential patient characteristics when compared with patients with severe AS, diagnostic challenges, and further discusses the rationale of the ongoing Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement to UNload the Left ventricle in patients with ADvanced heart failure (TAVR UNLOAD) trial (NCT02661451) (10).

Epidemiology and Natural History

Reduced LVEF is an established predictor of adverse events including heart failure hospitalizations and death, and its severity determines the treatment alternatives for a patient (11). One to Two Percent of adults live with the diagnosis of heart failure, with a lifetime probability of 1:3 to receive this diagnosis after the age of 55 years (11) Reduced LVEF accompanies this clinical syndrome in approximately 50% of cases. Ambulatory patients with symptomatic reduced LVEF have a one year risk of death of 7% and hospitalizations of 32%; whereas the rates increase to 17 and 44% after one hospitalization (11). Less is known for moderate aortic stenosis, since it is not a target of medical therapy, as several attempts to decelerate the progression of disease have failed (12–14). Moreover, surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) is considered only when moderate AS is diagnosed as a bystander in a patient undergoing an open heart surgery for other conditions (15). Consequently, in routine clinical practice, this condition is not prospectively ascertained and streamlined for treatment, leading to difficulties in determining its frequency.

An analysis of the Duke echocardiographic database (N = 132,804) showed that 1.2% of patients would qualify for the diagnosis of moderate or severe AS and reduced LVEF, from which 0.8% had moderate and 0.4% had severe AS (16). In an effort of extrapolation, for a center performing 5,000 echocardiograms per year, this would represent the diagnosis of moderate AS and reduced LVEF in 40 patients per year. More importantly, one third of patients with moderate AS included in the aforementioned analysis did not survive more than one year on medical treatment only (16). More optimistic results were observed in a multi-center retrospective analysis, which showed a one-year mortality rate of 9% in patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF, partially explained by a 13% rate of AVR at oneyear (5). Both studies ought to be contrasted with the 1.4% rate of one-year mortality observed in the Simvastatin and Ezetimibe in Aortic Stenosis (SEAS) trial, which randomized 1,873 patients with *mild-to-moderate* AS to an intensive cholesterol lowering strategy (13). Contrary to the previous higher risk cohorts, the SEAS trial included *asymptomatic* patients with no atherosclerotic conditions, diabetes mellitus, or indication of lipid-lowering therapy. Virtually all patients had LVEF above 50 and 30% had an aortic valve area (AVA) above 1.5 cm², consistent with mild AS. This comparison highlights the impact of LVEF and AS severity on clinical outcomes.

The rate of progression of AS has been systemically assessed in the SEAS and other randomized trials investigating the impact of lipid-lowering therapies on the natural history of the disease (12– 14). Despite a significant reduction of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, the disease progression remained comparable among study groups. A meta-analysis of statin trials reported an annual increase in mean trans-aortic gradient of 2.8 ± 3.0 mmHg, and a decrease in aortic valve area of 0.04 ± 0.27 cm² (17). Uncertainty remains on individual factors that may accelerate the progression of the disease (e.g., smoking, serum creatinine), and individual variation has been described with mean rates of progression as high as an annual increase of 7 mmHg in mean gradient and decrease of 0.1 cm² in AVA (18).

Supportive evidence of the detrimental role of increased trans-aortic gradients stems from research on prosthesis-patient mismatch (PPM) after SAVR. PPM is present when the AVA of the inserted valve is too small in relation to the body size of the patient, which generates higher than expected trans-aortic gradients (6). In a cohort of 2,576 patients who underwent SAVR, severe PPM defined as an indexed AVA (AVAi) $\leq 0.65 \text{ cm}^2/\text{m}^2$, was associated with increased late overall and cardiovascular mortality, after adjustment for other known risk factors (6). Importantly, moderate PPM (AVAi > 0.65 but $\leq 0.85 \text{ cm}^2/\text{m}^2$) was also associated with increased mortality $\{HR [95\% CI] = 1.21\}$ [1.03-1.41], p = 0.01 in patients with reduced LVEF (<50%) only (6). Pathophysiologically, this suggests that patients with impaired systolic function suffer from persistent higher-thannormal afterload. Furthermore, recent evidence suggests that in patients with AS, the decline in LVEF starts before AS is severe and accelerates after AVA reaches 1.2 cm^2 (19). LVEF < 60% in the presence of moderate AS has been suggested as a predictor of further LVEF deterioration (19).

Hypertension is highly prevalent in patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF (5). Although not a direct component of the disease, it determines the arterial component of the afterload. The sum of the valvular and arterial components of the afterload represents the valvulo-arterial impedance, (20) which is a strong predictor of mortality in patients in different stages of AS, ranging from moderate to severe asymptomatic patients up to post-TAVR patients (21–23). In elderly patients who typically have a reduced arterial compliance, means to reduce the arterial component of the overall LV afterload with medical therapy i.e., anti-hypertensive drugs, are limited. In this clinical setting AVR for even moderate AS may eventually be the only option to further reduce the valvulo-arterial impedance and improve outcome (10).

Aortic Valve Replacement

Current clinical practice guidelines recommend SAVR in patients with moderate AS undergoing CABG or surgery of the ascending aorta or of another valve (class of recommendation IIa and a level of evidence C) (15, 24) Moreover, Patients undergoing CABG before 70 years of age with a peak gradient above 30 mmHg and a documented yearly progression of 5 mmHg, may benefit from SAVR (2). These represent the only two mentions of moderate aortic stenosis in the ESC/EACTS guidelines for management of valvular heart disease, and are largely supported by retrospective data (15). Such interventions are referred to as "prophylactic SAVR," aiming to avoid a second open-heart procedure. A post-CABG SAVR procedure is exposed to the risk of damaging patent grafts including the internal mammary arteries; is technically challenging due to calcified aortic arches and scarring of the mediastinum; and procedural mortality has been reported in up to 16% of patients (25, 26) In patients with prior CABG that require AVR, TAVR is progressively replacing SAVR (26). In a propensity-matched analysis including 3,880 record in each group, TAVR and SAVR showed similar in-hospital mortality (2.3 vs. 2.4%, p = 0.71) but TAVR was associated with lower incidence of procedural complications including myocardial infarction (1.5% vs. 3.4%, p < 0.001), stroke (1.4 vs. 2.7%, p < 0.001), bleeding (10.6 vs. 24.6%, *p* < 0.001), and acute kidney injury (16.2 vs. 19.3%, p < 0.001). Consequently, the rationale of exposing the patient to a prophylactic SAVR in order to avoid a second open-heart surgery is currently challenged (26).

The concept of "therapeutic" TAVR in patients with moderate AS is evolving (10). In a retrospective analysis of 1,090 patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF, SAVR within 90 days vs. no intervention, was associated with a 41% reduction of all-cause mortality after a median follow-up time of 1.2 years (16). Moreover, this benefit remained in a sub-group of patients with reduced LVEF without coronary artery disease (16).

Patient Characteristics

Patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF are younger and show a higher frequency of prior acute myocardial infarction than patients with severe AS typically included in randomized trials (see **Table 1**) (3, 5, 16, 29, 32). Importantly, prospective randomized trials comparing TAVR vs. SAVR in bicuspid aortic valve disease may provide guidance on the preferred approach for such sub-group, which has been largely excluded from TAVR studies. Post-TAVR incidence of moderate to severe paravalvular leak and new pacemaker implantation has been more frequently observed in patients with bicuspid anatomy (33). Furthermore, it remains unclear whether there is a preferred device, being a balloon-expandable, self-expandable, or mechanically-expanded transcatheter heart valve, when treating patients in potential need for a re-do procedure due to an expected longer life expectancy (34, 35).

Challenges

Three main challenges exist for promoting "therapeutic" TAVR in patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF: (1) better understanding of the echocardiographic diagnosis of moderate AS, (2) defining a clinical pathway to identify patients, and (3) evidence from randomized trials supporting TAVR in this population.

Echocardiographic Diagnosis of Moderate Aortic Stenosis

Moderate AS is characterized by a mean trans-aortic gradient between 20 and 40 mmHg and an AVA between 1.0 and 1.5 cm². Other findings include a peak velocity of the trans-aortic flow between 3.0 and 4.0 m/s, a velocity ratio between 0.25 and 0.50, and an indexed AVA by body surface area between 0.60 and 0.85 cm²/m² (36). When findings are concordant (e.g., mean gradient between 20 and 40 mmHg and AVA between 1.0 and 1.5 cm²), the diagnosis is clear-cut. However, discordant findings are frequently observed (e.g., AVA < 1.0 cm² and mean gradient between 20 and 40 mmHg; or, AVA between 1.0 and 1.5 cm² and mean gradient < 20 mmHg), especially in the context of reduced LVEF.

In Figure 1 we summarize the different scenarios that could be observed when evaluating a patient with AS. Our understanding of severe AS has increased significantly in the last two decades, and the most recent classification of patients includes sub-groups based on gradient (low-gradient: mean gradient < 40), ejection fraction (abnormal < 50%) and flow status (low flow < 35 ml/m²) (36). All flow-gradient patterns, stratified by LVEF, have been reported in patients with severe AS (36-38). When findings for severe AS are discordant in patients with reduced LVEF $(AVA < 1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ and mean gradient} < 40 \text{ mmHg})$ patients are assessed with a low-dose dobutamine stress echocardiogram (DSE) to differentiate among "true severe" AS vs. "pseudo-severe" AS (e.g., moderate AS) (36). Likewise, the difference between mild AS and moderate AS would need to be established through a DSE if therapeutically relevant. For descriptive purposes, Figure 1 creates AS groups based on the following parameters: (1) AS severity is concordant if the AVA and the mean gradient match the same category (i.e., mild, moderate or severe), and if not, AS severity is defined as discordant; (2) In this description, the gradient is not defined as "high" or "low" gradient, but rather in relationship with the category it applies (i.e., mild, moderate, or severe); (3) sub-groups can be further classed

	Moderate AS and reduced LVEF	Moderate AS and reduced LVEF	Severe AS and reduced LVEF	Severe AS inoperable	Severe AS extreme risk	Severe AS high risk	Severe AS high risk	Severe AS intermediate risk	Severe AS intermediate risk	Severe AS all-comers
Age, years	73	73	76	83	83	84	88	82	80	62
Female gender, %	25	31	40	54	52	42	46	46	42	46
Hypertension, %	74	68	67	NA	06	NA	95	NA	93	71
Diabetes, %	38	39	32	AA	42	NA	35	38	34	18
Peripheral vascular disease, %	20	17	14	30	35	43	42	28	31	4
Cerebrovascular disease, %	43	23	21	27	23	29	26	32	13	17
Atrial fibrillation, %	AA	32	32	33	47	41	41	31	28	28
Chronic pulmonary disease, %	25	11	9	NA	NA	43	Ч	32	NA	12
Prior myocardial infarction, %	52	39	35	19	31	27	26	18	14	9
Prior PCI, %	36	13	10	31	37	34	34	27	21	80
Prior CABG, %	28	22	19	37	40	43	30	24	16	NA
lschemic heart disease, %	48	63	64	68	82	75	75	69	63	AN
Patients analyzed	305	403	935	179*	489	348*	394*	1011*	879*	145*
References	van Gils et al. (5)	Samad et al. (16)	Samad et al. (16)	Leon et al. (27)	Popma et al. (28)	Smith et al. (29)	Adams et al. (30)	Leon et al. (3)	Reardon et al. (31)	Thyregod et al. (32)
Study type	Retrospective	Retrospective	Retrospective	RCT	Prospective	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT	RCT

ŭ j. RCT, randomized controlled trial.

TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics in patients with moderate or severe aortic stenosis.



transvalvular flow should be classified after determining if the mechanism of high flow is reversible (e.g., fever, anemia) or irreversible (e.g., concomitant aortic regurgitation). Categories 8 and 11 correspond to reversible causes, and 5 and 10 to irreversible causes. Patients with aortic stenosis can be further categorized based on ejection fraction and flow status. AVA = aortic valve area; MG = mean gradient.

based on LVEF (above or below 50%) and flow status (above or below 35 ml/m²). With this description, "pseudo-severe AS" would be referred to as "discordant moderate-gradient moderate AS." It is "discordant" because initially the AVA would be compatible with severe AS $(<1 \text{ cm}^2)$ but the gradient with moderate AS (<40 mmHg). All initially discordant cases need further evaluation in order to be properly classified, especially with concomitant reduced LVEF: (1) make sure that there are no technical pitfalls in the measurement of the mean gradient (e.g., misalignment of the Doppler signal with the direction of the flow, inadvertent recording of mitral regurgitation) or the AVA (e.g., underestimation of the left ventricular outflow tract diameter); (2) if LVEF is the factor that could potentially influence the gradient and aortic valve opening, a low-dose DSE is indicated, starting at 2.5 or 5 µg/kg/min with a progressive increase in the infusion every 3-5 min to a maximum dose of $10-20 \,\mu g/kg/min;$ (36) (3) in the absence of contractile or flowreserve, the computed tomography aortic valve calcium score helps to determine the likelihood of having severe AS (e.g., likely if ≥ 2000 in men, and if ≥ 1200 in women) (36). Currently, there is insufficient data to differentiate mild from moderate AS based on calcium score; (4) increased gradient due to high trans-valvular flow should be considered as an option in patients with discordant findings. When causes are reversible (e.g., fever or anemia), patients should be reassessed after correcting the causes. When causes are irreversible (e.g., significant aortic regurgitation), patients should be categorized according to the gradient severity and treatment should be offered accordingly.

These concepts open a new era in the diagnosis of aortic stenosis, and registry data as well as retrospective analysis may

help us clarify the need for an updated nomenclature, which would require a joint effort of cardiology societies.

Clinical Pathway for Moderate Aortic Stenosis and Reduced LVEF

Offering TAVR to patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF would be a change of a clinical paradigm. Due to the currently non-existing treatment alternatives apart from established heart failure therapies, these patients do not fall into any specific clinical pathway. If these patients were to be offered TAVR, imaging will play a pivotal role. Patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF may be referred within the same institution or through other referral institutions due to symptoms, physical exam (e.g., systolic murmur), or screening echocardiogram. Severity of AS in the context of reduced LVEF may need to be confirmed with a DSE (if initial findings are discordant). Moreover, once the diagnosis is confirmed technical plausibility of TAVR needs to be assessed by means of a pre-TAVR multislice computed tomography. Current evidence supports the use of transfemoral over non-transfemoral access for TAVR, given a lower rate of procedural complications (e.g., acute kidney injury, need for renal replacement therapy) and lower 1 year mortality (39, 40). Thus, a transfemoral approach should be considered as first option for this high risk population, commonly avoiding the need of general anesthesia. Most patients would have coronary artery disease, and a coronary angiogram would need to be included in the clinical work-up.

It is essential to refer potential candidates to experienced heart valve centers (15). A high grade of suspicion and low threshold for referral would be required from non-interventional cardiologists and other specialties. Moreover, a systematic echocardiographic assessment of the AVA in all patients with at least mild AS gradient, would potentially help to identify patients with "discordant mild-gradient moderate AS," which would otherwise have been missed. Nevertheless, current evidence recommends watchful waiting and periodic echocardiographic follow-up in patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF. This approach may significantly change if results of ongoing trials prove to be clinically meaningful.

TAVR UNLOAD Trial

The single most important requirement to promote TAVR as a therapeutic option in patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF is to create confirmatory prospective evidence that this intervention is clinically meaningful (5, 6, 16). The Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement to UNload the Left ventricle in patients with Advanced heart failure (TAVR UNLOAD) trial (NCT02661451) is an international, multicenter, randomized, open-label, clinical trial comparing TAVR with the Edwards SAPIEN 3 Transcatheter Heart Valve in addition to optimal heart failure therapy (OHFT) vs. OHFT alone in patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF (10). This trial is currently enrolling patients in The Netherlands, Canada, and the United States of America. Screening of patients includes echocardiographic eligibility assessment by an independent Core Laboratory, which centrally confirms the presence of moderate AS and reduced LVEF. Assessment may include a DSE. Importantly, written confirmation of OHFT is provided by a

REFERENCES

- Osnabrugge RL, Mylotte D, Head SJ, Van Mieghem NM, Nkomo VT, Lereun CM, et al. Aortic stenosis in the elderly: disease prevalence and number of candidates for transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a metaanalysis and modeling study. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2013) 62:1002–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.05.015
- Smith WT, Ferguson TB Jr, Ryan T, Landolfo CK, Peterson ED. Should coronary artery bypass graft surgery patients with mild or moderate aortic stenosis undergo concomitant aortic valve replacement? A decision analysis approach to the surgical dilemma. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2004) 44:1241–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.06.031
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack MJ, Makkar RR, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, et al. Transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2016) 374:1609–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1514616
- Thourani VH, Kodali S, Makkar RR, Herrmann HC, Williams M, Babaliaros V, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement versus surgical valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients: a propensity score analysis. *Lancet* (2016) 387:2218–25. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30073-3
- van Gils L, Clavel MA, Vollema EM, Hahn RT, Spitzer E, Delgado V, et al. Prognostic implications of moderate aortic stenosis in patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2017) 69:2383–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.03.023
- Mohty D, Dumesnil JG, Echahidi N, Mathieu P, Dagenais F, Voisine P, et al. Impact of prosthesis-patient mismatch on long-term survival after aortic valve replacement: influence of age, obesity, and left ventricular dysfunction. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2009) 53:39–47. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.09.022
- Rieck AE, Gerdts E, Lonnebakken MT, Bahlmann E, Cioffi G, Gohlke-Barwolf C, et al. Global left ventricular load in asymptomatic aortic stenosis: covariates and prognostic implication (the SEAS trial). *Cardiovasc Ultrasound* (2012) 10:43. doi: 10.1186/1476-7120-10-43

local heart failure specialist. Clinical, imaging, and procedural eligibility are confirmed by a Central Screening Committee before randomization. The primary endpoint, defined as the hierarchical occurrence of all-cause death, disabling stroke, hospitalizations related to HF, symptomatic aortic valve disease or non-disabling stroke, and the change in the Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire, will be analyzed at 1 year. Changes in heart failure pharmacologic and device therapies will be assessed up to 2 years. Findings may have a significant impact on the way we diagnose, refer and manage patients with AS.

CONCLUSION

Patients with moderate AS and reduced LVEF are exposed to a significant risk of clinical events including death. Indirect evidence suggests that aortic valve replacement may offer a clinically meaningful benefit. Incorporating this entity as a therapeutic target requires re-assessment of how we diagnose AS and improved strategies of referral. The TAVR UNLOAD trial is investigating whether TAVR could improve clinical outcomes including quality of life in this high risk population.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ES and NVM conceived the manuscript. ES wrote the first draft in collaboration with BR, MG, and NVM. All co-authors critically reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

- Taniguchi T, Morimoto T, Shiomi H, Ando K, Kanamori N, Murata K, et al. Prognostic impact of left ventricular ejection fraction in patients with severe aortic stenosis. *JACC Cardiovasc. Interv.* (2018) 11:145–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.08.036
- Dahl JS, Eleid MF, Michelena HI, Scott CG, Suri RM, Schaff HV, et al. Effect of left ventricular ejection fraction on postoperative outcome in patients with severe aortic stenosis undergoing aortic valve replacement. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging* (2015) 8:e002917. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.114.0 02917
- Spitzer E, Van Mieghem NM, Pibarot P, Hahn RT, Kodali S, Maurer MS, et al. Rationale and design of the transcatheter aortic valve replacement to unload the left ventricle in patients with advanced heart failure (TAVR UNLOAD) trial. Am Heart J. (2016) 182:80–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2016. 08.009
- 11. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the TASK FORCE for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J. (2016) 37:2129–200. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw128
- Cowell SJ, Newby DE, Prescott RJ, Bloomfield P, Reid J, Northridge DB, et al. A randomized trial of intensive lipid-lowering therapy in calcific aortic stenosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2005) 352:2389–97. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043876
- Rossebo AB, Pedersen TR, Boman K, Brudi P, Chambers JB, Egstrup K, et al. Intensive lipid lowering with simvastatin and ezetimibe in aortic stenosis. N Engl J Med. (2008) 359:1343–56. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0804602
- 14. Chan KL, Teo K, Dumesnil JG, Ni A, Tam J, Investigators A. Effect of Lipid lowering with rosuvastatin on progression of aortic stenosis: results of the aortic stenosis progression observation: measuring effects of rosuvastatin (ASTRONOMER) trial. *Circulation* (2010) 121:306–14. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.900027

- Baumgartner H, Falk V, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, et al. 2017 ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* (2017a) 38:2739–91. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx391
- Samad Z, Vora AN, Dunning A, Schulte PJ, Shaw LK, Al-Enezi F, et al. Aortic valve surgery and survival in patients with moderate or severe aortic stenosis and left ventricular dysfunction. *Eur Heart J.* (2016) 37:2276–86. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv701
- Teo KK, Corsi DJ, Tam JW, Dumesnil JG, Chan KL. Lipid lowering on progression of mild to moderate aortic stenosis: meta-analysis of the randomized placebo-controlled clinical trials on 2344 patients. *Can J Cardiol.* (2011) 27:800–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2011.03.012
- Palta S, Pai AM, Gill KS, Pai RG. New insights into the progression of aortic stenosis: implications for secondary prevention. *Circulation* (2000) 101:2497–502. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.101.21.2497
- Ito S, Miranda WR, Nkomo VT, Connolly HM, Pislaru SV, Greason KL, et al. Reduced left ventricular ejection fraction in patients with aortic stenosis. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2018) 71:1313–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.01.045
- Briand M, Dumesnil JG, Kadem L, Tongue AG, Rieu R, Garcia D, et al. Reduced systemic arterial compliance impacts significantly on left ventricular afterload and function in aortic stenosis: implications for diagnosis and treatment. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2005) 46:291–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.10.081
- Hachicha Z, Dumesnil JG, Bogaty P, Pibarot P. Paradoxical low-flow, lowgradient severe aortic stenosis despite preserved ejection fraction is associated with higher afterload and reduced survival. *Circulation* (2007) 115:2856–64. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.668681
- Lancellotti P, Donal E, Magne J, Moonen M, O'connor K, Daubert JC, et al. Risk stratification in asymptomatic moderate to severe aortic stenosis: the importance of the valvular, arterial and ventricular interplay. *Heart* (2010) 96:1364–71. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2009.190942
- Kobayashi Y, Kim JB, Moneghetti KJ, Kobayashi Y, Zhang R, Brenner DA, et al. Dynamic changes in aortic impedance after transcatheter aortic valve replacement and its impact on exploratory outcome. *Int J Cardiovasc Imaging* (2017) 33:1693–701. doi: 10.1007/s10554-017-1155-6
- Nishimura RA, Otto CM, Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Erwin JP 3rd, Guyton RA, et al. 2014 AHA/ACC guideline for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. *Circulation* (2014) 129:e521–643. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000029
- Verhoye JP, Merlicco F, Sami IM, Cappabianca G, Lecouls H, Corbineau H, et al. Aortic valve replacement for aortic stenosis after previous coronary artery bypass grafting: could early reoperation be prevented? *J Heart Valve Dis.* (2006) 15:474–8.
- 26. Gupta T, Khera S, Kolte D, Goel K, Kalra A, Villablanca PA, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve replacement in patients with prior coronary artery bypass grafting: trends in utilization and propensity-matched analysis of in-hospital outcomes. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* (2018) 11:e006179. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.117.006179
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack M, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve implantation for aortic stenosis in patients who cannot undergo surgery. N Engl J Med. (2010) 363:1597–607. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1008232
- Popma JJ, Adams DH, Reardon MJ, Yakubov SJ, Kleiman NS, Heimansohn D, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement using a self-expanding bioprosthesis in patients with severe aortic stenosis at extreme risk for surgery. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2014) 63:1972–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.02.556
- Smith CR, Leon MB, Mack MJ, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic-valve replacement in high-risk patients. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 364:2187–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1103510
- Adams DH, Popma JJ, Reardon MJ, Yakubov SJ, Coselli JS, Deeb GM, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement with a self-expanding prosthesis. N Engl J Med. (2014) 370:1790–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1400590

- Reardon MJ, Van Mieghem NM, Popma JJ, Kleiman NS, Sondergaard L, Mumtaz M, et al. Surgical or transcatheter aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:1321–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1700456
- 32. Thyregod HG, Steinbruchel DA, Ihlemann N, Nissen H, Kjeldsen BJ, Petursson P, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve replacement in patients with severe aortic valve stenosis: 1-year results from the allcomers notion randomized clinical trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2015) 65:2184–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.03.014
- 33. Reddy G, Wang Z, Nishimura RA, Greason KL, Yoon SH, Makkar RR, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement for stenotic bicuspid aortic valves: systematic review and meta analyses of observational studies. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2018) 91:975–83. doi: 10.1002/ccd.27340
- De Backer O, Søndergaard L. Challenges when expanding transcatheter aortic valve implantation to younger patients. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2018) 5:45. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00045
- Rogers T, Thourani VH. Is there still a role for balloon dilatation before transcatheter aortic valve replacement-or, indeed, for transaortic access? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. (2018) 155:924–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2017.10.114
- 36. Baumgartner H, Hung J, Bermejo J, Chambers JB, Edvardsen T, Goldstein S, et al. Recommendations on the echocardiographic assessment of aortic valve stenosis: a focused update from the European association of cardiovascular imaging and the american society of echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. (2017b) 30:372–92. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2017.02.009
- Eleid MF, Sorajja P, Michelena HI, Malouf JF, Scott CG, Pellikka PA. Flow-gradient patterns in severe aortic stenosis with preserved ejection fraction: clinical characteristics and predictors of survival. *Circulation* (2013) 128:1781–9. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.003695
- Romero J, Chavez P, Goodman-Meza D, Holmes AA, Ostfeld RJ, Manheimer ED, et al. Outcomes in patients with various forms of aortic stenosis including those with low-flow low-gradient normal and low ejection fraction. *Am J Cardiol.* (2014) 114:1069–74. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014. 07.020
- Chandrasekhar J, Hibbert B, Ruel M, Lam BK, Labinaz M, Glover C. Transfemoral vs. non-transfemoral access for transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Can J Cardiol.* (2015) 31:1427–38. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2015.04.023
- 40. Ghatak A, Bavishi C, Cardoso RN, Macon C, Singh V, Badheka AO, et al. Complications and mortality in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement with Edwards SAPIEN & SAPIEN XT valves: a meta-analysis of world-wide studies and registries comparing the transapical and transfemoral accesses. J Interv Cardiol. (2015) 28:266–78. doi: 10.1111/joic.12201

Disclaimer: NVM and ES are members of the Executive Committee of the TAVR UNLOAD trial.

Conflict of Interest Statement: NVM has received institutional grants from Edwards Lifesciences, Medtronic, Boston Scientific and Abbott. ES has received speaker fees from Edwards Lifesciences.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Spitzer, Ren, Kroon, van Gils, Manintveld, Daemen, Zijlstra, de Jaegere, Geleijnse and Van Mieghem. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Cerebral Embolic Protection Devices During Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement

Ozan M. Demir^{1,2}, Gianmarco Iannopollo¹, Antonio Mangieri¹, Marco B. Ancona¹, Damiano Regazzoli¹, Satoru Mitomo¹, Antonio Colombo¹, Giora Weisz³ and Azeem Latib^{1,4*}

¹ Interventional Cardiology Unit, Cardio-Thoracic-Vascular Department, San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy,
 ² Department of Cardiology, Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust, London, United Kingdom,
 ³ Department of Cardiology, Montefiore Medical Center, New York, NY, United States, ⁴ Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Crochan John O'Sullivan, Triemli Hospital, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Gidon Yehuda Perlman, Hadassah Medical Center, Israel David Chistian Reineke, Inselspital, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Azeem Latib alatib@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 28 March 2018 Accepted: 03 October 2018 Published: 23 October 2018

Citation:

Demir OM, lannopollo G, Mangieri A, Ancona MB, Regazzoli D, Mitomo S, Colombo A, Weisz G and Latib A (2018) The Role of Cerebral Embolic Protection Devices During Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:150. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00150 Transcatheter aortic valve replacement is the therapy of choice for patients with severe aortic stenosis who have prohibitive or high surgical risk. However, the benefit of TAVR is attenuated by the occurrence of major disabling stroke which is associated with increased mortality and early-reduced quality of life. Despite advances in TAVR technology, stroke remains a serious complication that is associated with significant negative outcomes. The majority of these occur in the acute phase following TAVR where cerebral embolic events are frequent. Cerebral embolic protection devices (CEPD) have been developed to minimize the risk of peri-procedural ischemic stroke during TAVR. CEPD have the potential to reduce intraprocedural burden of new silent ischemic injury. In this review we outline the etiology and incidence of stroke in TAVR population, and systematically review current evidence for cerebral embolic protection devices.

Keywords: stroke, embolic protection devices, aortic stenosis, TAVI, TAVR

INTRODUCTION

Aortic stenosis (AS) is the most common valvular pathology in the elderly and its prevalence is expected to increase rapidly over the next decade due to an aging population (1, 2). Transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) has revolutionized the treatment of symptomatic AS with over 300,000 TAVR procedures performed worldwide, to-date. This resulted following a number of registries (3, 4) and randomized controlled trials (5–11) demonstrating mortality benefits of TAVR in inoperable and high-risk surgical patients. However, the benefit of TAVR is attenuated by the occurrence of major disabling stroke which is associated with increased mortality and in the short term reduced quality of life. Despite the evolution in TAVR technology, cerebrovascular events remain one of the most serious complications with long-term negative sequelae. Cerebral embolic protection devices (CEPD) have been developed to minimize the risk of peri-procedural ischemic stroke during TAVR. Furthermore, with the anticipated expansion of TAVR into intermediate risk and younger patients, the prevention of TAVR-related stroke and understanding the role of CEPD in this will become essential (12).

In this review we outline the etiology and incidence of stroke in TAVR population, and systematically review current evidence for cerebral embolic protection devices.

ETIOLOGY

The temporal pattern of stroke following aortic valve intervention is similar between surgical and transcatheter aortic valve replacement. However, the main disparity between these occurs in the acute peri-procedural period with up to half of strokes occurring within the first 24-h after TAVR (13, 14). The PARTNER trial (6) observed a significantly increased risk of peri-procedural stroke (6.7%) compared to medical therapy (1.7%). Subsequent meta-analyses (15, 16) demonstrated 30-days stroke incidence of 3.1–3.3%, and that it confers a 3.5-fold increase in mortality at 1-year. After the initial 2 months, known as the late phase, there is a similar incidence of stroke between surgical and transcatheter aortic valve replacement groups that is likely to reflect the baseline risk profiles of the populations (13, 17).

Acute Stroke

Acute strokes are ischemic in the vast majority (95%) of patients and thought to be secondary to procedural factors (Table 1). These peri-procedural strokes occur due to embolization phenomenon arising from disruption of the vasculature, especially the aortic arch, degenerate aortic leaflets, or the left ventricular outflow tract. This causes calcific material or atheromatous plaque embolization (18). The passage of stiff guidewires, large caliber TAVR delivery systems, and prolonged procedural time have previously been associated with cerebral embolization in AS patients (19). Furthermore, repeated attempts to the cross calcified aortic valve, manipulation of the calcified aortic valve annulus, mechanical force of valve deployment, and pre- or post-dilatation may all be associated with further anatomical disruption leading to cerebral embolization. In addition, thrombotic cerebral microembolization has been observed in patients acutely following TAVR, potentially developing on guidewires or catheters. Lastly, CEPD studies have demonstrated the presence of myocardial tissue and plastic from TAVR delivery system as sources of cerebral embolization (18).

Hemodynamic instability occurring during TAVR can lead to systemic hypotension and consequently cerebral hypoperfusion. The effect of cerebral microemboli under these conditions is amplified, due to impairment of clearance and cementation of microemboli within small vessels (20). Rapid ventricular pacing constitutes the greatest risk of hemodynamic instability during TAVR, this is required during balloon valvuloplasty before or after TAVR, and in balloon expandable TAVR prostheses, or in cases where difficultly is encountered in precise positioning of self-expanding TAVR prostheses to minimize the risk of migration/embolization. In general, rapid ventricular pacing is well tolerated however in certain patients this can be associated with greater risk of hemodynamic instability, for example those with impaired left ventricular function or in those with marked left ventricular hypertrophy (17). Hemodynamic instability can also occur as a consequence of anesthetic complications, or secondary to hemorrhage.

SUBACUTE/LATE STROKE

The etiology of delayed stroke after TAVR remains poorly characterized and is probably due to multiple factors, the primary cause thought to be thromboembolic. This can occur due to numerous reasons: valve crimping and balloon dilatation of prosthetic valve leaflets can cause structural damage that result in prothrombotic state with platelet and fibrin aggregation (14); the valve delivery system may scrape the diffuse atherosclerosis inside the aorta and some particles be dislodged later with the increased cardiac output and increased flow; increased risk of thrombus formation on the TAVR prosthesis as endothelialization can take over 1 year (21); and new onset atrial arrhythmias, predominantly atrial fibrillation, have been revealed to confer increased risk of ischemic stroke and mortality (22). In addition, TAVR prothesis leaflet thickening and leaflet thrombus have recently been reported following an acutely successful procedure. Makkar et al. (23) reported on reduced aortic-valve leaflet motion in 55 patients from a clinical trial of TAVR and two single-center registries that included 132 patients who were undergoing either TAVR or surgical aortic-valve bioprosthesis implantation. From the clinical trial arm, reduced leaflet motion was noted in 22 of 55 patients (40%) on computed tomography (CT) imaging approximately 1-month after TAVR. Of note, all the patients with reduced leaflet motion CT had hypoattenuating opacities noted in the corresponding leaflets on two-dimensional CT. The findings on transesophageal echocardiography were consistent with a hyperechogenic, homogeneous mass located on the aortic aspect of the prosthetic leaflets that prevented normal leaflet excursion. There was no significant difference between patients with reduced leaflet motion and those with normal leaflet motion with respect to the mean aortic-valve gradient. Importantly, there was no significant difference in the incidence of stroke or TIA between patients with reduced leaflet motion and those with normal leaflet motion in the clinical trial (2 of 22 patients and 0 of 33 patients, respectively; P = 0.16). However, in the pooled registries including surgical aortic valve replacement, a significant difference was detected (3 of 17 patients and 1 of 115 patients, respectively; P = 0.007). Chakravarty et al. (24) reported on 890 patients from two large registries who had CT imaging following either TAVR or surgical aortic valve replacement. It was demonstrated that 106 (12%) of 890 patients had subclinical leaflet thrombosis, including five (4%) of 138 with thrombosis of surgical valves vs. 101 (13%) of 752 with thrombosis of transcatheter valves (p = 0.001). Subclinical leaflet thrombosis was less frequent among patients receiving anticoagulants. Subclinical leaflet thrombosis resolved in 36 (100%) of 36 patients receiving anticoagulants, whereas it persisted in 20 (91%) of 22 patients not receiving anticoagulants (p < 0.0001). Although stroke rates were not different between those with (4.12 strokes per 100 person-years) or without (1.92 strokes per 100 person-years) reduced leaflet motion (p = 0.10), subclinical leaflet thrombosis

TABLE 1 | Mechanisms of stroke in TAVR patients.

Stroke timing	Mechanism of stroke	Possible associated factors
Acute (Periprocedural)	Embolization phenomenon	 Wire or catheter manipulation in the aortic arch, ascending aorta or aortic arch Crossing calcified aortic valve Balloon aortic valvuloplasy TAVR device manipulation across aortic root and annulus TAVR prosthesis deployment Postdilatation of TAVR
	Global ischemia	 Hemodynamic instability Rapid ventricular pacing Anesthetic complication
	Hemorrhagic	 Vascular complication Anticoagulation (heparin) associated intraprocedurally
Subacute/Late	Thromboembolic	 Atrial fibrillation (new on-set or chronic Thromboembolic phenomenon (cardio-embolic)
	Hemorrhagic	 Long-term use of anti-coagulation and/or antiplatelet therapy

was associated with increased rates of transient ischaemic attacks (TIAs; 4.18 TIAs per 100 person-years vs. 0.60 TIAs per 100 person-years; p = 0.0005) and all strokes or TIAs (7.85 vs. 2.36 per 100 person-years; p = 0.001). Although, CEPD have no role in the prevention of leaflet thrombosis, prosthetic valve thrombosis may potentially have a tangible deleterious effect on rates of cerebrovascular accidents, but further data from the randomized low risk TAVR trials are awaited which should help clarify this issue.

SILENT CEREBROVASCULAR EVENTS

The incidence of subclinical new cerebral ischemic lesions has been identified in as many as 93% of patients post-TAVR and recent pooled analysis reported an incidence of 77.5% (25). These are up to double of that seen in isolated surgical aortic valve replacement (26). Subclinical acute cerebral ischemic lesions can be accurately identified on diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (DW-MRI) with these regions demonstrating hyperintense signal as a result of reduction in water diffusion rate (27). Hyperintense signals on DW-MRI are well-established surrogate parameters for cerebral embolization and have already been investigated after catheter-based or cardiothoracic surgical interventions (28). In addition, cognitive function testing can be utilized to screen patients to determine those who may have had subclinical strokes (29). In various clinical contexts the occurrence of small brain infarcts has been linked to a higher incidence of stroke (30, 31) or cognitive impairment and dementia (32-34). Cerebral emboli detected on DWI-MRI increases the risk of clinically overt stroke by 2-4 fold and the greater the volume of lesions seen on DW-MRI, the

greater the long-term risk of cognitive dysfunction and longterm dementia (32, 35). However, the prognostic significance of these subclinical brain injuries remains contentious and the correlation between new cerebral infarcts post TAVR and longterm cognitive decline or behavioral changes remain uncertain. Performing neurocognitive assessment immediately following TAVR is challenging in elderly patients since results can be influenced by the degree of alertness and fatigue, which is common in elderly patients peri-procedurally especially if sedation or general anesthetic have been administered (36). The BRAVO-3 MRI study investigated the role of intra-procedural parenteral anticoagulation (heparin vs. bivalirudin) during TAVR in reducing risk of cerebral emboli during TAVR (37). In this study, there was no difference in rates of with new cerebral emboli between the bivalirudin (54.5%) and heparin (58.1%) groups. Of note, all patients that presented with clinically overt stroke showed evidence of new emboli on MRI. The total volume of emboli, the volume of single embolus per patient, and the volume of the largest embolus per patient were higher in patients presenting with vs. without stroke at 30-days.

Transcarotid Doppler studies have shown a high incidence of high-intensity transient signal (HITS) throughout the entire TAVR procedure, especially during valve positioning and implantation (38), highlighting the high embolic risk during these phases of the procedure. Therefore, the use of CEPD might play an important role during these at high risk phases of the TAVR procedure. All studies evaluating CEPD have focused on the assessment and characterization of new brain ischemic lesions on DW-MRI as the main efficacy endpoints (39). The relatively small incidence of clinically apparent cerebrovascular events makes them difficult to use as endpoints in clinical trials, shifting the attention to subclinical cerebral injury (17).

CEREBRAL EMBOLIC PROTECTION DEVICES

Cerebral embolic protection devices are filters designed to capture or deflect emboli traveling to the brain during TAVR procedures in order to protect the supra-aortic vessels from embolic debris. These filters are normally positioned across the origin of supra-aortic vessels before the advancement of the TAVR system across the aortic valve and is retrieved at the end of the procedure (**Figure 1**). The positioning of these devices can be challenging particularly if atherosclerotic plaques are located in the vicinity of the ostium of supra-aortic vessels or aortic arch, hampering the implantation and positioning of CEPD which may even promote plaque disruption and consequently cerebral embolization (40). Initial in-human experiences have shown the feasibility and safety of CEPD during TAVR (41, 42). Currently there are three devices commercially available with studies that have evaluated their efficacy (**Table 2**).

EMBRELLA DEVICE

The Embrella Embolic Deflector device (EED) (Edwards Lifesciences; Irvine, California, United States) is a filter designed



FIGURE 1 | Computed tomography image of ascending aorta and supra-aortic vessels. (A) Brachiocephalic artery; (B) Left common carotid artery; (C) Left subclavian artery.

to deflect debris traveling to the brain during the positioning and implantation of the TAVR valve. The distal end of the deflector consists of an oval shaped nitinol frame (length 59 mm, width 25.5 mm) covered with a porus polyurethane membrane (100 microns pore size). The frame of the device has two opposing petals that are positioned along the greater curve of the aorta, covering the ostia of both the brachiocephalic and the left common carotid arteries (45). The device is inserted via the right radial or brachial approach using a 6-French delivery system. The EED system is deployed at the beginning of the TAVR procedure just before any attempt to cross the native aortic valve. Nietlispach et al. reported the first in-human experience with the EED device showing the feasibility and safety of device implantation in a preliminary series of 4 patients (1 aortic valvuloplasty, 3 TAVR procedures) (41). Subsequently, the PROTAVI-C study (45) evaluated the procedural safety, technical feasibility, and exploratory efficacy of the EED. This prospective non-randomized study included 54 patients, with 42 patients

receiving the EED device and 12 patients not receiving it (control group). TAVR procedures were performed by transfemoral approach with Edwards Sapiens XT. The PROTAVI-C study demonstrated that EED use during TAVR is feasible and safe with minimal procedural complications related to the device (1 radial thrombosis with no clinical consequences and 1 pseudoaneurysm of the brachial artery that required surgical repair). The EED system did not prevent the occurrence of cerebral microemboli during TAVR as evaluated by transcranial Doppler during the procedure. The number of HITS was actually higher in the EED group than in the control group, 632 [interquartile range, 347-893] vs. 279 [interquartile range, 0-505], respectively (p < 0.001). Therefore, suggesting that EED manipulation may also represent a potential source of embolic debris. In addition, the use of EED had no effect on the occurrence and number of new ischemic lesions as evaluated by DW-MRI at 7 days after the procedure. These ischemic lesions disappeared within few weeks (as evaluated by DW-MRI at around 30 days) and were not associated with any neurological and cognitive impairment. However, the use of a EED was associated with a reduction in lesion volume compared to the control group. Fundamentally, this study was limited by the low number of patients and lack of randomization. However, the EED device is currently not available commercially.

CLARET DEVICE

The Claret embolic protection device (CD) (Claret Medical, Inc.; Santa Rosa, California, United States) is designed to capture debris dislodged during TAVR and it is the first device with FDA approval (46). The system consists of a dual filter system deployed via the right radial or brachial approach to the brachiocephalic and left common carotid arteries. It consists of a proximal filter (sized 9-15 mm in diameter) delivered in the brachiocephalic artery covering all areas of the brain supplied by the right vertebral and right carotid artery and a distal filter (sized 6.5-10 mm in diameter) delivered in the left common carotid artery. The left vertebral artery, which usually originates from the left subclavian artery, remains unprotected, as does the cerebral regions fed by this vessel. At the start of the procedure the system is advanced through a 6F sheath and it is deployed in the aortic arch and withdrawn following removal of the TAVR delivery system (42). The CLEAN TAVI study (43) was a single center, blinded, randomized clinical trial that evaluated the efficacy of the Claret device in reducing the number of cerebral lesions in patients undergoing TAVR with Medtronic CoreValve. The primary endpoint was the reduction in number of lesions on DW-MRI at 2 days post-TAVR. The secondary outcome was the difference in volume of new lesions after TAVR in potentially protected territories. The study included 100 patients randomized 1:1 to the control or filter group. This showed a reduction in the number of new ischemic cerebral lesions [difference 5.00 (IQR, 2.00-8.00); *p* < 0.001] and volume of cerebral lesions in the filter group compared to the control group [difference 234 mm³ (95% CI, 91-406); p = 0.001]. These changes were observed largely within cerebral territories that **TABLE 2** | Cerebral protection devices and current evidence base.

	Embrella	Claret	TriGuard
Manufacturer	Edwards Lifesciences; Irvine, California, United States	Claret Medical, Inc.; Santa Rosa, California, United States	Keystone Heart Ltd., Herzliya, Israel
Structure	Oval shaped nitinol frame (length 59 mm, width 25.5 mm) Covered with a porus polyurethane membrane Pore size: 100 μm	Two oval coned mesh positioned within brachiocephalic (sized 9–15 mm diameter) and left common arteries (sized 6.5–10 mm in diameter) Pore size: 140 μm	Single-wire nitinol frame and mesh filter, maintained by stabilizers in the brachiocephalic artery and the inner curvature of the aortic arch. Pore size: 130 µm
Delivery approach	Radial/brachial artery	Radial/brachial artery	Femoral
Sheath Size	6 French	6 French	9 French
Primary Mechanism	Deflection	Filter and capture	Deflection
Coverage	Brachiocephalic and the left common carotid arteries	Brachiocephalic and the left common carotid arteries	Brachiocephalic, left common carotid, and left subclavian arteries
Most relevant study	PROTAVI-C (41)	SENTINEL (43)	DEFLECT III (44)
Methods	Prospective, non-randomized study. Device $n = 54$ Control $n = 12$	RCT Safety arm $n = 123$ Device arm $n = 121$ Imaging control arm $n = 119$	RCT Device $n = 46$ Control $n = 39$
Patient and procedural characteristics	52% male, median age 83 years. Only balloon expandable TAVR (Edwards Sapien XT) Only Transfemoral TAVR Successful device positioning in 100%	48% male, medial 83 years Balloon expandable TAVR in 70% Transfemoral TAVR in 95% Successful device positioning in 94%	46% male, mean age 82 years Balloon expandable TAVR in 64% Transfemoral TAVR in 97% Successful device positioning in 89%
Outcomes	DW-MRI:	DW-MRI:	DW-MRI:
	 Non-significant increase in lesion numbers (8 vs. 4, P = 0.41) in device group. Significantly lower lesion volumes (40% smaller, P = 0.003) in device group. TCD: Higher procedural HITS rates in device group. 	Protected territories:- 42% reduction in device arm of totallesion volume ($P = 0.33$)- 33% reduction in number ($P = 0.90$).All territories:- 5% reduction of total lesion volume($P = 0.81$), 40% in number ($P = 0.77$).Neurocognitive:- no difference in overall composite scoresat baseline, 30 days, or 90 days Change in neurocognitive scores frombaseline to 30-day follow-up correlatedwith median newlesion volume in protected territories	 Device related greater freedom from new cerebral DWI lesions (21.2 vs. 11.5%), 44% reduction of median lesion size Neurocognitive: Reduction worsening in National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale score from baseline (2.6 vs. 12.1%) in device arm
Ongoing studies	No registered on-going study	Ongoing study powered for efficacy (PROTECT-TAVI Trial; ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02895737)	Ongoing study powered for efficacy (REFLECT Trial; ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02536196)

were protected by the filter (day 2 post-TAVR: 246 vs. 527 mL, p = 0.002). The MISTRAL-C study (47), a multicenter, doubleblind, randomized trial that confirmed the efficacy of CD in reducing the number of new ischemic cerebral lesions and the volume of these lesions in 65 patients randomized 1:1 to CD vs. non-CD. The main limitation of this study is that only 57% of the randomized patients underwent follow-up DW-MRI. The SENTINEL trial (48) is the largest randomized clinical trial evaluating the safety and efficacy of a transcatheter CD system during TAVR. The SENTINEL trial enrolled 363 patients, who were randomized 1:1:1 into a safety arm (n = 123), an imaging device arm (n = 121), and an imaging control arm (n = 119). In this study a significant reduction of median total new lesion volume in protected territories, evaluated by DW-MRI 2-7 days after TAVR, was not observed (102.8 mm³, IQR 36.9-423.2 mm³ in the device arm vs. 178.0 mm³, IQR 34.3-482.5 mm3 in the control arm; p = 0.33), However, the use of the Sentinel device during TAVR was safely performed and histopathological debris was found within filters in 99% of patients, confirming the embolic risk during TAVR with frequent embolization of non-thrombotic material (vascular material in 94% of cases). Importantly, it was demonstrated for the first time that there is a correlation between new lesion volume and neurocognitive decline. Latib et al. (36) identified some challenges related to this trial that can be extended to other CEPD trials. Firstly, the need of baseline MRI to detect previous neurological damage and their impact on new cerebral lesions. Post-hoc multivariable analysis in the SENTINEL trial identified pre-existing lesion volume as main predictor of new lesion volumes. In addition, after adjusting for baseline T2/FLAIR lesion volume, there was a reduction in new lesion volume in both protected and all territories in the device vs. control arms. Secondly, the time

	Emblock	Point-Guard	Emboliner	ProtEmbo	Embolisher	Fliterlex
Device Illustration	and the second s					
Company	Innovative	Transverse	Cardiological	Protembis	Cardioptimus	Fliterlex
	Cardiovascular Solutions	Medical	Solutions			
Regulatory status	Feasibility study ongoing	Pre-clinical	Pre-clinical	Feasibility study awaited	Pre-clinical	Pre-clinical
Access	12F Contralateral Transfemoral	Unclear (Assume femoral)	9F Contralateral Transfemoral	6F left Transradial	Contralateral Transfemoral	lpsilateral Transfemoral
Embolic protection mechanism	Capture and removal	Deflector, capture and removal	Capture and removal	Deflector	Deflector	Deflector
Cerebral Protection	All supra-aortic arteries	All supra-aortic arteries	All supra-aortic arteries	All supra-aortic arteries	All supra-aortic arteries	All supra-aortic arteries
Positioning	Aortic Arch	Aortic arch	Aortic arch	Aortic arch	Aortic arch	Aortic arch and descending aorta
Other features	 Integrated pigtail catheter Designed to minimize use of contrast 	•Sealing technology •Conforms to aortic arch	•Dual-layer Nitinol mesh filter mounted on a 6-Fr catheter	•Deflection of microparticles as tiny as 60 microns to descending aorta		•Full protection: Brain, Aorta and Body (kidney)

TABLE 3 Percutaneous cerebral protection devices currently under development or first-in-man study stage.

points of evaluation of 2-7 days after TAVR might create too much heterogeneity in terms of detected volumes of ischemic lesions because of the time-dependent sensitivity of DW-MRI. As a matter of fact, the time point for performing DW-MRI post-TAVR could affect the sensitivity for detecting silent cerebral infarcts, as these lesions tend to disappear over time, being totally absent at 30 days following the procedure (49, 50). Thirdly, the evaluation of cognitive dysfunction might be misleading in elderly patients in the first few days after TAVR, therefore a simpler and more focused battery of tests may be repeated later in time. Furthermore, the Claret device can only protect completely 9 out of 28 brain territories because of the dual blood supply of the posterior circulation. Thus, if we believe that cerebral protection is important, it is not acceptable that these areas of the brain remain unprotected. The even embolic distribution shown on DW-MRI validates the need of a comprehensive brain protection (51, 52).

TRIGUARD DEVICE

The TriGuard (TG) CEPD (Keystone Heart Ltd., Herzliya, Israel) is a mechanical system designed to deflect cerebral emboli during TAVR while allowing maximal blood flow to the brain and it is the only deflection device that covers all 3 cerebral vessels. The device is a single-wire nitinol frame and mesh filter with pore size of 130 μ m and it is positioned across all 3 cerebral vessels and maintained by stabilizers in the innominate artery and the inner curvature of the aortic arch. At the start of the TAVR procedure, a

9 Fr arterial sheath is inserted in the contralateral femoral artery through which the TriGuard device is advanced to the aortic arch and deployed to cover the ostia of the three major cerebral vessel take-offs and it is withdrawn after completion of the TAVR procedure (44).

The DEFLECT I (44) and DEFLECT II (53) studies are single arm studies that confirmed the safety and performance of the first and second generation TriGuard device. In particular, the DEFLECT I formed the basis for TriGuard been granted CE mark in October 2013. The DEFLECT III (54) a prospective, multi-center, single-blind, randomized controlled trial evaluating the safety, efficacy and performance of the TriGuard device in subjects undergoing TAVR. The study included 85 patients randomized 1:1 to CEDP (46) or unprotected TAVR (39). This study showed that embolic protection during TAVR with TriGuard was safe and complete vessel coverage was achieved in 89% of the patients. The safety endpoint (including death, stroke, life-threatening or disabling bleeding, stage 2 or 3 acute kidney injury, or major vascular complications) was not different between the two groups. However, in the intention-to-treat analysis the use of TriGuard was associated with a greater freedom from new cerebral DWI lesions (21.2 vs. 11.5%), a reduction in "new neurologic impairment" defined as worsening in National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale score from baseline (2.6 vs. 12.1%) and a reduction in single and multiple lesions volume, especially for lesion volume of small and medium size (<150 mm³). Additionally, it showed improved cognitive function in some domain at discharge: in the International

Shopping List Test (a measure of episodic memory), significant differences were observed when patients were evaluated at discharge, favoring the interventional arm (65.4 vs. 30.4%, p = 0.022). The main limitations of this study are its lack of statistical power to evaluate the safety and efficacy endpoints and the high loss to follow-up (31% were lost to the postinterventional DWI evaluations and 26% were lost to the postinterventional cognitive and neurologic assessments). Lansky et al. (54) performed a pooled analysis on DEFLECT I, DEFLECT II studies, and the Neuro TAVR registry, this was a registry of 142 patients undergoing TAVR with TriGuard protection (n = 59) vs. no protection (n = 83). The study reported that TriGuard protection significantly reduced the incidence of inhospital Valve Academic Research Consortium-2-defined stroke (VARC-2) (0 vs. 6%; P = 0.05), the incidence of stroke as defined by worsening National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) with DW-MRI lesions (0 vs. 19%; P = 0.002), brain embolic lesion volume on MRI (315 + 620 mm3 vs. 511 + 893 mm3; P = 0.04) and demonstrated improved functioning on cognitive testing post-TAVR. The REFLECT-US (55) trial is an ongoing multicenter, randomized controlled trial evaluating the safety, efficacy, and performance of the TriGuard device in a larger cohort of patients undergoing TAVR compared to previous studies. This trial is including 285 TAVR subjects with 2:1 randomization to TriGuard (190 patients) and unprotected TAVR (95 patients).

NEW CEREBRAL PROTECTION DEVICES

Several new CEPD are currently under development or early first-in-human analysis, these are outlined in Table 3. The Emblok Embolic Protection System (Innovative Cardiovascular Solutions, LLC) is one of the devices that has ongoing clinical feasibility study. This device provides full circumferential coverage of the aortic arch, hence protecting all supraaortic vessels, utilizing a pore size of 125 µm. The system incorporates an integrated 4-Fr radiopaque pigtail catheter which provides constant visualization, from which aortagram can be performed both for CEPD and TAVR deployment. In addition, the radiopaque pigtail catheter aids in defining the non-coronary cusp hence it facilitates precise valve implantation while potentially decreasing contrast injections during TAVR positioning and deployment. The delivery system is 11-Fr compatible and allows two devices (i.e., embolic filter and pigtail catheter) to be deployed through a single access site supported by 0.035 guidewire. Clinical studies are currently underway to establish the safety and efficacy of Emblock in TAVR patient. In addition, there are other CEPD that currently under development or early first-in-human analysis, these are outlined in Table 3.

DISCUSSION

Despite advances in TAVR technology, stroke remains a serious complication that is associated with significant negative outcomes. The majority of these occur in the acute phase following TAVR where cerebral embolic events are frequent.

CEPD have the potential to reduce intraprocedural burden of new silent ischemic injury. Although individual CEPD studies have not yet demonstrated a reduction in rates of silent cerebral ischemic lesions evaluated by DW-MRI, they have demonstrated reductions in total cerebral ischemic volumes. Giustino et al. (56) performed a meta-analysis on 5 studies evaluating the efficacy of these 3 CEPD. A total of 625 patients were included, 376 with CEPD and 249 without CEPD, the CEPD group showed a lower risk in death or stroke, suggesting that CEPD may be a clinically relevant adjunctive strategy in patients undergoing TAVR. Aufrett e al. meta-analysis (sixty-four studies involving 72,318 patients) reported that female sex, chronic kidney disease, enrollment date, and new-onset atrial fibrillation were predictors of early CVE after TAVR. The main limitation of this metaanalysis is that most of the studies included were not powered for CVEs as main endpoint (57). A very large multicentre study, powered for early CVEs, is needed to identify which are the predictors of such events that will help us tailoring our preventive strategies. Preventing procedure-related cerebral injury remains a significant unmet clinical need with potentially important long-term sequelae. As we move to low-risk patients, the bar to ensuring good TAVR outcomes will become much higher. Hence, CEPD could potentially become standard of care if: (a) we accept as a community that silent cerebral infarction has a negative impact on long-term outcomes and that prevention of these is as important as preventing stroke; (b) CEPD devices are easy to use, safe, provide full protection of supra-aortic arteries during the procedure, and can be rapidly implanted without adding significant time to the procedure or interfering with valve positioning or deployment; (c) specific reimbursement for CEPD during TAVR become available and/or the cost of devices decrease significantly. If the previous conditions are satisfied, a very large multicentre randomized study might be conducted to evaluate the clinical benefit from CEPD devices.

CONCLUSION

Stroke remains one of the most serious complication following TAVR with associated worse outcomes that negate the benefit of TAVR procedure. Although CEPD have been demonstrated to reduce cerebral infarct volume, whether it decreases rates of both silent cerebral ischemic lesions and clinically evident ischemic strokes remains unclear. However, there will be greater emphasis on prevention of cerebral ischemic events as we move to low-risk patients. To elucidate the exact role of CEPD, a large randomized controlled trial with long-term follow-up with baseline and follow-up cerebral MRI imaging, and full neurological clinical evaluation, ideally using a device that protects all supra-aortic arteries, to establish the role of CEPD both in the short and long term.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

OD, GI, GW, and AL substantially contributed conception and design of the manuscript. OD and GI wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Nkomo VT, Gardin JM, Skelton TN, Gottdiener JS, Scott CG, Enriquez-Sarano M. Burden of valvular heart diseases: a population-based study. *Lancet* (2006) 368:1005–11. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69208-8
- Osnabrugge LJ, Mylotte D, Head SJ, Van Mieghem NM, Nkomo VT, LeReun CM, et al. Aortic Stenosis in the elderly. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2013) 62:1002–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.05.015
- Moat NE, Ludman P, De Belder MA, Bridgewater B, Cunningham AD, Young CP, et al. Long-term outcomes after transcatheter aortic valve implantation in high-risk patients with severe aortic stenosis: The U.K. TAVI (United Kingdom transcatheter aortic valve implantation) registry. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2011) 58:2130–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.08.050
- Rodés-Cabau J, Dumont E, De LaRochellière R, Doyle D, Lemieux J, Bergeron S, et al. Feasibility and initial results of percutaneous aortic valve implantation including selection of the transfemoral or transapical approach in patients with severe aortic stenosis. *Am J Cardiol.* (2008) 102:1240–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2008.06.061
- Smith CR, Leon MB, Mack MJ, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, et al. Transcatheter versus surgical aortic-valve replacement in high-risk patients. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 364:2187–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1103510
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack M, Miller DC, Moses JW, Svensson LG, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve implantation for aortic stenosis in patients who cannot undergo surgery. N Engl J Med. (2010) 363:1597–607. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1008232
- Adams DH, Popma JJ, Reardon MJ, Yakubov SJ, Coselli JS, Deeb GM, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement with a self-expanding prosthesis. N Engl J Med. (2014) 370:1790–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1400590
- Kodali SK, Williams MR, Smith CR, Svensson LG, Webb JG, Makkar RR, et al. Two-year outcomes after transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:1686–95. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200384
- Makkar RR, Fontana GP, Jilaihawi H, Kapadia S, Pichard AD, Douglas PS, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement for inoperable severe aortic stenosis. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:1696–704. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1202277
- Kapadia SR, Tuzcu EM, Makkar RR, Svensson LG, Agarwal S, Kodali S, et al. Long-term outcomes of inoperable patients with aortic stenosis randomly assigned to transcatheter aortic valve replacement or standard therapy. *Circulation* (2014) 130:1483–92. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.009834
- Reardon MJ, Van Mieghem NM, Popma JJ, Kleiman NS, Søndergaard L, Mumtaz M, et al. Surgical or transcatheter aortic-valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:1321–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1700456
- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack MJ, Makkar RR, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, et al. Transcatheter or surgical aortic-valve replacement in intermediaterisk patients. N Engl J Med. (2016) 374:1609–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa15 14616
- Miller DC, Blackstone EH, Mack MJ, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, Kapadia S, et al. Transcatheter (TAVR) versus surgical (AVR) aortic valve replacement: Occurrence, hazard, risk factors, and consequences of neurologic events in the PARTNER trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2012) 143:832–43.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.01.055
- E.Tay LW, Gurvitch R, Wijesinghe N, Nielispach F, Wood D, Cheung A, et al. A high-risk period for cerebrovascular events exists after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2011) 4:1290–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2011.08.012
- Eggebrecht H, Schmermund A, Voigtländer T, Kahlert P, Erbel R, Mehta RH, et al. Risk of stroke after transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI): A meta-analysis of 10,037 published patients. *EuroIntervention* (2012) 8:129–38. doi: 10.4244/EIJV811A20
- Muralidharan A, Thiagarajan K, Van Ham R, Gleason TG, Mulukutla S, Schindler JT,et al. Meta-analysis of perioperative stroke and mortality in transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Am J Cardiol.* (2017) 118:1031–45. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.07.011
- Fanning JP, Walters DL, Platts DG, Eeles E, Bellapart J, Fraser JF, Characterization of neurological injury in transcatheter aortic valve implantation: how clear is the picture?. *Circulation* (2014) 129:504–15. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.004103

- 18. Van Mieghem NM, Schipper EI, Ladich E, Faqiri E, van der Boon R, Randjgari A, et al. Histopathology of embolic debris captured during transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Circulation* (2013) 127:2194–201. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.001091
- Kahlert P, Knipp SC, Schlamann M, Thielmann M, Al-Rashid F, Weber M, et al. Silent and Apparent Cerebral Ischemia After Percutaneous Transfemoral Aortic Valve Implantation: A Diffusion-Weighted Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. *Circulation* (2010) 121: 870–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.855866
- Caplan LR, Hennerici M. Impaired clearance of emboli (washout) is an important link between hypoperfusion, embolism, and ischemic stroke. *Arch Neurol.* (1998) 55:1475–82.
- 21. Linke A, Höllriegel R, Walther T, Schierle K, Wittekind C, Ender J, et al. Ingrowths of a percutaneously implanted aortic valve prosthesis (corevalve) in a patient with severe aortic stenosis. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*. (2008) 1:155–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.108.796094
- 22. Jørgensen TH, Thyregod GH, Tarp JB, Svendsen JH, Søndergaard L. Temporal changes of new-onset atrial fibrillation in patients randomized to surgical or transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Int J Cardiol.* (2017) 234:16–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.02.098
- Makkar RR, Fontana G, Jilaihawi H, Chakravarty T, Kofoed KF, De Backer O, et al. Possible subclinical leaflet thrombosis in bioprosthetic aortic valves. N Engl J Med. (2015) 373:2015–24. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1509233
- Chakravarty T, Søndergaard L, Friedman J, De Backer O, Berman D, Kofoed KF, et al. Subclinical leaflet thrombosis in surgical and transcatheter bioprosthetic aortic valves: an observational study. *Lancet* (2017) 389:2383– 92. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30757-2
- 25. Pagnesi M, Martino EA, Chiarito M, Mangieri A, Jabbour RJ, Van Mieghem NM, et al. Silent cerebral injury after transcatheter aortic valve implantation and the preventive role of embolic protection devices: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiol.* (2016) 221:97–106. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.06.143
- Astarci P, Glineur D, Kefer J, D'Hoore W, Renkin J, Vanoverschelde JL, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging evaluation of cerebral embolization during percutaneous aortic valve implantation: comparison of transfemoral and trans-apical approaches using Edwards Sapiens valve. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* (2011) 40:475–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2010.11.070
- Spaziano M, Francese DP, Leon MB, Généreux P. Imaging and functional testing to assess clinical and subclinical neurological events after transcatheter or surgical aortic valve replacement: a comprehensive review. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 64:1950–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.07.986
- Gress DR. The problem with asymptomatic cerebral embolic complications in vascular procedures: what if they are not asymptomatic?. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 60:1614–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.06.037
- 29. Ghanem A, Dörner J, Schulze-Hagen L, Müller A, Wilsing M, Sinning JM, et al. Subacute subclinical brain infarctions after transcatheter aortic valve implantation negatively impact cognitive function in long-term follow-up. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12:e0168852. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168852
- Bernick C, Kuller L, Dulberg C, Longstreth WT, Manolio T, Beauchamp N, et al. Cardiovascular Health Study Collaborative Reseach Group, Silent MRI infarcts and the risk of future stroke: the cardiovascular health study. *Neurology* (2001) 57:1222–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.57.7.1222
- Vermeer SE, Hollander M, van Dijk EJ, Hofman A, Koudstaal PJ, Breteler MB, Rotterdam Scan Study. Silent brain infarcts and white matter lesions increase stroke risk in the general population: the Rotterdam Scan Study. *Stroke* (2003) 34:1126–9. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000068408.82115.D2
- 32. Vermeer SE, Longstreth WT, Koudstaal PJ. Silent brain infarcts: a systematic review. *Lancet Neurol.* (2007) 6:611–9. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70170-9
- Barber PA, Hach S, Tippett LJ, Ross L, Merry AF, Milsom P. Cerebral ischemic lesions on diffusion-weighted imaging are associated with neurocognitive decline after cardiac surgery. *Stroke* (2008) 39:1427–33. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.502989
- 34. Vermeer SE, Prins ND, den Heijer T, Hofman A, Koudstaal PJ, Breteler MB. Silent brain infarcts and the risk of dementia and cognitive decline. *N Engl J Med.* (2003) 348:1215–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa022066
- 35. Sacco RL, Kasner SE, Broderick JP, Caplan LR, Connors JB, Culebras A, et al. An updated definition of stroke for the 21st century: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American

Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2013) 44:2064–89. doi: 10.1161/STR.0b013e3182 96aeca

- Latib A, Pagnesi M. Cerebral embolic protection during transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a disconnect between logic and data?. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 69:378–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.10.036
- Van Belle E, Hengstenberg C, Lefevre T, Kupatt C, Debry N, Husser O, et al. BRAVO-3 MRI study investigators, cerebral embolism during transcatheter aortic valve replacement: the BRAVO-3 MRI study. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2016) 68:589–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.05.006
- Kahlert P, Al-Rashid F, Döttger P, Mori K, Plicht B, Wendt D, et al. Cerebral embolization during transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a transcranial Doppler study. *Circulation* (2012) 126:1245–55. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.092544
- Rossow CF, McCabe JM. Protection from cerebral embolic events during transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Curr Cardiol Rep.* (2016) 18:16. doi: 10.1007/s11886-015-0692-7
- Abdul-Jawad Altisent O, Puri R, Rodés-Cabau J. Embolic protection devices during TAVI: current evidence and uncertainties. *Rev Esp Cardiol.* (2016) 69:962–72. doi: 10.1016/j.rec.2016.04.056
- Nietlispach F, Wijesinghe N, Gurvitch R, Tay E, Carpenter JP, Burns C, et al. An embolic deflection device for aortic valve interventions. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. (2010) 3:1133–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2010.05.022
- Naber CK, Ghanem A, Abizaid AA, Wolf A, Sinning JM, Werner N, et al. First-in-man use of a novel embolic protection device for patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *EuroIntervention* (2012) 8:43–50. doi: 10.4244/EIJV8I1A8
- 43. Haussig S, Mangner N, Dwyer MG, Lehmkuhl L, Lücke C, Woitek F, et al. Effect of a cerebral protection device on brain lesions following transcatheter aortic valve implantation in patients with severe aortic stenosis the CLEAN-TAVI randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* (2016) 316:592–601. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.10302
- 44. Baumbach A, Mullen M, Brickman AM, Aggarwal SK, Pietras CG, Forrest JK, et al. Safety and performance of a novel embolic deflection device in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement: results from the DEFLECT I study. *EuroIntervention* (2015) 11: 75–84. doi: 10.4244/EIJY15 M04_01
- 45. Rodés-Cabau J, Kahlert P, Neumann FJ, Schymik G, Webb JG, Amarenco P, et al. Feasibility and exploratory efficacy evaluation of the Embrella Embolic Deflector system for the prevention of cerebral emboli in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement: the PROTAVI-C pilot study. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2014) 7:1146–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014. 04.019
- 46. Novo D, FDA Executive Summary Claret Medical Inc.'s Sentinel [®] Cerebral Protection System Table of Contents (2017).
- 47. Van Mieghem NM, Van Gils L, Ahmad H, Van Kesteren F, Van Der Werf HW, Brueren G, et al. Filter-based cerebral embolic protection with transcatheter aortic valve implantation: the randomised MISTRAL-C trial. *EuroIntervention* (2016) 12:499–507. doi: 10.4244/EIJV1 214A84

- Kapadia SR, Kodali S, Makkar R, Mehran R, Lazar RM, Zivadinov R, et al. Protection against cerebral embolism during transcatheter aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 69:367–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.10.023
- Gass A, Ay H, Szabo K, Koroshetz WJ. Diffusion-weighted MRI for the "small stuff": the details of acute cerebral ischaemia. *Lancet Neurol.* (2004) 3:39–45. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(03)00621-5
- Lansberg MG, Thijs VN, O'Brien MW, Ali JO, de Crespigny AJ, Tong DC, et al. Evolution of apparent diffusion coefficient, diffusion-weighted, and T2weighted signal intensity of acute stroke. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2001) 22:637–44.
- Layton KF, Kallmes DF, Cloft HJ, Lindell EP, Cox VS. Bovine aortic arch variant in humans: clarification of a common misnomer. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2006) 27:1541–2.
- Arnold M, Schulz-Heise S, Achenbach S, Ott S, Dörfler A, Ropers D, et al. Embolic cerebral insults after transapical aortic valve implantation detected by magnetic resonance imaging. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2010) 311:26–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2010.09.008
- Samim M, B. van der Worp, Agostoni P, Hendrikse JR,Budde PJ, Nijhoff F, et al. TriGuardTM HDH embolic deflection device for cerebral protection during transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* (2017) 89: 470–7. doi: 10.1002/ccd.26566
- 54. Lansky AJ, Schofer J, Tchetche D, Stella P, Pietras CG, Parise H, et al. A prospective randomized evaluation of the TriGuardTM HDH embolic DEFLECTion device during transcatheter aortic valve implantation: results from the DEFLECT III trial. *Eur. Heart J.* (2015) 36:2070–8. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv191
- Moses JW. A Description of US REFLECT Randomized Clinical Trial Disclosure Statement of Financial Interest (2017). Available online at: https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT02536196
- Giustino G, Mehran R, Veltkamp R, Faggioni M, Baber U, Dangas GD. Neurological outcomes with embolic protection devices in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *JACC Cardiovasc. Interv.* (2016) 9:2124–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.07.024
- 57. Auffret V, Regueiro A, Del Trigo M, Abdul-Jawad Altisent O, Campelo-Parada F, Chiche O, Puri R, et al. Predictors of early cerebrovascular events in patients with aortic stenosis undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2016) 68:673–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.05.065

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Demir, Iannopollo, Mangieri, Ancona, Regazzoli, Mitomo, Colombo, Weisz and Latib. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Patient Disposition and Clinical Outcome After Referral to a Dedicated TAVI Clinic

Miroslawa Gorecka¹, Catriona Reddin¹, Gillian Madders¹, Laura Monaghan¹, Antoinette Neylon¹, Faisal Sharif^{1,2}, Brian Hynes¹, Evelyn Fennelly¹, Fiachra McHugh², Niamh Martin², Khalid Mohammed¹, Venu Reddy Bijjam¹, David Veerasingam³, Alan Soo³, Mark DaCosta³, William Wijns^{2,4} and Darren Mylotte^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Cardiology, Galway University Hospital, SAOLTA Healthcare Group, Galway, Ireland, ² School of Medicine, National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland, ³ Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Galway University Hospital, SAOLTA Healthcare Group, Galway, Ireland, ⁴ The Lambe Institute for Translational Medicine and Curam, SAOLTA University Healthcare Group, National University of Ireland Galway, Galway, Ireland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Micha Tobias Maeder, Kantonsspital St. Gallen, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Pablo Codner, Rabin Medical Center, Israel Paolo Denti, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

> *Correspondence: Darren Mylotte darrenmylotte@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Structural Interventional Cardiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 13 April 2019 Accepted: 11 December 2019 Published: 10 January 2020

Citation:

Gorecka M, Reddin C, Madders G, Monaghan L, Neylon A, Sharif F, Hynes B, Fennelly E, McHugh F, Martin N, Mohammed K, Bijjam VR, Veerasingam D, Soo A, DaCosta M, Wijns W and Mylotte D (2020) Patient Disposition and Clinical Outcome After Referral to a Dedicated TAVI Clinic. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 6:188. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2019.00188 **Introduction:** Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) is the standard of care for the majority of patients with severe symptomatic aortic stenosis (AS) at excessive-, high- and intermediate-surgical risk. A proportion of patients referred for TAVI do not undergo the procedure and proceed with an alternate treatment strategy. There is scarce data describing the final treatment allocation of such patients. Hence, we sought to evaluate the final treatment allocation of patients referred for TAVI in contemporary practice.

Methods: We performed a single center prospective observational study, including all patients referred to our institution for treatment of severe aortic stenosis between February 2014 and August 2017. Baseline demographic and clinical data were recorded. Patients were categorized according to treatment allocation: TAVI, surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) or optimal medical therapy (OMT). Clinical outcomes were adjudicated according to VARC-2 definitions. All patients were discussed at a dedicated Heart Team meeting.

Results: Total of 245 patients were referred for assessment to a dedicated TAVI clinic during the study period. Patients with moderate (N = 32; 13.1%) and asymptomatic (N = 31; 13.1%) AS were excluded. Subsequently, 53.9% (N = 132) received TAVI, 12.7% (N = 31) were managed with OMT, and 7.3% (N = 18) had SAVR. Reasons for OMT included primarily: patient's preference (N = 12; 38.7%); excessive surgical risk (N = 4; 12.9%) and severe frailty (N = 5; 16.1%). Reasons for surgical referral included low surgical risk (N = 11; 61.1%), excessive annulus size (N = 5; 27.8%), and aortic root dilatation (N = 2; 11.1%). Patients proceeding to SAVR had lower surgical risk than those in either the OMT or TAVI cohorts (P < 0.001). Mean STS score in SAVR group was 2.2 ± 1.3 vs. 4.5 ± 2.4 in OMT cohort and 6.1 ± 4.9 in TAVI cohort. Six-month all-cause mortality was 16.7, 19.4, and 9.3% among those receiving SAVR, OMT, and TAVI, respectively.

Conclusions: Almost half of all patients with severe AS referred to a dedicated TAVI clinic did not receive a TAVI. A considerable proportion of patients were reclassified as

moderate AS (13%), were asymptomatic (13%), or intervention was determined to be futile (13%) due to advanced frailty. Early detection and increased awareness of valvular heart disease are required to increase the number of patients that can benefit from TAVI.

Keywords: aortic stenosis, transcatheter aortic valve implantation, TAVI, patient disposition, surgical aortic valve replacement, SAVR, optimal medical therapy, OMT

INTRODUCTION

Aortic stenosis (AS) is the most common valve disease affecting elderly patients, occurring in \sim 3.4% of the population over 75 years of age (1). Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) has transformed the management of AS patients and is considered to be the standard of care in elderly patients at excessive-, high- and intermediate-surgical risk. Indeed, TAVI has surpassed surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) as the dominant strategy for the treatment of symptomatic severe AS (2). National and regional differences in the availability of TAVI have emerged however and there exist considerable variations in the use of TAVI or SAVR (3).

Societal guidelines suggest that a Heart Team approach should facilitate the determination of the most appropriate therapeutic strategy for AS patients (4, 5). Such patients are usually referred to a dedicated Structural Heart clinic in a TAVI center for consideration of the most appropriate treatment. A proportion of patients with severe AS referred for TAVI are however likely to be more appropriately treated with SAVR due to young age and low operative risk, anatomical challenges, or concomitant coronary artery or mitral valve disease (4). Similarly, some patients at extreme-operative risk may be more appropriately treated conservatively. There is however, little information available on the final treatment allocation of patients referred to dedicated TAVI clinics (6, 7). Such information may have implications for healthcare resource allocation, service development planning, assessment of equitable patient access, and physician training.

We sought to address this knowledge gap by examining the disposition of patients referred to a dedicated TAVI clinic in contemporary clinical practice, to understand the motives for the chosen treatment allocation, and to describe clinical outcomes of various treatment strategies.

METHODS

Patient Population

In this prospective single center study, data was collected on all patients with severe AS referred for assessment to a dedicated out-patient TAVI clinic between February 2014 and August 2017. Patients were referred from community medical practitioners, the general medical service, cardiologists, and cardiothoracic surgeons. The diagnosis of severe AS was reassessed in the clinic and patients with < severe AS were excluded from the study. Demographic, clinical, laboratory, echocardiographic, and procedural data were prospectively collected into a dedicated database. All patients provided informed consent for the

procedure and the hospital ethical committee approved the data collection for this study.

Patients were categorized according to treatment allocation: TAVI, SAVR, or optimal medical therapy (OMT). The TAVI and SAVR groups included patients undergoing the respective intervention or those that died awaiting the procedure. The OMT group included patients treated with standard heart failure therapies, and balloon aortic valvuloplasty, but not deemed suitable for TAVI.

Endpoints and Definitions

In all cases, treatment allocation and the rationale for this allocation was documented after Heart Team discussion. Echocardiographic data was defined according to established criteria (8). Severe AS was defined according to standard societal guidelines (mean pressure gradient >40 mmHg, aortic valve area by continuity equation $< 1 \text{ cm}^2$). In cases of suspected low-flow low-gradient AS, the diagnosis was confirmed using dobutamine stress echocardiography and/or multislice computed tomography. Severe pulmonary hypertension was defined as pulmonary artery systolic pressure ≥ 60 mmHg. Chronic kidney disease was defined as estimated glomerular filtration rate <30 mL/min/1.73 m², chronic obstructive pulmonary disease as the ratio of forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1) over forced vital capacity (FVC)-(FEV1/FVC) ≤70%. Obstructive coronary artery disease was defined as visual stenosis of a major epicardial artery \geq 70% diameter stenosis.

Surgical risk was calculated using the Society of Thoracic Surgeons predicted risk of mortality (STS-PROM) score and the European System for Cardiac Operative Risk Evaluation (EuroSCORE; logistic EuroSCORE; and EuroSCORE II).

Clinical endpoints included procedural mortality, 30-day mortality, 6-month all-cause mortality, and stroke/transient ischemic attack as well as procedural complications. All outcomes were adjudicated according to the updated VARC-2 criteria (9). Clinical follow-up was performed by patient attendance at out-patient clinic or telephonic interview with patients, family members, and general practitioners. Follow-up time was the time between the procedure and follow-up in patients undergoing TAVI and SAVR or as the time from treatment decision in patients managed with OMT.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables are presented as mean and standard deviation or median with interquartile range according to distribution. Normally distributed variables were compared with the Student *t*-test and non-normally distributed variables compared with the Wilcoxon rank-sum test. Categorical variables

are presented as numbers and percentages, and were compared using chi-square or Fisher exact test. Multiple comparisons were analyzed using analysis of variance with Bonferroni correction or with the Kruskal-Wallis test. Survival was depicted using Kaplan-Meier graphs. Due to significant differences in baseline characteristics between treatment groups, we do not present comparative statistics on clinical outcomes. A probability value <0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance. All analyses were performed with Minitab software version 17.



RESULTS

Patients and Treatment Allocation

A total of 245 patients with AS were referred for assessment during the study period (**Figure 1**). Moderate AS was determined in 32 (13.1%) cases after careful multimodal imaging assessment. Among 213 patients with severe AS, 31.1% (N = 32) did not have symptoms, thus yielding a final study population of 181 patients with severe symptomatic AS. The median age of the study cohort was 83 [IQR 79–87] years and 53% (N = 96) were male (**Table 1**).

Treatment allocation after Heart Team discussion was as follows (**Table 1**): TAVI in 132 (53.9%); SAVR in 18 (9.9%); and OMT in 31 (17.1%). One patient initially managed with OMT proceeded to TAVI as a novel large THV (Medtronic, 34 mm Evolut R) became commercially available. Two patients died awaiting TAVI. Surgery was preferred to TAVI in 18 patients (7.3%) due to low surgical risk (N = 11; 61.1%)-mean STS score: 2.2%; excessive annulus size for commercially available TAVI devices at the time (N = 5; 27.8%); and bicuspid aortic valve morphology with aortic root dilatation (N = 2; 11.1%).

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics according to treatment allocation.

Demographic characteristics	All (<i>N</i> = 181)	TAVI (N = 132)	SAVR (<i>N</i> = 18)	OMT (<i>N</i> = 31)	<i>p</i> -value
Age, median [IQR]	83 [79–87]	83.3 [80.5–87]	73 [60–79]	86 [82–88]	< 0.001*#
Male sex	96 (53)	67 (50.8)	12 (66.7)	17 (54.8)	0.4
Symptoms					
NYHA Class III/IV	137 (77.8)	107 (84.3)	12 (66.7)	19 (61.3)	0.01*
Angina	42 (24.4)	35 (28)	4 (22.2)	3 (9.7)	0.1
Syncope	50 (28.4)	42 (33.1)	2 (11.1)	6 (19.4)	0.1
Co-morbid conditions					
Diabetes mellitus	40 (22.3)	29 (22.3)	5 (27.8)	6 (19.3)	0.8
Hypertension	147 (81.2)	116 (87.9)	10 (55.6)	21 (67.7)	<0.001*#
CKD eGFR < 30 mL/min/1.73 m ²	24 (13.9)	20 (15.6)	1(5.9)	3 (11.1)	0.4
COPD	26 (14.5)	23 (17.7)	1 (5.6)	2 (6.5)	0.1
PVD	29 (16.2)	28 (21.5)	O (O)	1 (3.2)	0.001*#
Stroke	34 (19)	27 (20.8)	2 (11.1)	5 (16.1)	0.5
Prior MI	49 (27.7)	37 (28.7)	4 (22.2)	8 (26.7)	0.8
Prior PCI	55 (30.9)	42 (32.6)	4 (22.2)	9 (29)	0.6
Prior CABG	25 (14)	21 (16.2)	1 (5.6)	3 (10)	0.3
Atrial fibrillation	72 (39.8)	50 (38.2)	9 (50)	13 (41.9)	0.6
PASP > 60 mmHg	8 (4.5)	5 (3.9)	O (O)	3 (9.7)	-
Permanent pacemaker	21 (11.8)	15 (11.5)	O (O)	6 (20)	0.1
Biological assessment					
Weight, Kg	74.9 ± 16.4	74.7 ± 16	83.4 ± 17.2	70.3 ± 16.7	0.1
eGFR, mL/min/1.73 m²	51 [39–64.5]	50 [38.3–64]	77 [43–86.5]	51 [38–59]	0.02#\$
Pre TAVI Coronary angiography,					
Obstructive CAD (>70% visual diameter stenosis)	57 (33.7)	41 (32.5)	5 (27.8)	11 (44)	0.8
PCI	20 (13.8)	23 (22.1)	O (O)	7 (30.4)	0.01#\$
Echocardiograph y					
Peak gradient, mmHg	75 [65–90]	75 [66–90]	70 [59–78.5]	72 [60–101]	N/A
Mean gradient, mmHg	47.5 [39–57]	48 [40–57.5]	41 [36–49.1]	48 [37.3–63.5]	N/A
AVA, cm ²	0.7 [0.5–0.8]	0.6 [0.5–0.8]	0.7 [0.5–1.1]	0.7 [0.6–0.8]	N/A
LVEF, %	55 [50–60]	55 [50-60]	60 [55–60]	55 [40–60]	N/A
PASP, mmHg	35 [28–45]	34 [28–41]	37 [25.8–47]	40 [33.5–49.5]	N/A
MR Grade \geq 3	32 (18.1)	29 (22.5)	2 (11.1)	1 (3.3)	N/A
Surgical risk					
EuroSCORE II	8.1 ± 8.5	9.2 ± 9.2	2.6 ± 1.6	6.4 ± 6.1	0.004#\$
Logistic EuroSCORE	20.3 ± 15.3	22.9 ± 15.9	6.2 ± 3.7	17.8 ± 11.5	< 0.001#8
STS PROM score	5.4 ± 4.6	6.1 ± 4.9	2.2 ± 1.3	4.5 ± 2.4	0.001*#\$

Values are number (%), median [interquartile range], or mean ± SD. p < 0.05 was used as the level of statistical significance. *Denotes statistical significance in TAVI-OMT pairwise comparison. [#]Denotes statistical significance in TAVI-SAVR pairwise comparison. ^{\$}Denotes statistical significance in SAVR-OMT pairwise comparison. COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; PVD, peripheral vascular disease; MI, myocardial infarction; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; CABG, coronary artery bypass graft; PASP, pulmonary artery systolic pressure; CKD, chronic kidney disease; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; CAD, coronary artery disease; AVA, aortic valve area; MR, mitral regurgitation; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; STS, Society of Thoracic Surgeons Predicted Risk of Mortality score.

OMT was preferred in 31 cases (12.7%) due to a patient preference to avoid intervention (N = 12; 38.7%); excessive annulus size but too frail for surgery (N = 4; 12.9%); severe frailty or immobility (N = 5; 16.1%); end-stage pulmonary disease (N = 3; 9.7%); severe cognitive impairment (N = 2; 6.5%); and end-stage malignancy (N = 1; 3.2%). In 4 cases (12.9%), patients died before completion of their out-patient TAVI work-up. One patient (3.2%) did not attend follow-up (**Table 2**).

Demographic Information

Baseline demographic, clinical, biological and echocardiographic characteristics according to treatment allocation are presented in **Table 1**. Patients managed with SAVR were significantly younger than those in either the OMT or TAVI cohorts (73 [IQR 60–79] vs. 86 [IQR 82–88] and 83.3 [IQR 80.5–87], respectively; P < 0.001). As expected, SAVR patients had lower STS scores then the other groups ($2.2 \pm 1.3\%$ vs. $4.5 \pm 2.4\%$ and $6.1 \pm 4.9\%$ respectively; P = 0.001). Patients undergoing SAVR also had higher median left ventricular ejection fraction than those in the OMT or the TAVI group [60% [IQR 55–60] vs. 55% [IQR 40–60] and 55% (50–60), respectively]. The median waiting time for TAVI was 70 [23–160] days, whereas median waiting time for SAVR was 272 [181–361] days (P < 0.001).

Clinical Outcome

Clinical outcomes are presented in **Table 3**. SAVR was associated with numerically higher rates of bleeding (27.8% vs. 10.6%) and acute kidney injury (33.3% vs. 4.5%), than TAVI, but with lower rates of new permanent pacemaker insertion (11.1% vs. 28.9%) and vascular complications (0% vs. 9.1%).

When compared to TAVI, SAVR was associated with a numerically higher procedural (5.6% vs. 0.8%) and 30-day mortality (11.1% vs. 2.3%). Six-month follow-up data was available for all patients in the OMT and SAVR group, and for 129 (97.7%) patients in the TAVI cohort. Median follow-up was 14 months [IQR 7–22] in the OMT cohort, 16.5 months [IQR 7.5–27] in the SAVR group and 12 months [IQR 8–21.8] for TAVI patients. Six-month all-cause mortality was highest among patients managed with OMT as compared to SAVR or TAVI (19.4% vs. 16.7% vs. 9.3%, respectively). All-cause mortality is displayed using Kaplan-Meier survival curves in **Figure 2**.

DISCUSSION

The main findings of our study are that only 53.5% of patients referred to a dedicated clinic for consideration for TAVI went on to receive a transcatheter heart valve. After reassessment of the severity of AS, 13.1% were reclassified as moderate rather than severe AS and among severe AS patients, up to 13.1% were asymptomatic and did not proceed to intervention. Among symptomatic severe AS patients, 20% were unsuitable for TAVI, with 7.3% undergoing SAVR and a further 12.7% of cases were deemed futile and hence managed with OMT. This information has important implications.

It seems striking that in contemporary clinical practice, only one in two patients referred for TAVI actually receive this lifesaving therapy. These results are however not unique, and other TABLE 2 | Indication for treatment allocation to surgery or medical therapy.

Treatment allocation	N (%)
Primary reason for OMT	<i>N</i> = 31
Patient preference	12 (38.7)
Excessive annulus size but too frail for surgery	4 (12.9)
Severe cognitive impairment	2 (6.5)
End-stage malignancy	1 (3.2)
End-stage pulmonary disease	3 (9.7)
Severe frailty / immobility	5 (16.1)
Did not attend clinic	1 (3.2)
Died before work-up complete	4 (12.9)
Primary reason for SAVR	<i>N</i> = 18
Low surgical risk	11 (61.1)
Excessive annulus size	5 (27.8)
Aortic root dilatation	2 (11.1)

Values are number (%). OMT, optimal medical therapy; SAVR, surgical aortic valve replacement.

TABLE 3 | Procedural and clinical outcomes.

Outcomes, N (%)	All (N = 181)	TAVI (N = 132)	SAVR (<i>N</i> = 18)	OMT (N = 31)
Procedural mortality ($N = 150$)	2 (1.3)	1 (0.8)	1 (5.6)	N/A
30-day mortality	6 (3.3)	3 (2.3)	2 (11.1)	1 (3.2)
6 month all-cause morality	21 (11.8)	12 (9.3)	3 (16.7)	6 (19.4)
Stroke/TIA	6 (3.6)	3 (2.5)	1 (5.6)	2 (7.1)
Procedural complications				
Myocardial Infarction	1 (0.7)	0 (0)	1 (5.6)	N/A
Any bleeding	19 (12.7)	14 (10.6)	5 (27.8)	N/A
Life-threatening bleeding	8 (5.3)	5 (3.8)	3 (16.7)	N/A
Acute kidney injury	12 (8)	6 (4.5)	6 (33.3)	N/A
Any vascular complication	12 (8)	12 (9.1)	0 (0)	N/A
Major vascular complication	6 (4)	6 (4.5)	0 (0)	N/A
New permanent pacemaker	27 (18)	25 (18.9)	2 (11.1)	N/A

Values are number (%). TAVI, transcatheter aortic valve implantation; SAVR, surgical aortic valve replacement; OMT, optimal medical therapy; TIA, transient ischaemic attack.

studies have documented similarly low rates of application of TAVI technology: 59% in an Italian study (N = 98) and 39% in a Canadian report (6, 7). These results must be contextualized however: when patients with moderate or asymptomatic AS were excluded, then nearly three-quarters (73%) were treated with TAVI. Further 10% were referred for SAVR.

In our study, more than 1 in 10 (13.1%) patients purportedly with severe AS were reclassified as moderate AS after assessment at a dedicated clinic. These data suggest that societal guidelines and position papers which recommend centralization of complex procedures, such as TAVI, at dedicated tertiary referral centers are appropriate (4, 10, 11). Centralization serves, not only to improve procedural outcome, but also more appropriately select the most appropriate intervention (if any) for a given patient. In AS, ancillary diagnostic capabilities such as transoesophageal and



dobutamine stress echocardiography, and multislice computed tomography are required. Such techniques may not be readily available in smaller referring centers and could result in patients being misclassified, as demonstrated in our study.

There remain few data describing the prevalence of symptoms in elderly patients with severe AS referred for TAVI (6, 7). In our patient population, quality of life and functional capacity are often more important patient-related outcome measures than mortality (12, 13). Indeed, elderly patients are often reluctant to undertake procedures that confer a mortality advantage if symptomatic benefit is not guaranteed. In the current study, 13.1% of our elderly patients (mean age 84.7 years) with severe AS did not report cardiovascular symptoms. In selected cases, exercise stress testing was performed to confirm the absence of symptoms, but in many cases, additional testing was not performed as the patients were satisfied with their quality of life. Such treatment decisions are appropriate in this elderly population but are less relevant in younger AS patients where the mortality advantage of TAVI is more pertinent.

In patients treated with OMT (N = 31), 12 (38.7%) refused the procedure, 4 (12.9%) died before the decision was finalized and 4 (12.9%) did not proceed because of unsuitable anatomy (large annuli) and concomitant frailty. In all other cases, the procedure was deemed futile due to co-morbidities such as endstage malignancy, excessive frailty, and cognitive impairment. These results are similar to previous studies in which the majority of patients who did not proceed to TAVI either declined the procedure, had unsuitable anatomy for percutaneous approach, or due to significant co-morbidities a symptomatic improvement was viewed as unlikely (6, 7). Patients managed with OMT in our cohort were older than patients in the two other subgroups, but interestingly, the prevalence of co-morbidities was not higher than in patients treated with TAVI or SAVR. The STS score of patients managed with OMT was significantly lower, than the mean STS score in the TAVI cohort (4.5 \pm 2.4 vs. 6.1

 \pm 4.9 respectively; P = 0.04). As expected, patients referred for SAVR had the lowest STS score (2.2 \pm 1.3; P < 0.001). The lower STS score in the OMT group compared to those undergoing TAVI may be attributed to factors that are not accounted for in the traditional surgical risk scores, such as frailty, cognitive impairment, etc. These treatment decisions highlight the important role of a multidisciplinary team (Heart Team) in determining management strategies. Moreover, these data point to the vital importance of considering patient's preference in decision making; nearly 4 in 10 patients treated with OMT refused TAVI. As expected, the prognosis in the OMT group was dismal with all-cause mortality of 19.4% at 6 months.

Despite TAVI now being extended to younger and lower risk populations, almost 1 in 10 patients (N = 18; 9.9%) in the current cohort were referred for SAVR. The recent publication of two low risk TAVI randomized trials will change these practices and will result in many younger patients being referred for TAVI in the coming years (14, 15). In our study, surgery was preferential in many cases, irrespective of operative risk, due to the presence of bicuspid aortic valve and dilation of the aortic root or concomitant severe coronary artery disease. Surgery will remain an important treatment option for patients with infective endocarditis, aortic thrombus or other anatomic characteristics that render TAVI unsuitable, or those with coexisting multivalve disease amenable to surgical correction (4). In contrast, the 28% of severe AS patients referred for SAVR due to excessively large aortic annuli not suitable for commercially available TAVI systems at that time would be expected to have TAVI in contemporary practice since larger devices such as the Medtronic Evolut R 34 mm (Medtronic, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA) or overexpansion of the SAPIEN 3 (Edwards Lifesciences, Irvine, CA, USA) prosthesis have emerged.

In a significant proportion of patients, frailty and cognitive impairment may limit the symptomatic benefit derived from TAVI (16, 17). Intervention in such patients is deemed to be "futile." It is important to acknowledge however, that in many such cases, a delayed presentation or diagnosis may have contributed to patients being labeled as futile. Opportunistic screening for severe valvular heart disease by general practitioners in the community has the potential to reduce the number of patients presenting late and improve outcome (18). A heart valve disease awareness survey performed among patients above the age of 60 years in nine European countries, found that only 7% of patients could identify symptoms of AS correctly and in 54.2% of cases, their general practitioner did not routinely use a stethoscope to examine their heart (19). It is recommended that all patients age ≥ 70 years should undergo opportunistic cardiovascular examination for a systolic murmur, symptoms of AS, and a referral for a transthoracic echocardiography if a murmur is detected (20). Community events, such as European Heart Valve Disease Awareness day serve to raise awareness of AS among general population and encourage seeking medical advice at an earlier stage (21).

LIMITATIONS

The current study comprises a single center experience of a small number of patients. Furthermore, changes in the threshold for intervention have evolved during the study enrolment which would have affected the disposition of patients at intermediate risk. Indeed, recent data suggesting extension of TAVI to patients at low operative risk will further impact patient disposition in the future. Consideration will need to be given to valve durability and the risk of paravalvular leak especially in this younger, lower risk cohort. Advancements in TAVI technology and patient screening, and local awareness of the dedicated TAVI clinic are also likely to have impacted the proportion of patients assigned to TAVI or OMT.

Our main objective was to report the ultimate treatment allocation for this patient population. Nevertheless, we also provide clinical outcome data according to the VARC definitions, but we did not present statistical comparisons between

REFERENCES

- Osnabrugge RL, Mylotte D, Head SJ, Van Mieghem NM, Nkomo VT, LeReun CM, et al. Aortic stenosis in the elderly: disease prevalence and number of candidates for transcatheter aortic valve replacement: a meta-analysis and modeling study. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2013) 62:1002–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.05.015
- Eggebrecht H, Mehta RH. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) in Germany 2008-2014: on its way to standard therapy for aortic valve stenosis in the elderly? *EuroIntervention*. (2016) 11:1029–33. doi: 10.4244/EIJY15M09_11
- 3. Mylotte D, Osnabrugge RL, Windecker S, Lefèvre T, de Jaegere P, Jeger R, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement in Europe: adoption trends and factors influencing device utilization. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2013) 62:210–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.03.074
- Falk V, Baumgartner H, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, et al. 2017 ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Euro J Cardio-Thor Surg.* (2017) 52:616–64. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx324

treatment groups due to considerable differences in the baseline characteristics of these patient populations. Interpretation of outcome data should be interpreted with caution, since the sample size is small and selection bias was introduced in the screening process.

CONCLUSIONS

Almost half of all patients with severe AS referred to a dedicated clinic for TAVI do not receive a transcatheter heart valve. A considerable proportion of these elderly patients are reclassified as moderate AS, are asymptomatic, or intervention is determined to be futile due to advanced frailty or cognitive impairment. Early detection and increased awareness of valvular heart disease are required to reduce the proportion of patients declined TAVI.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/supplementary material.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical approval for this study has been granted by Ethics Committee, Galway University Hospital, Galway, Ireland.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MG was responsible for data collection, statistical analysis, literature review, and write up of the manuscript. CR, GM, and LM were responsible for data collection. AN, FS, BH, DV, AS, and MD were responsible for patient management. EF, FM, NM, KM, and VB were responsible for literature review and review of the manuscript. WW was responsible for review of the manuscript. DM was responsible for patient management, review of the manuscript, and approval of the final version of the manuscript.

- Nishimura RA, Otto CM, Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Erwin JP III, Fleisher LA, et al. 2017 AHA/ACC focused update of the 2014 AHA/ACC guideline for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on clinical practice guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2017) 70:252–89. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.03.011
- Meyer SR, Shanks M, Tyrrell BD, MacArthur RG, Taylor DA, Welsh S, et al. Outcomes of consecutive patients referred for consideration for transcatheter aortic valve implantation from an encompassing health-care region. *Am J Cardiol.* (2013) 112:1450–4. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.06.038
- Saia F, Marrozzini C, Dall'Ara G, Russo V, Martin-Suarez S, Savini C, et al. How many patients with severe symptomatic aortic stenosis excluded for cardiac surgery are eligible for transcatheter heart valve implantation? J Cardiovasc Med. (2010) 11:727–32. doi: 10.2459/JCM.0b013e328338940f
- Baumgartner H, Hung J, Bermejo J, Chambers JB, Evangelista A, Griffin BP, et al. Echocardiographic assessment of valve stenosis: EAE/ASE recommendations for clinical practice. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr.* (2009) 22:1–23. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2008.11.029

- Kappetein AP, Head SJ, Genereux P, Piazza N, van Mieghem NM, Blackstone EH, et al. Updated standardized endpoint definitions for transcatheter aortic valve implantation: the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 consensus document. *J Thor Cardiovasc Surg.* (2013) 145:6–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.09.002
- Tommaso CL, Bolman RM III, Feldman T, Bavaria J, Acker MA, Aldea G, et al. Multisociety (AATS, ACCF, SCAI, and STS) expert consensus statement: operator and institutional requirements for transcatheter valve repair and replacement, part 1: transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2012) 59:2028–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.02.016
- 11. Vahanian A, Alfieri O, Al-Attar N, Antunes M, Bax J, Cormier B, et al. Transcatheter valve implantation for patients with aortic stenosis: a position statement from the European Association of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) and the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), in collaboration with the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI). Euro Heart J. (2008) 29:1463–70. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehn183
- Hems M, Harkes M, Moret-Hartman M, Melis RJF, Schoon Y. Patient reported outcome measures in geriatric care: first experiences. *Tijdschr Gerontol Geriatr.* (2017) 48:287–296. doi: 10.1007/s12439-017-0237-1
- Kim S, Duncan PW, Groban L, Segal H, Abbott RM, Williamson JD. Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROM) as a preoperative assessment tool. J Anesth Perioper Med. (2017) 4:274–81. doi: 10.24015/JAPM.2017.0081
- Mack MJ, Leon MB, Thourani VH, Makkar R, Kodali SK, Russo M, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement with a balloon-expandable valve in low-risk patients. *N Engl J Med.* (2019) 380:1695–705. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1814052
- Popma JJ, Deeb GM, Yakubov SJ, Mumtaz M, Gada H, O'Hair D, et al. Transcatheter aortic-valve replacement with a self-expanding valve in lowrisk patients. N Engl J Med. (2019) 380:1706–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1816885
- 16. Green P, Woglom AE, Genereux P, Daneault B, Paradis JM, Schnell S, et al. The impact of frailty status on survival after transcatheter aortic valve replacement

in older adults with severe aortic stenosis: a single-center experience. JACC. (2012) 5:974-81. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2012.06.011

- Lindman BR, Alexander KP, O'Gara PT, Afilalo J. Futility, benefit, and transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *JACC*. (2014) 7:707–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.01.167
- Gaede L, Blumenstein J, Liebetrau C, Dorr O, Kim WK, Hamm C, et al. Heart valve disesases : how sufficient is the knowledge of the German population? *Herz* 44:161–9. (2017). doi: 10.1007/s00059-017-4632-8
- Gaede L, Di Bsartolomeo R, van der Kley F, Elsasser A, Iung B, Mollmann H. Aortic valve stenosis: what do people know? A heart valve disease awareness survey of over 8,800 people aged 60 or over. *EuroIntervention*. (2016) 12:883– 9. doi: 10.4244/EIJY16M06_02
- Das P, Pocock C, Chambers J. The patient with a systolic murmur: severe aortic stenosis may be missed during cardiovascular examination. *QJM*. (2000) 93:685–8. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/93.10.685
- 21. Conference EV. European Heart Valve Disease Awareness Day (2018).

Conflict of Interest: MD is a Proctor and Consultant for Medtronic and Microport.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Gorecka, Reddin, Madders, Monaghan, Neylon, Sharif, Hynes, Fennelly, McHugh, Martin, Mohammed, Bijjam, Veerasingam, Soo, DaCosta, Wijns and Mylotte. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

